
The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland
Regular Council Meeting Agenda

 
Monday, January 9, 2023, 5:30 p.m.

Council Chamber, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue

We are honoured to gather on the unceded traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation.
The public may view the meeting live on the Village of Cumberland YouTube channel

Pages

1. Call To Order

2. Agenda

2.1 Agenda for Regular Council Meeting, January 9, 2023
Recommendation:
THAT Council approve the agenda for the January 9, 2023 Regular Council
Meeting. 

3. Minutes

3.1 Adoption of Minutes 4

Recommendation:
THAT Council adopt the following minutes: 

Committee of the Whole Meeting, November 8-10, 2022•

Committee of the Whole Meeting, November 18 & 25, 2022•

Regular Council Meeting, December 12, 2022•

Special Council Meeting, January 4, 2023•

3.2 Receipt of Committee Minutes 19

Recommendation:
THAT Council recieve the following minutes: 

Advisory Planning Commission, December 8, 2022•

4. Delegations

4.1 1st Cumberland Scouts - Canadian World Jamboree Contingent 22
Angie Prescott - 1st Cumberland Scouter

Recommendation:
THAT Council receive the delegation of the 1st Cumberland Scouts -
Canadian World Jamboree Contingent.

5. Correspondence

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCuKYfP58Xw4A6JyJvC9P11Q


6. Unfinished Business

7. Reports

7.1 Development Variance Permit Application 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue 23
Prepared by Meleana Searle, Planner

Recommendation:
THAT Council refer the development variance permit application to
reduce the required number of off-street parking stalls from eight to zero,
the number of commercial loading spaces from two to zero, and the
number of class two bicycle parking stalls from seven to zero on the
property described as Lot B District Lot 21 Nelson District Plan EPP61337
(2712 Dunsmuir Avenue) to the Advisory Planning Commission.

7.2 Development Permit – Proposed Lot 2 (2794 Beck Avenue) 44
Prepared by Meleana Searle, Planner

Recommendation:
THAT Council approve the development permit (2022-07-DP) for the
property described Lot A Section 34 Township 10 Comox District Plan
EPP93477 (2794 Beck Avenue).

7.3 Council Policy on Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-
1 Zone

149

Prepared by Karin Albert, Senior Planner and Meleana Searle, Planner

Recommendation:
THAT Council adopt the Council Policy on Review of Development
Variance Permits for Parking in the Village Core Commercial Mixed-Use
(VCMU-1) Zone.

7.4 Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program 155
Prepared by Kaelin Chambers, Economic Development Officer

Recommendation:
THAT Council approve the application for $97,125 to the Rural Economic
Diversification and Infrastructure Program for completion of the Village of
Cumberland Investment and Development Readiness Project, with the
Village cash contribution of $10,000 and in-kind contribution of $9,713.

7.5 Council Monthly Reports 210

Recommendation:
THAT Council receive the monthly reports for information.

8. Bylaws

8.1 Development Cost Charges Bylaw 1173, 2022 217
Prepared by Rob Crisfield, Manager of Operations

Regular Council Meeting January 9, 2023

Page 2 of 358



Recommendation:
THAT Council adopt the Development Cost Charges Bylaw 1173, 2022.

9. New Business

10. Notices, Motions and Announcements
Matters considered here may include notices or motions to hold a meeting of
the Committee of the Whole, a Village Hall meeting, a Public Hearing, and
noticed of motion introduced by a Council Member. 

Accessibility and Inclusion Select Committee, January 16, 2023 3pm•

11. Question Period
A member of the public may only inquire about items included on the agenda for
that meeting during a question period.
•    Please send questions by email to info@cumberland.ca using subject line
“Question Period”; Note: please limit to questions only - comments will not be
read.

12. Adjournment

Regular Council Meeting January 9, 2023

Page 3 of 358



 

 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 

Council Orientation Sessions 
 

November 8, 2022 at 9 a.m. – Noon 
Council Chamber, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue
 
Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
  
Regrets: Councillor Jesse Ketler 
 Councillor Sean Sullivan (due to illness) 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer 
 Kevin McPhedran, Interim Deputy Chief Administrative Officer 
 Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services 
 Rob Crisfield, Manager of Operations 
 
Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 9:05 a.m. 
 
Ms. Mason reviewed orientation schedule, noted that questions would be held and noted that 
Council determines services and services levels. Staff reviewed municipal operations and 
services. 
 
Matters for review at Council member’s request: 

 Structural review on municipal buildings 

 Campground operational season 

 Bylaw enforcement tools 

 How comprehensive development agreements work with bylaws and zoning 

 Request for Cayet comprehensive development agreement information 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 12 noon. 
 
 
  

Page 4 of 358



 

- 2 - 

November 9, 2022 at 9 a.m. - 3 p.m. 
Council Chamber, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue
 
Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
 Councillor Jesse Ketler (arrived at 2 p.m.) 
  
Regrets: Councillor Sean Sullivan (due to illness) 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer 
 
Mayor Brown reconvened the meeting at 9:00 a.m. 
 
Ms. Habkirk, consultant, reviewed the focus of the session on Council roles and responsibilities 
to address how to get things done or on the table, responding to public expectations, the 
importance of effectively communicating to residents what the Council/Village is doing, and 
how to balance the range of issues from smaller matters to the larger community vision. 
 
Ms. Habkirk asked what Council members want to achieve by end of term. Responses included  

 get some things done, for example, addressing climate change, bike lanes to Courtenay, 
housing 

 find a way that everyone can be heard through common goals  
Ms. Habkirk noted the importance of a functioning Council that can manage the rate of change 
to reduce conflict amongst residents so that residents feel good about who is representing 
them.  
Discussion took place on what member expects of each other in decision-making. Ideas 
included respect and integrity, ability to work together and listen to differing points of view, 
respect for all residents and willingness to listen and engage with the community, and goal for 
members to feel good and have confidence in decisions. Discussion also took place on 
member’s expectations of staff to offer a variety of options to solve matters, respect Council 
members, and able to understand Council’s goals, and be willing to work with Council to figure 
out what Council wants to accomplish and work on same goals.  
 
Discussion then took place on how Council will know it has been successful at the end of the 
term.  Members suggested showing accomplishments and measuring achievements and 
conveying that to the community, having customer satisfaction, having Council members all on 
board with strategic goals and reducing emerging items in order to stay on track.   The 
importance of clearly communicating clearly communication priorities to staff was discussed.  If 
priorities are shifting or not resourced appropriately, Council is less likely to be successful. It is 
important for Council to be flexible to be responsive to community need, but not too flexible.  It 
was suggested to leave some room for emerging priorities.  Discussion took place on how this 
might be done, including reducing services, seeking out other revenue sources, and providing 
services through others. 

Page 5 of 358



 

- 3 - 

Ms. Habkirk recommended that members anticipate struggles around the Council table and to 
develop ways to work together and perform in order to drive goals forward and overcome 
friction.  Discussion took place on a framework for prioritizing or making decisions, based on 
strategic priorities, master planning documents, policies, economic and social values; having 
basic criteria for making critical decisions, e.g. having all members present for critical decisions.  
Ms. Habkirk recommended that members may wish to discuss what values members will use to 
make consensus decision, which may mean changing the decisions the majority of Council 
wishes, may set out which kind of decisions Council will have all members agree with, and think 
about principles that guide decision-making, such as making sure members have enough 
information, to take time to make decisions, what will it take for Council to make quality 
decisions. Members also discussed examples of codes of conduct of Squamish and Abbotsford, 
the California Council of Excellence.  
 
Members then discussed options for providing services, exploring participating in more regional 
services, contract services, financial risks, risks associated with wildfire and climate change, and 
the relationship with land use planning policy.  Discussion then took place on conflict of 
interest, the priority and ability to make change by being on Council, and participation in the 
community.  
 
The meeting was recessed for lunch at noon. 
 
Ms. Parker reviewed basic council meeting procedure and agenda process and Ms. Mason 
offered an overview of financial administration for the Village. 
 
Councillor Ketler arrived at the meeting at 2 p.m. 
 
Members discussed requesting more information on these matters: 

- Cayet development and Coal Valley development comprehensive development agreements 
- Assessment of the Private Managed Forest Land and tree values 
- Bevan Road utilities water latecomer background 
- List of Village-owned lands available for affordable housing development 
- Tax sale – policy to bid 
- Nikkei Park acquisition through subdivision 
 

The meeting adjourned at 3 p.m. 
 
  

Page 6 of 358



 

- 4 - 

November 10, 2022 at 9 a.m. - noon 
Council Chamber, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue
 
Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Jesse Ketler 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
  
Regrets: Councillor Sean Sullivan (due to illness) 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer 
 Kevin McPhedran, Interim Deputy Chief Administrative Officer 
 Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services 
 Rob Crisfield, Manager of Operations 
 
Mayor Brown reconvened the meeting at 9:05 a.m. 
 
Ms. Simpson introduced Nancy Henderson, consultant from Urban Systems.  Ms. Henderson 
review the provincial context with focus on affordable housing, and noted the importance to 
look at provincial land use mandates and try to align with the province to order to obtain 
support for senior government amenity funding applications. Examples include complete 
communities funding and increasing housing density. The challenge of aligning with policies 
intended for larger communities was noted. 
 
Ms. Henderson then reviewed the development application modernization update, and noted 
the additional costs associated with development, the importance to retain community 
character and heritage, and the desire for community to be engaged in land use planning. Ms. 
Henderson highlighted the broader environment factors, higher volumes of applications that 
bogs down the process, issues with financing infrastructure upgrades, and the importance of 
complete master planning and knowing financing tools. Discussion took place on mixed 
development and complete communities.  
 
Ms. Henderson then reviewed the demand for faster approvals from applications and that 
Cumberland is very vision and community-focused, and slower processes allow municipalities 
to update plans.  Noted were that each application doesn’t need all requirements, and that 
additional requirements add to cost of housing, development cost charges cannot be applied to 
existing housing stock, and that taxpayer must fund growth if DCCs are not adequate, and to 
have regular discussions with the development industry and explain the expectations of the 
municipality. Discussion took place on sharing developer feedback with members of Council.  
 
Ms. Henderson recommended that the Village be partners with applicants in achieving its 
vision, to be willing to deny applications if the vision is not met, and to be able to let applicants 
know what it would take to approve an application, and not to focus on the most vocal 
applicants. Advice was received to listen to developers, but not to react, to be firm, fair and 

Page 7 of 358



 

- 5 - 

consistent and if goals are steady, staff will be able to communicate the goals with applicants 
with confidence.  Council’s role is to have a clear vision through policies and bylaws.  It was 
noted to evaluate advisory committees through strategic priority setting.  
 
Ms. Henderson reviewed the current status of the modernization project and next steps, which 
include updating the development procedures bylaw, applicant materials and application 
forms.  
 
The legislative framework for land use applications was reviewed and  the difference between 
discretionary and non-discretionary approvals was noted. 
 
A recess was taken for lunch.  
 
The review continued with overview of the regional growth strategy and official community 
plan. Ms. Henderson recommended that engagement on OCP review should be strategic in 
order to be effective as cost is a factor. It was noted not to delay in order to complete detailed 
plans. Discussion took place on the OCP as a policy document rather than regulatory, and that 
OCP implementation plans are important. It was noted that the OCP guides the subdivision 
approving officer. 
 
Discussion took place on how the requirement for infrastructure upgrades can be a difficult 
question for municipalities. Questions should be asked whether existing taxpayers should fund 
infrastructure upgrades.  Municipalities should be clear on development in master plans. Other 
options for development finance tools were discussed. 
 
Development application processes were reviewed, as well as options for downzoning and 
associated costs. Discussion took place on public information meetings, which are not 
recommended for non-discretionary applications such as development permits as it can lead to 
community expectations that cannot be met through the application as policy is set in the OCP. 
In regard to public hearings and the option not to hold one for an application, it was 
recommended that the Council can reconsider depending on the response from the community 
on a particular application and the important of early community engagement to help 
determine this. 
 
Discussion took place on advisory committees and the use of task force was recommended for 
limited scope tasks.  The question was raised on how to receive community input on 
development permits and rezonings where a public hearing is not held, and it was clarified that 
gaining community input on the vision in the OCP is very important, in particular form and 
character, and environmental protection requirements.   
 
A discussion took place on how streamlining development applications could ensure that 
bylaws are complied with to prevent neighbourhood conflicts.  It was recommended that this 
be considered during the development procedure bylaw review through reviewing how input is 
obtained early in the application process to drive the standards in the community, and the 

Page 8 of 358



 

- 6 - 

willingness to change development permit guidelines.  Staff procedures and training will also be 
reviewed to prevent technical errors 
 
Committee members asked for more information on the next session on:  

- emphasis on form and character in the heritage area  
- heritage in Village core 
- small housing 

 
Members also asked for more information from staff on the Trilogy/Cayet, Coal Valley Estates, 
and Maple Street developments and amenities provided. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:02 pm 
 
 

_________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 

_________________________ 
Certified Correct by Corporate Officer 
 
 
 

Page 9 of 358



 

- 1 - 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 
Council Orientation Sessions 
 

November 18, 2022 at 1:30 p.m. 
Council Chamber, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue
 

Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Jesse Ketler 
 Councillor Sean Sullivan 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Kevin McPhedran, Interim Deputy Chief Administrative Officer 
 Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer 
 Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services 
 Kaelin Chambers, Economic Development Officer 
_________________________________________________________________ 

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 1:37 p.m. and acknowledged that the 
meeting was taking place on the unceded traditional territory of the K’ómoks First 
Nation. 
 
Council Orientation - Capital and Operating Projects, Part I 

Staff reviewed capital and operating projects based on the current Council 
strategic priorities, as well as emerging and operational activities. 
 
Discussion took place on 

 K’ómoks First Nation Guardian Watchmen Program funding 

 Climate change impacts on renewal of municipal facilities 

 Community greenhouse gas emissions – look to CVRD GHG data 

 Use of Climate Capital projects  

 Geothermal energy study (use LGcAP) Springhill, Nova Scotia 

 Car share networks for parking in lieu fund 

 Subdivision bylaw stormwater green infrastructure 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 4:05 p.m. 
 
  

Page 10 of 358



 

- 2 - 

November 25, 2022 at 9 a.m. 
Council Chamber, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue 
 
Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Jesse Ketler 
 Councillor Sean Sullivan 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Kevin McPhedran, Interim Deputy Chief Administrative Officer 
 Rob Crisfield, Manager of Operations 
 Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services 
 
Mayor Brown reconvened the meeting at 9:04 a.m.  
 
Council Orientation - Capital and Operating Projects, Part II 
 Staff continued review of capital and operating projects based on the current 

Council strategic priorities, as well as emerging and operational activities. 
 
Closure of the Meeting to the Public 

The Committee closed the meeting to the public at 10:22 a.m. under section 
90(1) of the Community Charter to continue Council Orientation and consider  

 labour relations or other employee relations, 

 law enforcement, if the council considers that disclosure could reasonably 
be expected to harm the conduct of an investigation under or enforcement 
of an enactment, 

 the receipt of advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege, including 
communications necessary for that purpose 

 the security of the property of the municipality, 

 the acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or improvements, if 
the council considers that disclosure could reasonably be expected to harm 
the interests of the municipality, or 

 discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting municipal 
objectives, measures and progress reports for the purposes of preparing 
an annual report under section 98 [annual municipal report]. 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:25 p.m. 
 
_________________________ 
Mayor 
 

_________________________ 
Certified Correct by Corporate Officer 

Page 11 of 358



 1 

 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 

Regular Council Meeting Minutes 

 
December 12, 2022, 5:30 p.m. 
Council Chamber, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue 
 
Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Jesse Ketler 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
  
Regrets: Councillor Sean Sullivan (away due to illness) 
  
Staff Present: Kevin McPhedran, Interim Deputy Chief Administrative Officer 
 Rob Crisfield, Manager of Operations 
 Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

1. Call To Order 

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. and recognized the unceded 
traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation and expressed gratitude for their care 
and stewardship of this land since time immemorial.  

2. Agenda 

2.1 Agenda for Regular Council Meeting, December 12, 2022 

Motion  22-592 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council approve the agenda for the December 12, 2022 Regular Council 
Meeting.  

Carried Unanimously 
 

3. Minutes 

3.1 Adoption of Minutes 

Motion  22-593 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Therrien 

Page 12 of 358



Regular Council Minutes December 12, 2022 Village of Cumberland 

 2 

THAT Council adopt the following minutes:  

• Committee of the Whole, November 28, 2022 

• Regular Council Meeting, November 28, 2022 

Carried Unanimously 
 

4. Delegations 

None 

5. Correspondence 

None 

6. Unfinished Business 

None 

7. Reports 

7.1 No. 2 Dam: Project Orientation Presentation 

Motion  22-594 

Moved by: Ketler 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council receive a presentation on the No. 2 Dam project from Tim Ennis of 
Latitude Conservation Solutions, Village consultant for engagement services for 
project.  

Carried Unanimously 
 

7.2 Wastewater Upgrade Project – Contract Value Increase for Project Manager and 
Direct Award for Geotechnical Work 

Motion  22-595 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Ketler 

THAT Council authorize staff to increase the contract value for Colliers Project 
Leaders from $235,000 to a value not to exceed $438,600 (excluding GST) for 
Project Management Services for the Wastewater Upgrade Project; and 

 
THAT Council authorize the CAO or designate to execute the revised contract 
value; and 

Page 13 of 358



Regular Council Minutes December 12, 2022 Village of Cumberland 

 3 

THAT Council authorize a direct award contract in the amount of $55,800 to WSP 
Canada Inc. for geotechnical engineer consulting services per section 5.9 (x) of 
Council Policy 3.3 – Purchasing Management Services. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

7.3 Funding Contribution to K’ómoks First Nation Guardian Watchmen Program 

Motion  22-596 

Moved by: Ketler 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council receive the “Funding Contribution to K’ómoks First Nation 
Guardian Watchmen Program” report. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

7.4 Rural Cumberland Fire Protection Agreement Proposed Extension 

Motion  22-597 

Moved by: Ketler 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council enter into an agreement with the Comox Valley Regional District to 
provide fire protection services to the Rural Cumberland Fire Protection Service 
Area for a one-year term commencing January 1, 2023; and authorize the Mayor 
and Chief Administrative Officer to execute the agreement.  

Carried Unanimously 
 

7.5 Association of Vancouver Island and Coast Communities (AVICC) Resolutions 

Motion  22-598 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Ketler 

THAT Council direct staff to prepare resolutions on the Watershed Security Fund 
application to lands in Private Managed Forest Lands and on representation on 
the Private Managed Forest Land Council for submission to the 2023 Association 
of Vancouver Island Coastal Communities conference.  

Carried Unanimously 
 

7.6 Council Member Appointments 

Motion  22-599 

Page 14 of 358



Regular Council Minutes December 12, 2022 Village of Cumberland 

 4 

Moved by: Ketler 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council appoint Councillor Borecky to the Heritage Committee and 
Councillor Therrien as alternate. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

8. Bylaws 

8.1 2022 – 2026 Financial Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 1180, 2022 

Motion  22-600 

Moved by: Ketler 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council adopt the "2022 – 2026 Financial Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 
1180, 2022". 

Carried Unanimously 
 

8.2 Revenue Anticipation Borrowing Bylaw No. 1181, 2022 

Motion  22-601 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council adopt the "Revenue Anticipation Borrowing Bylaw No. 1181, 
2022". 

Carried Unanimously 
 

8.3 Water Rates Amendment Bylaw No. 1182, 2022 

Motion  22-602 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Ketler 

THAT Council adopt the "Water Rates Amendment Bylaw No. 1182, 2022". 

Carried Unanimously 
 

8.4 Sanitary Sewer Rates Amendment Bylaw No. 1183, 2022. 

Motion  22-603 

Page 15 of 358



Regular Council Minutes December 12, 2022 Village of Cumberland 

 5 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council adopt the "Sanitary Sewer Rates Amendment Bylaw No. 1183, 
2022". 

Carried Unanimously 
 

8.5 Solid Waste Amendment Bylaw No. 1184, 2022. 

Motion  22-604 

Moved by: Ketler 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council adopt the "Solid Waste Collection Fees Amendment Bylaw No. 
1184, 2022". 

Carried Unanimously 
 

9. New Business 

None 

10. Notices, Motions and Announcements 

Matters considered here may include notices or motions to hold a meeting of the 
Committee of the Whole, a Village Hall meeting, a Public Hearing, and noticed of motion 
introduced by a Council Member.  

• Committee of the Whole Budget Meetings: January 4, 11, 18 at 9 a.m. 

 

11. Question Period 

There were no questions received. 

 

12. Adjournment 

The meeting was adjourned at 6:42 p.m.  

 
 
 

_________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Page 16 of 358



Regular Council Minutes December 12, 2022 Village of Cumberland 

 6 

_________________________ 

Certified Correct by Corporate Officer 

 

Page 17 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Special Council Meeting Minutes 
 
January 4, 2023 at approximately 2 p.m.  
following the Committee of the Whole Meeting 
Council Chambers, 2675 Dunsmuir Avenue 
 

Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
 Councillor Jesse Ketler 
  
Regrets: Councillor Sean Sullivan (due to illness) 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 2:11 p.m. and recognized that the Village is  
located in the unceded traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation.  
 
1. Approval of Agenda 

Ketler/Therrien 
THAT Council approve the agenda for the Special Council Meeting, January 4, 
2023. 
Carried Unanimously 

  
2. Closed Portion 

Borecky/Therrien 
THAT Council close the meeting to the public pursuant to Section 90 of the Community 
Charter to consider:  
(c) labour relations or other employee relations. 
Carried Unanimously 

 
3. Adjournment 

The meeting was adjourned at 4:00 p.m. 
 
 

 
  
_________________________ 
Mayor 
 

_________________________ 
Certified Correct by Corporate Officer 
 

Page 18 of 358



 

 

 

 

 

Village of  
Cumberland 

Advisory Planning 
Commission 

Minutes 

The meeting of the APC was held on Thursday December 8, 2022 at Village of Cumberland 
Council Chambers, commencing at 4:00 pm.  

PRESENT: Nick Ward, Chair 
Debbie Bowman, Secretary 
Jason Ross 

Genevieve Burdett 
Jaye Mathieu 
Ryan Camp 
 

ABSENT: Janet Bonaguro 
 

 

GUESTS \ STAFF:  Karin Albert, Senior Planner  
Meleana Searle, Planner 

OBSERVERS: N/A 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting of the APC was held on Thursday December 8, 2022 at Village of 
Cumberland Council Chambers, commencing at 4:00pm. We are honoured to gather on 
the unceded traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation. 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Camp/Ross:   THAT the agenda be approved with addition of member introductions 
after approval of the minutes. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Ward / Mathieu:   THAT the minutes of the meeting held Sept.8, 2022 be approved as 
presented.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  

 

 

 

Page 19 of 358



 

 

4. REFERRALS FROM COUNCIL 

a) Council Policy of Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 Zone 

Mathieu / Bowman:   THAT the Advisory Planning Commission receive the staff report 
titled “Council Policy of Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 
Zone”. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  
DISCUSSION 

1. Karin Albert provided an overview of the Council Policy on Development Variance 

Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 Zone. 

o At this time the cash in lieu fund for parking is just over $127,000. 

o Cost to apply for any non-residential variance is $1,200. 

2. APC Discussion  

a. Residential parking requirements 

i. Membership agrees it is important to have sufficient residential 

parking.   

ii. General agreement with the bylaw as it is written. 

iii. Affordable/below market value housing development is one area 

where parking requirements could be waived. 

 

b. Commercial parking requirements 

i. It was noted that it is usually not possible for a new business to 

create more parking. 

ii. Furthermore, most businesses would apply for a variance.  

iii. It was also noted that the cost of the parking requirements cash in 

lieu would be prohibitive for most small business owners.  

iv. The idea that small business owners could find downtown 

Cumberland unattractive to their business because of the parking 

requirements is not acceptable to the membership.  

v. Membership is in agreement that having to park and walk a few 

blocks to a destination is not a problem for most and could even 

be seen as a positive thing for the other downtown businesses.  

vi. Membership recognizes that, considering the guidelines 

presented in the report, it would be unusual for a business to not 

be granted a variance.  

vii. Future Zoning Bylaw updates should make commercial spaces 

exempt from parking requirements with the exception of 

accessible parking spaces.  

Camp/Bowman:   That the Advisory Planning Commission recommends support of the 
Council Policy for Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 Zone - 
section 3 - with the exceptions for residential parking requirements only being made for 
development of affordable / below market value housing.  

Page 20 of 358



 

 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  

Burdett/Mathieu:   That the Advisory Planning Commission recommends support of the 
Council Policy for Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 Zone - 
section 4. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  

Bowman/Ross:   That the Advisory Planning Commission recommends that in the future 
it be considered that no parking requirements exist for commercial businesses in the 
VCMU-1 Zone. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  

5. NEXT MEETING 

The next APC meeting is Thursday, January 12, 2023 at 4:00 pm. 

 

6. TERMINATION:   

Camp/Burdett:   THAT the meeting be adjourned. 

Time:  6:00 pm 
  

Certified Correct: 
 
____________________________________ 

Chair 

Confirmed: 
 
____________________________________ 

Deputy Corporate Officer 

 

Page 21 of 358



1

Melissa Roeske

Subject: Request for 1st Cumberland Scouts Contingent to present to council

 

From: Angie Prescott  >  
Sent: November 3, 2022 4:54 PM 
To: Village of Cumberland <info@cumberland.ca> 
Subject: Request for 1st Cumberland Scouts Contingent to present to council 
 
Hi there – we were hoping to have a few of our 1st Cumberland Scouts come and present to the council about their 
upcoming trip to South Korea as part of the Canadian World Jamboree Contingent. 
 
Of the 230 youth from across Canada who have been selected as part of the Canadian contingent, NINE of them are 
from 1st Cumberland Scouts.  Many of these youth have been scouting in Cumberland for more than 8 years and our 
community has watched them grow up year after year as they enthusiastically participated in events such as the annual 
toy drive, hike for hunger, apple day, shoreline clean up, mile of flowers, and countless other service and fundraising 
events. 
 
It would be great to have these youth present to Cumberland Village Council so they can share in their excitement and 
pride.  They will be representing the Village of Cumberland at an event with over 50,000 youth from around the world 
and we’d love to hear ideas you may have on how to share the beauty of Cumberland with our world scouting 
community.  We are also looking for fundraising opportunities and would appreciate any and all suggestions and 
recommendations from Council members. 
 
We can be available for any meeting date.  Thanks so much for your consideration and support. 
 
Angie Prescott – 1st Cumberland Scouter 
 
 
 

Angie Prescott MA(CYC)  
 
 
This message is intended for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed and may contain information that is privileged, confidential 
and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of the message is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any 
dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you receive this communication in error please notify us 
immediately by telephone @ (250)286‐0611 or by email. 
 

Page 22 of 358



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 5 

 
REPORT DATE: 12/14/2022 
MEETING DATE: 1/9/2023 

File No. 2022-08-DV 
TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Meleana Searle, Planner 

SUBJECT: Development Variance Permit Application 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Council refer the development variance permit 
application to reduce the required number of off-street 
parking stalls from eight to zero, the number of commercial 
loading spaces from two to zero, and the number of class 
two bicycle parking stalls from seven to zero on the 
property described as Lot B District Lot 21 Nelson District 
Plan EPP61337 (2712 Dunsmuir Avenue) to the Advisory 
Planning Commission. 
 
PURPOSE 

The Village received an application for a development variance permit at 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue. 
The applicant is proposing to reduce the required number of off-street parking spaces from eight 
to zero, commercial loading spaces from two to zero and class two bicycle parking spaces from 
seven to zero.  
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 

None. 

BACKGROUND 

Proposed Development 

The subject property, built in 1894, has significant cultural and heritage value to the community. 
The applicants are proposing a full restoration of the building, which has an estimated cost of 
approximately four million dollars. As the building covers 100% of the property, and the applicants 
are not proposing to demolish any portion of the structure, off-street parking isn’t possible. The 
initial work, which does not require a Heritage Alteration Permit (HAP), includes main floor interior 
renovations to accommodate the owner’s retail business (NOBL Wheels) and a new durable metal 
roof. 

 

Subject Property  

Subject Property 

Page 23 of 358



Page 2 of 5 

Official Community Plan 

The Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 990, 2014 (OCP) designates Cumberland’s downtown 
commercial core as a heritage conservation area.  The historic form and scale of the commercial 
buildings is integral to the Village’s appearance and ambience.  The objective of the Heritage 
Conservation Area designation of the commercial core is to ensure that “revitalization or new 
development in the downtown area is compatible with the scale and character of the existing 
downtown heritage character” (OCP, p. 157).   

Pursuant to the Official Community Plan (OCP), the subject property at 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue is 
in the Heritage Conservation Area and is subject to a Heritage Alteration Permit (HAP). However, 
the phase one work being complete by the applicant falls under the exemptions and therefore a 
HAP is not required at this time.  

Zoning Bylaw 

The subject property is zoned VCMU-1 – Village Core Commercial Mixed-Use, which permits a 
variety of commercial, professional, residential, and accessory uses. 

The Zoning Bylaw No. 1027, 2016 (Zoning Bylaw) requires one employee parking space, seven 
visitor spaces and two commercial loading spaces for the 669.0m² retail area. The parking is 
required by the principal use changing from office to retail minor. Retail minor is defined as “the 
use of a building having a total floor area less than 2,800.0m² but equal to or greater than 
300.00m² for the retail sale and rental of consumer goods.” 

The applicant is also required to provide eight class one and seven class two bicycle parking stalls. 
Class 1 bicycle stalls are to be located in a secured or controlled area protected from inclement 
weather and are intended to serve residents or employees. Class two bicycle parking stalls can be 
unsecured or in an uncontrolled area and are intended for short-term parking needs.  

ANALYSIS 

Land use justification 

Best practices for evaluating development variance permit applications typically look for an 
acceptable land use justification such as: 

i. the ability to use or develop the property is unreasonably constrained or hindered by 
having to comply with the bylaw requirement;  

ii. there is a net benefit to the community or immediate area that would be achieved 
through the variance approval; or, 

iii. the proposed variance would allow for more efficient and effective use and 
development of the subject property. 

The subject property was constructed in 1894 (128 years ago), before parking was considered and 
zoning regulations were adopted. As the existing building covers 100% of the property, a cash-in-
lieu payment is the only option other than demolishing part, or all, of the building to 
accommodate the parking requirements.  

The proposed variance could have a direct impact on the preservation of the building which has 
significant cultural value to the community. The statement of significance, complete in 2019, 
identifies 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue as having historical, cultural, social, heritage and aesthetic values 
that characterise the ebbs and flows of the economic life of Cumberland. 

Page 24 of 358



Page 3 of 5 

In 2003, the Heritage BC issued the report: Incentives for Heritage Conservation: A Survey of British 
Columbia’s Local Governments. The report found that local governments must take a more active 
role in promoting heritage conservation in their communities. The information received from the 
survey illustrates that many communities feel that they do not have the means or sufficient 
community interest to provide incentives for heritage conservation. However, not all incentives 
require a large budget or excessive planning. One example given of an incentive that can be used 
by local government is Zoning Concessions. The report suggests that local governments relax or 
vary any of the provisions of their land-use regulations to help incentivize developers to preserve 
heritage buildings. 

The proposed variance would allow for more effective and efficient development of the property 
by allowing the property owner to invest the cash-in-lieu funds into the restoration of the building. 

Impacts of the Variance 

Where a land use justification for a proposed variance has been demonstrated, the application 
should then be evaluated based upon the impact(s) (positive or negative) of the variance. 
Impact(s) may be classified into the following three general categories: 

i. Aesthetic impact. This includes the impact of the proposed variance on the streetscape, 
the views from adjacent properties, compatibility with neighbourhood design 
standards, etc. 

ii. Functional impact. This includes the impact of the proposed variance on the function of 
the property for the permitted uses and the potential impact of the variance on the 
function of adjacent properties, or road right-of-ways. 

iii. Environmental impact. This includes the impact of the proposed variance on the long 
term sustainability of the natural environment or the direct impact on a specific feature 
of the natural environment.  

The proposed variance would have a positive impact on the aesthetics of the building and 
streetscape as the building would be retained, restored and no longer vacant.  

Functional impacts of the variance include a potential increase in traffic and parking on the streets 
adjacent to the subject property. Eight class one bicycle parking stalls will be provided inside the 
building reducing the need to provide an additional seven bicycle stalls outside. As the building 
covers 100% of the property an outdoor bicycle rack would need to be placed on the Village 
sidewalk. The Village currently does not have a standard for bicycle racks or a placement plan. The 
Village does not recommend installing bicycle racks on the sidewalk outside the subject property 
at this time. 

There is no easily quantifiable impact to the environment. However, employees and customers 
may be more inclined to walk or bike to the subject property if parking is not as readily available. 
Additionally, as discussed in their rationale letter (Attachment 2) NOBL Wheels promotes 
employees to bike to work by offering financial incentives to do so.  

Future Development 

As mentioned in the applicant’s letter, they intend to complete a full restoration of the building. 
Future phases of development will include expanding the interior renovations to the upper floors 
and making improvements to the exterior of the building. Options for securing restoration and 
preservation of the heritage building, such as through a Heritage Revitalization Agreement (HRA), 

Page 25 of 358



Page 4 of 5 

can be discussed at a future development phase. At this time the recommendation is to support 
opening of the retail business. The proposed parking variance would only apply to the area of the 
occupancy permit for the portion of the building being used for the first phase of interior 
renovations.   

 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION AND REFERRALS 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Village of Cumberland Development Procedures and Fees 
Bylaw No. 1073, 2018: 

1. The Applicant has placed the required signage on site. 

2. Village staff prepared a notice of Council consideration of a Development Variance Permit 
which was mailed to owners and occupants of properties within 75.0 metres on October 
24, 2022, meeting the Bylaw minimum of 10 days before Council considers the application.   

At the time of this report, staff have received feedback from four members of the public. See 
Attachment 3 – Public Feedback. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 

1. THAT Council approve the development variance permit to vary the required number of 
parking stalls from six to zero on the property described as Lot B District Lot 21 Nelson 
District Plan EPP61337 (2712 Dunsmuir Avenue).  

2. THAT Council deny the development variance permit to vary the required number of 
parking stalls on the property from six to zero on the property described as Lot B District 
Lot 21 Nelson District Plan EPP61337 (2712 Dunsmuir Avenue). 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☐ Healthy Community 

☐ Quality Infrastructure Planning and Development 

☒ Comprehensive Community Planning 

☐ Economic Development 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Approval of the variance would mean that the Village would not receive a cash-in-lieu payment of 
$80,000. 
 
OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

The review of development variance permit applications is part of the services provided by 
Development Services. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

The proposed variance does not have an easily quantifiable impact on factors contributing to climate 
change.  
 
 

Page 26 of 358



Page 5 of 5 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2022-08-DV DRAFT 
2. Letter from Applicant 
3. Public Feedback 

  
CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

M. Searle 
____________________ 
Meleana Searle 
Planner 
 

M. Mason 
____________________ 
Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Page 27 of 358



 

 

 

Corporation of the  
Village of Cumberland 

DEVELOPMENT  
VARIANCE PERMIT 

TO: 1984 Holdings Ltd.  

OF: 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue, Cumberland, BC, V0R 1S0 

This Development Variance Permit (2022-08-DV) is issued subject to compliance with all of the 
bylaws of the Village of Cumberland applicable thereto, except as specifically varied or 
supplemented by this Permit for the purposes of operating a retail minor use.  

1. This Development Variance Permit applies to and only to those lands within the Village of 
Cumberland described below, and only applies to the area of the occupancy permit for 
the 670.0m² portion of the building shown in the attached plans.  This permit does not 
apply to any expansion of occupancy, use, or change of use to buildings, structures and 
other development thereon: 

Legal Description: LOT B DISTRICT LOT 21 NELSON DISTRICT PLAN EPP61337 

Folio: 516 00022.000 PID:  030-314-747 

Civic Address: 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue 

2. The land described herein shall be developed strictly in accordance with the following 
terms and conditions and provisions of this Permit: The Zoning Bylaw No.1076, 2016 is 
varied as follows: 

Section 6.3.3 Parking requirements are reduced to zero spaces for the employee 
and visitor retail minor use at 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue.  

Section 6.4.3 The class two bicycle stalls are not required. 

Section 6.13 The off-street commercial loading stalls are not required 

3. Security 

None. 

4. Expiry  

Subject to the terms of the Permit, if the Applicant of this Development Variance Permit 
does not substantially start any construction with respect to which the Permit was issued 
within 2 years after the date it is issued, the Permit lapses.   

5. Timing and Sequencing of Development 

None. 

Page 28 of 358



 

 

6. List of Reports or Plans attached as Schedules 

 Schedule A – Building Permit Floor Plan 
 

7. Contaminated Sites Regulation  

This Permit is issued pursuant to the requirements of the Environmental Management 
Act, whereby the Applicant has completed a “Site Declaration” for the subject property. 

8. This Permit is not a Building Permit. 

CERTIFIED as the DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT approved and issued by resolution of the 
Council of the Corporation of the Village of Cumberland on January 9, 2022. 

   
 Corporate Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29 of 358



 

 

Schedule A - Building Permit Floor Plan 
 
 
 

Page 30 of 358



 2706 Dunsmuir Ave Cumberland, BC V0R 1SO  September 21, 2022 

 To whom it may concern, 

 PREAMBLE 
 We have spent the last year reviewing and detailing out a number of different plans for the 
 building. Despite it being less expensive to start from scratch, our long term vision is to 
 complete a full restoration. We aspire to maintain and enhance the building’s heritage and 
 character while bringing it up to a higher safety standard, and to maintain it such that it lasts 
 another 100 years. 

 The complete vision will take years to complete and will ultimately cost close to 4 million dollars 
 all-in. 

 Phase 1 of our project is designed to have our business operating in the building within 2022, so 
 that we can have a spring “launch” in 2023, just in time for the cycling season. As you’ll see in 
 the renovation plan, we are putting on a durable new roof, and performing the interior upgrades 
 needed to suit our business. 

 This initial renovation is budgeted at $500,000. Investing this amount of money in the building 
 should provide you with some assurance that demolishing the building in favor of building 
 something from scratch is out of the question. We think the property is vital to Cumberland’s 
 identity. The cycling community is growing stronger and we feel we’ll be able to run a profitable 
 business in Cumberland for many years. By continually investing in the building over time, we 
 hope to see this building thrive and become a centerpiece that residents are proud of. 

 BICYCLE PARKING 
 Our interior plans show bike parking inside of the building for consumers as well as staff. Half of 
 the front of the building is dedicated to bicycle parking. We noticed the parking calculations had 
 an amount of required bicycle parking spots. We hope that our interior parking—which we 
 believe is far superior and will be preferred by the public due to the value of most 
 bikes—satisfies this need and we hope this can be confirmed. Based on feedback from the 
 cycling community, our existing customers, as well as staff, we know that most are not 
 interested in leaving $5,000-$10,000 (or more) bikes outside, unattended, but rather would be 
 excited at the prospect of rolling them in through our front door, putting it on a rack, and knowing 
 that it’s safe. 

 JOB CREATION 
 Creating jobs in Cumberland is an exciting prospect for us. We already employ many staff that 
 call Cumberland home, and we expect to continue to create jobs in the area. As you will have 
 noted, our plans include a shower area and changeroom, and our goal is to encourage our staff 

Page 31 of 358



 2706 Dunsmuir Ave Cumberland, BC V0R 1SO  September 21, 2022 

 to ride their bikes to work. We are reinforcing this healthy practice by paying staff a bonus, 
 based upon how much mileage they walk or ride on their way to work. 

 We believe we are bringing something valuable and unique to the village. We are creating jobs, 
 improving the aesthetics in a core area of town, filling a key vacant building (one rich with 
 history), and most importantly, we are investing in preserving the heritage that draws so many to 
 Cumberland. This isn’t a short play for us as we know the investment this will take—both in time 
 and in financial resources. 

 PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
 As a small business, our vision carries considerable financial risk for us. We have considered 
 the alternatives and believe the most viable approach is to improve the property in stages. 

 One of the largest stumbling blocks for us is the financial cost associated with meeting the 
 parking requirements of the Village. In reality, we could continue to rent in Courtenay (our 
 current location) for many years (close to a decade) before we exceed the cost associated with 
 meeting the parking requirements here in town. 

 When we consider the parking requirements cost, and then consider the fact that we’re 
 investing so much, taking on all of the risk, creating so many local jobs, supporting other local 
 businesses, paying our staff extra to ride bikes to work (currently, with plans to continue this 
 incentive), and the fact that we’re going to attract customers who show up on bikes over 
 vehicles, we would like to request a variance on this requirement. 

 We know that our success depends on our ability to get up and running in a cost-effective 
 manner. We know that our building remains an eyesore for everyone, but that with our 
 investment, it will be a highlight and centerpiece in town that all residents are proud of. 

 It is our request that the council considers a variance on this requirement down to zero, so that 
 we can repatriate those funds into the improvements we have planned. 

 Thank you for your consideration as we work towards preserving and restoring part of 
 Cumberland’s heritage for all to enjoy. 

 Thank you  

      1894 Holdings Ltd. 

Page 32 of 358



1

Meleana Searle

From:

Sent: October 28, 2022 12:13 PM

To: Planning

Subject: Re: 2712 Dunsmuir

Dear Meleana, 
 
I am writing in support of the variance application regarding parking spaces for 2712 Dunsmuir Ave. I am all for waiving 
the fee for the parking spaces so that the money can go towards restoring this beautiful historic building.  
 
Thank you! 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 2nd Street  

Page 33 of 358



1

Meleana Searle

From:

Sent: November 1, 2022 11:10 AM

To: Planning

Subject: file 2022-08-DV

Hi Meleana, 
 
I received your letter regarding the development variance permit for 2712 Dunsmuir Avenue.  I am emailing to 
comment that I am not in favour of waiving the cash-in-lieu fee for parking.   
Regards 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 34 of 358






November 2022


To whom it may concern;


Please find this letter in opposition to development variance permit, file 2022-08-DV, 2712 
Dunsmuir Avenue. 


	 While I respect the costs of restoration on the large Big Store building to be robust, the 
neighbourhood and community at whole should not bear these costs, in the form of waving 
parking-in-lieu fees. These fees have been considered by staff and council as the cost to the 
community to fail to provide parking, to support the growing parking needs of the Village. 
Further, a variance of these in lieu fees was recently denied to the project across the street, 
2714 Dunsmuir Ave. 


	 While this building was at 100% of lot use prior to current ownership, I invite the current 
owners to consider removing the addition to the building, which extends into the alley and is 
not bylaw conforming. Removing that section of the building, which is younger than the rest of 
the building and doesn’t have any bearing on the heritage nature of the structure, would allow 
the building to align with the rest of the structures in the alley and could create the parking 
spaces the bylaws asks of a business of its nature. 


	 The alley in this block is problematic, with the Big Store building literally bearing some 
of the brunt of the commercial transport in the block. Delivery vehicles working to supply 
Dwain’s Liquor Store, The Waverley Hotel and the BC Liquor Store all use the alley, the 
frequency in which vehicular damage happens should be pause for concern. The addition on 
this building contributes to the challenge of the area, creating too tight of a space for large 
vehicles to safely exit the alley onto Second St, resulting in the gutters on the building needing 
regular replacement, after being mashed by transport trailers. If parking is at capacity more 
often on this street, the alley exit will be more challenging for these large vehicles to manoeuvre 
safely. 


	 As a residential homeowner on Second St, I was dismayed the August 15, 2022 
Heritage Committee minutes called Second St a commercial street, which was also referenced 
in the September 21 Regular Council Meeting; Second Street streetscape 
• Second Street is also a commercial street. Would like to see an option to animate Second 
Street. E.g. consider moving the interior patio, which would be in the shade most of the day, to 
front Second Street and be associated with commercial unit CRU- 3. 

	 The single family home, with Second St frontage, my family has occupied since 2013 
was built in 1930, yet, in the absence of a parking plan with residential parking provisions, I 
often come home with groceries and can’t park in front of my home, to unload. To add the 
pressure of a shortfall of six parking spaces on the block is going to add to the clash of 
residential peace vs commercial pursuits. 


	 After years of watching the Big Store building fade, I am so happy to see life and action 
in the space, once again. The business planning to move into the space has so much potential 
to contribute to the rich community that is Cumberland. This contribution should also include 

Page 35 of 358



either six parking spaces by removing the addition on the building and easing alley pressures 
as well, or the stated parking-in-lieu fees, as per schedule. 


Thank you for time of council and staff, in your deliberations. 


If anyone would like to connect about further, please do not hesitate. 















January 7, 2022 - delivery vehicle stuck in alley, trailer caught on the Big Store addition.


Page 36 of 358



Building, prior to 2013, note the gutters missing from the section closest to Second St.


Page 37 of 358



Fall 2022, gutters smashed flat by transport trailers, after installation prior to current owners 
taking possession 


Page 38 of 358



Various states of gutter damage


The white marks in the hair area are where the transport trailer strikes the building. 




Page 39 of 358






Gutter damaged, watch the water pour out the end 


 


Page 40 of 358



More ongoing gutter damage in various states

Page 41 of 358



1

Meleana Searle

From:

Sent: November 3, 2022 9:09 AM

To: Planning

Cc: Vickey Brown;

Subject: Variance Permit for 2712 Dunsmuir

For your consideration, 
 
As a neighbouring commercial property owner, I support the granting of this Variance to reduce the number of parking 
spaces from six to zero and waive the cash-in-lieu of parking requirements for 2712 Dunsmuir Ave.  I also challenge the 
Village to permanently remove any parking or other bylaw requirements on heritage buildings that are difficult if not 
impossible to fulfill.  This could be done by simply "grandfathering" these buildings to keep doing what they have been 
doing, in some cases for over 120 years. 
 
Requiring a Variance for a heritage building built before the adaptation of the current bylaw is nothing short of 
kafkaesque.  This building, and many others on Dunsmuir, was designed, built and used for decades when people 
predominantly walked the village core instead of driving.  Forcing these carbon friendly buildings to now have parking 
when there is little or no land to do this, is overly bureaucratic and creates an administrative burden for both the Village 
and the owner.  From a bystanders view, it could appear that this is nothing but an attempt by the Village to extract 
funds from the property owner.   
 
Increasing financial, regulatory (Bylaw and Building Code) and bureaucratic burdens on a property directly threatens the 
life of a heritage building.  Preserving an old building should be easier and cheaper than building new, but this is 
currently not the case.  The Heritage committee should create "carrots" to encourage owners to rehabilitate buildings 
instead of the current "stick" method to try and force compliance.  The Village currently has no stated financial or bylaw 
exemptions in place for Heritage buildings, but instead imparts increased fees and added processes, like this Variance. 
 
So does the Village value heritage buildings more than parking?  Do we live in an era where the Village facilitates the 
preservation and re-use of our past and proactively fights climate change, or does the Village want to continue to 
enforce dated bylaws that favour suburban sprawl, the destruction of heritage buildings and increased carbon usage?  I 
am reminded of the phrase "the greenest building is the one already built".   
 
I challenge the new Village administration to quickly draft and approve bylaws that take an economical and common 
sense approach to the preservation of Heritage buildings by reducing unnecessary administrative requirements and 
economic barriers.  Remove things like hard parking requirements that change with usage and cannot be met with 
existing buildings and lots.  Offer upfront incentives to property owners to preserve heritage buildings and streamline 
the process of getting the many vacant and underused properties on Dunsmuir back into their intended commercial 
use.   
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

Page 42 of 358



2

   
  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43 of 358



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 4 

 
REPORT DATE: 12/14/2022 
MEETING DATE: 1/9/2023 

File No. 2022-07-DP 
TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Meleana Searle, Planner 

SUBJECT: Development Permit – Proposed Lot 2 (2794 Beck Avenue) 

 
RECOMMENDATION  

THAT Council approve the development permit (2022-07-
DP) for the property described Lot A Section 34 Township 10 
Comox District Plan EPP93477 (2794 Beck Avenue).  
 
PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval of a 
development permit to allow the construction of a storage 
facility and caretaker’s suite on Proposed Lot 2 (2794 Beck 
Avenue). 
 
BACKGROUND 

Proposed Development 

The proposal is to construct a storage facility, office and caretaker’s suite. The property is currently 
under active subdivision. The proposed development complies with current zoning and siting of 
the buildings complies with setbacks from proposed lot lines. Allowing processing of the 
development permit prior to completion of the subdivision allows the applicant to advance 
establishing their business in the Village of Cumberland. Council may approve the development 
permit, but it can only be issued after the subdivision completes.  

Construction of the Tree Island Yogurt facility is underway on Proposed Lot One. Only one building 
can be approved for construction prior to subdivision. A development permit for Drewry Electrical 
on Proposed Lot Six was approved by Council on April 25, 2022 and a development permit for 
Proposed Lot 4 was approved on September 6, 2022. Issuance of these permits will be held in 
abeyance until after the subdivision is complete. Further building permits cannot be issued until 
the subdivision completes. 
 
Bevan Industrial Lands 

The Bevan Industrial Lands Concept Plan and Report (Concept Plan) was developed by the Village 
in cooperation with Hancock Timber in 2019-2020 with input from key stakeholders in the 

Subject Property 

Subject Property 

Page 44 of 358



Page 2 of 4 

community. The Bevan Industrial Lands contain approximately 500 hectares (1,235 acres) of land 
and represent the largest supply of industrial lands in the Comox Valley. The Concept Plan was 
approved by Village Council on September 14, 2020. Council’s 2021 review of its 2020 to 2023 
Strategic Priorities confirmed Economic Development as one of its key priority areas with the focus 
being on “Bevan Industrial Area Development.” 

Official Community Plan 

Pursuant to the Official Community Plan (OCP), the proposed development is subject to two 
development permit areas (DPAs): DPA #1 -Environmental Protection and DPA #5 – Industrial.  

The subject property is within Development Permit Area #1 (DPA #1) – Environmental Protection 
and is identified as a connectivity area. The primary function of this development permit area is to 
ensure that natural resources are protected, connectivity restored and maintained, and 
development impacts mitigated, including allowing decision makers to have the ability to secure 
the necessary information and be able to place conditions on development. 

The subject property is also in Development Permits Area # 5 – Industrial. The intent of this DPA is 
to enhance the visual quality of developments located along main thresholds to the community 
and to ensure that industrial development limits visual impact on adjacent uses. It is also an 
objective of the Village to encourage development that incorporates energy and water 
conservation principles as well as designs that work towards reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

Zoning Bylaw 

The subject property is zoned I-2 – Heavy Industrial, which permits a large variety of industrial 
principal uses. Office and residential is permitted as an accessory use if it is an integral part of the 
principal use. The maximum size of a dwelling unit in this zone is 90.0m² (987.7ft²). 

Village of Cumberland Strategic Priorities 

The Village of Cumberland Strategic Priorities guide the Village’s corporate management and 
decision-making. The primary purpose of the Strategic Priorities is to communicate the priorities of 
Council and the community and to focus and coordinate the resources of the Village of 
Cumberland Council and staff. The Village of Cumberland seeks to support the local economy by 
facilitating and leveraging the energy and resources in the private and non-profit sectors. One of 
the identified priorities is economic development, specifically the development of the Bevan 
Industrial Lands 
 
ANALYSIS  

Environmental Protection Area – DPA 1 

The applicant has provided a bio-inventory and impact assessment report prepared by a registered 
professional biologist (R.P. Bio). The report outlines that there are no waterbodies on or within 
100m of the project area, no plant species at risk, no invasive species designated noxious, no 
wildlife or wildlife habitat features and no environmentally sensitive areas. The report identifies 
that project development is expected to have a relatively minimal impact on the larger watershed 
area. Requirements of the development permit are that work is completed outside of the bird 
breeding season.  

Page 45 of 358



Page 3 of 4 

Connectivity for this area is being addressed through the current subdivision. On the north side of 
proposed Lots 1-3, a 3.0 metre wide bioswale will provide a connectivity corridor for wildlife. 
Fencing of these lots will be required to be on the inside of the bioswale to minimize 
fragmentation of the corridor. The application complies with all guidelines of Development Permit 
Area #1- Environmental Protection. 

Industrial – DPA 5 

The property owner is proposing two storage buildings with a total of 48 units, including an office 
and a caretaker’s suite. The buildings are oriented parallel to Beck Avenue which preserves the 
view corridors to the mountains and glacier. The building rooflines have been articulated to 
complement the mountain backdrop. The office and caretaker’s suite will be slightly taller and clad 
in contrasting colours to the storage units to provide visual interest.  

Fencing is proposed for the area surrounding the storage units. However, it will be kept to a 
minimum to leave the back of the property open as part of a larger, contiguous, wildlife corridor. 
This corridor aligns with Proposed Lot 1 (Tree Island Yogurt) and will align with any future 
development on Proposed Lot 3.  

The site features landscaping throughout and includes a rooftop patio with mountain and glacier 
views for the caretaker. The application complies with all guidelines of Development Permit Area 
#5 - Industrial. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION AND CONSULTATION 

As required by the Village of Cumberland Procedures and Fees Bylaw No. 1073, 2018 the applicant 
has placed the required sign on-site. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Local Government Act, a notice of Council consideration of the 
Development Permit was mailed on December 12, 2022, to the owners of adjacent properties within 
75.0metres.  At the time of this report no submissions have been received by staff. 

Staff recommends that Council does not require a neighbourhood public meeting. Although the 
Village of Cumberland Procedures and Fees Bylaw No. 1073, 2018 states that Council may require 
that the applicant hold a neighbourhood public meeting, because Council has limited discretion 
when approving development permits, public meetings for development permit applications are 
generally not recommended. 
 
REFERRALS 

No referrals are recommended for this application. The proposed industrial buildings are 
consistent with the Bevan Lands Concept Plan approved by Council in 2020. The preparation of the 
Concept Plan included a component of public engagement, and the development of the Bevan 
Industrial Lands is a Council strategic objective.   
 
ALTERNATIVES 

1. THAT Council refer the development permit application for the property described as Lot A 
Section 34 Township 10 Comox District Plan EPP93477 (2794 Beck Avenue) to the Advisory 
Planning Commission for comment. 

2. THAT Council request further information or clarification or request the applicant to make 
changes to the plans. If changes are requested, specific direction about the type of 

Page 46 of 358



Page 4 of 4 

alterations should be presented including reference to the relevant development permit 
area guideline or guidelines. 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☐ Healthy Community 

☐ Quality Infrastructure Planning and Development 

☐ Comprehensive Community Planning 

☒ Economic Development 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

None. 
 
OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

The review of Development Permit applications is part of the services provided by the 
Development Services Department. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

The proposed development permit is located within an existing industrial node. Efforts to mitigate 
climate change though the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions include: the building being solar 
ready, provision of indoor secured bike parking, and electric vehicle plugs-in. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2022-07-DP DRAFT 
  
CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

M. Searle 
____________________ 
Meleana Searle 
Planner 
 

M. Mason 

_________________ 

Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Page 47 of 358



 

 

 

 
Corporation of the  

Village of Cumberland 

 
DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 

 

TO: Acciano Development Inc.  

OF: 3879 Warren Ave, Royston, BC V0R 2V0 

1. This Development Permit (2022-07-DP) is issued subject to compliance with all of the 
bylaws of the Village of Cumberland applicable thereto, except as supplemented by this 
permit for the purposes of developing two storage facilities, office and caretaker’s suite 
on Proposed Lot 2. 

2. This Development Permit applies to and only to a portion of those lands within the 
Village of Cumberland described below: 
 
Legal Description: Lot A Section 34 Township 10 Comox District Plan EPP93477 
 
Folio: 516 29039.521 PID:  031-308-937 
 
Civic Address: Proposed Lot 2 (2794 Beck Avenue) 

3. The land described herein shall be developed substantially in compliance with the 
following terms and conditions and provisions of this permit: 

 
DPA#1 Environmental Protection Permit Area 

a) All work will be completed outside of the breeding bird season (March 15 – 

August 31) to minimize impacts to wildlife.  If work cannot be completed outside 

of the breeding bird season, then pre-clearing nest and small wildlife sweeps will 

be conducted and protective buffers maintained around active nests, as directed 

by a Qualified Environmental Professional.  Recommendations for appropriate 

timing of works, and associated mitigations, are provided in section 5.5 of the 

Bioinventory Report.  

b) An additional invasive species survey should be conducted during the growing 

season and prior to development proceeding to identify whether species not 

identified in the fall of 2019 currently exist in the project area, as per Bio-

Inventory and Impact Report section 4.4.2.3.  

DPA#5 Industrial Development Permit Area 

i On-site topsoils to be conserved and re-used on site. 

Page 48 of 358



 

 

c) Landscaping 

i Watering shall be via an on-site irrigation system with an automated ‘smart’ 
controller. 

ii Efforts shall be made to restore native vegetation on site post re-grading. 

iii Signage shall be subject to the applicable bylaw provisions. 

d) Building Form and Character 

i The proposed building will be constructed substantially in compliance with 
the drawings attached as Schedule A. 

ii The building shall be designed to be solar ready. This includes providing a 
conduit to the roof for future solar panel installation. 

iii A minimum of one 240 volt EV plugs is to be provided. 

iv All on-site lighting is to be fully shielded (full cut off). 

 
4. Landscape Security 

a) A security in an amount equal to 125% of the cost estimate for the approved 
landscape plan shall be received before the Permit is granted.    

b) When the plan has been completely implemented the Owner shall request an 
inspection.  If found to be compliant, a refund of 75% of the security received shall 
be made.    

c) The remaining 25% will be held back for one year at which time the Owner will 
request an inspection.  If the landscaping is to the satisfaction of the Village, the 
holdback will be returned to the person who paid it.  If any of the plants have not 
survived, they shall be replaced by the Owner as per the approved landscape plan, 
or failing this, the Village may use the holdback to replace the plants.  Any amount 
of the security not used for the purpose it was intended will be returned to person 
who paid it.  

 
5. Expiry  

Subject to the terms of the permit, if the Owner of this Development Permit does not 
substantially start any construction with respect to which the permit was issued within 
2 years after the date it is issued, the permit lapses.   

6. Timing and Sequencing of Development 

None 

Page 49 of 358



 

 

7. List of Reports or Plans attached as Schedules 

1. Schedule A - Site Plan 
2. Schedule B - Elevations 
3. Schedule C – Bio-inventory and Impact Assessment, Sept.3, 2019 
4. Schedule D – Landscape Plan  
5. Schedule E – Stormwater Management Plan 

8. Contaminated Sites Regulation 
This permit is issued pursuant to the requirements of the Environmental Management 
Act, whereby the Owner has completed a “Site Declaration” for the subject property. 

9. This Permit is not a Building Permit. 

CERTIFIED as the DEVELOPMENT PERMIT granted by resolution of the Council of the 
Corporation of the Village of Cumberland on January 9, 2022. 
 
 

________________________________ 
Corporate Officer 

Page 50 of 358



lllll
I iill
liS

il
I'jii2
1
9

I iil'r

iii I!!s
s
e
j

1111
-^

1
^
 
!
t
lJ

11&1

1
3

y
 iiii

iliil
I
I

If j i !jl
iiJ

I ill I I I 1
1

»
 5

 II, *
i a

s
l!J

 I

i I H
i
S

lilB
iiiii J

L
'iiII

III!

^-T-y
-^

Page 51 of 358



PROJECT:

DRAWING NAME:

PROJECT NUMBER:

SCHEDULE.

DRAWING NUMBER:

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS.
EXTERIOR FINISH

DATE:

GW

DRAWN BY:

FILE: SCALE:

SOUTHEAST PERSPECTIVE.

Phillipa Atwood Architect AIBC, MRAIC, LEED AP

BY

COPYRIGHT

DESCRIPTIONNO. DATE

REVISIONS

01 gwPDF issued for review01 Nov., 2022

DP 3 of 3

3/32"=1'-0"

STORAGE
CUMBERLAND

2794 BECK AVENUE
CUMBERLAND. BC

1275

-
-

This drawing is and remains the exclusive property of Phillipa Atwood, Architect
AIBC, and cannot be reproduced or copied in any form or by any means (graphic,
electronic or mechanical, including photocopying) without the written consent of

Phillipa Atwood, Architect AIBC.  Any license, express or implied, to use this
document for any purpose whatsoever is restricted to the terms of the written

agreement between Phillipa Atwood, Architect AIBC and
Brian Balfe.

1275 - Cumberland Stor DP.dwg

28 OCTOBER, 2022
NORTH ELEVATION

SOUTH (BECK AVENUE) ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION

(BUILDING ONE) (BUILDING TWO)

(BUILDING ONE)(BUILDING TWO)

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

ROOF: WESTFORM METALS PROLOK 12.
     STORAGE:
     RESIDENCE:

STONE GREY.
BLACK.

ROOF FLASHING: TO MATCH ROOF.

SOFFITS:      STORAGE:
     RESIDENCE:

WHITE.
BLACK.

WALLS: WESTFORM METALS HF-12W 24 GUAGE.
     STORAGE: CANYON AND STONE GREY (REAR WALLS)

ALTERNATE: CEMENT FIBRE PANELS IN
     SIMILAR COLOUR.

     RESIDENCE: PONDEROSA.
ALTERNATE: CEMENT FIBRE PANELS IN
     SIMILAR COLOUR.

WINDOWS: VINYL BLACK.

OVERHEAD DOORS: LIGHT GREY.

DOORS:      STORAGE:
     RESIDENCE:

LIGHT GREY.
BLACK.

SOUTHEAST PERSPECTIVE

02 gwIssued for development permit03 Nov., 2022

Page 52 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision 
Bio-inventory and Impact Assessment 

Version 2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared for: 

Acciano Development Inc. 
3747 Island Hwy S 

Courtenay, BC, V9N 9T4 
  

September 3, 2019 

Prepared by: 

 

Ecofish Research Ltd. 

 

 
        

Page 53 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page i 

1413-01 

Photographs and illustrations copyright © 2019 

Published by Ecofish Research Ltd., Suite F, 450 8th St., Courtenay, B.C., V9N 1N5 

 

For inquiries contact: Technical Lead   documentcontrol@ecofishresearch.com 250-334-3042 

 

Citation: 

 

Ballin, L., A. Newbury, R. Day, and J. Kurtz. 2019. Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory and Impact 
Assessment. Version 2. Consultant’s report prepared for Acciano Development Inc. by 
Ecofish Research Ltd., September 3, 2019. 

 

Certification: Certified – stamped version on file 

 

Senior Reviewer: 
Jayson Kurtz, M.Sc., P.Biol. #2576. R.P.Bio. #1081 

Fisheries Biologist/ Project Manager  
 
Technical Leads: 
Leah Ballin, MSFM, R.P.Bio. #2537, R.P.F. #4873 

Wildlife Biologist/ Terrestrial Ecologist 

 

Rachel Day, M.Sc., P.Geo. #37677 

Environmental Professional 

 

 

Disclaimer: 

This report was prepared by Ecofish Research Ltd. for the account of Acciano Development Inc. 
(Tree Island Yogurt). The material in it reflects the best judgement of Ecofish Research Ltd. in light 
of the information available to it at the time of preparation. Any use which a third party makes of this 
report, or any reliance on or decisions to be made based on it, is the responsibility of such third parties. 
Ecofish Research Ltd. accepts no responsibility for damages, if any, suffered by any third party as a 
result of decisions made or actions, based on this report. This numbered report is a controlled 
document. Any reproductions of this report are uncontrolled and may not be the most recent revision. 

Page 54 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page ii 

1413-01 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Acciano Development Inc is proposing to subdivide a 6.9 ha parcel (the Project area) within an area 
zoned for industrial use on Bevan Road in Cumberland, BC. Acciano Development Inc. retained 
Ecofish Research Ltd. to complete a bio-inventory for the Project as per the requirements of the 
Corporation of the Village of Cumberland Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 990. The bio-
inventory covers the entire Project area proposed to be subdivided and the impact assessment is 
specific to the administrative subdivision and servicing.  

A desktop background review and reconnaissance-level site survey were completed in March 2019 by 
a professional geoscientist and a professional biologist/professional forester to identify 
Environmentally Valuable Resources (EVRs) and Environmentally Sensitive Areas (ESAs) that may 
be present on or within 100 m of the Project area. The results of the bio-inventory and impact 
assessment for the Project area are presented for terrain and soils, hydrology and water quality, fish 
and aquatic ecosystems, terrestrial ecosystems and plants, and wildlife and wildlife habitat. 

Topography of the Project area is relatively smooth and flat with well drained soils. Surface water is 
expected to infiltrate through the soil towards the unconfined sand and gravel aquifer (Aquifer No. 
417) underlying the Project area. There are no waterbodies (e.g., streams, wetlands) or aquatic 
ecosystem areas mapped on or within 100 m of the Project area and no surface or groundwater was 
observed during the site survey. The nearest aquatic ecosystem is a fish-bearing wetland approximately 
340 m from the Project area boundary. Roadside ditches between the Project area and Bevan Road 
were dry during the site survey; however, it is possible that during extremely heavy rains, water from 
the Project area may shed to these ditches, and that these ditches may be connected to wetlands or 
streams. 

The Project area was logged in 2014/2015 and currently supports vegetation characteristic of the 
provincially red-listed western hemlock – Douglas-fir / Oregon beaked moss ecological community; 
including relatively rare western white pine, however, the ecological value of the young vegetation 
remaining after logging is lower than if the vegetation was at a later seral stage. No plant species at 
risk are documented to occur in the Project area, and none are expected. No invasive species 
designated as noxious under the BC Weed Control Act were identified in the Project area; however, 
other non-native invasive species were detected in the Project area (e.g., Scotch Broom, bull thistle, 
oxeye daisy, dandelion and clover). 

No wildlife species at risk or wildlife habitat features have been detected on or within 100 m of the 
Project area. Use of the Project area for foraging by Mule Deer and a few avian species was confirmed 
during the site survey. Some avian species may also use the Project area for nesting. Although no 
wildlife trails were observed, wildlife (e.g., Mule Deer, Roosevelt Elk) likely pass through this area as 
they travel between seasonal foraging and breeding habitats and water sources. No amphibians or 
reptiles were observed during the site survey; however, Western Toads and other amphibian species 
may migrate across or seek cover in downed wood or soil in the Project area. 

Page 55 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page iii 

1413-01 

No ESAs or EVRs requiring buffers were identified on or within 100 m of the Project area, thus no 
restricted development or buffer zones have been designated. 

Overall, in the context of the Project area being recently logged, in the vicinity of an active waste 
management facility, adjacent to a busy gravel road and active gravel mine, and being located over 
340 m from an aquatic ecosystem, sensitive terrestrial ecosystem, park or protected area, Project 
development is expected to have a relatively minimal impact on the larger watershed area. Standard 
construction environmental best management practices for a Project of this size and type are expected 
to adequately mitigate potential impacts. 

Appendix A details how Bylaw No. 990 conditions for DPA#1 Connectivity areas have been met by 
the development design and this bio-inventory, and recommends conditions of the development.  

Page 56 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page iv

1413-01

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......................................................................................................... II

LIST OF FIGURES ....................................................................................................................VI

LIST OF TABLES .................................................................................................................... VII

LIST OF MAPS........................................................................................................................VIII

LIST OF DRAWINGS ............................................................................................................VIII

LIST OF APPENDICES .........................................................................................................VIII

1. INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................... 1

1.1. BIO-INVENTORY SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES........................................................................... 1
1.2. PROJECT LOCATION AND ZONING....................................................................................... 1
1.3. REGIONAL ECOLOGICAL CONTEXT..................................................................................... 1
1.4. PROJECT AREA-SPECIFIC CONTEXT .................................................................................... 2

2. REGULATORY CONTEXT.......................................................................................... 6

2.1. MUNICIPAL......................................................................................................................... 6
2.2. PROVINCIAL........................................................................................................................ 6
2.3. FEDERAL ............................................................................................................................ 6

3. METHODS....................................................................................................................... 7

3.1. TERRAIN AND SOILS ........................................................................................................... 7
Background Review .................................................................................................... 7
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................... 7

3.2. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY................................................................................... 7
Background Review .................................................................................................... 7
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................... 8

3.3. FISH AND AQUATIC ECOSYSTEMS....................................................................................... 8
Background Review .................................................................................................... 8
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................... 8

3.4. TERRESTRIAL ECOSYSTEMS AND PLANTS........................................................................... 8
Background Review .................................................................................................... 8
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................... 9

3.5. WILDLIFE AND WILDLIFE HABITAT .................................................................................... 9
Background Review .................................................................................................... 9
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................. 10

4. RESULTS....................................................................................................................... 10

4.1. TERRAIN AND SOILS ......................................................................................................... 10

Page 57 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page v

1413-01

Background Review .................................................................................................. 10
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................. 11

4.2. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY................................................................................. 12
Background Review .................................................................................................. 12
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................. 13

4.3. FISH AND AQUATIC ECOSYSTEMS..................................................................................... 14
Background Review .................................................................................................. 14
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................. 14

4.4. TERRESTRIAL ECOSYSTEMS AND PLANTS......................................................................... 14
Background Review .................................................................................................. 14
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................. 15

4.5. WILDLIFE AND WILDLIFE HABITAT .................................................................................. 16
Background Review .................................................................................................. 16
Reconnaissance-level Site Survey ............................................................................. 18

5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR THE SUBDIVISION AND INSTALLATION OF 
SERVICING .................................................................................................................. 19

5.1. TERRAIN AND SOILS ......................................................................................................... 20
5.2. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY................................................................................. 23
5.3. FISH AND AQUATIC ECOSYSTEMS..................................................................................... 28
5.4. TERRESTRIAL ECOSYSTEMS AND PLANTS......................................................................... 28
5.5. WILDLIFE AND WILDLIFE HABITAT .................................................................................. 33

6. CLOSURE AND NEXT STEPS................................................................................... 37

REFERENCES............................................................................................................................ 38

PROJECT MAPS........................................................................................................................ 42

DRAWINGS ................................................................................................................................ 46

APPENDICES............................................................................................................................. 48

Page 58 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page vi 

1413-01 

LIST OF FIGURES 
Figure 1. Plan of Lot D of Section 34, Township 10, Comox District (McElhanney 2018; date of 

background imagery unknown). ................................................................................................... 4 

Figure 2. Overview of general site topography on March 26, 2019. ...................................................... 11 

Figure 3. Soil auger sample on March 26, 2019. ....................................................................................... 12 

Figure 4. Mapped critical habitat for Western Painted Turtle (ECCC 2018). ...................................... 17 

 

 

Page 59 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page vii 

1413-01 

LIST OF TABLES  
Table 1. Project location and context. ........................................................................................................ 2 

Table 2. Potential impacts and conceptual mitigations for terrain and soils. ...................................... 21 

Table 3. Potential impacts and conceptual mitigations for hydrology and water quality. ................. 25 

Table 4. Potential impacts and conceptual mitigations for terrestrial ecosystems and plants. ......... 29 

Table 5. Potential impacts and conceptual mitigations for wildlife and wildlife habitat. .................. 34 

 

 

Page 60 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page viii 

1413-01 

LIST OF MAPS 
Map 1. Project Overview ............................................................................................................................ 5 

Map 2.  Wildlife Habitat Plots. .................................................................................................................. 43 

Map 3. Watersheds and Adjacent Waterbodies. .................................................................................... 44 

Map 4. Terrestrial and Aquatic Features. ................................................................................................ 45 

 

LIST OF DRAWINGS 
Drawing 1. Lot Plan - Option 1. .............................................................................................................. 47 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

Appendix A. Village of Cumberland Bylaw 990 requirements and how they are addressed in 
this report 

Appendix B. Field data collected at wildlife habitat plots 

Appendix C. Site photographs 

Appendix D. At-risk wildlife and plant species considered 

 

 

Page 61 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 1 

1413-01 

1. INTRODUCTION 
Acciano Development Inc. is proposing to subdivide 6.18 ha of land (the Project/ Project area) on 
Bevan Road in Cumberland, BC (Map 1) into six properties. Acciano Development Inc. retained 
Ecofish Research Ltd. to complete a bio-inventory for the Project as per the Corporation of the Village 
of Cumberland (Village of Cumberland) Official Community Plan (OCP) requirements.  

The subdivision includes the administrative creation of lots and physical servicing (i.e., installation of 
roads, power and water) of lots, as well as a greenway along Bevan Road (Drawing 1). 

1.1. Bio-inventory Scope and Objectives 
A bio-inventory is required for the Project under Bylaw No. 990 of the Village of Cumberland’s OCP 
(VOC 2014a) and Develop with Care: Environmental Guidelines for Urban and Rural Land 
Development (MFLNRO 2014). The bio-inventory will contribute to the development permit 
application information required by the Village of Cumberland for permitting the Project. The bio-
inventory and impact assessment cover the entire Project area proposed to be subdivided and serviced.  

Specifically, the objectives of this bio-inventory are to: 

• Describe the baseline environmental conditions of the proposed Project area; 

• Assess the potential impacts of the proposed Project on environmentally valuable resources 
(EVRs) and environmentally sensitive areas (ESAs) including sensitive ecosystems and 
terrestrial ecosystems at risk, aquatic and riparian ecosystems, species at risk, and wildlife and 
wildlife habitat features; 

• Determine mitigation measures to minimize potential Project impacts. Mitigation measures 
may include establishing protective buffers or working within timing windows to minimize 
effects associated with species’ sensitive life history periods; and 

• Assess the proposed development against DPA#1 Connectivity Area requirements. 

1.2. Project Location and Zoning 
The Project area is defined as Parcel 006-688-527 (Lot D), Section 34, Township 10, Comox District, 
located at approximately 10U 351569, 5501388, on Bevan Road in Cumberland, BC (Figure 1, Map 1, 
Drawing 1). Under the OCP, the Project area is zoned as an Industrial Area (Map C in the Official 
Community Plan) and is mapped as an Environmental Development Permit (DPA#1) Connectivity 
Area (Map E in the Official Community Plan) (VOC 2014b). The location and zoning of the Project 
area are summarized in Table 1. 

1.3. Regional Ecological Context 
The Project area falls within the Comox Valley Regional District (CVRD) and South Island Forest 
District, approximately 1 km northeast of Comox Lake and 5 km west of the Salish Sea. The Project 
area is approximately 2.5 km northwest of the developed urban core of Cumberland, BC and 

Page 62 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 2 

1413-01 

approximately 500 m north of the Comox Valley Waste Management Centre, which includes the 
regional landfill (Map 1).  

Environmentally, the Project area is within the Coastal Western Hemlock biogeoclimatic zone, Very 
Dry Maritime subzone, Eastern variant (CWHxm1) and the Nanaimo Lowlands Ecoregion. The 
CWHxm1 occurs at lower elevations (up to 700 m) on the east side of Vancouver Island and is 
characterised by warm, dry summers, and moist, mild winters with little snowfall (Green and Klinka 
1994). Vegetation growth is constrained by water deficits over the long growing season. CWHxm1 
zonal sites are typically dominated by Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii), with western hemlock (Tsuga 
heterophylla) and some western redcedar (Thuja plicata). Dominant understory species of the CWHxm1 
include salal (Gaultheria shallon), dull Oregon-grape (Mahonia nervosa), red huckleberry (Vaccinium 
parvifolium), step moss (Hylocomium splendens) and Oregon beaked moss (Kindbergia oregana).  

The regional context of the Project area is summarized in Table 1. 

Table 1. Project location and context. 

 
 

1.4. Project Area-specific Context 
The Project area-specific context, as investigated and described by LEA (2019) and Ryzuk 
Geotechnical (2019), and supported by Project specific work, is summarized here. The Project area is 
currently undeveloped, except for logging that occurred in approximately 1913 and 2014/2015. The 
Project area does not appear to have been used for illegal dumping and no contaminated site concerns 
were identified (Delaney, pers. comm. 2019). 

Parameter Details

Location and Zoning
Municipality The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland
Parcel Identifier 006-688-527
Legal Property Description Section 34, Township 10, Comox District
Area 6.9 hectares
Property Center Coordinates UTM Zone 10U Easting 351569  Northing 5501388
Municipal Zoning Industrial (I)
Development Permit Area DPA#1 Environmental Protection DPA Connectivity Area
Regional Ecological Context
Regional District Comox Valley Regional District
Forest District South Island Forest District
Ecoregion Eastern Vancouver Island
Ecoprovince Georgia Depression
Ecosection Nanaimo Lowlands
Biogeoclimatic Zone Coastal Western Hemlock Zone Very dry maritime eastern variant (CWHxm1)

Page 63 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 3 

1413-01 

To the west, the Project area is bounded by a railway right-of-way (ROW) that was used to transport 
coal from approximately 1849 to 1964, and on the far side of the ROW an active gravel pit has existed 
since approximately 2015. Thus, this gravel pit currently nearly abuts the Project area boundary. The 
remaining parcels surrounding the Project area are undeveloped except for logging that occurred from 
approximately 1996 to 2015. The road and associated laydown area to the south of the Project area 
were cleared and constructed between 2007 and 2012, and the adjacent lands, except for a narrow 
strip of trees on the opposite side of Bevan Road, were logged between 2004 and 2012 (CVRD 2019a).  

Page 64 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 4 

1413-01 

Figure 1. Plan of Lot D of Section 34, Township 10, Comox District (McElhanney 2018; 
date of background imagery unknown). 

 

Page 65 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 5 

1413-01 

Map 1. Project Overview 

Map 1 
Page 66 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 6 

1413-01 

2. REGULATORY CONTEXT 

2.1. Municipal 
The OCP for the Village of Cumberland, including Bylaw No. 990, is enabled by the provincial Local 
Government Act (2015). In the OCP, the Village of Cumberland designated environmental protection 
Development Permit Areas (DPA#1) (VOC 2014a). Specifically, DPA#1 identifies sensitive aquatic 
and terrestrial ecosystem areas, as well as connectivity areas, for which development restrictions apply. 
The OCP and Local Government Act require that any alteration to the land in a Development Permit 
Area is prohibited unless the owner first obtains a development permit from the Village of 
Cumberland. The application for a development permit in DPA#1 areas must include a bio-inventory 
following the procedures detailed in Develop with Care: Environmental Guidelines for Urban and 
Rural Land Development (MFLNRO 2014) and fulfill the general requirements and applicable habitat-
specific supplemental requirements (i.e., for aquatic or terrestrial ecosystem areas or connectivity 
areas) in the OCP, as listed in Section 10.1.5 and Section 10.1.6, respectively. A detailed summary of 
these requirements and how they are addressed in this report is provided in Appendix A. 

2.2. Provincial 
Provincial environmental legislation that may be relevant to Project development includes the: 

• Wildlife Act (1996) which contains provisions to generally protect wildlife and wildlife habitat, 
including prohibitions against destroying a bird or its egg, the nest of an Eagle, Peregrine 
Falcon, Gyrfalcon, Osprey, Heron or Burrowing Owl, or the nest of any bird when the nest 
is occupied by a bird or its egg.  

• Water Sustainability Act (2014) which regulates water withdrawal and physical works in and 
about streams; 

• Riparian Areas Protection Act (1997) which, if enabled by municipal legislation (in this case, 
Village of Cumberland Bylaw No. 990), regulates development adjacent to streams through 
the establishment of riparian buffers to protect aquatic habitats through the Riparian Areas 
Regulation (RAR); and 

• Weed Control Act (1996) which requires land occupiers to control noxious weeds on their 
property. 

2.3. Federal 
Federal environmental legislation potentially relevant to Project development includes the:  

• Fisheries Act (1985) which protects fish and fish habitat; 

• Migratory Birds Convention Act (1994) (MBCA) which contains provisions to protect all migratory 
birds by prohibiting disturbance to nests or eggs and from polluting waters or areas frequented 
by migratory birds; and 

Page 67 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 7

1413-01

• Species at Risk Act (2002) (SARA) which prohibits the destruction, harassment, capture or 
possession of species listed as threatened, extirpated or endangered and protects their critical 
habitat if it is on federal land, or if the species is aquatic or protected under the MBCA.

3. METHODS
For each of the subject areas below (terrain and soils, hydrology and water quality, fish and aquatic 
ecosystems, terrestrial ecosystems and plants, wildlife and wildlife habitat) the background review 
included a desktop review of documents previously developed for the Project (i.e., LEA 2019), and 
publicly available provincial databases, maps and reports.

A reconnaissance-level site survey was completed on March 26, 2019 by a professional geoscientist 
and a professional biologist/professional forester to identify EVRs and ESAs, including species at risk 
or of regional concern, sensitive ecosystems, hydrological features, fish and aquatic ecosystems, or 
geographical features that may be present in or within 100 m of the Project area as well as document 
the general environmental characteristics of the site. The survey was based on Develop with Care 
(MFLNRO 2014) and standard provincial methodologies for environmental data collection (MOF 
2010). The entire Project area was surveyed for EVRs and ESAs and detailed environmental data were
collected within three wildlife habitat plots (WHP) (Map 2). The locations of the three WHP were 
selected to be representative of the Project area. Within each WHP, data on site characteristics, soils, 
hydrology, vegetation, and wildlife use were collected, as outlined in the following sub-sections. Water 
quality was not assessed as there was no standing water or water within 0.5 m of the surface to assess.

3.1. Terrain and Soils
Background Review

Terrain and soils information available on iMapBC (DataBC 2019) and in background reports, 
including surficial geology and soils, was reviewed on and within 100 m of the Project area. 

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
Terrain and soil field surveys were conducted to provide an overview of the environmental condition 
of the site. The surveys included measurements of slope and aspect, and a description of 
microtopography and slope position. Soil pits/auger holes were dug to 30 cm depth. Soils were 
classified by standard metrics including: texture, colour (Munsell 2009), nutrient regime, moisture 
regime, coarse fragment content and organic layers. These metrics are indicators of the productivity 
of the site.

3.2. Hydrology and Water Quality
Background Review

Freshwater atlas (e.g., streams, wetlands, watershed boundaries) and aquifer data publicly available on 
iMapBC (DataBC 2019) and iMapCVRD (CVRD 2019a) and background reports were reviewed on
and within 100 m of the Project area. 

Page 68 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 8

1413-01

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
A reconnaissance-level site survey was conducted to examine any site drainage features, water 
shedding, collecting and conveyance areas. Surface and groundwater sources and flow, or lack thereof, 
were identified. In situ water quality measurements were not taken as no water was present on site.

3.3. Fish and Aquatic Ecosystems
Background Review

Freshwater atlas (e.g., streams, wetlands) and fish distribution data publicly available on iMapBC 
(DataBC 2019) and iMapCVRD (CVRD 2019a) and background reports were reviewed on and within 
100 m of the Project area.

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
A reconnaissance-level site survey was conducted to search for any aquatic ecosystems, or connections 
to aquatic ecosystems within 100 m of Project area.

3.4. Terrestrial Ecosystems and Plants
Background Review

3.4.1.1. Ecosystems at Risk and Sensitive Ecosystems

Publicly available provincial and municipal databases were reviewed to identify at-risk terrestrial 
ecosystems that may occur in the Project area. The BC Conservation Data Center (CDC) database 
was searched for federally and provincially listed terrestrial forested ecosystems (ecological 
communities) at risk that are known to occur in the CVRD and CWHxm1 (CDC 2019a). Sensitive 
Ecosystem Mapping for the area conducted by the Canadian Wildlife Service (1991, 1999) and updated 
for the Comox Valley (2011, 2014) was reviewed (CVRD 2019a) to identify if any sensitive ecosystems 
are known to occur on, or within 100 m, of the Project area. Vegetation Resource Inventory (VRI) 
ecosystem mapping has not been completed for the area, and any Terrestrial Ecosystem Mapping 
(TEM) that may have been conducted by private forest companies is not publicly available. Historic 
orthophotographs were also reviewed to provide insight to the ecological and disturbance history of 
the Project area (CVRD 2019a).

3.4.1.2. Plant Species at Risk

The BC Species and Ecosystems Explorer (CDC 2019a) was searched for federally and provincially 
listed plant species at risk that occur in the CVRD CWHxm1.

3.4.1.3. Invasive Species

Provincial (i.e., Invasive Alien Plant Program, DataBC 2019) and municipal (CVRD 2019a) databases 
were searched for nearby occurrences of invasive plant species.

Page 69 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 9

1413-01

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
3.4.2.1. Ecosystems at Risk and Sensitive Ecosystems

Ecosystems were characterized from WHP (plot) data and a walkthrough of the Project area as per 
provincial methods for describing terrestrial ecosystems and conducting ecosystem mapping (MOF 
2010, RIC 2000) by a qualified terrestrial ecologist experienced in air photo interpretation and familiar 
with ecosystems in the CWHxm1. As the entire assessment area (the Project area plus 100 m buffer) 
was determined to be the same ecosystem (BEC zone, site series and vegetation community) and of a 
similar age class, no ecosystem mapping was conducted. 

3.4.2.2. Plants Species at Risk

A reconnaissance-level site survey was conducted to identify potential plant species at risk and 
associated suitable habitat within the Project area. As the field survey was conducted just after snow 
melt, before herbaceous species would be expected to be detectable, the focus of the survey was to 
support an assessment of the likelihood of occurrence of plant species at risk in the Project area.

3.4.2.3. Invasive Plant Species

Invasive plant species were searched for within the Project area, and if found, density and distribution 
were recorded and the species was classified by control priority, as per provincial legislation (i.e., BC 
Weed Control Act) and provincial and regional guidance (i.e., Invasive Alien Plant Program and Coastal 
Invasive Species Committee).

3.5. Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat
Background Review

A list of wildlife species that are provincially or federally designated as at risk and potentially occur in 
within the CWH biogeoclimatic zone and Comox Valley Regional District (with the exception of 
marine and fully aquatic species) was compiled from the BC Species and Ecosystem Explorer (CDC 
2019a). Wildlife species at risk and other species of regional importance were ranked for likelihood of 
occurrence within each assessment area, as per defined criteria below. The likelihood of occurrence 
ranking reflects publicly available wildlife occurrence data (i.e., CDC 2019a, DataBC 2019, E-Fauna 
BC 2019), personal communications, general knowledge acquired from working and living in the 
CVRD, and species-specific wildlife habitat suitability as assessed during the field surveys. Criteria are 
as follows:

• Confirmed. The species has been detected within the assessment area. Species presence
information was observed during the field surveys and/or recorded from the desktop review. 

• High. The current range and distribution of the species overlaps the assessment area. Highly 
suitable habitat is present within the assessment area; however, we have not detected the 
species directly during field visits or indirectly through the desktop review.

Page 70 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 10

1413-01

• Moderate. The current range and distribution of the species overlaps the assessment area. 
Sufficiently suitable habitat is present within the assessment area; however, we have not 
detected the species directly during field visits or indirectly through the desktop review.

• Low. The current range and distribution of the species overlaps or borders the assessment 
area; however, sufficiently suitable habitat is not present. We have not detected the species 
directly during field visits or indirectly through the desktop review.

• Negligible. The current range, distribution, or habitat requirements of the species do not 
overlap or border the assessment area. It is unlikely that the species is ever present within the 
assessment area.

Provincial and federal wildlife habitat designations (i.e., Critical Habitat for Federally-Listed Species 
at Risk, Ungulate Winter Ranges, and Wildlife Habitat Areas) were also reviewed for potential overlap 
with the Project area.

Wildlife species and habitat information collected during field surveys and the desktop review was 
evaluated to predict the likelihood of impacts of the proposed works. Moreover, the information 
collected and collated was used to characterize wildlife habitat and identify sensitive sites that may 
require special consideration during construction.

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
Wildlife habitat suitability was considered for all species at-risk and informed the likelihood of 
occurrence rankings (Section 3.5.1). Targeted species-specific wildlife surveys were not considered 
necessary and were not conducted because of the relatively low quality of habitat and likelihood of 
occurrence and detection of wildlife species at risk during the survey period; however, any wildlife 
species or wildlife sign (e.g., tracks, scat) that were detected were recorded as incidental observations.
The survey was scheduled to meet Project timelines and did not occur during the peak avian breeding 
season or amphibian migration period.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Terrain and Soils
Background Review

The topography of the Project area is described as relatively smooth and flat at an elevation of 
approximately 160 meters above sea level (LEA 2019, Ryzuk 2019).

Surficial geology is consistent for the entire Project area and consists of loamy sand of a glaciofluvial 
origin. These soils are classified as well drained, indicating that water is removed from the soil readily 
in relation to supply (DataBC 2019, Ryzuk 2019). A study of 24 test pits conducted by Ryzuk (2019) 
found all 2.3 m deep pits to be dry.

Page 71 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 11

1413-01

Based on the lithology of the nearest water well, located within 500 m of the Project area in the 
northern part of the landfill, sand with gravel is present from surface to a depth of 19.2 m below 
ground level (LEA 2019). 

No coal was detected along the surface of the old railway ROW west of the Project area; however, 
there is potential for subsurface soil contamination from metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons 
(PAH), and light and heavy polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (LEPH/HEPH), in the vicinity of the 
entire old railway ROW (LEA 2019). The site is not considered a contaminated site (Delaney pers. 
comm. 2019).

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
Field observations confirmed information collated during the background review (Appendix B, 
Appendix C). The Project area was observed to be relatively smooth and flat (Figure 2). Soils were 
typically light reddish-brown (7.5YR 3/4) with a thin layer of overlying organic matter (< 10 cm) 
(Figure 3). Soils were typically a sandy to silty loam with a high percentage of coarse fragments (65-
85%). The soil nutrient regime was generally classified as medium and the moisture regime was 
classified as sub-mesic to mesic. Soils were observed to be slightly moist, likely associated with recent 
snow melt (within the week prior). A higher organic matter content in the upper layer (FH/Ah) and 
slightly coarser sand was observed in soils in the middle of the Project area.

Due to the flat nature of the Project area, it is expected to have high stability and low erosion potential.

Figure 2. Overview of general site topography on March 26, 2019.

Page 72 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 12

1413-01

Figure 3. Soil auger sample on March 26, 2019.

4.2. Hydrology and Water Quality
Background Review

There are no waterbodies (e.g., streams, wetlands) or aquatic ecosystem areas mapped on or within 
100 m of the Project area (DataBC 2019a, CVRD 2019a, VOC 2014c). The east side of the Project 
area is within the First Supply Creek watershed (Puntledge Watershed) and the west side is within the 
Comox Lake watershed (DataBC 2019 and LEA 2019) (Map 2). The Project area does not lie within 
a mapped floodplain (DataBC 2019 and LEA 2019).

Waterbodies located near the Project area include a pond area approximately 400 m to the southwest 
at the landfill, a tributary of Black Lake approximately 340 m to the west, First Supply Creek 
approximately 375 m to the northeast, and Nellie Creek approximately 520 m to the east (LEA 2019)
(Map 3). First Supply Creek and Nellie Creek are tributaries of Morrison Creek.

Current climate data for the Comox Lake watershed (which will include higher precipitation and lower 
temperatures than the Project area due to the Project area being located in the lower elevations and in 
the rain shadow of the watershed) compiled by the Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium (PCIC) report 
on climate change states that annual precipitation in the Comox Lake watershed is 2,700 mm. The 
heaviest precipitation occurs during the fall and winter months (October through March, when 
precipitation exceeds 250 mm/month), while drier conditions prevail during the summer (May 
through September, when precipitation is < 100 mm/month). The Comox Lake watershed 
experiences mild temperatures, with an annual average of 6°C and monthly temperatures that are 

Page 73 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 13

1413-01

above freezing for the majority of the year, ranging from a high of approximately 15°C in July and 
August and dipping slightly below freezing only in December and January. Snowfall in the lower 
elevations of the watershed (including the Project area) is transient.

The Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium (PCIC) projected changes in average (mean) temperature, 
precipitation and several derived climate variables from the baseline historical period, 1961-1990, to 
the 2050’s for the Comox Valley region (Schnorbus 2018). The annual mean temperature is predicted 
to increase by 1.5°C by the 2050’s. Annual precipitation in predicted to increase by 6%, with much of 
that increase occurring in winter (5%), while summer precipitation is predicted to decrease by 17%.
Increase in winter precipitation is expected to occur as rainfall, as snowfall is predicted to be reduced 
by 36% in winter and 52% in spring.

Surface water is expected to infiltrate rapidly through the soil towards the unconfined sand and gravel 
aquifer (Aquifer No. 417) underlying the Project area (LEA 2019, Ryzuk 2019). Aquifer No. 417 is 
classified as IIIA aquifer, indicating a low density and moderate to high productivity with a high 
vulnerability from surface sources (DataBC 2019). Aquifer No. 417 is approximately 14.9 km2. The 
aquifer lies within the Capilano Sediments litho stratographic unit (glacially lain matrix, reddish-brown 
in colour with a coarse, sandy texture). Depth to water in the aquifer ranges from 2.44 to 20.42 m 
(DataBC 2019). Recharge to the aquifer is likely from precipitation (DataBC 2019). Nearby wells (No. 
115760 and No. 115769), located at the Comox Waste Management Centre, indicate static water levels 
of 25.9 m and 19.5 m below top of casing, respectively. Due to the unconfined nature of Aquifer No. 
417, there may be hydrologic connectivity with Aquifer No. 951, which underlies Morrison 
headwaters.

A groundwater well drilled by Drill Well Enterprises Ltd. exists in the northeast corner of the Project 
area (10U 351641 E, 5501543 N; Province of BC Well Identification Number 54689). Data from the 
well including a pump test conducted by Drill Well and groundwater quality analysis conducted by 
Maxxam are presented in Wedler (2019b). The well is not yet registered in the Provincial Groundwater 
wells database.

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
No surface or groundwater was observed at the time of the reconnaissance-level site survey (Figure 
2). As a result, no in situ water quality measurements were taken. No surface hydrological features (e.g., 
water shedding, collection and conveyance areas) were observed on the Project area. Surface water is 
expected to infiltrate through the well drained soil towards the unconfined aquifer. Roadside ditches 
between the Project area and Bevan Road were dry during the site survey; however, it is possible that 
during extremely heavy rains, water from the Project area may shed to these ditches, and that these 
ditches may be connected to wetlands or streams. It is expected that water would run west in the 
Bevan ditches to the low point of land at the provincially mapped watershed boundary and then 
infiltrate north towards First Supply Creek.

Page 74 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 14

1413-01

4.3. Fish and Aquatic Ecosystems
Background Review

There are no waterbodies (e.g., streams, wetlands) or aquatic ecosystem areas mapped on or within 
100 m of the Project area (DataBC 2019, CVRD 2019a, VOC 2014b). The nearest aquatic ecosystem 
(and confirmed fish-bearing waterbody) is approximately 340 m from the Project area (DataBC 2019, 
CVRD 2019a).

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
No surface water or evidence of ephemeral aquatic ecosystems were observed on or within 100 m of 
the Project area, with the possible exception of roadside ditches along Bevan Road, which were dry at 
the time of the survey (see Section 4.2.2).

4.4. Terrestrial Ecosystems and Plants
Background Review

4.4.1.1. Ecosystems at Risk and Sensitive Ecosystems

The Project area is situated in the CWHxm1 biogeoclimatic zone. All but one of the naturally occurring 
terrestrial ecosystems (ecological communities) in the CWHxm1 are considered at risk (red or blue-
listed) (CDC 2019a). However, the conservation value of forested ecosystems increases as they mature 
to older structural stages (e.g., old growth forest vs. short shrub) and the vegetation composition 
trends towards the climax ecosystem which is more representative of the described ecological 
community (CDC 2019b). 

Sensitive Ecosystem Inventory (SEI) mapping for the Comox Valley (CVRD 2019a) does not show 
any sensitive ecosystems on, or within 100 m of the Project area. The closest mapped sensitive 
ecosystems are wetlands located approximately 340 m northeast and southwest of the Project area
(CVRD 2019a). 

A review of historic orthophotographs confirm that the Project area has been subject to recent
(2014/2015) logging activity (Section 1.4) (Map 2).

4.4.1.2. Plant Species at Risk

No plant species at risk are documented to occur on the Project area, and none are expected as most 
plant species at risk that are known to occur in the CWHxm1 and Comox Valley Regional District are 
associated with shallow soil and wetland ecosystems (CDC 2019a, Appendix D). 

4.4.1.3. Invasive Plant Species

No invasive noxious plant species have been documented to occur on or within 100 m of the Project 
area. Spotted knapweed (Centaurea stoebe ssp. micranthos), which is considered noxious by the provincial 
Weed Control Act, is the only invasive plant species documented in the vicinity of the Project area. The 
nearest spotted knapweed occurrence is approximately 900 m southeast of the Project area along 
Bevan Road at the Comox Valley Waste Management Centre (CVRD 2019a, Map 1).

Page 75 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 15

1413-01

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
4.4.2.1. Ecosystems at Risk and Sensitive Ecosystems

Results of the field survey confirmed that the entirety of the Project area, as well as a 100 m buffer 
surrounding the Project area, is comprised of the provincially red-listed western hemlock – Douglas-
fir / Oregon beaked moss (Tsuga heterophylla – Pseudotsuga menziesii / Eruhynchium) ecosystem. This is 
the zonal (average) ecosystem that occurs in the CWHxm1 on sites with a very poor to medium 
nutrient regime and sub-mesic to mesic moisture regime. However, because the entirety of the Project 
area was recently logged (for the second time in recent history) and is in a shrub seral stage, with only 
a few residual standing young trees, the ecological value is lower than if the vegetation was at a later 
seral stage.

Vegetation on the Project area was mostly comprised of young planted and naturally regenerating trees 
(4-7 years old) and understory shrubs (30-50% cover), as well as herbs (8-20% cover) and mosses (25-
35% cover). Some patches of young western redcedar, up to 2 m tall, and dispersed approximately 40-
year-old western white pine (Pinus monticola) and western redcedar trees, up to 20 m tall (~1% cover), 
were retained during recent forest harvesting. The majority of the young planted and naturally 
regenerating trees were Douglas-fir, followed by western white pine, western hemlock and western 
redcedar. The shrub layer was dominated by salal, followed by Oregon grape and red huckleberry. The 
herb layer included trailing blackberry (Rubus ursinus), twinflower (Linnaea borealis), grasses and small 
sedges. The moss layer was dominated by step moss. It is of note that mature western white pine is
rare in the CWH after a white pine blister rust spread through BC in approximately 1930 (Hunt 2009). 
The Project area supports an unusually high abundance of young specimens of the species. This 
species root systems are particularly sensitive and located close to the soils surface (MFLNRO 2019).

No ESAs were detected on or within 100 m of the Project area. Specifically, there were no mature 
terrestrial areas or aquatic ecosystem areas.

4.4.2.2. Plant Species at Risk

No plant species at risk were detected during the reconnaissance-level field survey. Furthermore, none 
of the plant species at risk present within the CVRD and CWHxm1 (Appendix D) are expected to 
occur within the Project area based on habitat characteristics observed in the field (i.e., young seral 
stage, zonal site series). 

4.4.2.3. Invasive Plants

No invasive species designated as noxious under the BC Weed Control Act were identified in the Project 
area. However, Scotch broom (Cytisus scoparius), a species designated as ‘strategic control’ by the 
Coastal Invasive Species committee (CISC 2016), was detected on dry disturbed sites including along 
current and deactivated roads. The ‘control’ designation means that the species should be locally 
controlled when it poses a threat to sensitive ecosystems or other objectives such as ecosystem 
restoration. Bull thistle (Cirsium vulgare) and oxeye daisy (Leucanthemum vulgare), which have recently 
been removed from the Coastal Invasive Species committee priority lists, were detected sporadically 

Page 76 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 16

1413-01

around the Project area, and along disturbed roadsides and other places with soil disturbance, 
respectively. Other non-native species that are not identified as priority invasive species such as 
dandelion and clover also occur in the Project area. 

Invasive species surveys were conducted prior to leaf-out of most species. Therefore, an additional 
invasive species survey should be conducted during the growing season and prior to development 
proceeding (e.g., June) to identify whether other species currently exist in the Project area. 

4.5. Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat
Background Review

4.5.1.1. Species at Risk and of Regional Concern

A list of wildlife species at risk and their likelihood of occurrence in the Project area is included in 
Appendix D.

Herpetofauna

There are no records of amphibian species at risk on or within 100 m of the Project area; however, 
two amphibian species at risk, Western Toad (Anaxyrus boreas) and Northern Red-legged Frog (Rana 
aurora), have been recorded within 5 km, along with other amphibian species that are not considered 
at risk (DataBC 2019).

There are no records of reptile species at risk on or within 100 m of the Project area; however, Western 
Painted Turtles (Chrysemys picta) have been documented within 5 km of the Project area (DataBC 2019) 
and critical habitat has been identified in several locations nearby (ECCC 2018), but not overlapping 
the Project area (Figure 4).

Page 77 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 17 

1413-01 

Figure 4. Mapped critical habitat for Western Painted Turtle (ECCC 2018). 

 
Birds 

There are no records of avian species at risk on or within 100 m of the Project area (DataBC 2019); 
however, several avian species at risk have been recorded within 5 km of the Project area. One avian 
species at risk, Common Nighthawk (Chordeiles minor), has been detected in nearby areas (English, pers 
comm. 2018) during a province-wide survey program. Common Nighthawks nest on the ground from 
mid-May to late July (BSC 2019). Western Screech-owls (Megascops kennicottii kennicottii), Northern 
Goshawks (Accipiter gentilis laingi), and Great Blue Herons (Ardea herodias fannini) have also been 
recorded within 5 km of the Project area. Western Screech-owls nest in cavities in deciduous and 
mixed wood riparian forests. Northern Goshawks nest and forage in mature and old-growth forest. 
Great Blue Herons usually nest colonially in mature trees. Therefore, there is no suitable nesting 
habitat for these species in the Project area. The closest Bald Eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) nest (an 
EVR) is located approximately 900 m southeast of the Project area (WTSA 2019) (but there is no 
nesting habitat in the Project area) (Map 4). 

Mammals 

There are no records of mammal species at risk on or within 100 m of the Project area (DataBC 2019). 
Furthermore, no ungulate winter range or wildlife habitat areas have been legally designated or 
proposed in the vicinity of the Project area (DataBC 2019). However, it is expected that Elk (Cervus 
elaphus roosevelti) migrate north-south through the area as Comox Lake provides a movement obstacle 
for the species to the west and the Highway 19 provides an obstacle to the east. 

Page 78 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory Page 18

1413-01

Invertebrates

There are no records of invertebrate species at risk on or within 100 m of the Project area (DataBC 
2019); however, one invertebrate species at risk, the Common Wood-nymph (Cercyonis pegala incana), 
has a moderate likelihood of occurring in the Project area based on known distribution and habitat 
requirements including roadsides and clearcuts (Appendix D). The foodplants of the larval Common 
Wood-nymph are thought to be grasses (E-Fauna BC 2019).

4.5.1.2. Wildlife Habitat Features

No wildlife habitat features have been provincially mapped on or within 100 m of the Project area
(Wildlife Habitat Features Layer; DataBC 2019). Wildlife habitat features include structures that are 
critical to wildlife species such as nest sites or locally important mineral licks. Wildlife habitat features 
may include wildlife trees, dens or nest sites, mineral licks, basking sites, caves, cliffs, rocky outcrops, 
aquatic areas, or structures potentially used for bat or avian nesting or roosting.

No aquatic habitats are located on or within 100 m of the Project area (Sections 4.2.2 and 4.3.2).

Reconnaissance-level Site Survey
4.5.2.1. Species at Risk and of Regional Concern

Herpetofauna

No herpetofauna were detected during the field survey. The Project area and surrounding 100 m do 
not contain moderate or high value amphibian habitat such as wetlands, streams, abundant moist 
woody debris, or old-growth forest. The lack of surface water on the Project area makes it unsuitable 
for Western Painted Turtles or breeding Northern Red-legged Frogs and Western Toads. The Project 
area also does not contain mature forest habitat (including substantial leaf litter and coarse woody 
debris) required by Wandering Salamander (Aneides vagrans). Nevertheless, Western Toads and other 
amphibian species may migrate across or seek cover in downed wood or soil in the Project area. 

Birds

No avian species at risk were detected in the Project area. One Pileated Woodpecker (Dryocopus pileatus)
was observed feeding on one of the second growth (approximately 20 cm dbh) western redcedar on 
the Project area. Droppings at the base of the tree indicated the tree was used for perching by other 
avian species as well, indicating the value of these residual trees on the landscape. Several Bald Eagles
and Common Ravens (Corvus corax) were observed in the Project area, likely attracted to the area by 
human food waste at the Comox Valley Waste Management Centre. None of the trees in the Project 
area were large enough to provide raptor or cavity nesting habitat. Dark-eyed Juncos (Junco hiemalis), a 
songbird that nests in short shrubs, were observed within suitable habitat in the project area. Habitat 
is likely suitable for Common Nighthawk nesting, however, it is unlikely to provide high to moderately 
suitable nesting habitat for other avian species at risk.

Page 79 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 19 

1413-01 

Mammals 

No high or moderate value habitat for mammal species at risk was present in the Project area. 
Abundant Mule Deer (Odocoileus hemionus) sign was observed within the Project area indicating that 
Mule Deer likely forage on the young vegetation in the area. Roosevelt Elk may occasionally pass 
through or near the Project area. Although the Project area contains ungulate foraging habitat it has 
been recently logged and thus does not contain suitable winter foraging habitat or thermal cover, 
which is largely characterized by a snow-intercepting canopy and is considered to be limiting seasonal 
habitat for ungulates. 

Invertebrates 

It is unlikely that invertebrate species at risk would be detected without the use of targeted surveys, 
which were not conducted during the reconnaissance-level site survey. Nevertheless, clearcut and 
roadside habitat is not thought to be limiting for the one invertebrate species at risk with a moderate 
likelihood of occurring in the Project area, the Common Wood-nymph.  

4.5.2.2. Wildlife Habitat Features 

No significant wildlife habitat features were observed in the Project area and the Project area is not 
expected to contain any significant wildlife habitat features. The larger residual young standing trees 
in the Project area were observed to be used for avian foraging and perching (Section 4.5.2.1). No 
wildlife trails were observed during the reconnaissance-level site survey; however, wildlife likely pass 
through this area as they travel between seasonal foraging and breeding habitats and water sources. 

 

5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR THE SUBDIVISION AND INSTALLATION OF 
SERVICING  

The development permit application to subdivide Lot D into six properties (Map 2, Drawing 1) 
involves the administrative exercise of subdivision and land development for installing services (i.e., 
water, sewer, road access to lots, road drainage) (Wedler 2019), as well as dedication and construction 
of a greenway. The total area of the subdivision is planned to be 6.18 ha, with the total area of asphalt 
planned to be 2,742 m2, with servicing installation requiring ground disturbance to a maximum depth 
of 2 m with an average depth of 1.2 m, and an asphalt pumphouse of 3 m x 5 m. In addition, a 
greenway path is planned to run along Bevan Road as requested by the Village as the park dedication. 
The total greenway area is planned to be 886 m2. As the Project area is within an area zoned as DPA#1 
Connectivity area, the development is assessed against relevant bylaw requirements in Appendix A. 

At this stage in design development, general potential impacts from the construction and operation 
of services can be well predicted and general mitigations are provided. Once the servicing contracts 
have been awarded and detailed designs confirmed, detailed mitigations for some potential impacts 
must be confirmed and written into future plans, such as an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan and 
detailed site plans, as per Appendix A to be in compliance with Bylaw No. 990. A summary of potential 

Page 80 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 20 

1413-01 

impacts of installing servicing for each of the five environmental resource categories is provided 
below.  

5.1. Terrain and Soils 
Terrain and soils may be lost, altered or degraded through soil removal, vegetation clearing and 
grubbing, regrading, excavating, infilling and compaction from machinery and vehicles associated with 
installation of servicing, construction of roads, and the greenway. Standard mitigation measures to 
minimize these impacts include minimizing site disturbance outside of the permanent footprint, 
stockpiling top soils for use in reclamation, and decompacting, rehabilitating and revegetating areas 
within the temporary construction footprint as soon as possible after construction.  

As the Project area is flat, and installation of servicing will not result in ground disturbance below a 
depth of 2 m, with most servicing at a depth of 1.2 m, Ryzuk (2019) recommended that if trenching 
is done at a ratio of 1:1 (horizontal: vertical) the potential for erosion or slope instability is low. 
However, an Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC) will be developed and followed for this work.  

Soil may also be contaminated through accidental spills of fuels or other hazardous materials. Standard 
mitigation measures to minimize the risk of accidental spills include double containment of hazardous 
materials stored in stationary equipment capable of holding 110% of the fluid contents, maintaining a 
large spill kit on site and immediately cleaning up accidental spills, placing a containment tray under 
machinery and vehicles not in use for an extended period of time, and ensuring equipment arrives on 
site in a clean condition and is well maintained to be free of leaks. 

Specific potential impacts and conceptual mitigations are provided in Table 2. 

Based on the implementation of prescribed mitigation measures and the scale and location of the 
anticipated works and activities associated with Project construction and operation, no residual impact 
to ESAs or EVRs is anticipated. Soil alteration is expected to be limited to the Project area and there 
is only a low likelihood of accidental spills of fuels or other hazardous materials. 

 

Page 81 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 2

1 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 2

. 
Po

te
nt

ia
l i

m
pa

ct
s a

nd
 c

on
ce

pt
ua

l m
iti

ga
tio

ns
 fo

r t
er

ra
in

 a
nd

 so
ils

. 

 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lly
 

V
al

ua
bl

e 
R

es
ou

rc
e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

So
ils

So
il 

lo
ss

, a
lte

ra
tio

n 
or

 d
eg

ra
da

tio
n,

 so
il 

er
os

io
n

Cl
ea

rin
g,

 g
ru

bb
in

g,
 si

te
 re

gr
ad

in
g,

 
ex

ca
va

tin
g,

 in
fil

lin
g 

an
d 

ot
he

r s
ite

 
di

st
ur

ba
nc

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
m

in
im

iz
ed

 to
 th

e 
ex

te
nt

 p
os

sib
le

, e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 o

ut
sid

e 
of

 th
e 

pe
rm

an
en

t f
oo

tp
rin

t o
f i

m
pe

rv
io

us
 

su
rfa

ce
s.

So
il 

al
te

ra
tio

n 
w

ith
in

 
th

e 
pe

rm
an

en
t P

ro
je

ct
 

fo
ot

pr
in

t

D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
(M

FL
N

RO
 2

01
4)

Th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f m

ac
hi

ne
 u

se
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

in
im

iz
ed

 to
 th

e 
ex

te
nt

 p
os

sib
le

, 
es

pe
ci

al
ly

 o
ut

sid
e 

of
 th

e 
pe

rm
an

en
t 

fo
ot

pr
in

t o
f i

m
pe

rv
io

us
 su

rfa
ce

s.
To

p 
so

ils
 w

ill
 b

e 
st

oc
kp

ile
d 

se
pa

ra
te

ly
 

an
d 

us
ed

 to
 c

ov
er

 e
xp

os
ed

 m
in

er
al

 so
ils

 
an

d 
fo

r o
ns

ite
 la

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
du

rin
g 

sit
e 

re
cl

am
at

io
n,

 if
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

.  
St

oc
kp

ile
d 

so
ils

 w
ill

 b
e 

co
ve

re
d 

du
rin

g 
w

et
 w

ea
th

er
.

A
 se

di
m

en
t a

nd
 e

ro
sio

n 
co

nt
ro

l p
la

n 
w

ill
 

be
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

te
d 

fo
r a

ll 
gr

ou
nd

 w
or

ks
.

Te
m

po
ra

ril
y

di
st

ur
be

d
ar

ea
s

w
ill

be
re

ha
bi

lit
at

ed
an

d
re

ve
ge

ta
te

d,
as

so
on

as
po

ss
ib

le
.

Re
ha

bi
lit

at
io

n
w

ill
in

cl
ud

e
de

co
m

pa
ct

in
g

so
ils

th
at

w
er

e
co

m
pa

ct
ed

w
ith

in
th

e
te

m
po

ra
ry

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n

fo
ot

pr
in

t, 
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
.

Cl
ea

rin
g,

 g
ru

bb
in

g,
 

re
gr

ad
in

g,
 

ex
ca

va
tin

g,
 in

fil
lin

g,
 

an
d 

so
il 

co
m

pa
ct

io
n 

fro
m

 m
ac

hi
ne

s a
nd

 
ve

hi
cl

es

Page 82 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 2

2 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 2

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 
  E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

So
ils

 (c
on

tin
ue

d)
So

il 
co

nt
am

in
at

io
n

A
cc

id
en

ta
l s

pi
lls

 o
f 

fu
el

s o
r h

az
ar

do
us

 
m

at
er

ia
ls

A
cc

id
en

ta
l s

pi
lls

 o
nt

o 
so

il 
or

 v
eg

et
at

io
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
ly

 c
le

an
ed

 u
sin

g 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 m
et

ho
ds

 a
nd

 m
at

er
ia

ls 
(a

ll 
co

nt
am

in
at

ed
 so

il 
w

ill
 b

e 
ex

ca
va

te
d 

an
d 

re
m

ov
ed

 fr
om

 si
te

 to
 a

 c
er

tif
ie

d 
tre

at
m

en
t f

ac
ili

ty
 w

ith
 c

ha
in

 o
f c

us
to

dy
 

do
cu

m
en

ts
 k

ep
t).

 A
 la

rg
e 

sp
ill

 k
it 

w
ill

 b
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
on

 si
te

. 

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
ac

ci
de

nt
al

 sp
ill

s 
co

nt
am

in
at

in
g 

so
il

D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
(M

FL
N

RO
 2

01
4)

St
at

io
na

ry
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t c
on

ta
in

in
g 

ha
za

rd
ou

s f
lu

id
s w

ill
 b

e 
in

 d
ou

bl
e 

co
nt

ai
nm

en
t c

ap
ab

le
 o

f h
ol

di
ng

 1
10

%
 o

f 
th

e 
flu

id
 c

on
te

nt
s. 

M
ac

hi
ne

s a
nd

 v
eh

ic
le

s n
ot

 in
 u

se
 fo

r a
n 

ex
te

nd
ed

 ti
m

e 
w

ill
 h

av
e 

a 
co

nt
ai

nm
en

t 
tra

y 
pl

ac
ed

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
en

gi
ne

.
E

qu
ip

m
en

t w
ill

 a
rri

ve
 o

n 
sit

e 
in

 a
 c

le
an

 
co

nd
iti

on
 a

nd
 w

ill
 b

e 
w

el
l m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
an

d 
fre

e 
of

 fl
ui

d 
le

ak
s.

Page 83 of 358



Tree Island Yogurt Facility Bio-inventory  Page 23 

1413-01 

5.2. Hydrology and Water Quality 
No watercourses occur on the property; however, hydrology and water quality may be altered through 
impacts to the aquifer and aquatic ecosystems that may be connected to the Project area by surface or 
subsurface hydrological pathways. 

There may be surface connection between the Project area and aquatic ESA’s through roadside 
ditches. The total asphalt area of proposed roads is 2,742m2. Although the infiltration rate is expected 
to be very high (Ryzuk 2019, Lewkowich 2019), during extremely heavy rains, water may be shed from 
roads in the Project area into roadside ditches adjacent to Bevan Road. Water from these ditches is 
expected to run northwest towards First Supply Creek. Similarly, potential impacts to the aquifer 
include an alteration of the infiltration rate or ground water flow patterns resulting from the alteration 
of landscape slopes and the construction of impervious surfaces. Roadside ditches installed in the 
Project area will be designed to maximize infiltration thus minimizing the amount of water that leaves 
the Project area through surface pathways. The specific performance target for onsite rainwater 
capture and control will be to maintain pre-development flows from the subdivision up to the 5-year 
design storm. It is proposed that road drainage be managed with rock filled French drains. These have 
the complimentary effects of providing detention of run-off from the roads, treatment of the rain run 
off, and detention with infiltration into surrounding soils. Standard mitigation measures to minimize 
these impacts include managing rainwater in accordance with provincial and federal BMPs (MWLAP 
2002a,b, DFO undated). It is also recommended that the Water Balance Model Express online tool, 
developed for the CVRD (2019b), be consulted to identify specific Low Impact Development (LID) 
design features that will minimize impacts to hydrology and water quality, such as rain gardens, 
infiltration swales and chambers. Existing groundwater hydrology will be maintained to the extent 
possible and natural hydrological patterns will be restored where practicable. The amount of runoff 
from roads expected to run off the Project area and infiltrate on site should be provided prior to 
construction and the potential effects of the calculated amount of runoff assessed. 

The aquifer and aquatic ecosystems may also be impacted through pollution of ground or surface 
water resulting from stormwater run off or accidental spills during construction or operation. To avoid 
potential impacts from accidental spills or wastewater runoff, any concrete or other toxic runoff during 
construction will be contained and collected so that it does not enter any roadside ditch and any runoff 
into ditches connected to wetlands or streams will meet BC Approved Water Quality Guidelines for 
Aquatic Life, Wildlife and Agriculture (MOECCS 2018). An Erosion and Sediment Control Plan will 
be developed and implemented during construction. All infrastructure will meet or exceed Village 
requirements including installation of oil-grit separators in storm drains positioned to catch water from 
all hard-surfaced areas to mitigate potential contamination of the aquifer. This infrastructure is 
demonstrated to capture 90% of total suspended solids (TSS) and hydrocarbons in the first (most 
contaminated) storm after prolonged dry periods and all of the TSS and hydrocarbons in subsequent 
rain events. 

Page 84 of 358



Tree Island Yogurt Facility Bio-inventory  Page 24 

1413-01 

Aquatic ecosystems potentially connected during extremely heavy rains to roadside ditches adjacent 
to the Property may be impacted through the introduction of sediment as a result of clearing, grubbing, 
regrading, excavating and infilling. To minimize these impacts, standard erosion and sediment control 
measures will be implemented to control source erosion and prevent sediment from entering roadside 
or railway ditches. If surface water is present in ditches adjacent to the Project area and these ditches 
are connected to aquatic ecosystems an Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC) Plan should be 
developed and implemented. Mitigation measures in the ESC may include minimizing the amount of 
disturbed ground at any one time and quickly providing surface protection (e.g., mulch, vegetation). 
In addition, stockpiled soil will be covered with a secured tarp or plastic to prevent runoff, as well as 
to avoid colonization by invasive plant species. Mitigation measures implemented to minimize impacts 
to terrain and soils will also minimize impacts to hydrology and water quality. 

Water servicing for the property will initially be from an existing well (# 54689) drilled on the property 
into aquifer 417. This is an unconfined aquifer in the Comox Lake Watershed. This aquifer may be 
connected to an adjacent aquifer which feeds the Morrison Headwaters, an ecologically sensitive 
system. Water will not be withdrawn from the well at this phase except for testing. Furthermore, a 
provincial Water Sustainability Act permit is required for future groundwater use from this well. The 
Province will require confidence that watershed level effects are low before issuing a permit. The 
permit application for well use cannot be submitted until the property is transferred to the applicant.  

Specific potential impacts and conceptual mitigations are provided in Table 3. 

Based on the implementation of prescribed mitigation measures and the scale and location of the 
anticipated works and activities associated with Project construction and operation, minimal residual 
impact to ESAs or EVRs is anticipated. Soil alteration is expected to be limited to the Project area and 
there is only a low likelihood of accidental spills of fuels or other hazardous materials. Potential 
impacts to water infiltration and flow are expected to be small and there is low likelihood of accidental 
spills that may contaminate ground or surface water. Little to no water is expected to be withdrawn 
from the aquifer.

Page 85 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y 
 

Pa
ge

 2
5 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 3

. 
Po

te
nt

ia
l i

m
pa

ct
s a

nd
 c

on
ce

pt
ua

l m
iti

ga
tio

ns
 fo

r h
yd

ro
lo

gy
 a

nd
 w

at
er

 q
ua

lit
y.

 

 
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

M
iti

ga
tio

n 
m

ea
su

re
s i

m
pl

em
en

te
d 

to
 

m
in

im
iz

e 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

te
rra

in
 a

nd
 so

ils
 w

ill
 

al
so

 m
in

im
iz

e 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

hy
dr

ol
og

y 
an

d 
w

at
er

 q
ua

lit
y.

D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
(M

FL
N

RO
 2

01
4)

Po
llu

tio
n 

of
 g

ro
un

d 
w

at
er

 (i
.e

., 
aq

ui
fe

r) 
or

 su
rfa

ce
 w

at
er

W
as

te
w

at
er

 
di

sc
ha

rg
e 

du
rin

g 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n 
or

 
op

er
at

io
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
nd

 A
dh

er
an

ce
 to

 a
n 

E
ro

sio
n 

an
d 

Se
di

m
en

t C
on

tro
l P

la
n 

(E
SC

) 

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
ac

ci
de

nt
al

 sp
ill

s o
r 

ot
he

r p
ol

lu
tio

n 
co

nt
am

in
at

in
g 

gr
ou

nd
 

w
at

er
 o

r s
ur

fa
ce

 w
at

er

Fe
de

ra
l F

ish
eri

es 
A

ct,
 

Pr
ov

in
ci

al
 W

at
er 

Su
sta

in
ab

ili
ty 

A
ct

A
ny

 ru
no

ff 
fro

m
 th

e 
sit

e 
w

ill
 m

ee
t B

C 
A

pp
ro

ve
d 

W
at

er
 Q

ua
lit

y 
G

ui
de

lin
es

 fo
r 

A
qu

at
ic

 L
ife

, W
ild

lif
e 

an
d 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
re

 
be

fo
re

 e
nt

er
in

g 
an

y 
di

tc
h 

th
at

 m
ay

 b
e 

co
nn

ec
te

d 
to

 a
 w

at
er

co
ur

se
 o

r o
th

er
 

aq
ua

tic
 fe

at
ur

e.

BC
 A

pp
ro

ve
d 

W
at

er
 

Q
ua

lit
y 

G
ui

de
lin

es
: 

A
qu

at
ic

 L
ife

, W
ild

lif
e 

an
d 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
re

 (M
O

E
CC

S 
20

18
)

A
ny

 c
on

cr
et

e 
or

 o
th

er
 to

xi
c 

ru
no

ff 
w

ill
 

be
 c

on
ta

in
ed

 a
nd

 c
ol

le
ct

ed
 so

 th
at

 it
 

do
es

 n
ot

 e
nt

er
 a

ny
 d

itc
h 

th
at

 m
ay

 b
e 

co
nn

ec
te

d 
to

 a
 st

re
am

 o
r w

et
la

nd
.

A
cc

id
en

ta
l s

pi
lls

 o
f 

fu
el

s o
r h

az
ar

do
us

 
m

at
er

ia
ls

A
ny

 sp
ill

s w
ill

 b
e 

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
an

d 
cl

ea
ne

d 
up

 im
m

ed
ia

te
ly

.

A
qu

ife
r a

nd
 a

qu
at

ic
 

ec
os

ys
te

m
s

Page 86 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y 
 

Pa
ge

 2
6 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 3

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

A
qu

ife
r a

nd
 a

qu
at

ic
 

ec
os

ys
te

m
s 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

of
 

se
di

m
en

t t
o 

su
rfa

ce
 

w
at

er
 b

od
ie

s

E
ar

th
w

or
ks

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

 c
le

ar
in

g,
 

gr
ub

bi
ng

, r
eg

ra
di

ng
, 

ex
ca

va
tin

g,
 a

nd
 

in
fil

lin
g

If 
th

er
e 

is 
su

rfa
ce

 w
at

er
 in

 ro
ad

sid
e 

or
 

ra
ilw

ay
 d

itc
he

s (
an

y 
tim

e 
of

 y
ea

r) 
an

d 
th

es
e 

ar
e 

co
nn

ec
te

d 
to

 a
 st

re
am

 o
r 

w
et

la
nd

, t
he

n 
an

 E
ro

sio
n 

an
d 

Se
di

m
en

t 
Co

nt
ro

l P
la

n 
(E

SC
) w

ill
 b

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

an
d 

im
pl

em
en

te
d 

to
 p

re
ve

nt
 se

di
m

en
t 

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

 to
 lo

ca
l s

tre
am

s 
(d

ep
en

di
ng

 o
n 

co
nn

ec
tiv

ity
 to

 st
re

am
s, 

st
or

m
 w

at
er

 sy
st

em
s a

nd
 se

as
on

 o
f 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n)

. E
m

ph
as

is 
w

ill
 b

e 
on

 
so

ur
ce

 e
ro

sio
n 

co
nt

ro
l b

y 
m

in
im

iz
in

g 
th

e 
am

ou
nt

 o
f d

ist
ur

be
d 

gr
ou

nd
 a

t a
ny

 o
ne

 
tim

e 
an

d 
qu

ic
kl

y 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

su
rfa

ce
 

pr
ot

ec
tio

n 
w

ith
 v

eg
et

at
io

n,
 m

ul
ch

 e
tc

. 
St

oc
kp

ile
d 

so
il 

w
ill

 b
e 

co
ve

re
d 

w
ith

 a
 

se
cu

re
d 

ta
rp

 o
r p

la
st

ic
 to

 p
re

ve
nt

 ru
no

ff.

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
se

di
m

en
t e

nt
er

in
g 

st
re

am
s o

r w
et

la
nd

s

Page 87 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y 
 

Pa
ge

 2
7 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 3

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

A
qu

ife
r (

co
nt

in
ue

d)
A

lte
ra

tio
n 

of
 

in
fil

tra
tio

n 
ra

te
 a

nd
 

flo
w

 p
at

te
rn

s

A
lte

ra
tio

n 
of

 
la

nd
sc

ap
e 

slo
pe

s 
an

d 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n 
of

 
im

pe
rv

io
us

 su
rfa

ce
s

Ra
in

w
at

er
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

an
ag

ed
 in

 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 w
ith

 p
ro

vi
nc

ia
l a

nd
 fe

de
ra

l 
BM

Ps
 (M

W
LA

P 
20

02
, D

FO
 u

nd
at

ed
). 

 
Th

e 
W

at
er

 B
al

an
ce

 M
od

el
 E

xp
re

ss
 

on
lin

e 
to

ol
, d

ev
el

op
ed

 fo
r t

he
 C

om
ox

 
V

al
le

y 
Re

gi
on

al
 D

ist
ric

t, 
w

ill
 b

e 
co

ns
ul

te
d 

to
 m

in
im

iz
e 

im
pa

ct
s t

o 
hy

dr
ol

og
y 

an
d 

w
at

er
 q

ua
lit

y.
  T

hi
s w

ill
 

in
cl

ud
e 

m
an

ag
in

g 
ra

in
w

at
er

 o
n 

sit
e 

an
d 

m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 p
re

-d
ev

el
op

m
en

t d
ra

in
ag

e 
flo

w
s t

o 
th

e 
ex

te
nt

 p
os

sib
le

 (i
.e

., 
ef

fo
rt 

w
ill

 b
e 

m
ad

e 
to

 in
fil

tra
te

 9
0%

 o
r m

or
e 

of
 

m
ea

n 
an

nu
al

 ra
in

 w
at

er
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

fo
ot

pr
in

t o
f t

he
 lo

t u
sin

g 
Lo

w
 Im

pa
ct

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t (

LI
D

) B
M

P'
s s

uc
h 

as
 

pe
rm

ea
bl

e 
pa

vi
ng

, r
ai

n 
ga

rd
en

s, 
in

fil
tra

tio
n 

sw
al

es
 a

nd
 c

ha
m

be
rs

.
E

xi
st

in
g 

gr
ou

nd
w

at
er

 h
yd

ro
lo

gy
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
to

 th
e 

ex
te

nt
 p

os
sib

le
.

N
at

ur
al

 h
yd

ro
lo

gy
 p

at
te

rn
s w

ill
 b

e 
re

st
or

ed
 w

he
re

 p
ra

ct
ic

ab
le

.

Re
la

tiv
el

y 
m

in
or

 
im

pa
ct

 to
 w

at
er

 
in

fil
tra

tio
n 

an
d 

flo
w

St
or

m
w

at
er

 P
la

nn
in

g:
 A

 
G

ui
de

bo
ok

 fo
r B

rit
ish

 
Co

lu
m

bi
a 

(M
W

LA
P 

20
02

)
St

an
da

rd
s a

nd
 B

es
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

 fo
r I

ns
tre

am
 

W
or

ks
: U

rb
an

 S
to

rm
w

at
er

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t (
D

FO
 

un
da

te
d)

A
qu

ife
r

A
lte

ra
tio

n 
of

 w
at

er
 

le
ve

l i
n 

aq
ui

fe
r o

r 
ad

ja
ce

nt
 a

qu
ife

rs

W
ith

dr
aw

al
 fr

om
 

aq
ui

fe
r

N
o 

w
at

er
 w

ill
 b

e 
w

ith
dr

aw
n 

fro
m

 a
qu

ife
r 

at
 th

is 
ph

as
e.

N
on

e
W

at
er 

Su
sta

in
ab

ili
ty 

A
ct

Page 88 of 358



Tree Island Yogurt Facility Bio-inventory  Page 28 

1413-01 

5.3. Fish and Aquatic Ecosystems 
There are no expected impacts to fish and aquatic ecosystems. Mitigation measures implemented to 
minimize impacts to hydrology and water quality (Table 3) will also minimize impacts to fish and 
aquatic ecosystems, which are potentially connected by surface flows to roadside ditches between the 
Project area and Bevan Road during extremely heavy rains, and to adjacent watersheds through 
subsurface flows. 

5.4. Terrestrial Ecosystems and Plants 
Potential impacts to an at risk ecological community includes habitat loss and/ or disturbance and 
colonization by invasive species. Within the servicing construction footprint, the shrub stage 
(approximately five years old) of the provincially red-listed western hemlock – Douglas-fir / Oregon 
beaked moss ecological community will be cleared. Some young western white pine trees 
(approximately 40 years old), which are not provincially or federally designated as at risk, but are 
relatively rare due to a historic pathogen epidemic will also be cleared within the construction 
footprint. Standard BMPs and mitigation measures, including retaining older trees within temporary 
clearing areas where feasible and revegetating temporary clearing areas with native vegetation as soon 
as possible, will minimize potential impacts. Areas temporarily disturbed during installation of 
servicing will be revegetated with native local seed mix or stock if they will not be further developed 
within a year or before the rainy season (i.e., October-April) to mitigate invasive species colonization 
and runoff. The risk of colonization of invasive species from machinery, vehicles or crew member 
belongings will be minimized by standard construction BMPs, such as ensuring machinery and 
construction crews entering and leaving the site are free of soil and vegetation that may contain 
invasive plant species or their seeds. If noxious weeds (as per the BC Weed Control Act) or high priority 
weeds (as per the Coastal Invasive Species Committee (CISC 2016)) colonize the Property they will 
be controlled as per the Weed Control Act and BMPs. Mitigation measures implemented to minimize 
impacts to terrains, soils, hydrology and water quality will also minimize impacts to terrestrial 
ecosystems and plants. 

Specific potential impacts and conceptual mitigations are provided in Table 4. 

Based on the implementation of prescribed mitigation measures, the scale and location of the 
anticipated works and activities associated with Project construction and operation, and the current 
condition of habitat on the Property, no residual impact to ESAs or EVRs is anticipated. Habitat loss 
will be limited to the Project area and there is only a low likelihood of introduction of invasive species, 
or spread of invasive species currently established on and around the Property due to Project 
construction or operation. 

Page 89 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 2

9 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 4

. 
Po

te
nt

ia
l i

m
pa

ct
s a

nd
 c

on
ce

pt
ua

l m
iti

ga
tio

ns
 fo

r t
er

re
st

ria
l e

co
sy

st
em

s a
nd

 p
la

nt
s.

 

 
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

A
t r

isk
 e

co
lo

gi
ca

l 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 

pl
an

ts

M
iti

ga
tio

n 
m

ea
su

re
s i

m
pl

em
en

te
d 

to
 

m
in

im
iz

e 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

te
rra

in
s, 

so
ils

, 
hy

dr
ol

og
y 

an
d 

w
at

er
 q

ua
lit

y 
w

ill
 a

lso
 

m
in

im
iz

e 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

te
rre

st
ria

l 
ec

os
ys

te
m

s a
nd

 p
la

nt
s.

D
ist

ur
ba

nc
e 

an
d/

 
or

 lo
ss

 o
f t

he
 

pr
ov

in
ci

al
ly

 re
d-

lis
te

d 
w

es
te

rn
 

he
m

lo
ck

 - 
D

ou
gl

as
-

fir
/ 

O
re

go
n 

be
ak

ed
 

m
os

s e
co

lo
gi

ca
l 

co
m

m
un

ity
Lo

ss
 o

f y
ou

ng
 

w
es

te
rn

 w
hi

te
 p

in
e 

(re
la

tiv
el

y 
ra

re
 b

ut
 

no
t c

on
sid

er
ed

 a
t 

ris
k)

Cl
ea

rin
g,

 g
ru

bb
in

g,
 

re
gr

ad
in

g,
 

ex
ca

va
tin

g,
 in

fil
lin

g,
 

an
d 

so
il 

co
m

pa
ct

io
n 

fro
m

 m
ac

hi
ne

s a
nd

 
ve

hi
cl

es

Pr
ov

in
ci

al
 B

M
Ps

 (M
FL

N
RO

 2
01

4)
 w

ill
 

be
 fo

llo
w

ed
 to

 th
e 

ex
te

nt
 p

ra
ct

ic
al

 to
 

m
in

im
iz

e 
im

pa
ct

s.
Pr

oj
ec

t d
es

ig
n 

w
ill

 m
in

im
iz

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t 
fo

ot
pr

in
t. 

W
he

re
 v

eg
et

at
io

n 
cl

ea
rin

g 
is 

re
qu

ire
d,

 m
at

ur
e 

tre
es

 a
nd

 w
es

te
rn

 w
hi

te
 

pi
ne

 w
ill

 b
e 

re
ta

in
ed

 w
he

re
ve

r p
os

sib
le

.
M

ac
hi

ne
 o

pe
ra

tio
ns

 a
nd

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 w

ill
 b

e 
co

nd
uc

te
d 

in
 a

 m
an

ne
r 

th
at

 m
in

im
iz

es
 im

pa
ct

s t
o 

ve
ge

ta
tio

n,
 

w
ith

 th
e 

in
te

nt
 th

at
 v

eg
et

at
io

n 
w

ill
 o

nl
y 

be
 c

le
ar

ed
 fr

om
 si

te
s r

eq
ui

re
d 

fo
r 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

us
e.

Lo
ss

 o
f y

ou
ng

 
pr

ov
in

ci
al

ly
 re

d-
lis

te
d 

w
es

te
rn

 h
em

lo
ck

 - 
D

ou
gl

as
-fi

r /
 O

re
go

n 
be

ak
ed

 m
os

s 
ec

ol
og

ic
al

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

an
d 

w
es

te
rn

 w
hi

te
 

pi
ne

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t f
oo

tp
rin

t a
nd

 
m

in
im

iz
ed

 
di

st
ur

ba
nc

e 
in

 
te

m
po

ra
ril

y 
di

st
ur

be
d 

ar
ea

s

D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
(M

FL
N

RO
 2

01
4)

Page 90 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 3

0 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 4

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

A
t r

isk
 e

co
lo

gi
ca

l 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 

pl
an

ts
 (c

on
tin

ue
d)

D
ist

ur
ba

nc
e 

an
d/

 
or

 lo
ss

 o
f t

he
 

pr
ov

in
ci

al
ly

 re
d-

lis
te

d 
w

es
te

rn
 

he
m

lo
ck

 - 
D

ou
gl

as
-

fir
/ 

O
re

go
n 

be
ak

ed
 

m
os

s e
co

lo
gi

ca
l 

co
m

m
un

ity
Lo

ss
 o

f y
ou

ng
 

w
es

te
rn

 w
hi

te
 p

in
e 

(re
la

tiv
el

y 
ra

re
 b

ut
 

no
t c

on
sid

er
ed

 a
t 

ris
k)

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

Cl
ea

rin
g,

 g
ru

bb
in

g,
 

re
gr

ad
in

g,
 

ex
ca

va
tin

g,
 in

fil
lin

g,
 

an
d 

so
il 

co
m

pa
ct

io
n 

fro
m

 m
ac

hi
ne

s a
nd

 
ve

hi
cl

es
 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

M
ac

hi
ne

ry
 w

ill
 a

vo
id

 ro
ot

s o
f r

et
ai

ne
d 

tre
es

 w
he

re
 p

os
sib

le
 a

nd
 te

m
po

ra
ry

 
fe

nc
in

g 
w

ill
 b

e 
pl

ac
ed

 a
ro

un
d 

re
ta

in
ed

 
tre

es
 to

 p
ro

te
ct

 ro
ot

 st
ru

ct
ur

es
 

(M
FL

N
RO

 2
01

4)
. S

pe
ci

fic
al

ly
, 

di
st

ur
ba

nc
e 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
m

in
im

iz
ed

 w
ith

in
 

at
 le

as
t t

he
 e

xt
en

t o
f t

he
 tr

ee
s b

ra
nc

he
s 

(i.
e.

, t
he

 tr
ee

's 
dr

ip
 li

ne
), 

or
 w

ith
in

 a
 

ra
di

us
 1

8 
tim

es
 th

e 
tre

e 
tru

nk
 d

ia
m

et
er

 
at

 b
re

as
t h

ei
gh

t. 
Te

m
po

ra
ry

 fe
nc

in
g 

w
ill

 
be

 b
rig

ht
 o

ra
ng

e 
or

 a
no

th
er

 h
ig

hl
y 

vi
sib

le
 

co
lo

ur
 w

ith
 a

 m
in

im
um

 h
ei

gh
t o

f 1
.2

 m
 

an
d 

su
pp

or
te

d 
by

 p
ol

es
 a

 m
ax

im
um

 
di

st
an

ce
 o

f 2
.5

 m
 fr

om
 o

ne
 a

no
th

er
. T

re
e 

pr
ot

ec
tio

n 
pl

an
s w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
ed

 
to

 th
e 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

cr
ew

.
U

se
 o

f r
oo

t b
ar

rie
rs

 a
nd

 re
ta

in
in

g 
w

al
ls 

w
ill

 b
e 

us
ed

 a
s n

ee
de

d 
to

 p
re

ve
nt

 tr
ee

-
in

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

co
nf

lic
ts

.

Co
ar

se
 w

oo
dy

 d
eb

ris
 a

nd
 o

rg
an

ic
 

m
at

er
ia

ls 
w

ill
 b

e 
st

oc
kp

ile
d 

an
d 

us
ed

 fo
r 

on
sit

e 
la

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
du

rin
g 

sit
e 

re
cl

am
at

io
n,

 if
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

.

Page 91 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 3

1 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 4

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lly
 

V
al

ua
bl

e 
R

es
ou

rc
e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

A
t r

isk
 e

co
lo

gi
ca

l 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 

pl
an

ts
 (c

on
tin

ue
d)

D
ist

ur
ba

nc
e 

an
d/

 
or

 lo
ss

 o
f t

he
 

pr
ov

in
ci

al
ly

 re
d-

lis
te

d 
w

es
te

rn
 

he
m

lo
ck

 - 
D

ou
gl

as
-

fir
/ 

O
re

go
n 

be
ak

ed
 

m
os

s e
co

lo
gi

ca
l 

co
m

m
un

ity
Lo

ss
 o

f y
ou

ng
 

w
es

te
rn

 w
hi

te
 p

in
e 

(re
la

tiv
el

y 
ra

re
 b

ut
 

no
t c

on
sid

er
ed

 a
t 

ris
k)

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

Cl
ea

rin
g,

 g
ru

bb
in

g,
 

re
gr

ad
in

g,
 

ex
ca

va
tin

g,
 in

fil
lin

g,
 

an
d 

so
il 

co
m

pa
ct

io
n 

fro
m

 m
ac

hi
ne

s a
nd

 
ve

hi
cl

es
 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

O
rg

an
ic

 d
eb

ris
 m

ay
 b

e 
pi

le
d 

fo
r b

ur
ni

ng
. 

So
m

e 
pi

le
s m

ay
 b

e 
le

ft 
un

bu
rn

ed
 to

 
se

rv
e 

as
 w

ild
lif

e 
ha

bi
ta

t w
he

re
 fe

as
ib

le
. 

If 
de

br
is 

pi
le

s a
re

 b
ur

ne
d,

 b
ur

ni
ng

 w
ill

 b
e 

of
 sh

or
t d

ur
at

io
n 

(i.
e.

, <
 7

2 
ho

ur
s)

 a
nd

 
w

ill
 b

e 
ca

rri
ed

 o
ut

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 

pe
rm

its
 o

bt
ai

ne
d 

fo
r t

ha
t p

ur
po

se
. 

D
eb

ris
 p

ile
 b

ur
ni

ng
 w

ou
ld

 a
lso

 re
qu

ire
 a

 
Fi

re
 P

re
pa

re
dn

es
s P

la
n 

to
 b

e 
pr

ep
ar

ed
 

th
at

 o
ut

lin
es

 m
ea

su
re

s t
ha

t m
us

t b
e 

fo
llo

w
ed

 d
ur

in
g 

bu
rn

in
g.

 O
th

er
 d

eb
ris

 
di

sp
os

al
 o

pt
io

ns
 th

at
 m

ay
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 
in

cl
ud

e:
 re

m
ov

al
, c

hi
pp

in
g,

 sc
at

te
rin

g 
or

 
bu

ry
in

g.

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
ct 

O
pe

n 
Bu

rn
in

g 
Sm

ok
e 

Co
nt

ro
l R

eg
ul

at
io

n

Co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

w
as

te
 w

ill
 b

e 
re

m
ov

ed
 

fro
m

 th
e 

sit
e 

an
d 

re
cy

cl
ed

 o
r 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
ly

 d
isp

os
ed

 o
f.

Te
m

po
ra

ril
y 

di
st

ur
be

d 
ar

ea
s w

ill
 b

e 
re

ha
bi

lit
at

ed
 a

nd
 re

ve
ge

ta
te

d 
w

ith
 n

at
iv

e 
ve

ge
ta

tio
n,

 a
s s

oo
n 

as
 p

os
sib

le
, w

he
re

 
fe

as
ib

le
.

Page 92 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 3

2 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 4

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 
  E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

A
t r

isk
 e

co
lo

gi
ca

l 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 

pl
an

ts
 (c

on
tin

ue
d)

Co
lo

ni
za

tio
n 

by
 

in
va

siv
e 

sp
ec

ie
s

In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

of
 

in
va

siv
e 

sp
ec

ie
s 

fro
m

 m
ac

hi
ne

ry
, 

ve
hi

cl
es

 o
r c

re
w

 
m

em
be

r c
lo

th
in

g

A
ll 

ex
ca

va
to

rs
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t w

ill
 

be
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

w
as

he
d 

to
 re

m
ov

al
 a

ll 
so

il 
an

d 
ve

ge
ta

tio
n 

be
fo

re
 a

rri
vi

ng
 a

t s
ite

 to
 

av
oi

d 
in

tro
du

ci
ng

 in
va

siv
es

.
In

va
siv

e 
pl

an
ts

 a
nd

 so
il 

co
nt

am
in

at
ed

 
w

ith
 th

e 
w

ee
ds

 a
nd

 ro
ot

s w
ill

 b
e 

re
m

ov
ed

 a
nd

 d
isp

os
ed

 o
f a

t t
he

 la
nd

fil
l 

or
 b

ur
ie

d 
un

de
r a

de
qu

at
e 

fil
l (

i.e
. 3

-5
 m

 
de

pe
nd

in
g 

on
 sp

ec
ie

s)
.

If 
no

xi
ou

s o
r h

ig
h 

pr
io

rit
y 

in
va

siv
es

 
pl

an
ts

 (B
C 

W
ee

d 
Co

nt
ro

l A
ct

 o
r C

oa
st

al
 

In
va

siv
e 

Sp
ec

ie
s C

om
m

itt
ee

 
re

sp
ec

tiv
el

y)
 a

re
 a

lre
ad

y 
pr

es
en

t, 
m

ac
hi

ne
s w

ill
 b

e 
pr

es
su

re
 w

as
he

d 
be

fo
re

 
de

m
ob

ili
zi

ng
 fr

om
 th

e 
sit

e.
E

xp
os

ed
 so

il 
w

ill
 b

e 
de

ns
el

y 
pl

an
te

d 
as

 
so

on
 a

s p
ra

ct
ic

al
 o

r c
ov

er
ed

 (i
.e

., 
w

ith
 

w
ee

d 
ba

rri
er

 a
nd

 m
ul

ch
).

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
in

tro
du

ct
io

n 
of

  
in

va
siv

e 
sp

ec
ie

s o
r 

sp
re

ad
 o

f i
nv

as
iv

e 
sp

ec
ie

s c
ur

re
nt

ly
 

es
ta

bl
ish

ed
 o

n 
an

d 
ar

ou
nd

 th
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

Pr
ov

in
ci

al
 W

eed
 C

on
tro

l A
ct;

 
Co

as
ta

l I
nv

as
iv

e 
Sp

ec
ie

s 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 (C
IS

C 
20

16
)

A
n 

in
va

siv
e 

sp
ec

ie
s s

ur
ve

y 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

co
nd

uc
te

d 
in

 th
e 

gr
ow

in
g 

se
as

on
 p

rio
r t

o 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n 
to

 d
oc

um
en

t i
nv

as
iv

e 
sp

ec
ie

s a
nd

 a
ny

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 m
ad

e 
by

 a
 Q

E
P,

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s p

os
t c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

to
 v

er
ify

 th
at

 
no

 sp
ec

ie
s w

er
e 

in
tro

du
ce

d.
 

Page 93 of 358



Tree Island Yogurt Facility Bio-inventory  Page 33 

1413-01 

5.5. Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat 
Potential impacts to wildlife and wildlife habitat include disturbance or accidental mortality of wildlife, 
and human-wildlife conflict. Amphibians, reptiles, birds and/or their eggs and/or nests, and other 
small wildlife with low motility may be destroyed through accidental physical impact during vegetation 
clearing or from machinery, vehicles or workers. To minimize these potential impacts vegetation 
clearing and maintenance and potential debris pile burning will not occur during the breeding bird 
season (March 15 – August 31), if feasible. If not feasible, pre-clearing nest and small wildlife sweeps 
will be conducted and protective buffers maintained around active nests, as directed by a QEP. If 
amphibians or reptiles are encountered within the construction area and are at risk of physical impact 
they will be salvaged and relocated to habitat of equal or higher quality. All terrestrial and semi-aquatic 
wildlife are at risk of accidental mortality or harm from Project vehicles along roads and may be subject 
to the effects of accidental spills of fuels or hazardous materials. Standard construction BMPs will 
minimize this risk (e.g., Project vehicles will follow posted speed limits and use caution). Mitigation 
measures implemented to minimize impacts to terrain, soils, hydrology, water quality, terrestrial 
ecosystems and plants will also minimize impacts to wildlife and wildlife habitat. 

Wildlife habitat alteration will occur from construction and operation of the facility. Impacts will be 
partially mitigated by minimizing facility lighting, using wildlife friendly fencing where appropriate for 
wildlife to pass, and minimizing ground disturbance. 

The Project is situated in an area that may be frequented by large mammals including Mule Deer, 
Roosevelt Elk, Cougars (Puma concolor) and American Black Bears (Ursus americanus) which may interact 
and come into conflict with facility workers. All wildlife observations and encounters in the Project 
area will be reported to the QEP. Speed limits within the Project area will be below 20 km/hr. To 
minimize the risk of human-wildlife conflict, landscaping will be designed so that cover is not available 
for large mammals near areas of human activity. In addition, all bear/ wildlife attractants on site will 
be stored indoors or in animal-proof waste containers and plants that may attract bears, such as berry 
producing shrubs and fruit-bearing trees, will not be planted in the Project area. 

Specific potential impacts and conceptual mitigations are provided in Table 5. 

Based on the implementation of prescribed mitigation measures, the scale and location of the 
anticipated works and activities associated with Project construction and operation, and the current 
condition of habitat in the Project area, no residual impact to ESAs or EVRs is anticipated. Habitat 
loss is expected to be limited to the permanent Project footprint and there is only a low likelihood of 
wildlife mortality through physical impact, accidental spills of hazardous materials and human-wildlife 
conflict.  

Page 94 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 3

4 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 5

. 
Po

te
nt

ia
l i

m
pa

ct
s a

nd
 c

on
ce

pt
ua

l m
iti

ga
tio

ns
 fo

r w
ild

lif
e 

an
d 

w
ild

lif
e 

ha
bi

ta
t. 

 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lly
 

V
al

ua
bl

e 
R

es
ou

rc
e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

W
ild

lif
e 

an
d 

W
ild

lif
e 

H
ab

ita
t

M
iti

ga
tio

n 
m

ea
su

re
s i

m
pl

em
en

te
d 

to
 

m
in

im
iz

e 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

te
rra

in
, s

oi
ls,

 
hy

dr
ol

og
y,

 w
at

er
 q

ua
lit

y,
 te

rre
st

ria
l 

ec
os

ys
te

m
s a

nd
 p

la
nt

s w
ill

 a
lso

 m
in

im
iz

e 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

w
ild

lif
e 

an
d 

w
ild

lif
e 

ha
bi

ta
t.

Bi
rd

s a
nd

 b
ird

 n
es

ts
D

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
or

 
m

or
ta

lit
y 

to
 b

ird
s  

an
d/

or
 th

ei
r e

gg
s 

an
d/

or
 n

es
ts

 (a
s 

de
fin

ed
 b

y 
re

le
va

nt
 

le
gi

sla
tio

n)

Cl
ea

rin
g 

of
 

ve
ge

ta
tio

n 
or

 
di

st
ur

ba
nc

e 
fro

m
 

ne
ar

by
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

ac
tiv

iti
es

V
eg

et
at

io
n 

cl
ea

rin
g 

an
d 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 
an

d 
de

br
is 

pi
le

 b
ur

ni
ng

 w
ill

 n
ot

 o
cc

ur
 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
br

ee
di

ng
 b

ird
 se

as
on

 (M
ar

ch
 

15
 - 

A
ug

us
t 3

1)
, w

he
n 

fe
as

ib
le

. I
f n

ot
 

fe
as

ib
le

, p
re

-c
le

ar
in

g 
ne

st
 sw

ee
ps

 w
ill

 b
e 

co
nd

uc
te

d 
an

d 
pr

ot
ec

tiv
e 

bu
ffe

rs
 

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

ar
ou

nd
 a

ct
iv

e 
ne

st
s, 

as
 

di
re

ct
ed

 b
y 

a 
Q

E
P,

 p
rio

r t
o 

th
e 

re
m

ov
al

 
or

 c
le

ar
in

g 
of

 v
eg

et
at

io
n.

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
m

or
ta

lit
y 

to
 b

ird
s 

an
d/

 o
r t

he
ir 

eg
gs

 
an

d/
 o

r o
f n

es
tin

g 
ha

bi
ta

t

Pr
ov

in
ci

al
 W

ild
lif

e A
ct 

an
d 

W
ild

lif
e A

me
nd

me
nt

 A
ct,

 
Fe

de
ra

l S
pe

cie
s a

t R
isk

 A
ct,

 
Fe

de
ra

l M
igr

at
or

y B
ird

 A
ct;

 
D

ev
el

op
 w

ith
 C

ar
e 

(M
FL

N
RO

 2
01

4)

A
m

ph
ib

ia
ns

, 
re

pt
ile

s a
nd

 sm
al

l 
m

am
m

al
s

M
or

ta
lit

y 
of

 
am

ph
ib

ia
ns

, r
ep

til
es

 
or

 o
th

er
 sm

al
l 

w
ild

lif
e 

w
ith

 lo
w

 
m

ot
ili

ty

A
cc

id
en

ta
l p

hy
sic

al
 

im
pa

ct
 fr

om
 

m
ac

hi
ne

ry
, v

eh
ic

le
s 

or
 w

or
ke

rs

A
m

ph
ib

ia
n,

 re
pt

ile
 a

nd
 sm

al
l m

am
m

al
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

di
sc

ou
ra

ge
d 

or
 sa

lv
ag

ed
 fr

om
 th

e 
fo

ot
pr

in
t o

f t
he

 p
ro

po
se

d 
fa

ci
lit

y 
an

d 
re

lo
ca

te
d 

to
 h

ab
ita

t o
f t

he
 sa

m
e 

or
 b

et
te

r 
qu

al
ity

 p
rio

r t
o 

ve
ge

ta
tio

n 
cl

ea
rin

g 
or

 
ea

rth
w

or
ks

.  
E

xc
lu

sio
n 

fe
nc

in
g 

m
ay

 b
e 

in
st

al
le

d 
ar

ou
nd

 th
e 

w
or

k 
ar

ea
, a

s 
di

re
ct

ed
 b

y 
a 

Q
E

P,
 to

 p
re

ve
nt

 th
e 

re
-

in
tro

du
ct

io
n 

of
 sm

al
l t

er
re

st
ria

l w
ild

lif
e 

sp
ec

ie
s i

nt
o 

th
e 

w
or

k 
ar

ea
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

sa
lv

ag
e.

 If
 w

ild
lif

e 
m

ig
ra

tio
ns

 th
ro

ug
h 

Pr
op

er
ty

 (e
.g

., 
W

es
te

rn
 T

oa
d)

 a
re

 
en

co
un

te
re

d,
 a

 Q
E

P 
w

ill
 b

e 
re

ta
in

ed
 

di
re

ct
 m

iti
ga

tio
ns

.

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
m

or
ta

lit
y 

to
 

am
ph

ib
ia

ns
, r

ep
til

es
 

an
d 

sm
al

l m
am

m
al

s

Pr
ov

in
ci

al
 W

ild
lif

e A
ct 

an
d 

W
ild

lif
e A

me
nd

me
nt

 A
ct,

 
Fe

de
ra

l S
pe

cie
s a

t R
isk

 A
ct

Page 95 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 3

5 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 5

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lly
 

V
al

ua
bl

e 
R

es
ou

rc
e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

G
en

er
al

 w
ild

lif
e

M
or

ta
lit

y 
or

 h
ar

m
 

to
 w

ild
lif

e
A

cc
id

en
ta

l p
hy

sic
al

 
im

pa
ct

 fr
om

 
m

ac
hi

ne
ry

, v
eh

ic
le

s 
or

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
cr

ew
 m

em
be

rs

Co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

an
d 

cr
ew

 v
eh

ic
le

s w
ill

 
fo

llo
w

 p
os

te
d 

sp
ee

d 
lim

its
.  

If 
w

ild
lif

e 
ar

e 
en

co
un

te
re

d 
on

 th
e 

ro
ad

 th
ey

 w
ill

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 w
ith

 a
m

pl
e 

tim
e 

an
d 

sp
ac

e 
to

 
m

ov
e 

of
f o

f t
he

 ro
ad

 b
ef

or
e 

th
e 

ve
hi

cl
e 

pr
oc

ee
ds

.

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
m

or
ta

lit
y 

to
 w

ild
lif

e
Pr

ov
in

ci
al

 W
ild

lif
e A

ct 
an

d 
W

ild
lif

e A
me

nd
me

nt
 A

ct,
 

Fe
de

ra
l S

pe
cie

s a
t R

isk
 A

ct

A
cc

id
en

ta
l s

pi
lls

 o
f 

fu
el

s o
r h

az
ar

do
us

 
m

at
er

ia
ls 

in
to

 
aq

ua
tic

 h
ab

ita
t

Ru
no

ff 
fro

m
 th

e 
sit

e 
m

us
t m

ee
t B

C 
G

ui
de

lin
es

 fo
r A

qu
at

ic
 L

ife
 b

ef
or

e 
en

te
rin

g 
an

y 
di

tc
h 

th
at

 m
ay

 b
e 

co
nn

ec
te

d 
to

 a
 w

at
er

co
ur

se
 o

r a
qu

at
ic

 
fe

at
ur

e.

Fe
de

ra
l F

ish
eri

es 
A

ct,
 

Pr
ov

in
ci

al
 W

at
er 

Su
sta

in
ab

ili
ty 

A
ct,

 B
C 

G
ui

de
lin

es
 fo

r A
qu

at
ic

 L
ife

H
ab

ita
t a

lte
ra

tio
n

Ch
an

ge
 o

f u
se

 o
f 

ha
bi

ta
t d

ue
 to

 
fa

ci
lit

y

Li
gh

tin
g 

w
ill

 b
e 

de
sig

ne
d 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 th

e 
m

in
im

um
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

 fo
r s

af
et

y 
pu

rp
os

es
 

an
d 

to
 m

in
im

iz
e 

lig
ht

 in
tru

sio
n 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
pa

rc
el

.

D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
(M

FL
N

RO
 2

01
4)

Fe
nc

in
g 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

sig
ne

d 
ac

co
rd

in
g 

to
 

th
e 

gu
id

el
in

es
 d

es
cr

ib
ed

 in
 A

 
La

nd
ow

ne
rs

 G
ui

de
 to

 W
ild

lif
e 

Fr
ie

nd
ly

 
Fe

nc
es

: H
ow

 to
 B

ui
ld

 F
en

ce
 w

ith
 

W
ild

lif
e 

in
 M

in
d,

 M
on

ta
na

 F
ish

 W
ild

lif
e 

an
d 

Pa
rk

s, 
if 

it 
is 

in
te

nd
ed

 fo
r w

ild
lif

e 
to

 
pa

ss
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
ar

ea
.

Th
e 

m
in

im
um

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f a

re
a 

w
ill

 b
e 

di
st

ur
be

d 
as

 p
ra

ct
ic

ab
le

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
bu

ild
in

g 
fo

ot
pr

in
t, 

ro
ad

s a
nd

 p
at

hw
ay

s. 
Th

us
, h

ab
ita

t s
tru

ct
ur

es
 a

nd
 c

on
ne

ct
iv

ity
 

to
 a

dj
ac

en
t l

an
ds

 w
ill

 b
e 

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

as
 

pr
ac

tic
ab

le
.

Page 96 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 Y
og

ur
t F

ac
ili

ty
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

 
Pa

ge
 3

6 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 5

. 
Co

nt
in

ue
d.

 

 
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lly

 
V

al
ua

bl
e 

R
es

ou
rc

e

Po
te

nt
ia

l I
m

pa
ct

E
ffe

ct
 P

at
hw

ay
M

iti
ga

tio
n

R
es

id
ua

l I
m

pa
ct

R
el

ev
an

t L
eg

is
la

tio
n 

an
d 

B
es

t M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Pr
ac

tic
es

G
en

er
al

 w
ild

lif
e 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)
H

um
an

-w
ild

lif
e 

co
nf

lic
t

Co
nf

lic
t a

ris
in

g 
fro

m
 in

te
ra

ct
io

n 
of

 
hu

m
an

 w
or

ke
rs

 
an

d/
or

 m
at

er
ia

ls 
w

ith
 la

rg
e 

m
am

m
al

s 
th

at
 m

ay
 fr

eq
ue

nt
 

or
 p

as
s t

hr
ou

gh
 th

e 
ar

ea
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

M
ul

e 
D

ee
r, 

Ro
os

ev
el

t 
E

lk
, C

ou
ga

rs
 a

nd
 

A
m

er
ic

an
 B

la
ck

 
Be

ar
s. 

La
nd

sc
ap

in
g 

w
ill

 b
e 

de
sig

ne
d 

so
 th

at
 

co
ve

r i
s n

ot
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

fo
r l

ar
ge

 m
am

m
al

s 
ne

ar
 a

re
as

 o
f h

um
an

 a
ct

iv
ity

.

Lo
w

 li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
hu

m
an

-w
ild

lif
e 

co
nf

lic
t

W
ild

lif
e 

(e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 

A
m

er
ic

an
 B

la
ck

 
Be

ar
) m

ay
 b

e 
at

tra
ct

ed
 to

 fo
od

 
pr

od
uc

ts
 o

r w
as

te
, 

an
d 

ve
ge

ta
tio

n 
pl

an
te

d 
on

 th
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

.

A
ll 

be
ar

 a
ttr

ac
ta

nt
s o

n 
sit

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
st

or
ed

 
in

do
or

s o
r i

n 
an

im
al

-p
ro

of
 w

as
te

 
co

nt
ai

ne
rs

.  
Pl

an
ts

 th
at

 m
ay

 a
ttr

ac
t 

be
ar

s, 
su

ch
 a

s b
er

ry
 p

ro
du

ci
ng

 sh
ru

bs
 

an
d 

fru
it-

be
ar

in
g 

tre
es

, w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

pl
an

te
d 

on
 th

e 
Pr

op
er

ty
.

Page 97 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 37 

1413-01 

6. CLOSURE AND NEXT STEPS 
This report fulfills the requirement of a bio-inventory for the Project area to be subdivided, as per the 
Village of Cumberland’s OCP requirements (Bylaw 990; VOC 2014a) and Develop with Care 
(MFLNRO 2014).  

Appendix A provides an assessment of how the development Project and this bio-inventory meet 
DPA#1 bylaw requirements for a Connectivity Area and should be used alongside the referenced 
sections of this report to guide formation of permit conditions, if issued.  

Overall, in the context of the Project area being recently logged, in the vicinity of an active waste 
management facility, adjacent to a busy gravel road and active gravel mine, and being located over 
340 m from an aquatic ecosystem, sensitive terrestrial ecosystem, park or protected area, land 
development for servicing is expected to have a relatively minimal impact on the larger watershed area 
as detailed in Section 5. No ESAs or EVRs requiring buffers were identified on or within 100 m of 
the Project area, thus no restricted development or buffer zones have been designated.  

 

Page 98 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 38 

1413-01 

REFERENCES 
BSC (Bird Studies Canada). 2019. Nesting Calendar Query Tool: Region A2. Available online: 

http://www.birdscanada.org/volunteer/pnw/rnest/. Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

CDC (BC Conservation Data Center). 2019a. BC Species and Ecosystems Explorer. Available online 
at: http://a100.gov.bc.ca/pub/eswp/. Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

CDC (BC Conservation Data Center). 2019b. FAQ: Can mid-seral stages contribute to conservation 
of ecosystems at risk? Available online at: 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/environment/plants-animals-
ecosystems/conservation-data-centre/explore-cdc-data/faq#ecological_communities. 
Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

CISC (Coastal Invasive Species Committee). 2016. Coastal ISC Priority Invasive Plant List. Available 
online at: 
https://www.coastalisc.com/images/Plants/2016_Coastal_ISC_Priority_Plant_List_web.pd
f. Accessed on April 8, 2019. 

CVRD (Comox Valley Regional District). 2019a. iMap 3.1. Available online at: 
http://imap2.comoxvalleyrd.ca/imapviewer/. Accessed on March 26, 2019. 

CVRD (Comox Valley Regional District). 2019b. Water Balance Model Express. Available online at: 
https://comox.waterbalance-express.ca/. Accessed on April 11, 2019. 

DataBC. 2019. iMapBC. Available online at: https://maps.gov.bc.ca/ess/hm/imap4m/. Accessed on 
March 3, 2018. 

DFO (Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada). Undated. Standards and Best Practices for 
Instream Works: Urban Stormwater Management. Available online at: 
http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/wld/instreamworks/downloads/UrbanStormwater.pdf. 
Accessed on April 11, 2019. 

EC (Environment Canada). 1996. Technical Pollution Prevention Guide for the Dairy Processing 
Industry. Available online at: 
http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2015/ec/En83-6-1996-11-eng.pdf. 
Accessed on April 10, 2019. 

ECCC (Environment and Climate Change Canada). 2018. Recovery Strategy for the Western Painted 
Turtle (Chrysemys picta bellii) Pacific Coast Population in Canada [Proposed]. Species at Risk Act 
Recovery Strategy Series. Environment and Climate Change Canada, Ottawa. 2 parts, 31 pp. 
+ 59 pp.  

E-Fauna BC. 2019. Electronic Atlas of the Wildlife of British Columbia. Available online at: 
http://ibis.geog.ubc.ca/biodiversity/efauna/. Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

Page 99 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 39 

1413-01 

Environmental Management Act Open Burning Smoke Control Regulation. B.C. Reg. 145/93 O.C. 
481/93. Available online at: 
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/145_93. Accessed on April 11, 
2019. 

Fisheries Act (R.S.C., 1985, c. F-14). Available online at: https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/f-14/. 
Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

Green, R.N. and K. Klinka. 1994. A Field Guide for Site Identification and Interpretation for the 
Vancouver Forest Region. Land Management Handbook Number 28. Province of British 
Columbia, Ministry of Forests. Available online at: 
https://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/docs/Lmh/Lmh28.htm. Accessed on April 3, 2017. 

Hunt, R.S. 2009. History of western white pine and blister rust in British Columbia. The Forestry 
Chronicle. July/August 2009, Vol 85 (4). Available online at: https://pubs.cif-
ifc.org/doi/pdf/10.5558/tfc85516-4. Accessed on April 10, 2019. 

LEA (Lewkowich Engineering Associates Ltd.). 2019. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment. 
Proposed Lot D, Bevan Road, Cumberland, BC. Consultant’s reported prepared for Tree 
Island Yogurt. January 15, 2019.  

Local Government Act [RSBC 2015]. 2015. Available online at: 
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/lc/statreg/r15001_00. Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

McElhanney (McElhanney Consulting Services Ltd.). 2018. Sketch plan of proposed subdivision of 
part of Section 34, Township 10, Comox district. Drawing prepared by McElhanney 
Consulting Services Ltd in October 2018. 

MFLNRO (BC Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations). 2014. Develop with 
Care. Available online at: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/environment/natural-
resource-stewardship/laws-policies-standards-guidance/best-management-
practices/develop-with-care. Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

MFLNRO (BC Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations). 2019. Western white 
pine. Available online at: 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/industry/forestry/managing-our-forest-
resources/silviculture/tree-species-selection/tree-species-compendium-index/western-
white-pine. Accessed on April 8, 2019. 

Migratory Birds Convention Act, S.C. 1994. Available online at: https://laws-
lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/M-7.01/page-1.html. Accessed on November 01, 2018. 

MOE (BC Ministry of Environment). 2019. Urban Stormwater Management BMPs. Available online 
at: http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/wld/instreamworks/urbanstormwater.htm.  
Accessed on April 10, 2019. 

Page 100 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 40 

1413-01 

MOECCS (BC Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy). 2018. BC Approved Water 
Quality Guidelines: Aquatic Life, Wildlife and Agriculture. Water Protection & Sustainability 
Branch. March 2018. Available online at: 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/air-land-
water/water/waterquality/wqgs-wqos/approved-
wqgs/wqg_summary_aquaticlife_wildlife_agri.pdf. Accessed on April 11, 2019. 

MOF (BC Ministry of Forests). 2010. Field Manual for Describing Terrestrial Ecosystems 2nd Edition. 
Land Management Handbook 25. Victoria BC. Available online at: 
http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/Docs/Lmh/Lmh25/Lmh25_ed2_(2010).pdf. 
Accessed on March 26, 2019. 

Munsell (Munsell Color). 2009. Munsell Soil Color Charts; With Genuine Munsell Color Chips. 68 p. 

MWLAP (BC Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection). 2002a. Stormwater Planning: A 
Guidebook for British Columbia. Available online at: 
https://www.toolkit.bc.ca/resource/stormwater-planning-guidebook-british-columbia. 
Accessed on April 10, 2019. 

MWLAP (BC Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection). 2002b. Environmental Best Management 
Practices for Urban and Rural land Development in British Columbia. Available online at: 
http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/wld/documents/bmp/urban_ebmp/urban_ebmp.html. 
Accessed on April 10, 2019. 

RIC (Resources Inventory Committee). 2000. Standard for Terrestrial Ecosystem Mapping (TEM) – 
Digital Data Capture in British Columbia. Province of British Columbia: Ecosystem Technical 
Standards and Database Manual. Available online at: 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/natural-resource-stewardship/nr-laws-
policy/risc/tem.pdf. Accessed on November 5, 2018. 

Riparian Areas Protection Act Riparian Area Regulation B.C. Reg. 376/2004. O.C. 837/2004. Available 
online at: http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/376_2004. Accessed 
on April 4, 2019. 

Riparian Areas Protection Act. [SBC 1997] Chapter 21. Available online at 
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/97021_01. Accessed on April 
4, 2019. 

Ryzuk (Ryzuk Geotechnical Engineering and Materials Testing). 2019. Proposed Dairy Facility – 
Bevan Road, Cumberland BC. Consultant’s report dated April 4, 2019. 

Schnorbus, M.A. 2018. Climate change impacts on hydrology for the Comox Lake watershed. Report 
prepared for the Comox Valley Regional District by the Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium, 
Victoria, BC. April 2018.  

Page 101 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 41 

1413-01 

Species at Risk Act, S.C. 2002, c.29. Available online at: http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/PDF/S-15.3.pdf. 
Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

VOC (Corporation of the Village of Cumberland). 2014a. Village of Cumberland Official Community 
Plan Bylaw No. 990. Available online at: https://cumberland.ca/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Bylaw-990-OCP-2014-03-20-proposed-amendments-OPT.pdf. 
Accessed on January 30, 2019. 

VOC (Corporation of the Village of Cumberland). 2014b. Map of Development Permit Areas. 
Available online at: https://cumberland.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Map-C-
Development-Permit-Areas-Overview.pdf. Accessed on April 10, 2019. 

VOC (Corporation of the Village of Cumberland). 2014c. Development Permit Area Guidelines. 
Available online at: https://cumberland.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/DPA1-
Evironmental-Protection.pdf. Accessed on January 30, 2019. 

Water Sustainability Act [SBC 2014] Available online at: 
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/14015. Last accessed March 5, 
2019.  

Wedler (Wedler Engineering LLP. 2019. Civil Servicing Review Proposed 7 Lot Subdivision – Bevan 
Road, Cumberland, BC. Consultant’s letter to Scott Diguistini on May 14, 2019. 

Weed Control Act [RSBC 1996] Chapter 487. Available online at: 
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/96487_01#section2. Accessed 
on April 4, 2019. 

Wildlife Act, R.S.B.C 1996. Available online at: 
http://www.bclaws.ca/EPLibraries/bclaws_new/document/ID/freeside/00_96488_01. 
Accessed on April 4, 2019. 

WTSA (Wildlife Tree Stewardship Atlas). Available online at: http://cmnmaps.ca/wits/. Accessed on 
April 4, 2019. 

Personal Communications 

Delaney, Coleen. 2019. Contaminated Sites Officer, BC Ministry of Environment and Climate Change 
Strategy. Email communication with Scott DiGuistini titled Site 4623 - Bevan Road (Former 
Mine Site), Cumberland on August 30, 2019. 

English, Phalina. 2018. Post-doctoral Research Biologist, Simon Fraser University. In person 
communication with Leah Ballin, Ecofish Research Ltd in October 2018. 

 

Page 102 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 42 

1413-01 

PROJECT MAPS 
 

 

Page 103 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y 
 

Pa
ge

 4
3 

14
13

-0
1 

  M
ap

 2
.  

W
ild

lif
e 

H
ab

ita
t P

lo
ts

. 

     

 

M
ap

 2
 

* 
Th

e 
lo

ca
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 P
ro

po
se

d 
Su

bd
iv

isi
on

 
Lo

t 
an

d 
Pa

rc
el 

Bo
un

da
ry

 a
re

 a
pp

ro
xi

m
at

e. 

Page 104 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y 
 

Pa
ge

 4
4 

14
13

-0
1 

  M
ap

 3
. 

W
at

er
sh

ed
s a

nd
 A

dj
ac

en
t W

at
er

bo
di

es
. 

    

 

M
ap

 3
 

* 
Th

e l
oc

at
io

ns
 o

f t
he

 P
ro

po
se

d 
Su

bd
iv

isi
on

 
Lo

t 
an

d 
Pa

rc
el 

Bo
un

da
ry

 a
re

 a
pp

ro
xi

m
at

e. 

Page 105 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y 
 

Pa
ge

 4
5 

14
13

-0
1 

  M
ap

 4
. 

T
er

re
st

ria
l a

nd
 A

qu
at

ic
 F

ea
tu

re
s.

 

 

M
ap

 4
 

Page 106 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 46 

1413-01 

DRAWINGS 

Page 107 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y 
 

Pa
ge

 4
7 

14
13

-0
1 

 D
ra

w
in

g 
1. 

Lo
t P

la
n 

- O
pt

io
n 

1. 

    

 

Page 108 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory  Page 48 

1413-01 

APPENDICES 

Page 109 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix A  

1413-01  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A. Village of Cumberland Bylaw 990 requirements and how they are addressed in 
this report 

 

Page 110 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix A Page i 

1413-01  

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 1. Development Permit Area #1 Environmental Protection Guidelines – General 
Requirements. ................................................................................................................................ 1 

Table 2. Development Permit Area #1 Environmental Protection Guidelines – Connectivity Areas.
 .......................................................................................................................................................... 9 

 

Page 111 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
1 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

P
er

m
it

 A
re

a 
#

1 
E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 G

u
id

el
in

es
 –

 G
en

er
al

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

ts
. 

 
 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
1

D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
(2

01
2,

 2
01

4)
 w

as
 fo

llo
w

ed
 fo

r t
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 
st

ud
y,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
1.

1.
Co

m
pl

et
e

2
Th

e
re

po
rt

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

by
qu

al
ifi

ed
pr

of
es

sio
na

lb
io

lo
gi

st
s,

a
pr

of
es

sio
na

l
fo

re
st

er
an

d
a

pr
of

es
sio

na
l

ge
os

ci
en

tis
t

an
d

re
vi

ew
ed

by
a

se
ni

or
pr

of
es

sio
na

l
bi

ol
og

ist
w

ith
ex

pe
rti

se
in

w
ild

lif
e

an
d

te
rre

st
ria

l
ec

ol
og

y,
hy

dr
ol

og
y,

hy
dr

o-
ge

ol
og

y
an

d
ge

ol
og

y,
an

d
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
lm

an
ag

em
en

t,
as

pe
r

th
e 

re
po

rt 
co

ve
r. 

Co
m

pl
et

e

N
o

w
et

la
nd

so
rr

ip
ar

ia
n

ar
ea

sa
re

pr
es

en
ti

n
or

w
ith

in
10

0
m

of
th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a,
 a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

4.
2.

Co
m

pl
et

e

Th
er

e
is

lo
w

po
te

nt
ia

l
fo

r
er

os
io

n
or

slo
pe

in
st

ab
ili

ty
,

as
de

te
rm

in
ed

by
ge

os
ci

en
tis

ts
(E

co
fis

h,
Ry

zu
k

G
eo

te
ch

ni
ca

l),
as

pe
r S

ec
tio

n 
4.

1 
an

d 
5.

1.

Co
m

pl
et

e

Th
e

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
te

am
ha

s
an

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g
of

w
ild

lif
e

bi
ol

og
y—

in
cl

ud
in

g
fo

r
sp

ec
ie

s
at

ris
k,

ge
om

or
ph

ol
og

y,
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l

as
se

ss
m

en
t,

an
d

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

pl
an

ni
ng

in
Br

iti
sh

Co
lu

m
bi

a,
an

d
sp

ec
ifi

c
ex

pe
rti

se
in

th
e

w
ild

lif
e

sp
ec

ie
s,

w
ild

lif
e 

ha
bi

ta
t, 

an
d 

ec
os

ys
te

m
s o

f t
he

 W
es

t C
oa

st
 re

gi
on

.

Co
m

pl
et

e

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n D

P
A

#
1 

E
P

 G
u

id
el

in
es

 –
 G

en
er

al
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

Bi
ol

og
ic

al
 si

te
 in

ve
nt

or
y 

(b
io

-in
ve

nt
or

y)
 a

cc
or

di
ng

 to
 th

e 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 d
es

cr
ib

ed
 in

 D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
20

12
 - 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l G
ui

de
lin

es
 fo

r 
U

rb
an

 a
nd

 R
ur

al
 L

an
d 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t i
n 

Br
iti

sh
 C

ol
um

bi
a,

 A
pp

en
di

x 
B 

an
d 

am
en

dm
en

ts
 h

er
et

o,
 p

re
pa

re
d 

by
 th

e 
M

in
ist

ry
 o

f F
or

es
t L

an
ds

 
an

d 
N

at
ur

al
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
.

Th
e 

bi
o-

in
ve

nt
or

y 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 b
y 

a 
qu

al
ifi

ed
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l b

io
lo

gi
st

 to
ge

th
er

 w
ith

 o
th

er
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
ls 

of
 d

iff
er

en
t a

nd
 re

le
va

nt
 

ex
pe

rti
se

, a
s t

he
 p

ro
je

ct
 w

ar
ra

nt
s. 

If 
w

et
la

nd
s a

nd
 ri

pa
ria

n 
ar

ea
s e

xi
st

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t a
re

a,
 h

yd
ro

lo
gi

st
s a

nd
 h

yd
ro

-g
eo

lo
gi

st
s s

ho
ul

d 
be

 c
on

su
lte

d 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
e 

pr
op

er
 h

yd
ro

lo
gi

ca
l f

un
ct

io
n 

is 
m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
w

ith
in

 th
es

e 
ec

os
ys

te
m

s. 
 

A
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l g

eo
sc

ie
nt

ist
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

co
ns

ul
te

d 
if 

th
er

e 
is 

er
os

io
n 

po
te

nt
ia

l o
r s

lo
pe

 in
st

ab
ili

ty
. 

Th
e 

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
 o

r t
ea

m
 o

f c
on

su
lta

nt
s s

ho
ul

d 
ha

ve
 a

n 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 w

ild
lif

e 
bi

ol
og

y—
es

pe
ci

al
ly

 fo
r s

pe
ci

es
 a

t r
isk

, g
eo

m
or

ph
ol

og
y,

 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l a

ss
es

sm
en

t, 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t p
la

nn
in

g 
in

 B
rit

ish
 C

ol
um

bi
a,

 sp
ec

ifi
c 

ex
pe

rti
se

 in
 th

e 
w

ild
lif

e 
sp

ec
ie

s, 
w

ild
lif

e 
ha

bi
ta

t, 
an

d 
ec

os
ys

te
m

s o
f t

he
 W

es
t C

oa
st

 re
gi

on
 is

 h
ig

hl
y 

pr
ef

er
re

d.
 

Page 112 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
2 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
C

on
ti

n
u

ed
. 

 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
3

a)
Be

in
ac

co
rd

an
ce

w
ith

D
ev

el
op

w
ith

Ca
re

20
12

:
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l

G
ui

de
lin

es
fo

r
U

rb
an

an
d

Ru
ra

l
La

nd
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

in
Br

iti
sh

Co
lu

m
bi

a 
(D

W
C)

 o
r m

os
t c

ur
re

nt
 e

di
tio

n,
 a

nd
 w

ith
 re

fe
re

nc
e 

to
 A

pp
en

di
x 

B:
 B

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

Te
rm

s o
f R

ef
er

en
ce

. 
D

ev
el

op
 w

ith
 C

ar
e 

(2
01

2,
 2

01
4)

 w
as

 fo
llo

w
ed

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 

st
ud

y,
 a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

1.
1.

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
Lo

ca
te

th
e

pa
rc

el
re

la
tiv

e
to

w
at

er
sh

ed
ar

ea
(s

)
an

d
de

sc
rib

e
th

e
hy

dr
ol

og
ic

al
fe

at
ur

es
of

th
e

pa
rc

el
—

in
cl

ud
in

g
w

at
er

sh
ed

di
ng

,
co

lle
ct

in
g 

an
d 

co
nv

ey
an

ce
 a

re
as

.
A

m
ap

of
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t
ar

ea
re

la
tiv

e
to

th
e

w
at

er
sh

ed
ar

ea
s

is
pr

ov
id

ed
in

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

M
ap

s
se

ct
io

n
at

th
e

en
d

of
th

e
re

po
rt

an
d

th
e

hy
dr

ol
og

ic
al

fe
at

ur
es

of
th

e
la

nd
ar

e
de

sc
rib

ed
in

Se
ct

io
n 

4.
2.

Co
m

pl
et

e

c)
E

xa
m

in
e

th
e

na
tu

ra
le

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lf

ea
tu

re
s

w
ith

in
th

e
pa

rc
el

—
in

cl
ud

in
g

ra
re

an
d

th
re

at
en

ed
pl

an
tc

om
m

un
iti

es
,e

nd
an

ge
re

d
sp

ec
ie

s
lis

te
d

un
de

rt
he
Pr
ov
in
cia
lW
ild
lif
eA
ct

an
d

th
e

Fe
de

ra
lS
pe
cie
sA
tR
isk
A
ct

(S
A

RA
)a

nd
an

y
id

en
tif

ie
d

cr
iti

ca
lh

ab
ita

ts
fo

rt
ho

se
sp

ec
ie

s,
an

d 
ot

he
r i

m
po

rta
nt

 h
ab

ita
t f

ea
tu

re
s.

Th
e

na
tu

ra
l

en
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l
fe

at
ur

es
of

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

ar
ea

ar
e

ex
am

in
ed

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

po
rt,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
4.

4 
an

d 
4.

5.
Co

m
pl

et
e

d)
Pr

ov
id

e
a

de
sc

rip
tio

n
an

d
m

ap
(s

)s
ho

w
in

g
th

e
bo

un
da

rie
so

fE
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lly
Se

ns
iti

ve
A

re
as

—
in

cl
ud

in
g

30
.0

m
et

re
sf

ro
m

th
e

na
tu

ra
l

bo
un

da
ry

of
te

rre
st

ria
la

re
as

,a
nd

30
.0

m
et

er
sf

ro
m

th
e

na
tu

ra
lb

ou
nd

ar
y

of
w

at
er

co
ur

se
s,

w
et

la
nd

sa
nd

la
ke

s,
an

d
30

.0
m

et
er

s
fro

m
th

e
to

p
of

th
e

ba
nk

of
a

w
at

er
co

ur
se

,w
he

re
a

ba
nk

is
w

ith
in

15
.0

m
et

er
s

of
th

e
na

tu
ra

lb
ou

nd
ar

y
of

th
e

w
at

er
co

ur
se

).
D

et
er

m
in

e
th

e
re

st
ric

te
d

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ta

nd
bu

ffe
rz

on
es

on
th

e
pa

rc
el

th
ro

ug
h

an
ex

pl
an

at
or

y,
re

fe
re

nc
e

or
le

ga
ls

ur
ve

y
pl

an
pr

ep
ar

ed
by

a
BC

La
nd

Su
rv

ey
or

th
at

sh
ow

s
th

es
e

bo
un

da
rie

s
(re

fe
rt

o
Se

ct
io

n
4,

Ta
bl

e
4.

1
D

ev
el

op
W

ith
Ca

re
fo

rr
ec

om
m

en
de

d
ta

rg
et

bu
ffe

r
di

st
an

ce
s

fo
r

bi
od

iv
er

sit
y 

co
ns

er
va

tio
n)

. 

N
o

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lly
Se

ns
iti

ve
A

re
as

w
er

e
de

te
ct

ed
w

ith
in

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

ar
ea

,
no

r
ar

e
an

y
Te

rre
st

ria
l

or
A

qu
at

ic
E

co
sy

st
em

A
re

as
id

en
tif

ie
d

in
th

e
O

CP
,a

s
pe

r
Se

ct
io

n
5.

Th
er

ef
or

e,
no

re
st

ric
te

d
de

ve
lo

pm
en

to
rb

uf
fe

rz
on

es
ar

e
ne

ce
ss

ar
y

to
pr

ot
ec

t
E

SA
s

in
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t
ar

ea
or

w
ith

in
10

0
m

of
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t
bo

un
da

ry
.

Co
m

pl
et

e

e)
E

xa
m

in
e

th
e

im
pa

ct
of

th
e

pr
op

os
ed

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

on
th

e
so

ils
,

ve
ge

ta
tio

n,
w

at
er

co
ur

se
s,

w
ild

lif
e,

an
d

hy
dr

ol
og

y
in

al
lr

es
tri

ct
ed

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t a

nd
 b

uf
fe

r z
on

es
; a

nd
 p

ro
vi

de
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t p

at
te

rn
 a

nd
 se

rv
ic

in
g 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 to
 m

in
im

iz
e 

th
es

e 
im

pa
ct

s. 
N

o
re

st
ric

te
d

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

or
bu

ffe
r

zo
ne

s
id

en
tif

ie
d

in
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a,
 a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

5.
N

/A

f)
E

xa
m

in
e

pr
e-

de
ve

lo
pm

en
tw

at
er

qu
al

ity
an

d
qu

an
tit

y
on

th
e

sit
e

an
d

pr
ov

id
e

m
iti

ga
tio

n
an

d
en

ha
nc

em
en

t
st

ra
te

gi
es

to
m

ai
nt

ai
n

pr
e-

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t w

at
er

 q
ua

lit
y 

an
d 

qu
an

tit
y 

fo
r t

he
 re

st
ric

te
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t z

on
es

 a
nd

 b
uf

fe
r a

re
as

. 
G

ro
un

dw
at

er
qu

al
ity

da
ta

pr
ov

id
ed

by
M

ax
xa

m
is

pr
es

en
te

d
in

W
ed

le
r

(2
01

9b
)

an
d

re
gi

on
al

pr
ec

ip
ita

tio
n

w
at

er
qu

an
tit

y
is

de
sc

rib
ed

,
as

pe
r

Se
ct

io
n

4.
2.

N
o

su
rfa

ce
or

gr
ou

nd
w

at
er

(e
xa

m
in

ed
to

2.
3

m
de

pt
h)

ob
se

rv
ed

du
rin

g
E

co
fis

h
or

Ry
zd

uk
su

rv
ey

,
th

us
no

su
rfa

ce
w

at
er

qu
al

ity
or

qu
an

tit
y

da
ta

co
lle

ct
ed

,
as

pe
r

Se
ct

io
n

4.
2,

no
r

ar
e

re
st

ric
te

d
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t
zo

ne
s

or
bu

ffe
rs

ex
ist

w
ith

in
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

ta
re

a
or

w
ith

in
10

0
m

of
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t
ar

ea
,a

s
pe

r
Se

ct
io

n
5.

So
m

e
pr

e-
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t
w

at
er

qu
an

tit
y

da
ta

ca
n

be
de

riv
ed

fro
m

th
e

w
el

l
pu

m
p

te
st

da
ta

th
at

w
as

co
lle

ct
ed

du
rin

g
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n
of

th
e

w
el

la
s

pe
r

W
ed

le
r 2

01
9b

. 

Co
m

pl
et

e

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n D

P
A

#
1 

E
P

 G
u

id
el

in
es

 –
 G

en
er

al
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

Th
e 

bi
o-

in
ve

nt
or

y 
sh

al
l:

Page 113 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
3 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
C

on
ti

n
u

ed
. 

 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
3

g)
E

xa
m

in
e

th
e

im
pa

ct
of

th
e

pr
op

os
ed

de
ve

lo
pm

en
to

n
th

e
la

rg
er

w
at

er
sh

ed
ar

ea
(s

)i
nc

lu
di

ng
w

at
er

co
ur

se
s,

ha
bi

ta
t

co
nn

ec
tiv

ity
,w

at
er

qu
al

ity
an

d
qu

an
tit

y
up

st
re

am
an

d
do

w
ns

tre
am

,
an

d
po

ss
ib

le
cu

m
ul

at
iv

e
hy

dr
ol

og
ic

al
im

pa
ct

s
th

at
m

ay
re

su
lt;

an
d

pr
ov

id
e

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t p

at
te

rn
 a

nd
 se

rv
ic

in
g 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 to
 m

in
im

iz
e 

th
em

. 

Co
m

pl
et

e

h)
Re

co
m

m
en

d
ap

pr
op

ria
te

tim
in

g
of

w
or

ks
as

so
ci

at
ed

w
ith

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

in
or

de
r

to
m

in
im

iz
e

im
pa

ct
s

to
w

ild
lif

e
du

rin
g

m
ig

ra
tio

n,
br

ee
di

ng
, b

irt
hi

ng
, a

nd
 re

ar
in

g 
se

as
on

s.
A

ll
w

or
k

w
ill

be
co

m
pl

et
ed

ou
ts

id
e

of
th

e
br

ee
di

ng
bi

rd
se

as
on

(M
ar

ch
15

-
A

ug
us

t
31

)
in

or
de

r
to

m
in

im
iz

e
im

pa
ct

s
to

w
ild

lif
e.

If
w

or
k

ca
nn

ot
be

co
m

pl
et

ed
ou

ts
id

e
of

th
e

br
ee

di
ng

bi
rd

se
as

on
,t

he
n

pr
e-

cl
ea

rin
g

ne
st

an
d

sm
al

l
w

ild
lif

e
sw

ee
ps

w
ill

be
co

nd
uc

te
d

an
d

pr
ot

ec
tiv

e
bu

ffe
rs

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d

ar
ou

nd
ac

tiv
e

ne
st

s,
as

di
re

ct
ed

by
a

Q
E

P.
Re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
fo

r
ap

pr
op

ria
te

tim
in

g
of

w
or

ks
,

an
d

as
so

ci
at

ed
m

iti
ga

tio
ns

,
ar

e
pr

ov
id

ed
 in

 S
ec

tio
ns

 5
.5

.

Co
m

pl
et

e

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n D

P
A

#
1 

E
P

 G
u

id
el

in
es

 –
 G

en
er

al
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

Se
ct

io
n 

5 
of

 th
e 

bi
oi

nv
en

to
ry

 re
po

rt 
pr

ov
id

es
 a

n 
ex

am
in

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

f t
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 p
ro

po
se

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
n 

th
e 

na
tu

ra
l e

nv
iro

nm
en

t i
n 

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a 

an
d 

th
e 

gr
ea

te
r 

w
at

er
sh

ed
. T

he
 p

ot
en

tia
l i

m
pa

ct
s o

f t
he

 p
ro

po
se

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
n 

th
e 

la
rg

er
 w

at
er

sh
ed

 a
re

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
to

 b
e 

lo
w

. 
Th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l i

m
pa

ct
s o

n 
gr

ou
nd

w
at

er
 re

ch
ar

ge
 a

nd
/o

r 
w

at
er

co
ur

se
s >

 1
00

 m
 fr

om
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 a

s a
 re

su
lt 

of
 

im
pe

rv
io

us
 su

rfa
ce

s d
ue

 to
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

re
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 b

e 
lo

w
. I

nf
ilt

ra
tio

n 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 in

 th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a 

is 
al

re
ad

y 
hi

gh
 a

nd
 

in
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
de

sig
ne

d 
to

 m
ax

im
iz

e 
in

ilt
ra

tio
n.

 
H

ow
ev

er
 th

er
e 

is 
po

te
nt

ia
l f

or
 st

or
m

w
at

er
 ru

nn
of

f i
nt

o 
ex

ist
in

g 
di

tc
h 

sy
st

em
s l

oc
at

ed
 o

n 
Be

va
n 

Ro
ad

 a
nd

 in
to

 d
ow

ns
tre

am
 

w
at

er
bo

di
es

, e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 fo

r a
 st

or
m

 la
rg

er
 th

an
 a

 c
ur

re
nt

 5
-y

ea
r 

st
or

m
. R

un
of

f i
s e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 fl

ow
 to

 th
e 

no
rth

w
es

t (
i.e

., 
Fi

rs
t 

Su
pp

ly
 C

re
ek

/ 
Pu

nt
le

dg
e 

w
at

er
sh

ed
) b

as
ed

 o
n 

1 
m

 c
on

to
ur

s. 
W

at
er

 q
ua

lit
y 

an
d 

qu
an

tit
y 

ef
fe

ct
s f

ro
m

 ru
no

ff 
w

ill
 b

e 
m

iti
ga

te
d 

w
ith

 st
or

m
w

at
er

 in
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
de

sig
ne

d 
to

 V
ill

ag
e 

st
an

da
rd

s, 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f a

n 
E

ro
sio

n 
an

d 
Se

di
m

en
t C

on
tro

l 
pl

an
 a

nd
 a

do
pt

io
n 

of
 o

th
er

 c
ur

re
nt

 b
es

t m
an

ag
em

en
t p

ra
ct

ic
es

, 
as

 p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

5.
2.

 N
o 

w
at

er
 is

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
to

 b
e 

w
ith

dr
aw

n 
at

 
th

is 
ph

as
e 

th
us

 w
at

er
sh

ed
 le

ve
l e

ffe
ct

s f
ro

m
 w

at
er

 w
ith

dr
aw

al
 

w
er

e 
no

t a
ss

es
se

d,
 h

ow
ev

er
, t

he
y 

w
ill

 b
e 

as
se

ss
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

Pr
ov

in
ce

 a
nd

 p
ro

je
ct

 b
io

lo
gi

st
s a

s a
 c

om
po

ne
nt

 o
f t

he
 W

at
er

 
Su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y 

A
ct

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

pr
oc

es
s. 

W
ild

lif
e 

m
ay

 c
ro

ss
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a,
 h

ow
ev

er
, t

he
 P

ro
je

ct
 a

re
a 

do
es

 n
ot

 c
on

ta
in

 
kn

ow
n 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

ch
ar

ac
te

ris
tic

s f
av

or
ab

le
 fo

r w
ild

lif
e 

to
 u

se
 a

s a
 

co
rri

do
r a

s c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 th
e 

su
rro

un
di

ng
 a

re
a.

 Im
pa

ct
s a

ss
es

se
d 

an
d 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
in

 S
ec

tio
ns

 5
.4

 a
nd

 5
.5

.

Th
e 

bi
o-

in
ve

nt
or

y 
sh

al
l:

Page 114 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
4 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
C

on
ti

n
u

ed
. 

 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
4

a)
D

et
ai

le
d

dr
aw

in
gs

or
pl

an
s

cl
ea

rly
de

sc
rib

in
g

th
e

pr
op

os
ed

st
ru

ct
ur

es
an

d
th

e
m

at
er

ia
ls

an
d

ty
pe

of
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n
to

be
em

pl
oy

ed
,

in
cl

ud
in

g 
a 

cr
os

s s
ec

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 st

ru
ct

ur
e 

an
d 

its
 la

yo
ut

 o
n 

th
e 

gr
ou

nd
; 

Th
e

co
nc

ep
tu

al
an

d
de

sig
n

dr
aw

in
gs

of
th

e
su

bd
iv

isi
on

ar
e

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
'D

ra
w

in
gs

' s
ec

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
bi

o-
in

ve
nt

or
y.

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
A

 d
et

ai
le

d 
de

sc
rip

tio
n 

of
 e

xi
st

in
g 

st
ru

ct
ur

es
 n

ea
r t

he
 p

ro
po

se
d 

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
or

 a
re

a 
of

 w
or

k;
 

N
o

st
ru

ct
ur

es
ar

e
cu

rre
nt

ly
pr

es
en

to
n

or
in

th
e

vi
ci

ni
ty

of
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t
ar

ea
.

Th
e

cl
os

es
t

st
ru

ct
ur

e
is

th
e

w
as

te
m

an
ag

em
en

t
fa

ci
lit

y,
lo

ca
te

d
ap

pr
ox

im
at

el
y

50
0

m
to

th
e

so
ut

hw
es

t
of

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

ar
ea

,a
nd

gr
av

el
ro

ad
s

w
hi

ch
ab

ut
th

e
no

rth
an

d
ea

st
sid

es
 o

f t
he

 P
ro

je
ct

 a
re

a,
 a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

1.
3 

an
d 

1.
4.

 

Co
m

pl
et

e

c)
A

 d
et

ai
le

d 
dr

aw
in

g 
or

 p
la

n 
cl

ea
rly

 d
es

cr
ib

in
g 

an
y 

ar
ea

 o
f t

he
 re

m
ov

al
 o

f r
oc

k,
 g

ra
ve

l, 
or

 so
il;

 
G

ro
un

dw
or

ks
w

ill
be

co
nd

uc
te

d
fo

rs
er

vi
ci

ng
th

e
su

bd
iv

isi
on

,
as

pe
rt

he
'D

ra
w

in
gs

's
ec

tio
n

of
th

e
re

po
rt.

D
et

ai
le

d
de

sig
ns

fo
r

th
e

re
m

ov
al

of
ro

ck
,g

ra
ve

la
nd

so
il

ar
e

no
t

pr
ov

id
ed

at
th

is
tim

e.

Co
m

pl
et

e

d)
Th

e 
re

as
on

 a
nd

 p
ur

po
se

 o
f t

he
 w

or
k;

 
Th

e
pu

rp
os

e
of

w
or

k
is

to
su

bd
iv

id
e

an
d

se
rv

ic
e

th
e

la
nd

,a
s

de
sc

rib
ed

 in
 S

ec
tio

n 
1.

Co
m

pl
et

e

e)
Th

e 
na

m
e 

of
 th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
or

, i
f a

ny
, w

ho
 w

ill
 d

o 
th

e 
w

or
k;

 
Th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
or

 h
as

 n
ot

 y
et

 b
ee

n 
id

en
tif

ie
d.

N
ot

 R
eq

ui
re

d

f)
Ti

m
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

fo
r c

om
pl

et
io

n 
in

 c
al

en
da

r d
ay

s; 
Th

e
tim

e
re

qu
ire

d
fo

rc
om

pl
et

io
n

of
su

bd
iv

isi
on

an
d

se
rv

ic
in

g
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t h
as

 n
ot

 y
et

 b
ee

n 
id

en
tif

ie
d.

N
ot

 R
eq

ui
re

d

g)
A

ny
 fu

rth
er

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

re
qu

ire
d 

by
 th

e 
V

ill
ag

e 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
is 

by
la

w
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
de

sig
n 

or
 st

ru
ct

ur
al

 d
et

ai
ls 

of
 a

ny
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 p
ro

po
se

d 
w

or
ks

; 
D

es
ig

n
dr

aw
in

gs
fo

rt
he

su
bd

iv
isi

on
in

cl
ud

in
g

fo
rs

er
vi

ci
ng

ar
e

pr
ov

id
ed

in
th

e
'D

ra
w

in
gs

's
ec

tio
n

of
th

e
bi

o-
in

ve
nt

or
y.

Th
e

V
ill

ag
e

ha
s

no
tr

eq
ue

st
ed

ad
di

tio
na

li
nf

or
m

at
io

n
at

th
e

tim
e

of
su

bm
iss

io
n 

of
 th

is 
re

po
rt.

 

Pa
rti

al
 - 

fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

h)
A

de
sc

rip
tio

n
of

ho
w

en
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

lp
ro

te
ct

io
n

D
PA

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

w
ill

be
m

et
,a

nd
ho

w
an

y
iss

ue
si

de
nt

ifi
ed

in
th

e
bi

o-
in

ve
nt

or
y

w
ill

be
 m

iti
ga

te
d,

 a
nd

 h
ow

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
m

iti
ga

tio
n 

m
ea

su
re

s w
ill

 b
e 

ac
hi

ev
ed

; 
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n
of

ho
w

D
PA

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

w
ill

be
m

et
an

d
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
fo

rm
iti

ga
tio

ns
ar

e
pr

ov
id

ed
in

Se
ct

io
n

5
of

th
e 

bi
o-

in
ve

nt
or

y 
an

d 
in

 th
is 

ta
bl

e.
 

Co
m

pl
et

e

i)
A

ny
 re

pl
an

tin
g 

pr
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

fo
r v

eg
et

at
io

n 
in

 d
ist

ur
be

d 
ar

ea
s t

ha
t i

s p
re

sc
rib

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
bi

o-
in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
po

rt;
 

N
o

re
pl

an
tin

g
pr

es
cr

ip
tio

ns
ar

e
pr

ov
id

ed
at

th
is

tim
e,

ho
w

ev
er

re
ve

ge
ta

tio
n

of
te

m
po

ra
ril

y
di

st
ur

be
d

ar
ea

s,
in

cl
ud

in
g

fo
r

gr
ee

nw
ay

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n,

sh
ou

ld
be

do
ne

as
so

on
as

pr
ac

tic
ab

le
fo

llo
w

in
g

di
st

ur
ba

nc
e

to
m

in
im

iz
e

co
lo

ni
za

tio
n

of
in

va
siv

e
sp

ec
ie

s. 

N
ot

 R
eq

ui
re

d

j)
A

 c
op

y 
of

 a
ny

 a
pp

lic
ab

le
 fe

de
ra

l a
nd

 p
ro

vi
nc

ia
l a

pp
ro

va
ls.

 
Pr

ov
in

ci
al

ap
pr

ov
al

sw
ill

be
re

qu
ire

d
fo

rp
ot

ab
le

w
at

er
th

ro
ug

h
th

e
W
at
er
Su
sta
in
ab
ili
ty
A
ct

fo
r

w
at

er
ex

tra
ct

ed
fro

m
th

e
gr

ou
nd

,
an

d
se

w
er

th
ro

ug
h

th
e
W
as
te
M
an
ag
em
en
t
A
ct.

Th
e

W
SA

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n

w
ill

be
su

bm
itt

ed
fo

llo
w

in
g

ac
qu

isi
tio

n
of

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

ar
ea

by
th

e
ap

pl
ic

an
t

(e
st

im
at

ed
as

Se
pt

em
be

r
30

,
20

19
),

as
re

qu
ire

d
by

th
e

pr
ov

in
ce

.F
ur

th
er

,n
o

w
at

er
w

ill
be

w
ith

dr
aw

n 
at

 th
is 

ph
as

e.

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n D

P
A

#
1 

E
P

 G
u

id
el

in
es

 –
 G

en
er

al
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

Th
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

bi
o-

in
ve

nt
or

y 
is 

us
ed

 to
 c

re
at

e 
th

e 
sit

e 
pl

an
. T

he
 si

te
 p

la
n 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
m

us
t i

nc
lu

de
: 

Page 115 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
5 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
C

on
ti

n
u

ed
. 

 
 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
5

A
Q

ua
lif

ie
d

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l
Pr

of
es

sio
na

l
w

ill
be

re
ta

in
ed

to
en

su
re

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

is
co

nd
uc

te
d

in
ac

co
rd

an
ce

w
ith

th
e

D
ev

el
op

m
en

tP
er

m
it,

th
e

bi
oi

nv
en

to
ry

,a
nd

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
BM

P'
s.

Th
e

Q
E

P
w

ill
co

nd
uc

ts
ur

ve
ys

fo
ra

ct
iv

e
bi

rd
ne

st
s

an
d

ot
he

r
w

ild
lif

e
w

ith
lo

w
m

ot
ili

ty
(i.

e.
,a

m
ph

ib
ia

ns
an

d
re

pt
ile

s)
pr

io
r

to
an

y
ve

ge
ta

tio
n

re
m

ov
al

or
gr

ub
bi

ng
in

th
e

br
ee

di
ng

bi
rd

se
as

on
 (A

pr
il 

15
 - 

A
ug

us
t 3

1)
, a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
ns

 5
. 

Co
m

pl
et

e

6
a)

A
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l a

ss
es

sm
en

t a
nd

 re
po

rt 
on

 th
e 

da
m

ag
e 

in
cu

rre
d 

al
on

g 
w

ith
 re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

m
iti

ga
tio

ns
;

N
o 

E
SA

s w
er

e 
fo

un
d 

to
 o

cc
ur

 o
n 

th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

. H
ow

ev
er

, a
 

Q
E

P 
w

ill
 b

e 
re

ta
in

ed
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t i

s c
on

du
ct

ed
 in

 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 w
ith

 th
e 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
er

m
it,

 th
e 

bi
oi

nv
en

to
ry

, 
an

d 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 B
M

P'
s. 

If 
da

m
ag

e 
oc

cu
rs

 to
 a

n 
E

SA
 th

e 
Q

E
P 

w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
n 

as
se

ss
m

en
t o

f t
he

 d
am

ag
e 

an
d 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

m
iti

ga
tio

ns
, a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

5.

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
Fu

ll 
m

iti
ga

tio
n 

an
d 

re
ha

bi
lit

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

im
pa

ct
ed

 E
SA

.
If 

da
m

ag
e 

oc
cu

rs
 to

 a
n 

E
SA

, t
he

 Q
E

P 
w

ill
 o

ve
rs

ee
 m

iti
ga

tio
n 

an
d 

re
ha

bi
lit

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

im
pa

ct
ed

 E
SA

.
Co

m
pl

et
e

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n

Pa
rti

al
 - 

fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

D
P

A
#

1 
E

P
 G

u
id

el
in

es
 –

 G
en

er
al

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

ts

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
 se

rv
ic

in
g 

sh
ou

ld
 fo

llo
w

 th
e 

BM
Ps

 a
nd

 re
fle

ct
 th

e 
ob

je
ct

iv
es

 a
nd

 g
ui

de
lin

es
 o

f S
to

rm
w

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t: 

A
 

G
ui

de
bo

ok
 fo

r B
rit

ish
 C

ol
um

bi
a 

an
d 

D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l G

ui
de

lin
es

 fo
r U

rb
an

 a
nd

 R
ur

al
 L

an
d 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t i
n 

Br
iti

sh
 C

ol
um

bi
a 

(S
ec

tio
n 

3 
- G

ui
de

lin
es

 fo
r 

E
co

sy
st

em
s a

nd
 S

pe
ci

es
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
an

d 
Se

ct
io

n 
4)

, a
s p

er
 

Se
ct

io
n 

5.
2.

 N
o 

aq
ua

tic
 e

co
sy

st
em

 a
re

as
 o

r f
ea

tu
re

s o
cc

ur
 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a 
th

us
 th

e 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 li
st

ed
 g

ui
da

nc
e 

do
es

 
no

t a
pp

ly
. 

D
ev

el
op

w
ith

Ca
re

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lG
ui

de
lin

es
fo

r
U

rb
an

an
d

Ru
ra

lL
an

d
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

in
Br

iti
sh

Co
lu

m
bi

a
(S

ec
tio

n
3

-
G

ui
de

lin
es

fo
r

E
co

sy
st

em
s

an
d

Sp
ec

ie
s

Pr
ot

ec
tio

n
an

d
Se

ct
io

n
4)

,A
cc

es
s

N
ea

rA
qu

at
ic

A
re

as
:A

G
ui

de
to

Se
ns

iti
ve

Pl
an

ni
ng

,D
es

ig
n

an
d

M
an

ag
em

en
t

an
d 

ot
he

r b
es

t m
an

ag
em

en
t p

ra
ct

ic
es

 g
ui

de
s p

ro
du

ce
d 

by
 th

e 
pr

ov
in

ci
al

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t.

7
D

ev
el

op
m

en
td

es
ig

n
m

us
tr

ef
le

ct
th

e
ob

je
ct

iv
es

an
d

gu
id

el
in

es
of

th
e

St
an

da
rd

sa
nd

Be
st

Pr
ac

tic
es

fo
rI

ns
tre

am
W

or
ks

,L
an

d 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

G
ui

de
lin

es
 fo

r t
he

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

of
 A

qu
at

ic
 H

ab
ita

t, 
St

or
m

w
at

er
 M

an
ag

em
en

t: 
A

 G
ui

de
bo

ok
 fo

r B
rit

ish
 C

ol
um

bi
a.

Sh
ou

ld
 d

am
ag

e 
oc

cu
r t

o 
an

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lly
 se

ns
iti

ve
 a

re
a 

du
rin

g 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t, 
th

e 
V

ill
ag

e 
sh

al
l r

eq
ui

re
, a

t t
he

 d
ev

el
op

er
’s 

co
st

: 

A
s a

 c
on

di
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t p

er
m

it 
an

d 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

bi
o-

in
ve

nt
or

y 
fo

r t
he

 p
ro

je
ct

, t
he

 V
ill

ag
e 

m
ay

 re
qu

ire
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

of
 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t b

y 
a 

qu
al

ifi
ed

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l s
uc

h 
as

 a
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l e

ng
in

ee
r o

r b
io

lo
gi

st
. 

Page 116 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
6 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
C

on
ti

n
u

ed
. 

 
 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
8

a)
Su

pp
or

ts
 th

e 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 a

nd
 re

st
or

at
io

n 
of

 n
at

ur
al

 sy
st

em
 fu

nc
tio

ns
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

w
at

er
co

ur
se

, a
nd

 g
ro

un
dw

at
er

 re
ch

ar
ge

; h
yd

ro
lo

gy
N

o
w

at
er

co
ur

se
s

oc
cu

r
in

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

ar
ea

.
Ro

ad
sid

e
di

tc
he

s
w

ill
 b

e 
de

sig
ne

d 
to

 m
ax

im
iz

e 
in

fil
tra

tio
n,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

2 
. 

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
Pr

es
er

ve
s n

at
ur

al
 fe

at
ur

es
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

so
il,

 w
at

er
co

ur
se

s, 
gr

ou
nd

w
at

er
, a

nd
 n

at
iv

e 
sh

ru
bs

, g
ro

un
dc

ov
er

 a
nd

 tr
ee

 c
ov

er
; 

Th
e

su
bd

iv
isi

on
w

ill
in

cl
ud

e
gr

ou
nd

di
st

ur
ba

nc
e

fo
rs

er
vi

ci
ng

an
d

gr
ee

nw
ay

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n.

N
at

ur
al

fe
at

ur
es

or
th

e
fu

nc
tio

ns
of

na
tu

ra
l

fe
at

ur
es

w
ill

be
pr

es
er

ve
d

w
he

re
fe

as
ib

le
an

d/
or

pl
an

ne
d,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

1.
 

Co
m

pl
et

e

c)
M

ai
nt

ai
ns

 c
on

ne
ct

iv
ity

 a
nd

 li
nk

ag
es

 w
ith

 a
dj

ac
en

t s
en

sit
iv

e 
ec

os
ys

te
m

s a
nd

 o
th

er
 h

ab
ita

t a
re

as
 a

nd
 m

in
im

iz
es

 fr
ag

m
en

ta
tio

n;
 

N
o

se
ns

iti
ve

ec
os

ys
te

m
s

or
im

po
rta

nt
ha

bi
ta

t
ar

ea
s

w
er

e
de

te
ct

ed
on

or
im

m
ed

ia
te

ly
ad

ja
ce

nt
to

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
ta

re
a,

as
pe

r
Se

ct
io

n
4.

4
an

d
4.

5.
N

o
pa

rk
de

di
ca

tio
n

to
pr

ot
ec

t
co

nn
ec

tiv
ity

th
ro

ug
h

th
e

ar
ea

is
pr

ov
id

ed
by

th
e

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

as
th

e
pa

rk
de

di
ca

tio
n

is
be

in
g

al
ot

ed
to

a
gr

ee
nw

ay
fo

rh
um

an
tra

ve
l.

Pr
io

r
to

fu
tu

re
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t
in

th
e

ar
ea

,c
on

ne
ct

iv
ity

co
rri

do
rs

fo
r

w
ild

lif
e

be
tw

ee
n

ke
y

ha
bi

ta
ts

in
cl

ud
in

g
Co

m
ox

La
ke

an
d

M
or

ris
on

he
ad

w
at

er
s

sh
ou

ld
be

pl
an

ne
d

an
d

se
t

Co
m

pl
et

e

d)
Pr

ot
ec

ts
en

da
ng

er
ed

,t
hr

ea
te

ne
d,

or
vu

ln
er

ab
le

sp
ec

ie
s

or
pl

an
t

co
m

m
un

iti
es

by
av

oi
di

ng
di

st
ur

ba
nc

e
to

sit
es

w
he

re
ra

re
pl

an
ts

ar
e

gr
ow

in
g 

an
d 

w
he

re
 ra

re
 n

at
ur

al
 p

la
nt

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 o
cc

ur
; 

N
o

m
at

ur
e

co
m

m
un

iti
es

at
ris

k
or

ra
re

pl
an

ts
w

er
e

de
te

ct
ed

in
th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a 
as

 p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

4.
4.

Co
m

pl
et

e

e)
M

ai
nt

ai
ns

 c
rit

ic
al

 h
ab

ita
t s

tru
ct

ur
es

 su
ch

 a
s o

ld
 tr

ee
s, 

sn
ag

s, 
tre

es
 w

ith
 c

av
iti

es
, a

nd
 e

ph
em

er
al

 w
et

la
nd

s. 
N

o
cr

iti
ca

l
ha

bi
ta

t
st

ru
ct

ur
es

w
er

e
id

en
tif

ie
d

in
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t
ar

ea
, a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

4.
4.

Co
m

pl
et

e

9
N

o
m

at
ur

e
ve

ge
ta

tio
n

oc
cu

rs
in

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
ta

re
a

as
pe

rS
ec

tio
n

4.
4.

V
eg

et
at

io
n

w
ill

be
di

st
ur

be
d

fo
r

se
rv

ic
in

g
du

rin
g

su
bd

iv
isi

on
.Y

ou
ng

tre
es

th
at

w
er

e
le

ft
af

te
rt

he
pr

op
er

ty
w

as
la

st
lo

gg
ed

sh
ou

ld
be

le
ft

st
an

di
ng

ou
ts

id
e

of
th

e
fo

ot
pr

in
t

re
qu

ire
d 

fo
r c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

of
 se

rv
ic

in
g,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

4.
 

Co
m

pl
et

e

10
a)

Pr
es

er
ve

 b
ot

h 
th

e 
na

tu
ra

l v
eg

et
at

io
n 

an
d 

tre
e 

co
ve

r; 
or

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
Re

st
or

e 
hi

st
or

ic
al

 fo
re

st
 d

en
sit

ie
s a

nd
 h

yd
ro

lo
gi

ca
l f

un
ct

io
n.

Co
m

pl
et

e

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n

H
ist

or
ic

al
 fo

re
st

 d
en

sit
ie

s a
nd

 h
yd

ro
lo

gi
ca

l f
un

ct
io

n 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
re

st
or

ed
 a

s t
he

 P
ro

je
ct

 a
re

a 
is 

zo
ne

d 
fo

r a
nd

 p
la

nn
ed

 to
 b

e 
an

 
in

du
st

ria
l a

re
a.

 H
ow

ev
er

, B
M

Ps
 fo

r s
to

rm
w

at
er

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

w
ill

 b
e 

fo
llo

w
ed

 to
 m

in
im

iz
e 

al
te

ra
tio

n 
to

 h
yd

ro
lo

gi
ca

l 
fu

nc
tio

n,
 a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

5.
2.

 

D
P

A
#

1 
E

P
 G

u
id

el
in

es
 –

 G
en

er
al

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

ts

Re
ta

in
 m

at
ur

e 
ve

ge
ta

tio
n 

w
he

re
ve

r p
os

sib
le

 a
nd

 in
co

rp
or

at
e 

it 
in

to
 th

e 
de

sig
n 

of
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t. 

D
em

on
st

ra
te

 th
at

 a
 d

ili
ge

nt
 e

ffo
rt 

ha
s b

ee
n 

m
ad

e 
in

 si
te

 d
es

ig
n 

to
: 

Pl
an

, d
es

ig
n,

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t l
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t a
nd

 su
bd

iv
isi

on
 in

 a
 m

an
ne

r t
ha

t: 

Page 117 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
7 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
C

on
ti

n
u

ed
. 

 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
11

N
o

sp
ec

ifi
c

ne
st

in
g

sit
es

or
br

ee
di

ng
ar

ea
s

w
er

e
id

en
tif

ie
d

in
or

im
m

ed
ia

te
ly

ad
ja

ce
nt

to
th

e
Pr

oj
ec

t
ar

ea
as

pe
r

Se
ct

io
n

4.
5.

N
ev

er
th

el
es

s,
al

l
w

or
k

sh
ou

ld
be

co
m

pl
et

ed
ou

ts
id

e
of

th
e

br
ee

di
ng

bi
rd

se
as

on
(M

ar
ch

15
-

A
ug

us
t

31
)

in
or

de
r

to
m

in
im

iz
e

po
te

nt
ia

l
im

pa
ct

s
to

w
ild

lif
e.

If
w

or
k

ca
nn

ot
be

co
m

pl
et

ed
ou

ts
id

e
of

th
e

br
ee

di
ng

bi
rd

se
as

on
,

th
en

pr
e-

cl
ea

rin
g

su
rv

ey
s

fo
r

ac
tiv

e
bi

rd
ne

st
s

an
d

ot
he

r
w

ild
lif

e
w

ith
lo

w
m

ot
ili

ty
(i.

e.
,a

m
ph

ib
ia

ns
an

d
re

pt
ile

s)
w

ill
be

co
nd

uc
te

d
an

d
pr

ot
ec

tiv
e

bu
ffe

rs
m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d
ar

ou
nd

ac
tiv

e
ne

st
in

g
sit

es
an

d
br

ee
di

ng
ar

ea
s,

as
di

re
ct

ed
by

a
Q

E
P.

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

fo
r a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 ti

m
in

g 
of

 w
or

ks
, a

nd
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
m

iti
ga

tio
ns

, a
re

 
pr

ov
id

ed
 in

 S
ec

tio
ns

 5
.5

.

Co
m

pl
et

e

12
a)

O
ut

sid
e 

of
 k

no
w

n 
w

ild
lif

e 
m

ig
ra

tio
n 

se
as

on
s.

N
o

hi
gh

or
m

od
er

at
e

va
lu

e
m

ig
ra

tio
n

ha
bi

ta
tw

as
de

te
ct

ed
in

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
4.

5.
 

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
O

ut
sid

e
of

br
ee

di
ng

,b
irt

hi
ng

,a
nd

re
ar

in
g

se
as

on
s(

re
fe

rt
o

Se
ct

io
n

4
of

20
12

D
ev

el
op

w
ith

Ca
re

M
an

ua
lf

or
br

ee
di

ng
se

as
on

le
as

tr
isk

w
in

do
w

s)
. 

A
ll

w
or

k
sh

ou
ld

be
co

m
pl

et
ed

ou
ts

id
e

of
th

e
br

ee
di

ng
bi

rd
se

as
on

(M
ar

ch
15

-A
ug

us
t3

1)
in

or
de

rt
o

m
in

im
iz

e
im

pa
ct

st
o

w
ild

lif
e.

If
w

or
k

ca
nn

ot
be

co
m

pl
et

ed
ou

ts
id

e
of

th
e

br
ee

di
ng

bi
rd

se
as

on
,t

he
n

pr
e-

cl
ea

rin
g

ne
st

an
d

sm
al

l
w

ild
lif

e
sw

ee
ps

w
ill

be
co

nd
uc

te
d

an
d

pr
ot

ec
tiv

e
bu

ffe
rs

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d

ar
ou

nd
ac

tiv
e

ne
st

s,
as

di
re

ct
ed

by
a

Q
E

P.
A

ll
w

ild
lif

e
sig

ht
in

gs
sh

ou
ld

be
pr

ov
id

ed
to

th
e

Q
E

P.
Re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
fo

r
ap

pr
op

ria
te

tim
in

g
of

w
or

ks
,

an
d

as
so

ci
at

ed
m

iti
ga

tio
ns

,
ar

e
pr

ov
id

ed
 in

 S
ec

tio
ns

 5
.5

. 

Co
m

pl
et

e

13
Th

er
e

ar
e

no
Te

rre
st

ria
lo

r
A

qu
at

ic
E

co
sy

st
em

ar
ea

s
ad

ja
ce

nt
to

 th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t A

re
a 

as
 p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
4 

an
d 

M
ap

 4
. 

Co
m

pl
et

e

14
N

o
re

st
ric

te
d

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

or
bu

ffe
r

zo
ne

s
id

en
tif

ie
d

on
or

ad
ja

ce
nt

 to
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a,
 a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

5.
N

/A

15
N

o 
lig

ht
in

g 
w

ill
 b

e 
in

st
al

le
d 

fo
r t

he
 su

bd
iv

isi
on

. 
Co

m
pl

et
e

16
N

o 
fe

nc
in

g 
w

ill
 b

e 
in

st
al

le
d 

fo
r t

he
 su

bd
iv

isi
on

. 
Co

m
pl

et
e

17
Su

bd
iv

isi
on

se
rv

ic
in

g
an

d
sit

e
de

sig
n

w
ill

fo
llo

w
BM

P'
s

fo
r

ra
in

w
at

er
m

an
ag

em
en

t.
Sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

,r
oa

ds
an

d
di

tc
he

s
w

ill
be

de
sig

ne
d

to
m

an
ag

e
m

os
t

ra
in

w
at

er
on

sit
e

an
d

m
ai

nt
ai

n
pr

e-
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t i
nf

ilt
ra

tio
n,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

2.
 

Co
m

pl
et

e

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n D

P
A

#
1 

E
P

 G
u

id
el

in
es

 –
 G

en
er

al
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

A
ny

fe
nc

in
g

sh
ou

ld
be

de
sig

ne
d

ac
co

rd
in

g
to

th
e

gu
id

el
in

es
de

sc
rib

ed
in

A
La

nd
ow

ne
rs

G
ui

de
to

W
ild

lif
e

Fr
ie

nd
ly

Fe
nc

es
:H

ow
to

Bu
ild

Fe
nc

e 
w

ith
 W

ild
lif

e 
in

 M
in

d,
 M

on
ta

na
 F

ish
 W

ild
lif

e 
an

d 
Pa

rk
s.

M
an

ag
e

ra
in

w
at

er
in

ac
co

rd
an

ce
w

ith
th

e
W

at
er

Ba
la

nc
e

M
od

el
or

th
e

m
os

tr
ec

en
t

in
te

gr
at

ed
w

at
er

sh
ed

m
an

ag
em

en
to

r
ra

in
w

at
er

po
lic

y
an

d 
de

sig
n 

m
an

ua
l. 

Th
is 

in
cl

ud
es

 m
an

ag
in

g 
ra

in
w

at
er

 o
n 

sit
e 

an
d 

m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 p
re

-d
ev

el
op

m
en

t d
ra

in
ag

e 
flo

w
s.

Sc
he

du
le

 w
or

k 
du

rin
g 

tim
es

 w
he

n 
im

pa
ct

s t
o 

w
ild

lif
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

m
in

im
al

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
:

Pr
es

er
ve

ex
ist

in
g

an
d

po
te

nt
ia

l
co

nn
ec

tio
ns

to
ad

ja
ce

nt
Te

rre
st

ria
l,

A
qu

at
ic

an
d

Co
nn

ec
tiv

ity
A

re
as

by
m

ai
nt

ai
ni

ng
na

tiv
e

sh
ru

b,
gr

ou
nd

co
ve

r a
nd

 tr
ee

 c
ov

er
 b

et
w

ee
n 

ha
bi

ta
ts

. 
Pr

ev
en

t
fo

re
ig

n
m

at
er

ia
l

fro
m

en
te

rin
g

in
to

an
y

re
st

ric
te

d
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t
ar

ea
s,

in
cl

ud
in

g—
w

ith
ou

t
lim

ita
tio

n—
gr

ea
se

s,
oi

ls,
ga

so
lin

e,
se

di
m

en
ts

, a
nd

 o
th

er
 c

on
ta

m
in

an
ts

 d
ur

in
g 

an
d 

af
te

r t
he

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
ph

as
e 

of
 th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

D
es

ig
n 

lig
ht

in
g 

on
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
ts

 to
 p

ro
vi

de
 th

e 
m

in
im

um
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

 fo
r s

af
et

y 
pu

rp
os

es
 a

nd
 to

 a
vo

id
 li

gh
t i

nt
ru

sio
n 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
pa

rc
el

.

Pr
ev

en
td

ist
ur

ba
nc

e
of

ne
st

in
g

sit
es

an
d

br
ee

di
ng

ar
ea

s.
A

ni
m

al
s

m
us

th
av

e
ac

ce
ss

to
th

e
ha

bi
ta

tt
ha

ts
up

po
rts

th
ei

rr
ep

ro
du

ct
io

n
in

or
de

r
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

fu
tu

re
 g

en
er

at
io

ns
. 

Page 118 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
8 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 1

. 
C

on
ti

n
u

ed
. 

 
 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.5
18

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t w
ill

 n
ot

 e
nc

ro
ac

h 
on

 la
nd

 o
ut

sid
e 

of
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t 
ar

ea
, u

nl
es

s p
er

m
iss

io
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 in
 w

rit
in

g 
by

 la
nd

ow
ne

r. 
Cu

rre
nt

ly
 e

nc
ro

ac
he

m
en

t i
s p

la
nn

ed
 fo

r a
 h

am
m

er
he

ad
 in

 th
e 

V
ill

ag
e 

RO
W

 a
s p

er
 th

e 
D

ra
w

in
g.

-

19
N

o
re

st
ric

te
d

de
ve

lo
pm

en
to

rb
uf

fe
rz

on
es

ar
e

id
en

tif
ie

d
in

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

N
/A

20
N

o
m

at
ur

e
tre

es
ex

ist
on

th
e

pr
op

er
ty

.Y
ou

ng
tre

es
(i.

e.
,3

0-
80

ye
ar

s
ol

d)
th

at
w

ill
no

t
be

re
m

ov
ed

fo
r

th
e

fa
ci

lit
y

w
ill

be
pr

ot
ec

te
d

fro
m

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n

ac
tiv

iti
es

.
Tr

ee
s

th
at

ar
e

w
ith

in
pl

an
ne

d
re

te
nt

io
n

ar
ea

s
w

ill
be

pr
ot

ec
te

d
w

ith
or

an
ge

dr
ift

fe
nc

e 
as

 p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

4.
4.

 

Co
m

pl
et

e

21
a)

M
in

im
iz

e 
th

e 
im

pa
ct

s o
f r

ec
re

at
io

na
l u

se
 o

n 
re

st
ric

te
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t z

on
es

 a
nd

 a
dj

ac
en

t n
at

ur
al

 a
re

as
 a

nd
 sy

st
em

s;
N

o
re

st
ric

te
d

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

zo
ne

s
ex

ist
in

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

ar
ea

.
Re

cr
ea

tio
na

l
us

e
w

ill
be

re
st

ric
te

d
to

th
e

gr
ee

nw
ay

lo
ca

tio
n

ch
os

en
by

th
e

V
ill

ag
e,

as
pe

r
M

ap
2.

N
o

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

of
na

tu
ra

l a
re

as
 is

 in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
sit

e 
pl

an
.

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
A

dh
er

e 
to

 th
e 

V
ill

ag
e’

s t
ra

il 
an

d 
pa

th
w

ay
 d

es
ig

n 
an

d 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n 
pr

ac
tic

es
 fo

r E
SA

D
P 

A
re

as
;

Th
e

gr
ee

nw
ay

w
ill

ad
he

re
to

th
e

V
ill

ag
e's

tra
il

an
d

pa
th

w
ay

de
sig

n
an

d
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n
pr

ac
tic

es
fo

r
E

SA
D

P
A

re
as

,
as

pe
r

Se
ct

io
n 

5.

Co
m

pl
et

e

c)
Be

 d
es

ig
ne

d 
to

 p
re

ve
nt

 m
ot

or
iz

ed
 v

eh
ic

le
 u

se
 to

 th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 e
xt

en
t p

os
sib

le
.

Th
e

su
bd

iv
isi

on
is

zo
ne

d
in

du
st

ria
l

an
d

re
qu

ire
s

m
ot

or
iz

ed
ve

hi
cl

e
us

e.
Th

er
e

is
a

de
di

ca
te

d
gr

ee
nw

ay
th

at
w

ill
fa

ci
lit

at
e

ac
ce

ss
 b

y 
al

te
rn

at
e 

m
et

ho
ds

.

Co
m

pl
et

e

22
N

o
w

at
er

co
ur

se
or

rip
ar

ia
n

bu
ffe

r
zo

ne
s

oc
cu

r
in

th
e

Pr
oj

ec
t

ar
ea

 o
r i

n 
th

e 
ne

ar
 v

ic
in

ity
, a

s p
er

 S
ec

tio
n 

4.
3 

an
d 

M
ap

's 
2-

4.
N

/A

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n D

P
A

#
1 

E
P

 G
u

id
el

in
es

 –
 G

en
er

al
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

W
he

n
es

ta
bl

ish
in

g
w

at
er

co
ur

se
an

d
rip

ar
ia

n
bu

ffe
r

zo
ne

s,
co

ns
id

er
th

e
ne

ed
s

of
al

l
sp

ec
ie

s
an

d
no

t
ju

st
fis

h.
Fo

r
ex

am
pl

e,
SP

E
A

s
es

ta
bl

ish
ed

us
in

g
th

e
Ri

pa
ria

n
A

re
as

Re
gu

la
tio

n
m

et
ho

do
lo

gy
fo

cu
so

n
th

e
ne

ed
so

fs
al

m
on

an
d

tro
ut

an
d

m
ay

no
ta

de
qu

at
el

y
pr

ot
ec

to
th

er
sp

ec
ie

s s
uc

h 
as

 a
m

ph
ib

ia
ns

, b
ird

s, 
an

d 
sm

al
l m

am
m

al
s.

E
nc

ro
ac

hm
en

t
in

to
th

e
D

PA
by

al
ld

ev
el

op
m

en
t

ac
tiv

iti
es

w
ill

no
t

ex
ce

ed
th

at
in

di
ca

te
d

in
th

e
sit

e
pl

an
ap

pr
ov

ed
in

th
e

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

pe
rm

it.
A

ll
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ta
ct

iv
iti

es
w

ill
av

oi
d

or
m

in
im

iz
e

di
st

ur
ba

nc
e

in
th

e
D

PA
be

yo
nd

th
e

bu
ild

in
g

fo
ot

pr
in

t.
Th

is
m

ay
m

ea
n

ad
ju

st
in

g
co

nv
en

tio
na

l
pr

ac
tic

es
w

ith
re

sp
ec

t
to

lo
ca

tin
g

m
ac

hi
ne

ry
an

d
st

oc
kp

ile
s

re
la

tiv
e

to
ex

ca
va

tio
ns

,
us

e
of

ha
nd

la
bo

ur
as

op
po

se
d

to
m

ac
hi

ne
ry

, e
tc

.

Pr
io

rt
o

an
y

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ta

ct
iv

ity
,t

he
bo

un
da

rie
so

fr
es

tri
ct

ed
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ta
nd

bu
ffe

rz
on

es
id

en
tif

ie
d

in
th

e
bi

o-
in

ve
nt

or
y

w
ill

be
cl

ea
rly

m
ar

ke
d

w
ith

a
br

ig
ht

or
an

ge
or

ot
he

r
hi

gh
ly

vi
sib

le
te

m
po

ra
ry

fe
nc

e
w

ith
a

m
in

im
um

he
ig

ht
of

1.
2

m
et

er
s

an
d

su
pp

or
te

d
by

po
le

s
a

m
ax

im
um

di
st

an
ce

of
2.

5
m

et
er

s
fro

m
on

e
an

ot
he

r.
Th

is
fe

nc
e

w
ill

re
m

ai
n

in
pl

ac
e

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
cl

ea
rin

g,
sit

e
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n,
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n,
or

an
y 

ot
he

r f
or

m
 o

f d
ist

ur
ba

nc
e.

A
ny

 tr
ai

l o
r p

at
hw

ay
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t m

us
t:

E
ns

ur
e

th
at

th
e

ro
ot

so
ft

re
es

ar
e

pr
ot

ec
te

d
du

rin
g

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n.

Th
e

ro
ot

so
fm

at
ur

e
tre

es
ty

pi
ca

lly
ex

te
nd

fro
m

1–
3

tim
es

th
e

he
ig

ht
of

th
e

tre
e

fro
m

th
e

tre
e’

st
ru

nk
an

d
ar

e
fo

un
d

w
ith

in
30

.5
–3

8.
1

ce
nt

im
et

er
so

ft
he

so
il

su
rfa

ce
.D

am
ag

e
to

th
es

e
ro

ot
s

(e
sp

ec
ia

lly
in

m
at

ur
e

tre
es

)
ca

n
im

pe
de

th
e

tre
e’

s
ab

ili
ty

to
ob

ta
in

w
at

er
an

d
nu

tri
tio

n
an

d
ca

n
ca

us
e

it
to

fa
ll

or
bl

ow
ov

er
.C

om
m

un
ic

at
e

tre
e

pr
ot

ec
tio

n
pl

an
s

to
ev

er
yo

ne
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 th
e 

pr
oj

ec
t.

Page 119 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
n

d
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
 B

io
-i

n
ve

n
to

ry
 –

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

P
ag

e 
9 

14
13

-0
1 

T
ab

le
 2

. 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

P
er

m
it

 A
re

a 
#

1 
E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 G

u
id

el
in

es
 –

 C
on

n
ec

ti
vi

ty
 A

re
as

. 

 

D
P

 L
an

g
u

ag
e

A
d

d
re

ss
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

or
t

St
at

u
s

10
.1

.6
.3

1
a)

Lo
ca

te
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t w

ith
in

 th
e 

pa
rc

el
 w

he
re

 it
 w

ill
 c

au
se

 th
e 

le
as

t i
m

pa
ct

 to
 n

at
ur

al
 h

ab
ita

t a
nd

 th
e 

m
ov

em
en

t o
f n

at
iv

e 
fa

un
a 

be
tw

ee
n 

ad
ja

ce
nt

 a
re

as
Th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a 
is 

co
m

pr
ise

d 
of

 re
la

tiv
el

y 
un

ifo
rm

 e
co

lo
gi

ca
l 

ch
ar

ac
te

ris
tic

s. 
Th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t m
ak

es
 u

se
 o

f e
xi

st
in

g 
di

st
ur

ba
nc

e.
 F

ut
ur

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t i
n 

Be
va

n 
ar

ea
 sh

ou
ld

 in
cl

ud
e 

de
di

ca
te

d 
ar

ea
s f

or
 w

ild
lif

e 
m

ov
em

en
t t

hr
ou

gh
 w

at
er

sh
ed

.

Co
m

pl
et

e

b)
N

ew
 ro

ad
 d

ev
el

o p
m

en
t w

ith
in

 C
on

ne
ct

iv
ity

 A
re

as
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

av
oi

de
d 

to
 th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 e

xt
en

t p
os

sib
le

Ro
ad

s h
av

e 
be

en
 m

in
im

iz
ed

 to
 th

e 
ex

te
nt

 p
os

sib
le

.
Co

m
pl

et
e

c)
If 

ne
w

 ro
ad

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t c
an

no
t b

e 
av

oi
de

d,
 th

e 
le

ng
th

 a
nd

 w
id

th
 o

f r
oa

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t m
us

t b
e 

m
in

im
iz

ed
 a

nd
:

Ro
ad

s h
av

e 
be

en
 m

in
im

iz
ed

 to
 th

e 
ex

te
nt

 p
os

sib
le

.
Co

m
pl

et
e

i)
A

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 w

ild
lif

e 
cr

os
sin

g 
in

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

as
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
m

iti
ga

tio
n 

m
ea

su
re

s d
es

cr
ib

ed
 in

 th
e 

bi
o-

in
ve

nt
or

y 
m

us
t b

e 
de

sig
ne

d 
an

d 
in

st
al

le
d,

 u
sin

g 
be

st
 p

ra
ct

ic
es

 fo
r m

iti
ga

tin
g 

th
e 

ef
fe

ct
s o

f r
oa

ds
 o

n 
lo

ca
l s

pe
ci

es
 

Sp
ee

d 
lim

its
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

se
t a

nd
 p

os
te

d 
to

 m
in

im
iz

e 
th

e 
lik

el
ih

oo
d 

of
 c

ol
lis

io
ns

 w
ith

 w
ild

lif
e,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

5.
Co

m
pl

et
e

ii)
E

st
ab

lis
h 

W
ild

lif
e 

Tr
af

fic
 Z

on
es

 w
ith

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 tr
af

fic
 w

ar
ni

ng
 si

gn
ag

e 
an

d 
re

du
ce

d 
sp

ee
ds

 to
 m

iti
ga

te
 d

an
ge

rs
 to

 th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 a

nd
 

w
ild

lif
e 

m
or

ta
lit

y 
th

re
at

s 
A

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 sp

ee
d 

lim
its

 (2
0 

km
/ 

hr
) w

ill
 b

e 
po

st
ed

 to
 m

iti
ga

te
 

da
ng

er
s t

o 
hu

m
an

s a
nd

 w
ild

lif
e,

 a
s p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

5.
Co

m
pl

et
e

d)
Th

e 
lo

ca
tio

n 
of

 re
cr

ea
tio

na
l t

ra
ils

 a
nd

 p
at

hw
ay

s s
ha

ll 
be

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 c

ur
re

nt
 B

es
t M

an
ag

em
en

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 in

 B
rit

ish
 C

ol
um

bi
a,

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

bu
t n

ot
 li

m
ite

d 
to

 D
ev

el
op

 w
ith

 C
ar

e 
20

12
–E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l G

ui
de

lin
es

 fo
r U

rb
an

 a
nd

 R
ur

al
 L

an
d 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

ts
 in

 B
rit

ish
 

Co
lu

m
bi

a 
an

d 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l B

es
t M

an
ag

em
en

t P
ra

ct
ic

es
 fo

r U
rb

an
 a

nd
 R

ur
al

 la
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t (
Se

ct
io

n 
3 

Si
te

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
nd

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 F
ac

t S
he

et
 #

5-
Pa

rk
s)

. 

Th
e 

Be
va

n 
gr

ee
nw

ay
 w

ill
 b

e 
co

ns
tru

ct
ed

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 

cu
rre

nt
 b

es
t m

an
ag

em
en

t p
ra

ct
ic

es
 a

nd
 V

ill
ag

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
, 

as
 p

er
 S

ec
tio

n 
5.

 

-

e)
To

 th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 e
xt

en
t p

os
sib

le
, t

he
 d

ist
rib

ut
io

n 
an

d 
in

te
ns

ity
 o

f n
at

iv
e 

ve
ge

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
co

ve
r s

ho
ul

d 
be

 m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
. 

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
, s

er
vi

ci
ng

 a
nd

 g
re

en
w

ay
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

w
ill

 c
au

se
 

gr
ou

nd
 d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e.
 T

he
 fu

nc
tio

n 
of

 n
at

ur
al

 c
ov

er
, s

uc
h 

as
 

in
fil

tra
tio

n 
w

ill
 b

e 
re

st
or

ed
 to

 th
e 

ex
te

nt
 p

os
sib

le

Co
m

pl
et

e

f)
Co

ns
er

ve
 tr

ee
s i

n 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 (g

ro
up

s o
f t

re
es

 a
lo

ng
 w

ith
 th

ei
r a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
un

de
rs

to
ry

) r
at

he
r t

ha
n 

iso
la

tin
g 

in
di

vi
du

al
 sp

ec
im

en
s. 

G
ro

up
s o

f t
re

es
 fo

rm
 a

 la
rg

er
 in

ta
ct

 e
co

sy
st

em
 a

nd
 a

re
 m

or
e 

lik
el

y 
to

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
th

e 
im

po
rta

nt
 c

ha
ra

ct
er

ist
ic

s o
f t

he
 e

co
sy

st
em

 o
ve

r t
im

e 
th

an
 a

 fe
w

 sc
at

te
re

d 
tre

es
. H

ow
ev

er
, s

om
e 

ec
os

ys
te

m
s a

re
 c

ha
ra

ct
er

iz
ed

 b
y 

or
 m

ay
 c

on
ta

in
 so

m
e 

iso
la

te
d 

tre
es

 a
nd

 th
ei

r c
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
as

 w
el

l i
s i

m
po

rta
nt

. 

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
, s

er
vi

ci
ng

 a
nd

 g
re

en
w

ay
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

w
ill

 re
qu

ire
 

la
nd

 d
ist

ur
ba

nc
e.

 V
eg

et
at

ed
 a

re
as

 w
ill

 b
e 

pr
es

er
ve

d 
du

rin
g 

th
is 

ph
as

e 
w

he
re

 p
ra

ct
ic

ab
le

.

Co
m

pl
et

e

1 In
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n:
 'C

om
pl

et
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
an

d 
no

 fu
rth

er
 w

or
k 

is 
re

qu
ire

d,
 th

is 
m

ay
 b

e 
be

ca
us

e 
th

e 
w

or
k 

is 
co

m
pl

et
e 

an
d 

no
 fu

rth
er

 w
or

k 
is 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 b

ec
au

se
 a

ny
 ri

sk
 to

 p
ot

en
tia

l E
SA

's/
E

V
R'

s i
s l

ow
. '

N
/A

' m
ea

ns
 

th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 a
pp

ly
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
sit

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s t

ha
t t

he
 c

on
di

tio
n 

ap
pl

ie
s t

o 
ar

e 
no

t p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

sit
e,

 '-
' m

ea
ns

 th
at

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

 d
oe

s n
ot

 re
qu

ire
 a

ct
io

n 
or

 a
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
t t

hi
s t

im
e;

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
iti

ga
te

d;
 'P

ar
tia

l -
 fu

tu
re

 
ph

as
e' 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 b

io
-in

ve
nt

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
et

 fo
r t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ha
se

 b
ut

 n
ee

ds
 to

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 a

 fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

 in
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 d

et
ai

le
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t d

es
ig

n 
w

he
n 

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
es

ig
n 

de
ta

il 
be

co
m

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 fu

lly
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
co

nd
iti

on
; '

Fu
tu

re
 p

ha
se

' m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
de

ta
ile

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t d
es

ig
n 

is 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

co
nd

iti
on

. '
N

ot
 R

eq
ui

re
d'

 m
ea

ns
 th

is 
ha

s b
ee

n 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 st
at

ed
 b

y 
V

ill
ag

e 
st

af
f.

O
C

P
 

Se
ct

io
n D

P
A

#
1 

E
P

 S
u

p
p

le
m

en
ta

l G
u

id
el

in
es

 –
 C

on
n

ec
ti

vi
ty

 A
re

as
Th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 a
pp

ly
 to

 a
ll 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t p

er
m

it 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 in

 a
ll 

Co
nn

ec
tiv

ity
 A

re
as

.

Page 120 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix B  

1413-01  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B. Wildlife Habitat Plot Survey Data 

 

Page 121 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bioinventory – Appendix B Page i 

1413-01  

LIST OF TABLES 
Table 1. Site description data. ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Table 2. Ground cover data. ....................................................................................................................... 1 

Table 3. Soil characteristics data. ................................................................................................................ 2 

Table 4. Vegetation composition data. ...................................................................................................... 3 

 

Page 122 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

in
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 B
 

Pa
ge

 1 

14
13

-0
1

 

T
ab

le
 1.

 
Si

te
 d

es
cr

ip
tio

n 
da

ta
. 

 
 T

ab
le

 2
. 

G
ro

un
d 

co
ve

r d
at

a.
 

 
 

E
le

va
tio

n
(m

as
l)

TR
I-

W
H

P0
1

01
Le

ve
l

Lo
w

 S
hr

ub
E

st
ab

lis
hm

en
t

4
+

 (<
1%

)
1

fu
ll 

su
n

sm
oo

th
16

4
TR

I-
W

H
P0

2
01

Le
ve

l
Ta

ll 
Sh

ru
b

E
st

ab
lis

hm
en

t
7

+
 (<

1%
)

1
fu

ll 
su

n
sm

oo
th

16
4

TR
I-

W
H

P0
3

01
Le

ve
l

Lo
w

 S
hr

ub
E

st
ab

lis
hm

en
t

5
+

 (<
1%

)
1

fu
ll 

su
n

sm
oo

th
16

4

Si
te

Si
te

 
Se

rie
s

M
es

o 
Sl

op
e 

Po
si

tio
n

St
ru

ct
ur

al
 

St
ag

e
Se

ra
l S

ta
ge

E
st

im
at

ed
 

Ag
e 

(y
ea

rs
)

C
an

op
y 

C
lo

su
re

 S
lo

pe
 

(%
)

E
xp

os
ur

e
M

ic
ro

-
to

po
gr

ap
hy

R
oc

k
W

at
er

O
rg

an
ic

 
M

at
te

r
B

ed
ro

ck
M

in
er

al
 

So
il

D
ec

ay
in

g 
W

oo
d

TR
I-

W
H

P0
1

Tr
ac

e
N

il
N

il
N

il
 D

om
in

an
t

Su
bd

om
in

an
t

TR
I-

W
H

P0
2

N
il

N
il

Tr
ac

e
N

il
D

om
in

an
t

Su
bd

om
in

an
t

TR
I-

W
H

P0
3

N
il

N
il

Tr
ac

e
Su

bd
om

in
an

t
D

om
in

an
t

N
il

G
ro

un
d 

C
ov

er
 

Si
te

Page 123 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

in
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 B
 

Pa
ge

 2
 

14
13

-0
1

 

T
ab

le
 3

. 
So

il 
ch

ar
ac

te
ris

tic
s d

at
a.

 

 

Si
te

So
il 

M
oi

st
ur

e
So

il 
N

ut
rie

nt
So

il 
T

ex
tu

re
C

oa
rs

e 
Fr

ag
m

en
t

So
il 

C
ol

ou
r1

H
um

us
 F

or
m

C
om

m
en

t

TR
I-

W
H

P0
1

su
bm

es
ic

m
ed

iu
m

sil
t l

oa
m

65
-8

5%
m

ed
iu

m
(s

oi
l c

ol
or

 7
.5

 3
/4

)
Li

gn
om

od
or

Th
e 

hu
m

us
 fo

rm
 is

 ~
2 

cm
 F

H
 th

at
 is

 lo
os

e, 
fr

ia
bl

e 
an

d 
ha

s l
ow

 m
yc

el
ia

 c
on

te
nt

. T
he

 so
il 

w
as

 sl
ig

ht
ly

 
m

oi
st

, a
t t

im
e 

of
 su

rv
ey

 b
ut

 is
 v

er
y 

w
el

l d
ra

in
ed

 d
ue

 
to

 a
bu

nd
an

ce
 o

f c
oa

rs
e 

fr
ag

m
en

ts
 u

p 
to

 7
 c

m
 

di
am

et
er

.

TR
I-

W
H

P0
2

m
es

ic
m

ed
iu

m
sil

t l
oa

m
10

-3
5%

m
ed

iu
m

Li
gn

om
od

or
O

rg
an

ic
 la

ye
rs

 c
om

pr
ise

d 
of

 a
 8

 c
m

 L
FH

, m
os

tly
 

co
m

pr
ise

d 
of

 F
H

, t
ha

t w
as

 fr
ia

bl
e 

an
d 

w
oo

d 
w

ith
 

so
m

e 
ch

ar
co

al
. M

in
er

al
 so

ils
 c

re
at

e 
a 

st
ro

ng
er

 c
as

t 
th

an
 o

th
er

 si
te

s, 
th

e 
sit

e 
ha

s h
ig

he
r s

an
d 

co
nt

en
t t

ha
n 

ot
he

r s
ite

s a
nd

 m
or

e 
de

ep
er

 fi
ne

 ro
ot

s t
ha

n 
TR

I-
W

H
P0

1.

TR
I-

W
H

P0
3

su
bm

es
ic

m
ed

iu
m

sil
t l

oa
m

35
-6

5%
m

ed
iu

m
(s

oi
l c

ol
or

 7
.5

 3
/4

)
Li

gn
om

od
or

So
ils

 v
er

y 
sim

ila
r t

o 
TR

I-
W

H
P0

1,
 w

ith
 a

n 
ap

pr
ox

im
at

el
y 

2 
cm

 v
er

y 
fr

ia
bl

e 
FH

 o
ve

rla
yi

ng
 a

 B
 

la
ye

r. 
Sm

al
l g

ra
ve

ls 
pr

es
en

t.

1 So
il 

co
lo

r i
s t

he
 M

un
se

ll 
so

il 
co

lo
ur

 h
ue

 v
alu

e 
an

d 
ch

ro
m

a.

Page 124 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

in
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 B
 

Pa
ge

 3
 

14
13

-0
1

 

T
ab

le
 4

. 
Ve

ge
ta

tio
n 

co
m

po
si

tio
n 

da
ta

. 

 

Si
te

C
ov

er
ag

e
(%

)
D

om
in

an
t S

pe
ci

es
C

ov
er

ag
e

(%
)

D
om

in
an

t S
pe

ci
es

C
ov

er
ag

e
(%

)
D

om
in

an
t S

pe
ci

es
C

ov
er

ag
e

(%
)

D
om

in
an

t S
pe

ci
es

C
ov

er
ag

e
(%

)
D

om
in

an
t S

pe
ci

es

TR
I-

W
H

P0
1

1-
5%

sp
ar

se
 re

sid
ua

l w
hi

te
 

pi
ne

 ~
40

 y
ea

rs
 o

ld
1-

5%
w

es
te

rn
 re

dc
ed

ar
 

un
de

rs
to

ry
 re

te
nt

io
n;

 
de

ad
 c

on
ife

rs
 (n

ot
 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 c

ov
er

 
es

tim
at

e)

25
-5

0%
sa

lal
, O

re
go

n 
gr

ap
e, 

bl
ac

kc
ap

 ra
sp

be
rr

y, 
re

d 
hu

ck
le

be
rr

y

5-
25

%
tr

ail
in

g 
bl

ac
kb

er
ry

, 
gr

as
se

s a
nd

 sm
al

l 
se

dg
es

, t
w

in
flo

w
er

, 
fir

ew
ee

ds

5-
25

%
st

ep
 m

os
s, 

ot
he

rs

TR
I-

W
H

P0
2

1-
5%

w
hi

te
 p

in
e

5-
25

%
D

ou
gl

as
-fi

r, 
w

es
te

rn
 

he
m

lo
ck

, w
es

te
rn

 
re

dc
ed

ar
; d

ea
d 

w
oo

dy
 

sh
ru

bs
 (n

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 
co

ve
r e

st
im

at
es

)

25
-5

0%
sa

lal
, r

ed
 h

uc
kl

eb
er

ry
, 

D
ou

gl
as

-fi
r, 

O
re

go
n 

gr
ap

e

5-
25

%
br

ac
ke

n 
fe

rn
25

-5
0%

ste
p 

m
os

s, 
ot

he
rs

TR
I-

W
H

P0
3

1-
5%

w
es

te
rn

 re
dc

ed
ar

, 
w

hi
te

 p
in

e
0%

 - 
25

-5
0%

sa
lal

, r
ed

 h
uc

kl
eb

er
ry

, 
O

re
go

n 
gr

ap
e, 

D
ou

gl
as

-
fir

, w
es

te
rn

 h
em

lo
ck

, 
w

hi
te

 p
in

e

5-
25

%
 - 

25
-5

0%
ste

p 
m

os
s, 

ot
he

rs

T
re

es
T

al
l S

hr
ub

s
Sh

or
t S

hr
ub

s
H

er
bs

M
os

se
s a

nd
 L

ic
he

ns

Page 125 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix C 

1413-01  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C. Site Photos 

 

Page 126 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix C  Page i 

1413-01  

LIST OF FIGURES 
Figure 1. View north from plot centre, March 26, 2019. .................................................................. 1 

Figure 2. View southwest from plot centre, March 26, 2019. .......................................................... 1 

Figure 3. View of soils, March 26, 2019. ............................................................................................. 2 

Figure 5. View north from plot centre, March 26, 2019. .................................................................. 2 

Figure 6. View south from plot centre, March 26, 2019. .................................................................. 3 

Figure 7. View of B-layer soils, March 26, 2019. ................................................................................ 3 

Figure 8. View of organic soil layers, March 26, 2019. ...................................................................... 4 

Figure 9. View north from plot centre, March 26, 2019. .................................................................. 4 

Figure 10. View of soils, March 26, 2019. ............................................................................................. 5 

Figure 11. Largest tree on property, with evidence of woodpecker feeding and droppings indicating 
it has been used for avian perching, March 26, 2019. ....................................................... 5 

Page 127 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix C  Page 1 

1413-01  

1. TRI-WHP01 

Figure 1. View north from plot centre, March 26, 2019. 

 
 

Figure 2. View southwest from plot centre, March 26, 2019. 

 

Page 128 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix C  Page 2 

1413-01  

Figure 3. View of soils, March 26, 2019. 

 
 

 

2. TRI-WHP02 

Figure 4. View north from plot centre, March 26, 2019. 

 

Page 129 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix C  Page 3 

1413-01  

 

Figure 5. View south from plot centre, March 26, 2019. 

 
 

Figure 6. View of B-layer soils, March 26, 2019. 

 

Page 130 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix C  Page 4 

1413-01  

Figure 7. View of organic soil layers, March 26, 2019. 

 
 

3. TRI-WHP03 

Figure 8. View north from plot centre, March 26, 2019. 

 
 

Page 131 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bio-inventory – Appendix C  Page 5 

1413-01  

Figure 9. View of soils, March 26, 2019. 

 
 

Figure 10. Largest tree on property, with evidence of woodpecker feeding and droppings 
indicating it has been used for avian perching, March 26, 2019. 

 

Page 132 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bioinventory – Appendix D  

1413-01  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D. At-risk wildlife and plant species considered 

 

Page 133 of 358



Tree Island Subdivision Bioinventory – Appendix D Page i 

1413-01  

LIST OF TABLES 
Table 1. Avian species at risk within the CWH Biogeoclimatic Zone and Comox Valley Regional 

District (CDC 2019). ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Table 2. Herpetofauna and mammal species at risk within the CWH Biogeoclimatic Zone and 
Comox Valley Regional District (CDC 2019). .......................................................................... 2 

Table 3. Invertebrate species at risk within the CWH Biogeoclimatic Zone and Comox Valley 
Regional District (CDC 2019). .................................................................................................... 3 

Table 4. Plant species at risk within the CWH Biogeoclimatic Zone and Comox Valley Regional 
District (CDC 2019). ..................................................................................................................... 4 

 

Page 134 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

in
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 D
 

Pa
ge

 1 

14
13

-0
1

 

T
ab

le
 1.

 
Av

ia
n 

sp
ec

ie
s a

t r
is

k 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

CW
H

 B
io

ge
oc

lim
at

ic
 Z

on
e 

an
d 

Co
m

ox
 V

al
le

y 
R

eg
io

na
l D

is
tri

ct
 (C

D
C 

20
19

). 

 

Sc
ie

nt
ifi

c 
N

am
e

B
re

ed
in

g 
Pe

rio
d

O
ve

rw
in

te
rin

g 
Pe

rio
d

O
th

er
 (e

.g
., 

m
ig

ra
tin

g,
 

fo
ra

gi
ng

)

C
O

SE
W

IC
 

St
at

us
SA

R
A

 S
ta

tu
s

B
C

 L
is

t
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

W
ild

lif
e2

Ba
nd

-ta
ile

d 
Pi

ge
on

Pa
ta

gio
en

as
 fa

sci
at

a
M

od
er

at
e

Lo
w

-
Lo

w
SC

 (N
ov

 2
00

8)
1-

SC
 (F

eb
 2

01
1)

Bl
ue

Ba
rn

 O
w

l
Ty

to 
al

ba
Lo

w
Lo

w
-

Lo
w

T 
(N

ov
 2

01
0)

1-
T 

(Ju
n 

20
18

)
Re

d
Ba

rn
 S

w
al

lo
w

H
iru

nd
o r

us
tic

a
M

od
er

at
e

Lo
w

-
Lo

w
T 

(M
ay

 2
01

1)
1-

T 
(N

ov
 2

01
7)

Bl
ue

Bl
ac

k 
Sw

ift
Cy

ps
elo

id
es 

ni
ger

Lo
w

Lo
w

-
Lo

w
E

 (M
ay

 2
01

5)
Bl

ue
Ca

sp
ia

n 
Te

rn
H

yd
ro

pr
og

ne
 ca

sp
ia

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
A

R 
(M

ay
 1

99
9)

Bl
ue

Co
m

m
on

 N
ig

ht
ha

w
k

Ch
or

de
ile

s m
in

or
M

od
er

at
e

H
ig

h
-

H
ig

h
SC

 (M
ay

 2
01

8)
1-

T 
(F

eb
 2

01
0)

Y
el

lo
w

D
ou

bl
e-

cr
es

te
d 

Co
rm

or
an

t
Ph

al
ac

ro
cor

ax
 a

ur
itu

s
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

A
R 

(M
ay

 1
97

8)
Bl

ue
E

ve
ni

ng
 G

ro
sb

ea
k

Co
cco

th
ra

us
tes

 ve
sp

ert
in

us
H

ig
h

M
od

er
at

e
SC

 (N
ov

 2
01

6)
Y

el
lo

w
G

re
at

 B
lu

e 
H

er
on

,
fa

nn
in

i s
ub

sp
ec

ie
s

A
rd

ea
 h

ero
di

as
 fa

nn
in

i
Lo

w
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

SC
 (M

ar
 2

00
8)

1-
SC

 (F
eb

 2
01

0)
Bl

ue
Y

 (M
ay

 2
00

4)

G
re

en
 H

er
on

Bu
tor

id
es 

vir
esc

en
s

Lo
w

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Bl

ue
M

ar
bl

ed
 M

ur
re

le
t

Br
ac

hy
ra

mp
hu

s m
ar

mo
ra

tu
s

Lo
w

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
T 

(M
ay

 2
01

2)
1-

T 
(Ju

n 
20

03
)

Bl
ue

Y
 (M

ay
 2

00
4)

N
or

th
er

n 
G

os
ha

w
k,

la
in

gi
 su

bs
pe

ci
es

A
cci

pi
ter

 ge
nt

ili
s l

ai
ng

i
M

od
er

at
e

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Lo

w
Lo

w
T 

(A
pr

 2
01

3)
1-

T 
(Ju

n 
20

03
)

Re
d

Y
 (M

ay
 2

00
4)

N
or

th
er

n 
Py

gm
y-

O
w

l,
sw

ar
th

i s
ub

sp
ec

ie
s

G
la

uc
id

iu
m 

gn
om

a 
sw

ar
th

i
H

ig
h

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Lo

w
Lo

w
Bl

ue
Y

 (J
un

 2
00

6)

O
liv

e-
sid

ed
 F

ly
ca

tc
he

r
Co

nt
op

us
 co

op
eri

M
od

er
at

e
Lo

w
Lo

w
Lo

w
SC

 (M
ay

 2
01

8)
1-

T 
(F

eb
 2

01
0)

Bl
ue

Pe
re

gr
in

e 
Fa

lc
on

,
pe

al
ei

 su
bs

pe
ci

es
Fa

lco
 p

ere
gri

nu
s p

ea
lei

Lo
w

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Lo

w
Lo

w
SC

 (D
ec

 2
01

7)
1-

SC
 (J

un
 2

00
3)

Bl
ue

Pu
rp

le
 M

ar
tin

Pr
og

ne
 su

bi
s

Lo
w

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Bl

ue
Sh

or
t-e

ar
ed

 O
w

l
A

sio
 fl

am
me

us
Lo

w
Lo

w
Lo

w
Lo

w
SC

 (M
ar

 2
00

8)
1-

SC
 (J

ul
 2

01
2)

Bl
ue

Y
 (M

ay
 2

00
4)

W
es

te
rn

 S
cr

ee
ch

-O
w

l,
ke

nn
ico

tti
i s

ub
sp

ec
ie

s
M

ega
sco

ps
 k

en
ni

cot
tii

 k
en

ni
cot

tii
H

ig
h

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Lo

w
Lo

w
SC

 (M
ar

 2
01

2)
1-

T
Bl

ue

1  C
on

fir
m

ed
 - 

Th
e 

sp
ec

ie
s h

as
 b

ee
n 

de
te

ct
ed

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a.
 S

pe
ci

es
 p

re
se

nc
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

w
as

 re
co

rd
ed

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

fie
ld

 su
rv

ey
s a

nd
/o

r g
le

an
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
 re

vi
ew

. H
ig

h 
- T

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 ra

ng
e 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s o
ve

rla
p 

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a.

 H
ig

hl
y 

su
ita

bl
e 

ha
bi

ta
t i

s p
re

se
nt

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a;
 h

ow
ev

er
, t

he
 sp

ec
ie

s h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
de

te
ct

ed
. M

od
er

at
e 

- T
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 ra
ng

e 
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
io

n 
of

 
th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s o
ve

rla
p 

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a.

 S
uf

fic
ie

nt
ly

 su
ita

bl
e 

ha
bi

ta
t m

ay
 b

e 
pr

es
en

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a;
 h

ow
ev

er
, t

he
 sp

ec
ie

s h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
de

te
ct

ed
. L

ow
 - 

Th
e 

cu
rre

nt
 ra

ng
e 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s 
m

ay
 o

ve
rla

p 
or

 b
or

de
r t

he
 P

ro
ej

ct
 a

re
a;

 h
ow

ev
er

, i
t i

s u
nl

ik
el

y 
th

at
 su

ffi
ci

en
tly

 su
ita

bl
e 

ha
bi

ta
t i

s p
re

se
nt

. T
he

 sp
ec

ie
s h

as
 n

ot
 b

ee
n 

de
te

ct
ed

.  
N

eg
lig

ib
le

 - 
Th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s i
s l

ik
el

y 
to

 o
cc

ur
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

Co
m

ox
 

2  Id
en

tif
ie

d 
un

de
r t

he
 Id

en
tif

ie
d 

W
ild

lif
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t S

tra
te

gy
.

Fe
de

ra
l D

es
ig

na
tio

n
Pr

ov
in

ci
al

 
D

es
ig

na
tio

n
C

om
m

on
 N

am
e

Pr
e-

fie
ld

 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

of
 

O
cc

ur
re

nc
e1

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

of
 In

te
ra

ct
io

n 
by

 S
ea

so
n1

Page 135 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

in
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 D
 

Pa
ge

 2
 

14
13

-0
1

 

T
ab

le
 2

. 
H

er
pe

to
fa

un
a 

an
d 

m
am

m
al

 s
pe

ci
es

 a
t r

is
k 

w
ith

in
 t

he
 C

W
H

 B
io

ge
oc

lim
at

ic
 Z

on
e 

an
d 

Co
m

ox
 V

al
le

y 
R

eg
io

na
l 

D
is

tri
ct

 (C
D

C 
20

19
). 

 

Sc
ie

nt
ifi

c 
N

am
e

B
re

ed
in

g 
Pe

rio
d

O
ve

rw
in

te
rin

g 
Pe

rio
d

O
th

er
 (e

.g
., 

m
ig

ra
tin

g,
 

fo
ra

gi
ng

)

C
O

SE
W

IC
 

St
at

us
SA

R
A

 S
ta

tu
s

B
C

 L
is

t
Id

en
tif

ie
d 

W
ild

lif
e2

N
or

th
er

n 
Re

d-
le

gg
ed

 F
ro

g
Ra

na
 a

ur
or

a
M

od
er

at
e

Lo
w

M
od

er
at

e
SC

 (M
ay

 2
01

5)
1-

SC
 (J

an
 2

00
5)

Bl
ue

Y
 (M

ay
 2

00
4)

W
an

de
rin

g 
Sa

la
m

an
de

r
A

ne
id

es 
va

gra
ns

Lo
w

-M
od

er
at

e
Lo

w
Lo

w
Lo

w
SC

 (M
ay

 2
01

4)
1-

SC
 (F

eb
 2

01
8)

Bl
ue

W
es

te
rn

 T
oa

d
A

na
xy

ru
s b

or
ea

s
M

od
er

at
e

Lo
w

M
od

er
at

e
M

od
er

at
e

SC
 (N

ov
 2

01
2)

1-
SC

 (J
un

 2
01

8)
Y

el
lo

w
W

es
te

rn
 P

ai
nt

ed
 T

ur
tle

, P
ac

ifi
c 

co
as

t 
po

pu
la

tio
n

Ch
rys

em
is 

pi
cta

Lo
w

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Lo
w

T 
(2

01
6)

1-
E

 (2
00

7)
Re

d

A
m

er
ic

an
 (C

om
m

on
) W

at
er

 S
hr

ew
,

br
oo

ks
i s

ub
sp

ec
ie

s
So

rex
 p

al
us

tri
s b

ro
ok

si
M

od
er

at
e

Lo
w

Lo
w

Lo
w

Re
d

Y
 (J

un
 2

00
6)

E
rm

in
e,

an
gu

in
ae

 su
bs

pe
ci

es
M

us
tel

a 
erm

in
ea

 a
ng

ui
na

e
M

od
er

at
e

M
od

er
at

e
Lo

w
Bl

ue

K
ee

n'
s (

Lo
ng

-e
ar

ed
) M

yo
tis

M
yo

tis
 k

een
ii

M
od

er
at

e
Lo

w
M

od
er

at
e

D
D

 (N
ov

 2
00

3)
3 

(M
ar

 2
00

5)
Bl

ue
Y

 (M
ay

 2
00

4)

Li
ttl

e 
Br

ow
n 

M
yo

tis
M

yo
tis

 lu
cif

ug
us

H
ig

h
Lo

w
M

od
er

at
e

E
 (N

ov
 2

01
3)

1-
E

 (D
ec

 2
01

4)
Y

el
lo

w
To

w
ns

en
d'

s B
ig

-e
ar

ed
 B

at
Co

ryn
or

hi
nu

s t
ow

ns
en

di
i

M
od

er
at

e
Lo

w
M

od
er

at
e

Bl
ue

Ro
os

ev
el

t E
lk

Ce
rv

us
 el

ap
hu

s r
oo

sev
elt

i
M

od
er

at
e

Lo
w

Lo
w

M
od

er
at

e
V

an
co

uv
er

 Is
la

nd
 M

ar
m

ot
M

ar
mo

ta
 va

nc
ou

ve
ren

sis
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
W

ol
ve

rin
e,

va
nc

ou
ve

ren
sis

 su
bs

pe
ci

es
G

ul
o g

ul
o v

an
cou

ve
ren

sis
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
N

eg
lig

ib
le

N
eg

lig
ib

le
SC

 (M
ay

 2
01

4)
1-

SC
 (J

un
 2

01
8)

Re
d

Y
 (M

ay
 2

00
4)

1  C
on

fir
m

ed
 - 

Th
e 

sp
ec

ie
s h

as
 b

ee
n 

de
te

ct
ed

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a.
 S

pe
ci

es
 p

re
se

nc
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

w
as

 re
co

rd
ed

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

fie
ld

 su
rv

ey
s a

nd
/o

r g
le

an
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
 re

vi
ew

. H
ig

h 
- T

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 ra

ng
e 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s o
ve

rla
p 

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a.

 H
ig

hl
y 

su
ita

bl
e 

ha
bi

ta
t i

s p
re

se
nt

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a;
 h

ow
ev

er
, t

he
 sp

ec
ie

s h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
de

te
ct

ed
. M

od
er

at
e 

- T
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 ra
ng

e 
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
io

n 
of

 
th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s o
ve

rla
p 

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a.

 S
uf

fic
ie

nt
ly

 su
ita

bl
e 

ha
bi

ta
t m

ay
 b

e 
pr

es
en

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a;
 h

ow
ev

er
, t

he
 sp

ec
ie

s h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
de

te
ct

ed
. L

ow
 - 

Th
e 

cu
rre

nt
 ra

ng
e 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s 
m

ay
 o

ve
rla

p 
or

 b
or

de
r t

he
 P

ro
ej

ct
 a

re
a;

 h
ow

ev
er

, i
t i

s u
nl

ik
el

y 
th

at
 su

ffi
ci

en
tly

 su
ita

bl
e 

ha
bi

ta
t i

s p
re

se
nt

. T
he

 sp
ec

ie
s h

as
 n

ot
 b

ee
n 

de
te

ct
ed

.  
N

eg
lig

ib
le

 - 
Th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s i
s l

ik
el

y 
to

 o
cc

ur
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

Co
m

ox
 

2  Id
en

tif
ie

d 
un

de
r t

he
 Id

en
tif

ie
d 

W
ild

lif
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t S

tra
te

gy
.

Fe
de

ra
l D

es
ig

na
tio

n
Pr

ov
in

ci
al

 
D

es
ig

na
tio

n
C

om
m

on
 N

am
e

Pr
e-

fie
ld

 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

of
 

O
cc

ur
re

nc
e1

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

of
 In

te
ra

ct
io

n 
by

 S
ea

so
n1

Page 136 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

in
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 D
 

Pa
ge

 3
 

14
13

-0
1

 

T
ab

le
 3

. 
In

ve
rte

br
at

e s
pe

ci
es

 a
t r

is
k 

w
ith

in
 th

e C
W

H
 B

io
ge

oc
lim

at
ic

 Z
on

e a
nd

 C
om

ox
 V

al
le

y R
eg

io
na

l D
is

tri
ct

 (C
D

C 
20

19
). 

 

Sc
ie

nt
ifi

c 
N

am
e

C
O

SE
W

IC
 

St
at

us
SA

R
A 

St
at

us
B

C
 L

is
t

Id
en

tif
ie

d 
W

ild
lif

e2

Th
re

ad
ed

 V
er

tig
o

N
ea

rct
ula

 ro
we

llii
Lo

w
SC

 (A
pr

 2
01

0)
1-

SC
 (J

ul
 2

01
2)

Bl
ue

W
es

te
rn

 T
ho

rn
Ca

ryc
hiu

m 
occ

ide
nt

ale
Lo

w
Bl

ue
E

ve
ni

ng
 F

ie
ld

slu
g

D
ero

cer
as

 he
sp

eri
um

Lo
w

D
D

 (N
ov

 2
00

3)
R

ed
Pr

ai
rie

 F
os

sa
ria

G
alb

a b
uli

mo
ide

s
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

Su
ns

et
 P

hy
sa

Ph
yse

lla
 vi

rgi
ne

a
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

Br
oa

dw
ho

rl 
Ti

gh
tc

oi
l

Pr
ist

ilo
ma

 jo
hn

son
i

Lo
w

Bl
ue

W
rin

kl
ed

 M
ar

sh
sn

ail
St

ag
ni

col
a c

ap
era

ta
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

A
lk

al
i B

lu
et

E
na

lla
gm

a c
lau

su
m

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Bl

ue
Bl

ue
 D

as
he

r
Pa

chy
dip

lax
 lo

ng
ipe

nn
is

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Bl

ue
A

ut
um

n 
M

ea
do

w
ha

w
k

Sy
mp

etr
um

 vi
cin

um
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

W
es

te
rn

 P
in

e 
El

fin
, s

he
lto

ne
ns

is 
Ca

llo
ph

rys
 er

yp
ho

n 
sh

elt
on

en
sis

Lo
w

Bl
ue

C
om

m
on

 W
oo

d-
ny

m
ph

, i
nc

an
a s

ub
sp

ec
ie

s
Ce

rcy
on

is 
pe

ga
la 

in
can

a
M

od
er

at
e

R
ed

C
om

m
on

 R
in

gl
et

, i
ns

ul
an

a s
ub

sp
ec

ie
s

Co
en

on
ym

ph
a t

ull
ia 

in
su

lan
a

Lo
w

R
ed

Sa
nd

-v
er

be
na

 M
ot

h
Co

pa
ble

ph
ar

on
 fu

scu
m

N
eg

lig
ib

le
E

 (N
ov

 2
01

3)
1-

E
 (J

ul
 2

00
5)

R
ed

Pr
op

er
tiu

s D
us

ky
w

in
g

E
ryn

ni
s p

rop
ert

iu
s

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Re

d
E

di
th

's 
C

he
ck

er
sp

ot
, t

ay
lo

ri 
su

bs
pe

ci
es

E
up

hy
dr

ya
s e

dit
ha

 ta
ylo

ri
N

eg
lig

ib
le

E
 (M

ay
 2

01
1)

1-
E

 (J
un

 2
00

3)
R

ed
D

un
 S

ki
pp

er
E

up
hy

es 
ves

tri
s

Lo
w

T 
(A

pr
 2

01
3)

1-
T 

(Ju
n 

20
03

)
R

ed
W

es
te

rn
 B

ra
nd

ed
 S

ki
pp

er
, o

re
go

ni
a 

H
esp

eri
a c

olo
ra

do
 or

ego
ni

a
Lo

w
E

 (N
ov

 2
01

3)
R

ed
C

lo
di

us
 P

ar
na

ss
ian

, c
lau

di
an

us
 su

bs
pe

ci
es

Pa
rn

as
siu

s c
lod

iu
s c

lau
dia

nu
s

Lo
w

Bl
ue

R
oc

ky
 M

ou
nt

ai
n 

Pa
rn

as
sia

n,
 o

ly
m

pi
an

nu
s 

Pa
rn

as
siu

s s
mi

nt
he

us
 ol

ym
pia

nn
us

Lo
w

Bl
ue

G
re

en
ish

 B
lu

e, 
in

su
la

nu
s s

ub
sp

ec
ie

s
Pl

eb
eju

s s
ae

pio
lus

 in
su

lan
us

Lo
w

E
 (M

ay
 2

01
2)

1-
E

 (J
un

 2
00

3)
R

ed

1  C
on

fir
m

ed
 - 

Th
e 

sp
ec

ie
s h

as
 b

ee
n 

de
te

ct
ed

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a. 
Sp

ec
ies

 p
re

se
nc

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

as
 re

co
rd

ed
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
fie

ld
 su

rv
ey

s a
nd

/o
r g

le
an

ed
 fr

om
 th

e 
ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

 re
vi

ew
. H

ig
h  

- T
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 ra
ng

e 
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
io

n 
of

 th
e 

sp
ec

ie
s o

ve
rla

p 
th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a. 
H

ig
hl

y 
su

ita
bl

e 
ha

bi
ta

t i
s p

re
se

nt
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a; 

ho
w

ev
er

, t
he

 sp
ec

ie
s h

as
 n

ot
 b

ee
n 

de
te

ct
ed

. M
od

er
at

e  -
 T

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 ra

ng
e 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s o
ve

rla
p 

th
e 

Pr
oj

ec
t a

re
a. 

Su
ffi

ci
en

tly
 su

ita
bl

e 
ha

bi
ta

t 
m

ay
 b

e 
pr

es
en

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a; 
ho

w
ev

er
, t

he
 sp

ec
ie

s h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
de

te
ct

ed
. L

ow
 - 

Th
e 

cu
rr

en
t r

an
ge

 a
nd

 d
ist

rib
ut

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s m
ay

 o
ve

rla
p 

or
 

bo
rd

er
 th

e 
Pr

oe
jc

t a
re

a; 
ho

w
ev

er
, i

t i
s u

nl
ik

el
y 

th
at

 su
ffi

ci
en

tly
 su

ita
bl

e 
ha

bi
ta

t i
s p

re
se

nt
. T

he
 sp

ec
ie

s h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
de

te
ct

ed
.  

N
eg

lig
ib

le
 - 

Th
e 

sp
ec

ie
s i

s l
ik

el
y 

to
 

oc
cu

r w
ith

in
 th

e 
C

om
ox

 V
al

le
y 

R
eg

io
na

l D
ist

ric
t; 

ho
w

ev
er

, s
ui

ta
bl

e 
ha

bi
ta

t i
s n

ot
 p

re
se

nt
 a

nd
 th

e 
sp

ec
ie

s i
s v

er
y 

un
lik

el
y 

to
 o

cc
ur

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t a
re

a.

Fe
de

ra
l D

es
ig

na
tio

n
Pr

ov
in

ci
al

 
D

es
ig

na
tio

n
C

om
m

on
 N

am
e

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

of
 

O
cc

ur
en

ce
1

Page 137 of 358



T
re

e 
Is

la
nd

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

 B
io

in
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 D
 

Pa
ge

 4
 

14
13

-0
1

 

T
ab

le
 4

. 
Pl

an
t s

pe
ci

es
 a

t r
is

k 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

CW
H

 B
io

ge
oc

lim
at

ic
 Z

on
e 

an
d 

Co
m

ox
 V

al
le

y 
R

eg
io

na
l D

is
tri

ct
 (C

D
C 

20
19

). 

 

Pr
ov

in
ci

al
 D

es
ig

na
tio

n
B

C
 L

is
t

C
O

SE
W

IC
SA

R
A

ba
nd

ed
 c

or
d-

m
os

s
E

nt
os

th
od

on
 fa

sci
cu

la
ris

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Bl

ue
SC

 (M
ay

 
1-

SC
 (A

ug
 2

00
6)

bl
ac

k 
kn

ot
w

ee
d

Po
lyg

on
um

 p
ar

on
ych

ia
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

H
en

de
rs

on
's 

ch
ec

ke
r-m

al
lo

w
Si

da
lce

a 
he

nd
ers

on
ii

N
eg

lig
ib

le
Bl

ue
he

te
ro

co
do

n
H

ete
ro

cod
on

 ra
rif

lor
us

Lo
w

Bl
ue

M
ac

ou
n'

s m
ea

do
w

-fo
am

Li
mn

an
th

es 
ma

cou
ni

i
Lo

w
Re

d
T 

(N
ov

 2
00

4)
1-

T 
(A

ug
 2

00
6)

N
ut

ta
ll'

s q
ui

llw
or

t
Iso

ete
s n

ut
ta

lli
i

Lo
w

Bl
ue

po
ve

rty
 c

lo
ve

r
Tr

ifo
liu

m 
de

pa
up

era
tu

m 
va

r. 
Lo

w
Bl

ue
pu

rp
le

 sa
ni

cl
e

Sa
ni

cu
la

 b
ip

in
na

tif
id

a
Lo

w
Re

d
T 

(M
ay

 2
00

1)
1-

T 
(Ju

n 
20

03
)

sli
m

le
af

 o
ni

on
A

lli
um

 a
mp

lec
ten

s
Lo

w
Bl

ue
V

an
co

uv
er

 Is
la

nd
 b

eg
ga

rti
ck

s
Bi

de
ns

 a
mp

lis
sim

a
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

SC
 (N

ov
 

1-
SC

 (J
un

 2
00

3)
w

es
te

rn
 c

ow
ba

ne
O

xy
po

lis
 oc

cid
en

ta
lis

Lo
w

Bl
ue

w
es

te
rn

 w
ah

oo
E

uo
ny

mu
s o

cci
de

nt
al

is 
va

r. 
Lo

w
Re

d
w

hi
te

-to
p 

as
te

r
Se

ric
oca

rp
us

 ri
gid

us
M

od
er

at
e

Bl
ue

SC
 (A

pr
 

1-
SC

 (J
un

 2
00

3)
ye

llo
w

 m
on

ta
ne

 v
io

le
t

V
iol

a 
pr

ae
mo

rsa
 va

r. 
Lo

w
Re

d
E

 (N
ov

 2
00

7)
1-

E
 (J

un
 2

00
3)

ye
llo

w
 sa

nd
-v

er
be

na
A

br
on

ia
 la

tif
oli

a
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

cu
rv

e-
le

av
ed

 c
ow

-h
ai

r m
os

s
D

itr
ich

um
 sc

hi
mp

eri
M

od
er

at
e

Bl
ue

lo
ng

-b
ea

ke
d 

w
at

er
 fe

at
he

rm
os

s
Pl

at
yh

yp
ni

di
um

 ri
pa

rio
id

es
N

eg
lig

ib
le

Bl
ue

E
ng

lis
h 

N
am

e
Sc

ie
nt

ifi
c 

N
am

e
Fe

de
ra

l D
es

ig
na

tio
n

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
of

 
O

cc
ur

re
nc

e

Page 138 of 358



Page 139 of 358



Page 140 of 358



Page 141 of 358



Page 142 of 358



Page 143 of 358



Page 144 of 358



Page 145 of 358



Page 146 of 358



Page 147 of 358



Page 148 of 358



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 4 

 
REPORT DATE: 12/15/2022 
MEETING DATE: 1/9/2023 

File No. 6400/6950/Parking 
TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Karin Albert, Senior Planner and Meleana Searle, Planner 

SUBJECT: Council Policy on Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 Zone  

 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Council adopt the Council Policy on Review of Development Variance Permits for Parking in 
the Village Core Commercial Mixed-Use (VCMU-1) Zone. 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to seek adoption of a policy that will provide staff with guidelines for 
reviewing and evaluating development variance permit applications for parking in the VCMU-1 
Zone. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 
 

Date Resolution 

November 28, 
2022 

THAT Council refer the Council Policy on Review of Development Variance 
Permits for Parking in the Village Core Commercial Mixed-Use (VCMU-1) 
Zone to the Advisory Planning Commission for comment.  

June 9, 2022 THAT Council direct staff to draft a policy for consideration of development 
variance permit applications for parking associated with existing businesses 
and/or heritage buildings in the VCMU-1 zone. 

BACKGROUND 

The 2021 increase of the parking cash-in-lieu amount from $3,800 to $10,000 per space in the 
VCMU-1 zone is putting financial strain on new tenants in that zone if their proposed new 
commercial use exceeds the parking spaces available on the property. Staff have seen a recent rise 
in small business owners not being able to meet the parking requirements associated with their 
business and, therefore, having to make parking cash-in-lieu payments prior to receiving their 
business licence and being able to open their business. The parking cash-in-lieu amounts due put a 
large financial burden on small businesses. As a consequence, some find a space for their business 
elsewhere while others seek a development variance permit.  

 

Page 149 of 358



Page 2 of 4 

 

At their November 28, 2022 meeting (item 7.1 p. 12), Council referred the draft Council Policy on 
the Review of Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 zone to the Advisory 
Planning Commission (APC) for comment. 

The APC passed three resolutions at their December 8, 2022 meeting (draft minutes included in 
this Council package). Firstly, the Commission recommended that the section of the draft policy 
that speaks to residential parking in the VCMU-1 be amended to consider development variance 
applications for reduced parking requirements for affordable housing developments.  

The APC supported the policy provisions related to reviewing development variance applications 
for commercial uses as presented. 

Finally, the APC recommended that during a future Zoning Bylaw update, commercial uses be 
exempt from parking requirements. However, APC members also discussed that the parking 
requirements for accessible stalls should be retained. 

 
ANALYSIS 

The proposed Council Policy provides a framework for evaluating parking variances in the VCMU-1 
zone. The goal of the policy is to ensure that reductions in parking requirements benefit the 
downtown core and/or the community at large by supporting small and/or unique businesses, the 
creation of space for arts and culture, and the retention or enhancement of the character and 
diversity of the downtown core.  

Policy Amendments 

In follow-up to the discussions at the APC meeting, staff added section 4 to the Policy to identify 
that the review of applications to reduce parking requirements for affordable housing units would 
consider lower vehicle ownership of low-income tenants, financial strain on the affordable housing 
development, and need for a municipal contribution to strengthen funding applications for senior 
government grant programs (Attachment 1 – Council Policy). 

Upon further review of the draft Policy, staff also added section 5 and amended section 6 to clarify 
that new developments are expected to meet parking requirements for both residential and 
commercial uses and that parking variances are primarily intended to support new and existing 
businesses (Attachment 1 – Council Policy). 

Security and Timing for Parking Cash-in-lieu 

The possibility of requiring a security for parking cash-in-lieu as part of a Heritage Alteration 
Permit (HAP) was investigated. The purpose of the security would be to hold additional funds for 
parking cash in lieu, and, once the use of the commercial space is known, refund any overpayment 
to the applicant. A security can only be held until the actions that the permit authorizes are 
complete; it could not be held indefinitely if a commercial space was unoccupied, so is unlikely to 
solve the problem.  

Staff is looking into whether parking cash in lieu can be charged at issuance of occupancy permit 
instead of building permit. This would reduce the instances when developers do not yet know 
what the commercial uses in their development might be and increase the accuracy of parking 
cash in lieu calculations.  

Page 150 of 358

https://cumberland.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Agenda-Package-RC_Nov28_2022.pdf


Page 3 of 4 

 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION AND CONSULTATION 

The development of the proposed Council Policy was informed by comments received from 
existing business owners and discussions with commercial tenants during the processing of 
development applications and business licence applications in the downtown core. The draft 
policy was referred to the APC for comment. There is no statutory requirement for consultation on 
a Council policy.  

ALTERNATIVES 

1. THAT Council direct staff to adopt the proposed Council Policy on Review of Development 
Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 zone with the following edits: (a) ________; 
(b)______,… 

2. THAT Council direct staff to provide additional information related to the proposed parking 
policy in an upcoming staff report.  

3. Not proceed with any action at this time.  

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☐ Healthy Community 

☐ Quality Infrastructure Planning and Development 

☒ Comprehensive Community Planning 

☒ Economic Development 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The effect of the policy may be a reduction in parking cash-in-lieu received by the Village. On the 
other hand, the policy may result in more small businesses being able to occupy commercial 
spaces in the downtown core. This would add to the vibrancy and economic resilience of the 
downtown core and strengthen the local economy. 

OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

Developing policy is part of the regular services provided by the Development Services 
Department. Since the policy provides an indication of the likely success of a development 
variance application to reduce parking cash-in-lieu, it may increase the number of applications 
received for commercial parking but may reduce the number of applications received for 
residential parking. 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

Making it easier for businesses to occupy commercial spaces in the downtown core reduces travel 
distances for Cumberland residents to those businesses, potentially resulting in less local 
transportation related greenhouse gas emissions. Less availability of parking in the downtown core 
may result in more walking or bicycle trips by employees and customers of downtown businesses 
further reducing transportation related greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

Page 151 of 358



Page 4 of 4 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Council Policy on Review of Development Variance Permits for Parking in the VCMU-1 zone 

CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
K. Albert    M. Searle     
____________________  _______________________ 
Karin Albert    Meleana Searle 
Senior Planner    Planner 
 
M. Mason 
____________________ 
Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

Page 152 of 358



 

 

COUNCIL  

POLICY  
 
 
  

Title: 
Review of Development 
Variance Permits for Parking 
in the VCMU-1 zone 

No. 13.4 

Adopted Date:  Section: Planning and Development 

Amended Date:  Motion No: 23-XXX 

 

Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for staff review and evaluation of 
development variance permit applications for parking in the VCMU-1 zone. 

The intent is to support entrepreneurship, support a diverse range of small local businesses and 
services, arts and culture and encourage the retention of heritage buildings and diversity of 
character in the Village downtown core, while balancing the need for vehicle parking spaces.  

Policy Provisions 

1. Reduction of vehicle parking requirements through development variance permit in the 
VCMU-1 zone result in fewer parking spaces provided and reduced revenue to the parking 
cash-in-lieu fund. Therefore, applications for variances should demonstrate that a reduction 
in parking requirements benefits the downtown core and/or the community at large.  

2. Applications should demonstrate that the ability to use or develop the property is 
unreasonably constrained or hindered by having to comply with the parking requirement or 
cash-in-lieu option. 

Residential Parking 

3. Variances to reduce parking requirements for residential development are generally not 
recommended since residential parking can occupy a space for an entire day or multiple 
days and reduce the availability of short-term parking for customers of businesses along 
Dunsmuir Avenue. 

4. The review of development variance permit applications to reduce residential parking 
requirements for affordable housing units, where the owner has entered into a housing 
agreement with the Village, will consider: 

Page 153 of 358



 
 

 

a. Possible lower vehicle ownership of low income tenants; 
b. Impact of the parking cash-in-lieu amount on the financial feasibility of the affordable 

housing development. 
c. Requests for municipal contributions to affordable housing developments by funding 

agencies. 

Commercial Parking 

5. New developments are generally expected to meet parking requirements for both 
residential and commercial uses. 

6. The review of an application for a variance to commercial parking requirements in the 
VCMU-1 zone by a tenant or an owner intending to change an existing or establish a new 
commercial use will be evaluated based on the following impacts and benefits of the 
application.    

i.   Supporting Small Businesses, Services, Arts and Culture 

a. The addition or expansion of a small, local business start-up or development 

b. Creation of an arts and culture space 

c. Provision of a needed business or service in the Village 

ii.   Heritage Conservation 

a. Retention of heritage buildings and structures, preferably through a heritage 
revitalization agreement 

b. Retention of heritage trees  

iii.   Promotes Retention and Diversity of Character  

a. Provision of outdoor seating 

b. Provision of outdoor plazas or courtyards 

c. Planting or retention of shade trees 

d. Provision of active transportation facilities such as e-bike plug-ins or covered public 
bicycle parking 

e. Provision or retention of accessible parking space on-site  

f. Provision of electric vehicle or carshare parking 

 

Page 154 of 358



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 5 

 
REPORT DATE: December 28, 2022 
MEETING DATE: January 9, 2023 

TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Kaelin Chambers, Economic Development Officer 

SUBJECT: Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Council approve the application for $97,125 to the Rural Economic Diversification and 
Infrastructure Program for completion of the Village of Cumberland Investment and Development 
Readiness Project, with the Village cash contribution of $10,000 and in-kind contribution of 
$9,713. 
 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information relating to the grant funding 
application submitted by staff to the Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program 
(REDIP) and seek council’s support and/or direction in utilizing the potential funding towards the 
planning of future industrial and/or commercial development and/or improvements in the Village.  

 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 
 

Date Resolution 

March 8, 2021 THAT Council support Investment Attraction Action Plan and direct staff to 
incorporate the information and/or recommendations within future 
economic development plan/strategies and report back to Council on their 
implementation. 

 
BACKGROUND 

REDIP supports rural economic development projects that promote economic capacity building, 
economic diversification, resilience, clean economy opportunities, and infrastructure 
development. 

Under REDIP, the Village is eligible to submit into the REDIP Economic Diversification stream 
(REDIP-ED) as a community with a population of 25,000 or less and being located outside of Metro 
Vancouver and the Capital Regional District. 

Page 155 of 358



Page 2 of 5 

REDIP-ED has two types of grants (see Table 1). The Development grant, which the Village has 
applied into, aims to support the planning of programs, services, and infrastructure projects up to 
$100,000 (max). The Implementation grant aims to fund the implementation of programs or 
services, or the construction of infrastructure resulting in new, upgraded or preserved local 
asset(s) (max funding $1,000,000). 

Table 1    REDIP- ED Eligible Projects 

 Development Implementation 

Soft Infrastructure 

 Feasibility studies. 

 Business plans. 

 Program design.  

 Service planning. 

 New or enhanced programs or services 
related to related to workforce 
development, business development, 
and industry/sector development, 
retention, and expansion. 

Hard 
Infrastructure 

 Infrastructure design 
including architecture, 
engineering, assessment 
costs, and planning. 

 Construction of a new asset or the 
upgrading of an existing asset to 
support the development, stability, 
and scaling up of businesses. 

 Assets to support sector development, 
and investment attraction 

 

Applicants to REDIP-ED must provide 20% of the total project budget as their financial contribution 
(up to $200,000 max). The applicant financial contribution may come from:  

 Applicants’ own funds, including funds obtained through financing 

 Funds from not-for-profit organizations, such as development trusts 

 Funds from partners 

 In-kind contributions 

The applicant’s in-kind contributions:  

 May be up to 50% of the applicant’s financial contribution 

 May include goods and services donated to a project by the eligible applicant and/or 
eligible partners (e.g., staff time, use of space or equipment). 

 Must be valued at fair market value 

Applications were to be submitted by January 4, 2023.  

With limited time to collaborate on, and complete the project application, staff submitted to 
REDIP for funding on December 23, 2022, to complete the Village of Cumberland Investment and 
Development Readiness Project. 

Although the application process did not require confirmation and/or any form of resolution on 
behalf of Council, as per the Delegation of Authority bylaw, Council needs to approve all grants 
greater than $50,000.  Although the grant has been submitted, Council still has the option to not 
approve the application; however, staff do not recommend this as the initiatives that this grant 
would fund are integral to the future planning for the Village.  

Page 156 of 358



Page 3 of 5 

Since 2016, the Village has been very successful in accessing and utilizing the Province’s rural 
economic development funding programs in both creating, implementing, and advancing the 
Cumberland Economic Development Strategy (2018-2023).    

The Village of Cumberland Investment and Development Readiness Project 

The Village of Cumberland Investment and Development Readiness Project will guide how the 
Village can strategically facilitate private commercial development, such as the Bevan Industrial 
Lands. It will also provide the organization with guidance in managing its land portfolio, specifically 
the Union Road Lands, through land value capture and disposition, for the redevelopment of civic 
facilities and facilitate new commercial development in the community.  

By acting on recommendations born from the Economic Development Strategy (2018), Bevan 
Industrial Lands Concept Plan (2020), Investment Attraction Action Plan (2020), and Municipal 
Facilities Update (2022), staff are seeking to gain a better understanding of the economic, 
commercial, and industrial potential of the Village’s employment lands, by:  

 Identifying and tracking key industrial, commercial and investment lands and/or properties. 
This includes utilized, vacant and underutilized commercial and/or industrial lands, their 
servicing characteristics, and locational attributes.   

 Quantifying the industrial and/or commercial land use demand in the Village to evaluate 
how/where the current supply of investment land can accommodate future 
demand/interest.   

 Establishing a projection of potential demand of new development on municipal services 
and budgets and identify whether the property tax revenues from new and/or future 
developments will balance out incurred costs.  

 A land use plan for Village-owned land at Union Road to outline land value capture prior to 
disposition. This includes a plan for future use, Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw 
amendment, and servicing, prior to disposition of surplus land.   

 The plan for disposition of surplus land at Union Road will allow for planning to begin for 
moving the public works facility out of the downtown core.  

The Project will be coordinated/managed by Village staff and lead by qualified professional to 
complete the needed project components.  The Project will consider and include three specific 
study components to achieve the intended outcomes. 

Industrial, Commercial and Investment Lands Assessment  

An Industrial, Commercial and Investment (ICI) lands assessment will identify and inventory key 
industrial, commercial and investment lands and properties in the Village. This includes utilized, 
vacant and underutilized commercial and/or industrial lands, their servicing characteristics, and 
locational attributes.   

Fiscal Impact Analysis on New or Proposed Development  

A Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA) will be completed to estimate the public cost of new development, 
by undertaking a projection of the direct, current, and public costs and revenues associated with 
new and/or proposed growth/development such as the Bevan Lands. An FIA will also inform 
if/how property tax revenues from new and/or future developments will balance out incurred 
costs of operating/maintaining the required services and infrastructure.  

 

Page 157 of 358



Page 4 of 5 

Development and Servicing Strategy for Village Owned Lands at Union Road  

To be developed in four phases: due diligence land analysis (environmental and civil engineering), 
concept development, appraisal and financial feasibility modelling, and community engagement 
planning. This Strategy will also provide guidance on how the Village can best capture value 
through zoning and servicing, prior to disposition.  

 
ALTERNATIVES 

1. THAT Council direct Staff to not proceed with the Project at this time and look at future 
funding opportunities. 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☒ Healthy Community  

☒ Quality Infrastructure Planning and Development  

☒ Comprehensive Community Planning 

☒ Economic Development 
  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The overall budget to complete the described works is $116,838. Of this, $97,125 is being sought 
from the REDIP-ED funding stream. The Village contribution is to be $10,000 with a further $9,713 
provided as in-kind. 

 Staff have identified approximately $20,000 in carry over funding from 2022 that can/will 
be utilized towards the Village’s financial contribution to the Project.  

Please note that a request of $62k has also been included within the 2023 budget process to 
complete the Union Lands Servicing Strategy (includes the $20k carry over funding from 2022). 
Staff have identified these as priority works and recommend their completion regardless of the 
funding outcome.  

The application budget also considers and includes funding to facilitate the participation of 
K’omoks First Nation in the Project should they express interest.  

Funding awards will be announced on March 31, 2023. 

 
OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Economic Development Officer will lead the ICI and FIA components of the Project and the 
Manager of Development Services will oversee the Union Road Servicing Strategy, both with 
support from consultants. The initiative will also impact work plans for the Village’s operations, 
finance, and planning departments.  

 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

Climate Change considerations will be part of the Development and Servicing Strategy for Village 
Owned Lands at Union Road. Future servicing will be planned following best engineering practices 
that are regularly updated to account for expected impacts of climate change. Discussion of future 

Page 158 of 358



Page 5 of 5 

land use will be informed by climate adaptation principles such as compact, complete 
communities that reduce the need for automobile travel and enable active transportation, and 
low-carbon buildings. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. REDIP Program Guide 
2. Village of Cumberland 2022 REDIP Application 

 
CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
K. Chambers 
____________________ 
Kaelin Chambers 
Economic Development Officer 
 

M. Mason 
____________________ 
Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

Page 159 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification 
and Infrastructure Program 

R E D I P

PROGRAM GUIDE

Page 160 of 358



2   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM  
Page 161 of 358



 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 3

Contents Program Overview     4 

Funding Categories    5 

Who Can Apply    6–8 
Eligibility Requirements
Application Limit  

What Types of Projects are Eligible  9–10  
REDIP Economic Capacity
REDIP Economic Development
REDIP Forest Impact Transition

Creating a Project Budget   11–14 
Eligible Funding Costs
Applicant Contribution

Project Timelines    15  

Supporting Documentation  15

How Applications Will Be Assessed 16  

Receiving REDIP Funding   18  
Grant Agreements 
Reporting 
Recognition of Provincial Funders 

Confidentiality and Support  18  
Freedom of Information 
Conflict of Interest/Confidentiality 
Contact Information and  
Application Support

Appendix A: Definitions   19  

Page 162 of 358



4   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

Program Overview | 
The Rural Economic Diversification and 
Infrastructure Program (REDIP) supports 
rural economic development projects 
that promote economic capacity building, 
economic diversification, resilience, clean 
economy opportunities, and infrastructure 
development. 

Applications must be submitted through 
the online system at gov.bc.ca/redip. Intake 
opens November 15, 2022. 

Submit the complete application package by 
January 4, 2023 by 1:00PM PST. Applications 
will not be accepted after this date. 

Both MS Word and PDF versions of the 
application form is available to help with 
preparing an application. If further support 
is required, refer to page 18, Application 
Support.

Page 163 of 358

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content?id=A1DA8CBF520D452DA91D81FD2FD05B27


 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 5

*Successful applicants may receive up to $50,000 in year one. Remaining funding are released in year two upon 
submission of a progress report.

Funding Categories | 

Economic Capacity (REDIP-EC)
Helps communities build internal capacity for economic 
development.

Forest Impact Transition (REDIP-FIT)
Supports economic recovery and transition in communities 
affected by impacts in the forest sector.

Economic Diversification (REDIP-ED)
Funds projects that promote economic diversification and 
development.

Maximum Funding Per Project
Up to $50,000/year 
for two years*

Percentage of Project Costs Eligible for Funding 100%

Maximum Funding Per Project $500,000

Percentage of Project Costs Eligible for Funding 100%

Development Grant

Maximum Funding Per Project $100,000

Percentage of Project Costs Eligible for Funding 80%

Implementation Grant

Maximum Funding Per Project $1 million

Percentage of Project Costs Eligible for Funding 80%

Page 164 of 358



6   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

Who Can Apply | 
Eligibility Requirements:

• The proposed project must directly serve the applicant’s community(ies).
• Where multiple communities collaborate and the project serves multiple communities,

each applicant community must meet the eligibility requirements of the funding category.
However, their combined population can be larger.

• Population size will be determined using Statistics Canada 2021 Census Data.
Communities with populations up to 500 over the respective limits are eligible to apply.

• Communities with populations under 25,000 in the CRD and Metro Vancouver areas can
contact the program office to request an exception.

Eligible Project Locations | 
REDIP-ED Eligible  
Project Communities

REDIP-EC Eligible  
Project Communities

REDIP-FIT Eligible 
Project Communities

• Indigenous and
non-Indigenous
communities with
populations of 25,000
or less outside of Metro
Vancouver and the
Capital Regional District

• Small rural communities
with populations of
2,500 or less outside
of Metro Vancouver
and the Capital
Regional District

• All Indigenous
communities and
organizations outside
of Metro Vancouver
and the Capital
Regional District

• Indigenous and non-
Indigenous communities
located outside of
Metro Vancouver and
the Capital Regional
District experiencing or
anticipating impacts of
changes in the forest
sector, including old
growth deferrals

• As part of the
application process,
applicants to REDIP-FIT
will be asked to self-
identify ongoing, acute
or anticipated impacts.
Please refer to page 17
for more information

Page 165 of 358



 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 7

Economic Capacity and 
Economic Diversification Forest Impact Transition

Eligible Lead 
Applicants

• Local Governments
• Regional Districts
• Indigenous communities

and organizations
• Indigenous Development

Corporations
• Not-for-profits

• Local Governments
• Regional Districts
• Indigenous communities
Lead applicants can formally 
delegate project to a partner 
organization

Ineligible Lead 
Applicants

• Federal entities, including
federal Crown Corporations

• Applicants not operating
within the Province of British
Columbia

• Businesses
• A political party, political

action group or lobby group
• Registered charities

• All ineligible lead types for
REDIP-EC and REDIP-ED

• Not-for-profits
• Indigenous Development

Corporations

Eligible Partners  
(Optional; no limit)

• All types of eligible lead
applicants

• Non-Indigenous Development
Corporations

• Industry organizations
• Businesses*
• Community Foundations
• Post-secondary institutions

• All types of eligible lead
applicants

• Not-for-profits
• Indigenous Development

Corporations

Ineligible Partners • Entities owned by, or that own the applicant organization
• Entities owned by the same parent organization as the applicant

* For-profit entities can serve as partners with an eligible applicant as long as the proposed project identifies
broad community benefits and does not negatively impact other businesses.

Who Can Apply (Cont.) |

Page 166 of 358



8   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

Who Can Apply (Cont.) |

Partners must:
• Have an active role in the project but are

not required to contribute financially.
• Provide proof of partnership confirming

their role and commitment to the project
(such as an email or letter).

Application Limit:
• Lead applicants can submit an application

for only one funding category per intake -
i.e. REDIP-EC, REDIP-ED OR REDIP-FIT

• Regional districts can submit one application
for REDIP for each eligible Electoral Area.

• Regional districts must clearly identify which
community(ies) or unincorporated area(s)
they are applying on behalf of.

• For REDIP-ED, regional districts can submit
applications on behalf of the whole district if
the total population is less than 25,000.

• Eligible partners can be partners on multiple
projects.

• Projects that are unable to be funded
through one funding category may be
considered for funding through the other
two funding categories.

Page 167 of 358



 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 9

Economic Diversification:
REDIP-ED has two types of grants. The 
Development grant aims to support 
the planning of programs, services and 
infrastructure projects (max funding 
$100,000). 

The Implementation grant aims to fund the 
implementation of programs or services, or 
the construction of infrastructure resulting 
in new, upgraded or preserved local asset(s) 
(max funding $1,000,000).

Forest Impact Transition:
REDID-FIT applicants may submit projects 
that are eligible under REDIP-ED. (max 
funding $500,000).

Economic Capacity: 
Aims to build the economic capacity of 
small rural communities and provide or 
improve their ability to support economic 
diversification (max funding $100,000).

Eligible project types include:
• Community assessment projects such

as identifying community economic
development capacity, community
needs and/or opportunities.

• Capacity building projects such
as strengthening local economic
development capacity through
targeted coaching, job shadowing,
mentorship, and/or professional
development.

• Engagement projects such as
community consultation, project
identification and/or fostering in-
house economic development services
and resources.

• Staff recruitment and retention
projects such as ones that reduce
staff turnover, enhance stability, or
temporarily increase staff positions,
time and/or resources.

What Types of Projects are Eligible? |

Projects must meet all applicable federal and provincial environmental legislation and standards 
including consultation with Indigenous nations. 
It is the applicant’s responsibility to obtain any required approvals and permits. 

Information continued on page 10

Page 168 of 358



10   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

DEVELOPMENT IMPLEMENTATION

Soft 
Infrastructure

• Feasibility studies.
• Business plans.
• Program design.
• Service planning.

• New or enhanced programs or
services related to related to workforce
development, business development, and
industry/sector development, retention,
and expansion.

Hard 
Infrastructure

• Infrastructure
design including
architecture,
engineering,
assessment costs,
and planning.

• Construction of a new asset or the
upgrading of an existing asset to support
the development, stability, and scaling up
of businesses.

• Assets to support sector development,
and investment attraction.

Economic Diversification - Eligible Projects (Cont.):

Page 169 of 358



 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 11

Creating a Project Budget |

To be eligible, project costs must:
• Directly benefit and be essential to the project.
• Be reasonable and accurately estimated.

All project related costs must be included in the project budget. Eligible costs refers to project 
costs eligible for funding through REDIP. Ineligible costs must be included but funded through 
the applicant contribution or other funding sources. 

Eligible Funding Costs

General Costs
Eligible

• Costs incurred after approval and on
or before the project completion date

• Capital purchases essential to project
implementation

• Staff salaries in the lead or partner
organization(s) working directly on
project activities :

 ⸰ REDIP-EC up to 100% of total
project costs

 ⸰ REDIP-ED and REDIP-FIT up to 15%
of total project costs

Ineligible

• Any unpaid costs including invoices
or holdbacks

• Accrued costs
• Goods or services costs which are

received through donations or in kind
• Costs incurred prior to approval date

and after project completion date
• Land acquisition
• GST and PST
• Financing costs and interest charges

Construction/Materials Costs
Eligible

• Insurance related to construction
• Equipment and/or furnishing

essential to project operations
• Utility, electrical, sanitary sewer,

and storm sewer set-up/connection
services to project site

Ineligible

• Liability insurance for directors
• General routine, cyclical repairs and

maintenance
• Traditional municipal infrastructure

(roads, sidewalks, etc.)

Page 170 of 358



12   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

Professional Costs
Eligible

• Consulting services
• Project management
• Design/engineering costs
• Environmental reviews
• Archaeological assessments

Ineligible

• Cost associated with necessary permits
and building approvals

• Legal costs
• Project-related professional fees payable

to the eligible applicant
• Academic research that does not deliver

concrete actions or tangible benefits

Communication Activities Costs
Eligible

• Indigenous consultation
• Culturally relevant hospitality costs as part

of the consultation process
• Communications, marketing or

promotion-related costs
• Travel, accommodation and meals related

to the project based on government per
diem rates

Ineligible

• Gifts
• Direct meeting and/or lobbying of any

level of government
• Expenses relating to hosting conferences

or large community events
• Remuneration and travel of elected

officials
• International travel requires a special

review to determine eligibility
• Alcohol

Page 171 of 358



 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 13

Applicant Contribution 

Applicants to REDIP-EC and REDIP-FIT do not 
need to provide an applicant contribution.

Applicants to REDIP-ED must provide 20% 
of the total project budget up to $200,000 
as the applicant and/or partner financial 
contribution. For example, for a project 
funded $1,000,000, applicants must 
contribute at least $200,000 for a total project 
budget of at least $1,200,000 

The application will not be assessed if it 
does not meet the financial contribution 
requirement. Confirmation of applicant 
funding commitment may be requested upon 
review of applications.

Source of Applicant Financial Contribution
The applicant financial contribution may 
come from:

• Applicants’ own funds, including funds 
obtained through financing

• Funds from not-for-profit organizations, 
such as development trusts

• Funds from partners
• In-kind contributions (see below)

Funding for the applicant financial 
contribution cannot come from:

• Other government sources (federal  
or provincial)

Funding from other government programs 
(federal or provincial) can contribute to the 
overall project funding if it is not part of the 
applicant financial contribution.

In-kind Contributions
The applicant in-kind contributions:

• May be up to 10% of the applicant’s 
financial contribution

• May include goods and services 
donated to a project by the eligible 
applicant and/or eligible partners (e.g., 
staff time, use of space or equipment).

• Must be clearly identified in the  
budget form

• Must be valued at fair market value

Other Sources of Funding
Applicants must clearly outline the amount 
and source of all project funding. Verification 
of these funding sources may be requested 
through the assessment process.

Page 172 of 358



14   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

Examples Total 
Project 
Budget

Program 
Contribution 

Applicant 
Contribution*

Other 
Sources of 
Funding

Development 
Grant Example 1

› $100,000 › $80,000
(80%)

› $20,000 minimum
(Can include up to 
$10,000 in-kind)

$0

Development 
Grant Example 2

› $150,000 › $100,000
(maximum 
amount)

› $30,000 minimum
(Can include up to 
$15,000 in-kind)

$20,000

Implementation 
Grant Example 1

› $1,000,000 › $800,000
(80%)

› $200,000 minimum
(Can include up to 
$100,000 in-kind)

$0

Implementation 
Grant Example 2

› $1,500,000 › $1,000,000
(maximum 
amount)

› $250,000
(Can include up to 
$100,000 in-kind)

$250,000

*20% minimum confirmed contribution (up to $250,000) direct from applicant required - up to 10% of this can be
provided in-kind. Project costs not covered by REDIP funding and direct applicant contribution can be covered by
other sources of funding such as federal grants.

Page 173 of 358



 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 15

Project Timelines |

Project timelines must meet the following timeframes:

Economic Capacity Economic Diversification and 
Forest Impact Transition

Project Start • Project activities must start within
six months of approval and
acceptance of funds.

• Project activities must start
within one year of approval
and acceptance of funds.

Project 
Completion

• Year 1 activities must be completed
within one year of project start.

• Year 2 activities must be completed
within a year of approval and
acceptance of Year 2 funding.

• Project activities must be
completed within two years
of project start (i.e., one
construction season)

• When applying for a single phase of a larger infrastructure project, the phase must
independently result in outcomes which align with REDIP objectives and be useable
infrastructure even if subsequent phases do not proceed.

• Project timelines should consider relevant supply chain delays, permit approval timelines
and availability of contractors and consultants.

Supporting Documentation |

Applications require the following documentation:
• Project budget (completed using the REDIP-EC or REDIP-ED/FIT budget template)
• Partnership letter(s) (only if partners are listed)

The following documents may be added to an application, as applicable: 
• Quotes
• Project plans
• List of permits or approvals needed
• Funding confirmation or commitment

Page 174 of 358



16   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

How Applications will be Assessed |

The following merit-based process is used to evaluate applications: 
• The REDIP application is received online and is reviewed for eligibility.
• The assessment panel evaluates eligible applications using the assessment criteria below

and determines the level of funding and/or conditions on payment of awards.
• Program staff may conduct due diligence with other ministries to gather expert feedback

regarding the feasibility and/or funding of proposed projects. Experts may review project-
specific information provided in the application form.

• The program area informs each applicant of the assessment panel’s decision. Decisions
are expected on or before March 31, 2023.

Component Criteria
Scoring

EC ED FIT

Project Need • Describes the details of the project clearly and
demonstrates why the project is needed.

• Preference will be given to Indigenous, small and remote
communities; and communities that identify/exhibit the 
strongest need for support with economic development 
capacity. 

20 14 10

Project Benefits ALL FUNDING CATEGORIES:
• Identifies clear and tangible community benefits resulting

from the project.
• Clearly describes how/why project activities will achieve

intended outcomes.
REDIP-ED AND REDIP-FIT 
• Identifies and clearly demonstrates how the project will

bring economic benefits to the community.
• Details how the project will help create good, sustainable

jobs in the community.
• If project includes infrastructure costs, describes why it is

needed to support community economic development.

14 30 20

Project 
Timeline

• Demonstrates that the project is thoroughly planned and
ready for implementation.

• Includes information on any permits, permissions or other
steps that are required for the project to be implemented
and completed.

• Provides clear project milestones, with appropriate
timelines, and describes how they will be completed
successfully.

10 10 8

Page 175 of 358



 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 17

Project Budget • Contains detailed descriptions and accurate estimates of 
projects costs.

• Demonstrates costs are direct and essential to project 
implementation and are clearly linked to project activities 
described in the application.

10 15 15

Project Risk & 
Feasibility

ALL FUNDING CATEGORIES:
• Demonstrates clear consideration for potential 

environmental impacts and presents mitigation strategies.
• Identifies potential risk factors (cost overruns, timeline 

delays) and sufficient mitigation strategies. 
REDIP-ED AND REDIP-FIT:
• Demonstrates that the organization has the resources  

and skills to complete the project.

6 11 11

Community 
Support / 
Planning

• Provides strong linkages between project activities and 
community planning. 10 10 8

Diversity, 
Inclusion and 
Reconciliation

• Demonstrates that the project has the support of 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities.

• Demonstrates organizational commitment to diversity, 
inclusion and Indigenous reconciliation.

• Considers the potential impacts of the project on all 
community members.

10 10 8

Applicant  
Self-assessment

• Preference will be given to organizations or communities 
with limited capacity to address economic development 
challenges.

20 - -

Forest Impacts REDIP-EC AND REDIP-ED:
• Forest Impacts questions will not affect the scoring. 

Some projects submitted under these streams may be 
considered for funding under REDIP-FIT.

REDIP-FIT:
• Applicants must self-identify recent, ongoing or 

anticipated forest sector economic impacts to be eligible 
for funding.

- - 20

Total 100 100 100

Page 176 of 358



18   |  THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM

Receiving REDIP Funding |

Grant Agreements
Awarding of funding to successful 
applicants is conditional upon finalization 
of a grant agreement that sets out the 
terms and conditions of the funding. The 
program reserves the right to award partial 
contributions of the total funding request.

• Successful REDIP-EC applicants receive
an initial payment upon signing of the
grant agreement and the remaining
payment in year two, conditional on
the submission of a progress report.

• Successful REDIP-ED/FIT applicants
receive a one-time grant payment
upon signing of the grant agreement.

The total amount of the grant payable will 
not exceed the amount noted in the grant 
agreement. The recipient is responsible for 
all costs over and above the grant amount, 
including cost overruns, ineligible/eligible 
costs, ongoing maintenance and operating 
costs associated with the operations of the 
completed project.

Reporting
As per the grant agreements, funding 
recipients are required to submit project 
progress reports and a final report that 
outlines the project’s performance and 
outcomes. Further details on reporting 
requirements will be provided to successful 
applicants. 

Recognition of Provincial Funders
Recognition of funding support from the 
Province of British Columbia should be 
acknowledged in all promotional events 
and materials, both print and online. The 
approved provincial logo and graphics 
standards are available online in a variety of 
ready-to-use digital formats.

The grant agreement for successful applicants 
has further information on requirements.

Confidentiality 
and Support |

Freedom of Information
Applications submitted under the program 
are subject to the Freedom of Information 
and Protection of Privacy Act. The information 
being collected is for the purpose of 
administering the program and evaluating 
eligibility under the program. The names 
and locations of successful award recipients 
may be published, along with the amount of 
the award, in various communications and 
promotional vehicles in the Province of British 
Columbia. Applications, in whole or in part, 
may be shared with other provincial ministries 
as part of the due diligence process. 

Conflict of Interest/Confidentiality
All documents received by the program 
are treated as confidential. Program staff 
uphold the standards for conflict of interest 
and confidentiality required by all B.C. public 
service employees.

Contact Information and 
Application Support
If you have a question that is not addressed 
in this program guide or the website 
(gov.bc.ca/redip), support is available from 
program staff at ruraldevelopment@gov.bc.ca 
or by calling 250-356-7950.

Page 177 of 358

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content?id=A1DA8CBF520D452DA91D81FD2FD05B27


 THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM | 19

Appendix A: Definitions |

• Indigenous communities and 
organizations: 

 ⸰ A band council within the meaning of 
Section 2 of the Indian Act

 ⸰ An Indigenous development 
corporation;

 ⸰ A First Nation, Inuit or Métis 
government or authority established 
pursuant to a self-government 
agreement or a comprehensive land 
claim agreement between His Majesty 
the King in Right of Canada and an 
Indigenous people of Canada, that 
has been approved, given effect and 
declared valid by federal legislation;

 ⸰ A First Nation, Inuit or Métis 
government that is established by 
or under legislation whether federal 
or provincial that incorporates a 
governance structure; or

 ⸰ An incorporated not-for-profit 
organization whose central mandate 
is to improve Indigenous outcomes, 
working in collaboration with one 
or more of the Indigenous entities 
referred to above, a local government, 
or British Columbia.

• Local government: 
 ⸰ An incorporated municipality; or
 ⸰ A regional district applying for an 
electoral area or unincorporated 
community. 

• Not-for-profit:
 ⸰ An organization incorporated as a 
not-for-profit corporation or society 
formed under an Act of Canada or the 
Province of British Columbia and in 
good standing under the relevant Act; 

 ⸰ Not-for-profit co-operatives 
incorporated as community service 
co-ops under the B.C. Co-operative 
Association Act are considered eligible 
as a not-for-profit organization.

 ⸰ Operating primarily for community 
benefit, and a provider of programs 
that benefit the community and not 
solely its members’ interest.

Page 178 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

1. Overview 

PLEASE READ THE RURAL ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

PROGRAM (REDIP) INFORMATION GUIDE before completing this application form. It 

is important to review the eligibility and selection criteria and submit a fully completed 

application online by January 4, 2023 (1:00PM PST). 

NOTE: This Word/PDF version of the application form is intended to help applicants 

prepare their responses in advance of submitting an online application. The online 

application will include a preliminary eligibility assessment that will prompt applicants to 

verify their eligibility for funding. Aside from this, all questions included in the online 

application form are included in this Word/PDF version. Please review eligibility 

requirements outlined in the REDIP Program Guide prior to preparing your application. 

While all efforts have been made to ensure consistency, some questions may appear in a 

different format or order in the online application form. The online application form is 

dynamic, meaning you can use navigation bars to go back and forth through sections 

prior to submitting. Some questions are responsive: additional questions will appear 

based on your responses. 

The online application form will auto-save while you work on it, even if you close your 

browser window. If you clear your browser history or select “Start Over” progress will be 

lost.  To ensure progress is not lost, we recommend saving a back-up of your answers in 

this Word/PDF version of the application form. When you start an online application, we 

recommend bookmarking the link for easier access to your in-progress application.   

  

Page 179 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

ALL TEXT-BASED QUESTIONS CAN BE ANSWERED IN BULLET FORM 

REDIP - Contact Information   

Rural Policy and Programs Branch 

Phone: (250) 356-7950  

Email: ruraldevelopment@gov.bc.ca  

 

2. Funding Category 
1) Which funding category are you applying for?  

☐ Economic Diversification – REDIP-ED (80% of project costs) 

Development (Max. $100,000)  

Implementation (Max $1M) 

☐ Forest Impact Transition – REDIP-FIT (Max $500,000, 100% of project costs) 

 

Applicant Contact Information 

Legal Name of Lead Applicant: The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 

Primary Contact Name:    

Kaelin Chambers 

Title of Primary Contact:     

Economic Development Officer 

Phone Number:        

250-400-9015 

Email Address:       

KChambers@Cumberland.ca 

Lead Applicant Organization Mailing Address:  

2673 Dunsmuir Avenue 

Cumberland BC 

V0R 1S0 

Signatory Contact Name/Title: 

Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 

Phone Number:       250-336-2291 Email Address:     MMason@Cumberland.ca   

Page 180 of 358

mailto:ruraldevelopment@gov.bc.ca


Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

In the future, would you like to be informed about our programs via email 

communications?  YES 

 

 

 

3. Applicant Information 

1. Who is the lead applicant for this project? (Select One) 

☒Local Government ☐Regional District ☐Non-for-profit 

☐Indigenous Community or 

Organization 

☐Indigenous Development Corporation 

 

2. Please tell us about your organization and describe any key economic 

development priorities or goals the organization has for the community. 

Cumberland’s Economic Development Strategy was developed to guide economic development and 
decision-making in Cumberland. It provides a long-term vision and implementation framework for 
economic development initiatives that can be completed between 2018 and 2023. 

In implementing the key components of the Strategy, the Village has been working to increase the 
number and value of non-residential tax streams, improve its economic diversity, business growth 
potential and employment opportunities for all Cumberland residents.  

Cumberland is experiencing strong demand for, and under-supply of available employment lands. 
Encouraging the growth and development of these lands has become a key interest of the Village to 
generate opportunities to diversify its tax base.  

These factors are a key focus of the Economic Development Strategy, through the Investment 
Attraction Action Plan and Bevan Industrial Land Concept Plan which recommend the Village be 
better investment-ready by better identifying and facilitating opportunities to develop lands, 
properties and major projects that meets the community’s needs and interests. The Village aims to 
build on the recent success of attracting investment in the new 6-lot industrial subdivision within the 
Bevan Lands, including construction of a new 30,000 ft2 facility for Tree Island Yogurt.  

Further direction from the Strategy, around Village Core Improvements and policies/incentives to 
support active use of vacant properties, is being driven by the Village’s Properties and Facilities 
Review process. This work is currently guiding how the Village can leverage its limited land holdings to 
finance the redevelopment of civic facilities and facilitate further commercial development in the 
community. 

 

Maximum 250 Words 

3. Are there project partners? 

☐ Yes (If yes, answer questions 4-6 below) 

☒ No (If no, move forward to Section 4) 

Page 181 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

4. Who is/are the project partner(s)? (Select all that apply) 

☐Local Government ☐Indigenous Community or Organization 

☐Regional District ☐Indigenous Development Corporation 

☐Industry Organization  ☐Not-For-Profit Organization 

☐Business ☐Non-Indigenous Development Corporation 

☐Community Foundation 

 

☐Post-Secondary Institution 

 

  

Page 182 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

5. Please provide the name and contact information for all project partners. 

Online application allows for more than 1 partner to be submitted. 

Project Partner Information 

Primary Contact Name:        Title of Primary Contact:        

Phone Number:        Email Address:        

Please attach partnership(s) letter to your application.  

 

6. Project partners must have an active role in the project but are not required to 

contribute financially. Please describe the role of all partners listed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 250 Words 

4. Project Information 

1. Project title: 

The Village of Cumberland Investment and Development Readiness Project 

 

 

2. Please briefly describe your project in 1-2 sentences (This answer may be used for 

public communications). 

The Village of Cumberland Investment and Development Readiness Project will guide how the Village 
can strategically facilitate private commercial development, such as the Bevan Industrial Lands. It’ll 
also provide the organization with guidance in managing its land portfolio, specifically the Union Road 
Lands, through land value capture and disposition, for the redevelopment of civic facilities and 
facilitate new commercial development in the community. The Project will consider and include three 
specific study components, including: 

• Fiscal Impact Analysis on New or potential Development, including an Industrial, Commercial 
and Investment (ICI) Inventory Assessment  

• Development and Servicing Strategy for Union Road Lands 

Page 183 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

Maximum 100 Words 

  

Page 184 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

3. What project type best describes your project?  

REDIP – Economic Diversification - Development 

☒Feasibility study 

☒Business plan  

☐Program design  

☒Service planning 

☒Infrastructure plans (Please answer question 14 if selected) 

☐ Other [please specify] 

REDIP – Economic Diversification - Implementation 

☐  New or enhanced program delivery  

☐ New or enhanced service delivery  

☐ Construction of a new asset  (Please answer question 14 if selected) 

☐ Preservation of an existing asset  (Please answer question 14 if selected) 

☐Other [please specify] 
REDIP – Forest Impact Transition 

☐Feasibility study 

☐Business plan  

☐Program design  

☐Service planning 

☐Infrastructure plans (Please answer question 14 if selected) 

☐  New or enhanced program delivery  

☐ New or enhanced service delivery  

☐ Construction of a new asset  (Please answer question 14 if selected) 

☐ Preservation of an existing asset  (Please answer question 14 if selected) 

☐Other [please specify] 

 

4. Please select the BC Economic Development Region where the project will take 

place: 

☐Thompson/Okanagan ☐Northeast ☒Vancouver Island/Coast 

☐Mainland/Southwest ☐Cariboo ☐Nechako 

☐North Coast ☐Kootenay  

 

1) Please provide the Regional District where the project will take place. 

The online application form will provide a list of Regional Districts based on your 

selection of BC Economic Development Region. 

 

Page 185 of 358

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/data/geographic-data-services/land-use/administrative-boundaries/census-boundaries


Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

 

2) Which community(ies) will be directly served by the project? 

 

The Village of Cumberland (pop. 4,447) will directly benefit from the Project, along with the 
adjacent municipalities of Courtenay and Comox who collectively comprise the urban core of the 

Comox Valley Regional District (CVRD)(Pop. 72,445). 

 

 

 

3) Please tell us about the community(ies). What are they key economic sector or 

drivers within the community(ies)? 
The Village along with the adjacent municipalities of Courtenay and Comox comprise the urban core 
of the Comox Valley Regional District (CVRD), which has a total population of approximately 72,445 of 
which 4,447 people live in Cumberland (2021 census population).   

Locally, the Village of Cumberland is a community in transition. According to recent Census data, the 
community’s population increased by 18.5 % from 2016 to 2021, more than twice the growth rate 
experienced in the CVRD region (8.9%). Cumberland residents are also younger with an average age 
of 39 years in 2021, as compared to an average of 51 years in the CVRD. Recognizing this change, the 
Cumberland Official Community Plan (OCP) indicates that known development could bring more than 
4,000 new housing units in future years, and that the population could reach 8,500 by 2030.  

As identified within the Village’s Investment Attraction Action Plan (2020), the Village has the capacity 
to accommodate growth in employment land demand over the coming decades. At current 
absorption rates, the demand for employment land in the Comox Valley will significantly exceed the 
supply soon. The Bevan industrial area and the Highway 19 interchange lands (of which Union Road is 
a part) represent the most significant opportunities to support this growth, while also providing 
additional economic benefit to both the Village and the greater CVRD.  

 

 

(Maximum 250 Words) 

5. What community need, or opportunity are you trying to address?  

In implementing the Economic Development Strategy, the Village has been working to expand its 
non-residential tax streams in the community, improve its economic diversity, business growth 
potential and employment opportunities for all Cumberland residents. 

Currently 74.0% of Village tax revenue is generated via residential taxes, with 18.0% of revenue 
through business taxes, 2.0% via light industry, and 4.0% from other property classes. To respond 

appropriately to the Village’s dependence on residential growth, Cumberland looks to create a better 

Page 186 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

balance of tax revenue by improving the community’s investment readiness by assessing the fiscal 
impacts of new and/or proposed developments in the community. 

Municipal facilities including the administration office, public works yard and recreation centre 
located in the downtown core are also nearing the end of their useful life and there is a need to plan 
for their replacement. The Village also owns land on the periphery, at Union Road. There is an 
opportunity to move the public works facility out of the downtown core to free up land to pursue 
more suitable uses and to further economic development and downtown revitalization. A further 
opportunity exists to fund this redevelopment through land value capture and disposition of surplus 
land at Union Road.   

Maximum 200 Words 

6. What are the intended outcomes of the project? 

The intended outcomes of the Project are to ensure that the Village is an investment ready 
community and able to best guide/facilitate opportunities to diversify its non-residential tax base. By 
acting on recommendations towards a better understanding of the economic, commercial, and 
industrial potential of the Village’s employment lands, by: 

• Identifying and tracking key industrial, commercial and investment lands and/or properties. 
This includes utilized, vacant and underutilized commercial and/or industrial lands, their 
servicing characteristics, and locational attributes.  

• Quantifying the industrial and/or commercial land use demand in the Village to evaluate 

how/where the current supply of investment land can accommodate future 
demand/interest.  

• Establishing a projection of potential demand of new development on municipal services and 
budgets and identify whether the property tax revenues from new and/or future 
developments will balance out incurred costs. 

• A land use plan for Village-owned land at Union Road to outline land value capture prior to 
disposition. This includes a plan for future use, Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw 
amendment, and servicing, prior to disposition of surplus land.  

• The plan for disposition of surplus land at Union Road will allow for planning to begin for 
moving the public works facility out of the downtown core. 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

7. How will the project achieve its intended outcomes? 

The Village intends to utilize qualified professional(s) to complete the needed project 
components/studies all of which will be coordinated/managed by Village staff.  

Page 187 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

The Project will consider and include three specific study components to achieve the 
intended outcomes, including: 

• Industrial, Commercial and Investment Lands Assessment - Identifies and inventories key 
industrial, commercial and investment lands and/or properties in the Village. This includes 
utilized, vacant and underutilized commercial and/or industrial lands, their servicing 
characteristics, and locational attributes.  

• Fiscal Impact Analysis on New or Proposed Development – Estimates the public cost of new 
development, by undertaking a projection of the direct, current, and public costs and 
revenues associated with new and/or proposed growth/development  

• Development and Servicing Strategy for Village Owned Lands at Union Road - To be 
developed in four phases: due diligence land analysis (environmental and civil engineering), 
concept development, appraisal and financial feasibility modelling, and community 
engagement planning. 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

  

Page 188 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

8. In bullet form, what economic sector(s) will this project contribute to?  

The Investment Readiness Project will facilitate the investment/development of new 

industrial and commercial spaces, support the growth and diversification of the 

Village’s non-residential tax base and provide employment opportunities to all 

residents of the Comox Valley  

Maximum 50 Words 

9. How will your project contribute to economic development or diversification?  

a) Creating new business in an established industry in the community 

☐   None ☐   Little ☐ Moderate ☒ Strong ☐   Very Strong 

b) Increasing revenue for local businesses or organizations 

☐   None ☐   Little ☒ Moderate ☐ Strong ☐   Very Strong 

c) Supporting a new or emerging industry or sector 

☐   None ☐   Little ☐ Moderate ☒ Strong ☐   Very Strong 

d) Attracting investments to the community 

☐   None ☐   Little ☐ Moderate ☒ Strong ☐   Very Strong 

e) Attracting skilled workers to the community 

☐   None ☐   Little ☐ Moderate ☒ Strong ☐   Very Strong 

f) Increasing tourist visitation 

☒   None ☐   Little ☐ Moderate ☐ Strong ☐   Very Strong 

g) Supporting clean growth opportunities 

☒   None ☐   Little ☐ Moderate ☐ Strong ☐   Very Strong 

 

  

Page 189 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

10. Please explain how your project will contribute to outcome(s) selected above.  

a) Creating new business in an established industry in the community – Access to 
affordable and available industrial and commercial land in the community is currently limiting 
potential economic growth. Currently, many local businesses have had to relocate to larger 
neighbouring communities to find their needed growth opportunities. Likewise, many local businesses 
have purposefully limited their growth potential so that they may remain in the community. 

Encouraging the growth of industrial/commercial lands in the Village (and region) and increasing the 
supply of available commercial land/development will help maintain more affordable property costs 
and encourage growth/incubation of small-medium businesses. 

b) Increasing revenue for local businesses or organizations – Advancing the Village’s 
investment and development readiness initiatives will create a variety of opportunities for local 
businesses by facilitating business growth/expansion, attracting new and complimentary industry to 
the area, facilitating the re-organization of industrial spaces, and expanding our regional workforce 
capacity and skills. 

The community’s lack of commercial and industrial space has created a barrier in the growth and 
expansion of emerging industries and sectors in the community. Taking steps to improve the 
availability and potential affordability of commercial spaces in the Village will help improve the 
profitability of local businesses and/or organizations. 

c) Supporting a new or emerging industry or sector – As identified within the 
Investment Attraction Action Plan there are several key industries and/or sectors emerging because 
of recent community growth. Specifically, the Village has seen an increase in interest/operations 
related to outdoor recreation (mountain biking, hiking), health and wellness (ie physio and massage 
therapy) and construction trades.  Likewise, recent development within the Bevan industrial lands has 
brought new industries to the community such as food production, warehousing, and professional 
services. 

In undertaking a commercial, industrial and investment lands and buildings inventory, including a list 
of major development projects and assets in Cumberland, the Village will be better able to identify 
and facilitate development that best meets the community’s needs and interests. This includes an 
opportunity to leverage Village owned lands to contribute to the needed economic growth while also 
addressing its own civic infrastructure needs.  

d) Attracting investments to the community – These works will support the Village in 
becoming a more investment ready community by identifying and promoting lands, properties and 
major projects that provide the most benefit to the community. There are several potential 
investment and development projects in Cumberland, including Bevan industrial lands, which is the 
largest supply of future industrial land in Comox Valley and the Highway 19 Interchange Lands within 
which the Village has some land holdings/interests (ie The Union Road Lands).  

Through the Village’s facilities and properties review process, the Union Road Lands have been 
identified as an opportunity for the Village to utilize land disposition to fund the development of a 
new Public Works facility and instigate further commercial investment in the community.  

e) Attracting skilled workers to the community- Advancing the Village’s investment and 
development readiness initiatives will create a variety of opportunities for local businesses by 
facilitating business growth/expansion, attracting new and complimentary industry to the area, 

Page 190 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

facilitating the re-organization of industrial spaces, and expanding our regional workforce capacity 
and skills. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 150 Words/per outcome 

11. Will this project create direct jobs in the community? 

☐ Yes  ☒ No Skip to question 12. 

If yes, please provide an estimate of the total number of jobs created by your project: 

Full Time   

Part-time   

Casual   

Seasonal   

 

12. Please describe how the project will create jobs in the community 

Completion of this Project is anticipated to generate limited direct job opportunities in the Village.  

However, when undertaking public projects, the Village of Cumberland uses a social procurement 
framework to leverage public dollars and achieve desirable and targeted social impact for the Village 
through competitive bid and purchasing activities.  

The Village’s procurement framework expands on the traditional understanding of “best value” to 
include positive societal benefits, alongside high quality, and competitive bids. Any contractor 
selected to undertake this project will be required to meet the needs and expectations of this policy, 
including factors such as paying living wages, and hiring diversely and locally.  

For the Village, infrastructure projects, such as the servicing of the Union Road Lands, are intended to 
improve the well-being of a community affected by the project, including local job creation and 
training opportunities (including for apprentices), improvement of public space, and any further 
benefits identified by the community. 

 

 

Page 191 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

  

Page 192 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

13. Will some or all jobs continue after the project end date?  

 If yes: Please describe how these positions will be sustained long-term or until 

their completion 

All jobs directly related to this work will not continue past the completion of the work. 

However, the outcomes of this work will facilitate further/future commercial and industrial 
development in the community that will result in greater employment options for all residents of the 
Comox Valley  

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

14. How will the proposed infrastructure support community economic 

development? 

The Development and Servicing Strategy for Village Lands component of the Project will explore the 
feasibility options for redeveloping the Village owned Union Road Lands, including a conceptual 
servicing plan for the parcel.  

The servicing of the Union Road Lands is a key community economic development opportunity for 
both the Village and greater CVRD region. These lands are also strategically located adjacent to the 
proposed mixed-use development (i.e., interchange Lands). The Interchange Lands include a 
proposed 700-acre development, consisting of retail, restaurants, hotels, and housing. The 
development has an approved comprehensive development agreement with the Village and 
discussions with the proponent are ongoing. The Village is looking to utilize opportunities in the Union 
Road Lands to capitalize on current demand in the area and facilitate commercial and/or economic 
development opportunities for the adjacent parcels.  

Similarly, undertaking an additional fiscal analysis of the Village’s commercial industrial and 
investment lands will guide future Village plans and decision-making with respect to community 
economic development. Specifically, it will help in determining the potential demand that new 
development places on municipal services and budgets and identify whether the flow of new property 
tax revenues from a new development will balance out the incurred costs. 

 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

5. Project Timeline 

1. When will the project start? 

April 1st, 2023 or immediately upon receiving funding  

2. When is the project expected to be complete? 

Page 193 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

September 1st, 2024 

 

  

Page 194 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

3. Please provide a project timeline with up to ten project milestones. If your 

project requires obtaining permits and approvals include the time required to 

obtain them in the project timeline.  

For each milestone, please include estimate completion (month, year) and a description 

of milestone (maximum 100 words) 

1. April 1, 2023 – Release Project RFP seeking qualified professional(s) and/or 

award contracts (procurement process varies depending on project 

component) 

 

 

2. May 1, 2023 – Select project consultant(s) 

 

 

3. June 1, 2023 – Complete existing conditions and due diligence reports 

required to inform Project components/studies 

 

 

4. August 1, 2023 – Complete/Finalize FIA and ICI studies 

 

 

5. September 1, 2023 – Complete concept development for Union Road  

 

 

6. February, 2024 – Complete appraisal and financial feasibility modelling for 

Union Road 

 

 

7. June 2024 – Complete community engagement planning for Union Road 

 

 

8. September 2024 – Complete development and servicing plan for Union Road 

 

 

9.  

 

 

Commented [CS1]: I think only month needed, not also 
day 

Page 195 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

10.  

 

 

 

  

Page 196 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

 

6. Project Budget 

1. Please complete and submit the separate detailed Budget Form, available on the 

REDIP website, including eligible and ineligible costs, application contributions 

and other sources of funding.   

2. Total Project Cost:  

$116,838 

3. Funding Request from REDIP: 

$97,125 

 

4. Total Applicant Contribution (REDIP – ED projects only) 

Cash contributions: $10,000 

In-kind contributions: $10,000 

 

5. Other Sources of Government Funding (if applicable)  

No other funding sources 

 

  

Page 197 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

7. Project Risk and Feasibility  

1. Please provide any relevant details about how the budget was prepared (e.g., 

from where did you receive quotes, how recent are the quotes etc.)? 

The budget was prepared by reviewing/discussing similar existing studies completed by neighbouring 
communities and/or municipalities of the same size/demographic. 
Where available, staff members also connected directly with firms/consultants experienced in this 
work to ascertain the appropriate costs/budget. 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 words 

2. How will you address an overrun in project costs that meets or exceeds the 

contingency provided in the budget?  

When undertaking planning studies/projects such as these, the Village utilizes a ‘not to exceed’ clause 
in its contractor agreements. This clause establishes a maximum amount payable to a contractor for 
the work under a time and materials contract. 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 words 

3. Please identify any potential project risk factors (such as permit delays, timeline 

changes, troubles getting materials or finding staff) and your plan to mitigate and 

address them if they occur. 

The potential risks in completing this project on time/budget are minimal as the Village has the 
needed capacity to manage the project. Likewise, the project is not an infrastructure project and does 
not have permitting requirements or requires the purchase of material. 
 
Some risk does exist in identifying/selecting a single contractor for the complete breadth of 
prescribed works, particularly with respect to the development and servicing works at Union Road. 
Likewise, some risk also exists in the availability of consultants experienced in completing this work.  
 
However, the Village has identified existing contractors that can complete each of the required works 
and does have the means/capacity to act as project manager and coordinate each component as an 
individual study/contractor (if required). 
 
Respecting the Village is a small organization; additional risk mitigation has been built into this Project 
by hiring a project manager to oversee the Project itself. 

Maximum 300 words 

4. Who will own the completed infrastructure? 

Page 198 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

The Village of Cumberland 

 

Maximum 100 words 

5. Please describe who will be responsible for ongoing operational costs and 

maintenance of the project when complete. 

Once complete, the Village will be responsible for any ongoing operational costs and/or maintenance 
from implementing the project.  

 

Maximum 200 words 

6. Are there potential environmental impacts of the project to consider. If yes, 

please describe the impacts and how they might be mitigated 

For the Union Road portion of the project, an environmental assessment will be conducted as a first 
step to ensure that the development and servicing plan is designed to mitigate any environmental 
impacts. 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 words 

7. Please describe the resources and skills of your organization and project 

partners (if applicable) to manage and complete the project, including past 

achievements or experience implementing similar projects. 

The Village of Cumberland is a full-service municipality with experienced, qualified staff and resources 
required to manage and complete this project. 
The Village also has a successful record in effectively utilizing rural economic development funding to 
complete key economic development initiatives in the community including: 

• The Cumberland Economic Development Strategy (2017) 

• Hiring of an Economic Development Coordinator (2018) 

• Completion of Key Projects from the Economic Development Strategy such as: 
o The Cumberland Investment Attraction Action Plan (2020) 
o The Bevan Industrial Lands Conceptual Master Plan (2020) 
o The Cumberland Economic Development Web-portal (2020) 

• Union Road Watermain Servicing Project (2021) 

 

 

 

 
 

Maximum 300 words 

Page 199 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

8. Supporting Documentation 

1. If applicable, you may attach any of the following documents in support of your project 

if they have been acquired. Please do not provide community plans or feasibility studies. 

· Project quotes/plans 

· Letters of support 

· Permits or list of permits 

· Funding Confirmation 

 

Property and facilities review – refer to confidential report in text but include one-pager.  

Page 200 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

9. Community Support/Planning 

1. How does the project support existing community or economic plans? 

The need for the associated works of this Project is identified within a variety of existing community 
or economic plans, including: 

• The Cumberland Economic Development Strategy (2018-2023) 

• The Cumberland Investment Attraction Action Plan (2020) 

• The Bevan Industrial Lands Conceptual Master Plan (2020) 

• The Bevan Lands Implementation Plan (2022) 

• The Cumberland Facilities and Properties Review (2022- confidential report) 
Collectively, these documents represent a means of completing a key strategic priority in the Village. 
Specifically, to increase the number and value of non-residential tax streams in the community, 
improve its economic diversity, business growth potential and employment opportunities for 
Cumberland residents of all ages.  

 

Maximum 200 words 

2. Is there community support for the project either through public consultation or 

letters of support? 

☒ Yes (Answer #3 Below) ☐ In Progress (#3 below) ☐ No (Answer #4 Below)  

 

3. Please describe this support and how it is demonstrated. 

The development of the commercial and industrial lands is identified as a community priority within 
the Economic Development Strategy and Council’s Strategic Priorities. The creation of these 
documents included extensive public engagement. 
The overall validity and/or public acceptance of this project will carry minimal risk, as related 
community and stakeholder engagement on the strategies/plans initiatives involved in this Project 
includes strong industry and community input and support for the described works. 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

4. Please explain why not. Are there barriers to acquiring community support or 

engaging in public consultation? 

There have been no barriers to acquiring community support or engaging in public 

consultation with respect to the Project initiatives 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

  

Page 201 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

10. Diversity, Inclusion and Reconciliation  

1. Is there Indigenous support for this project either through engagement or 

partnerships? Indigenous applicants can skip to question 4.  

☐ Yes (Answer #2 Below) ☒ In Progress (#2 below) ☐ No (Answer #3 Below)  

 

2. Please describe this support and how it is demonstrated. 

In respecting Cumberland is located within the unceded territory of the K’omoks First Nation, the 
Village has endeavored to work transparently and/or in collaboration with the K’omoks people on 
plans/projects that may impact indigenous rights, values, or interests.  
The respective staff/councils from the Village and K’omoks First Nation have scheduled quarterly 
meetings to discuss a variety of interests, including key works currently being completed by the 
Village, including this Project.  
Respecting the limited capacity of K’omoks First Nation to meet the demand of all Comox Valley 
communities seeking project input, this application includes budget ($5,000) to ensure their 
participation in the Project should they express interest.    

 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

3. Please explain why not. Are there barriers to acquiring Indigenous support or 

engaging with Indigenous community(ies)? 

 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

4. What are the potential impacts of the project on all community members (e.g., 

sex, gender, ethnicity, race, culture, language, age, ability, geography, economic 

status)? How have these impacts been identified and understood? 

Yes, impacts of the project on community members have been considered/discussed through 
extensive public engagement as part of the 2018 Economic Development Strategy, 2020 Bevan 
Industrial Lands Concept Master Plan and Cumberland Investment Attraction Action Plan, which 
provide the overarching direction and priority status needed to proceed with the project.  

Page 202 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

In addition, the Village’s social procurement policy will ensure that all related project works result in 
community benefits and/or opportunities for Village residents. 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

5. Does your organization have policy or guiding principles related to diversity, 

inclusion and/or Indigenous reconciliation? 

☒ Yes (Answer #6 below) ☐ No (Answer #7 below)  

 

6. Please describe the policy or guiding principles and how this project will 

strengthen diversity, inclusion and/or Indigenous reconciliation. 

The Village’s social procurement policy will ensure the Village receives additional social and economic 
benefits because of project works. This policy ensures that Village contractors intend to create 
employment/training opportunities arising from the construction or maintenance of Village facilities, 
including youth and at-risk youth; aboriginal persons; women; newcomers to Canada or retiring 
veterans, transitioning into new careers. 
The key social, employment and economic goals that the Village’s Social Procurement framework and 
Community Benefit Clauses work to address, includes:  

• Promote the Living Wage and fair employment practices.  

• Improve access to contracts for micro, small business and social enterprises.  

• Increase the number of local jobs that support young working families.  

• Increase social inclusion by improving contract access for equity-seeking groups, such as 
social enterprises.  

• Increase training and apprenticeship opportunities.  

• Help move people out of poverty, providing increased independence and sustainable 
employment for those in need.  

• Improve opportunities for meaningful independence and community inclusion for citizens 
living with disabilities; and  

• To stimulate an entrepreneurial culture of social innovation  

 

Maximum 200 Words 

7. How will this project help strengthen diversity, inclusion and/or Indigenous 

reconciliation within your organization and community? 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

Page 203 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

  

Page 204 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

11. Forest-Sector Impacts 

1. How dependent is your community on the forestry sector? Please answer 

questions 2 and 3 if you answered moderately, dependent, or very dependent.  

☐   Not at all ☒   Little ☐ Moderately ☐ Dependent ☐   Very Dependent 

 

2. Please describe the forestry sector’s role in your community. 

The forestry sector plays a limited role in the Village. There are no forestry sector businesses within 
the Village and only 4% of the Village’s labour force works within the agriculture, forestry, fishing and 
hunting industry as identified within the 2021 Census data.  

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

3. Has the forestry sector in your community been impacted, or is it projected to 

be impacted, by closures or curtailments within the sector or recent regulatory 

changes such as old growth deferrals and pauses in BC Timber Sales? If yes, please 

explain these impacts. 

The forestry sector in Cumberland is limited and direct economic impacts resulting from closures or 
curtailments within the sector or recent regulatory changes such as old growth deferrals and pauses 
in BC Timber Sales have been minimal. 

 

 

 

 

 

Maximum 200 Words 

  

Page 205 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

12. Applicant Feedback  

1. How did you learn about REDIP? 

☒   Press/Media announcement  
☐   Regional economic trust 
☐   Community organization  
☒   Government of BC Regional Manager 
☐   Word of mouth  
☐   Other [please specify]  

 

2. Have you applied to these provincial rural economic develop programs in the 

past? If yes, please answer question 3.  

☒   Rural Dividend  

☒   Community Economic Recovery Infrastructure Program 

 

3. Were you successful in receiving funding? 

☒ Yes  ☐ No   

 

4. How long did this application take you to complete? (In hours) 

12 hrs 

 

5. Do you any additional comments about the application process?  

The maximum word requirements can be difficult to manage and can limit how 

applicants effectively articulate/describe the proposed project need and scope.  

 

 

 

Maximum 250 Words 

 

Page 206 of 358



Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 
Application Questions: REDIP-ED and REDIP FIT 

13. Applicant Attestation  

 

☒  I have read the Attestation above and agree to all terms 

therein.  

By submitting this application, I confirm that I have the authority to submit this request and agree to 

the conditions described below. 

(a)   All information contained herein is correct and complete to the best of my knowledge; 

(b)   Awarding of funding to successful applicants will be conditional upon finalization of a grant 

agreement that sets out the terms and conditions of the funding; 

(c)   I consent to receiving email notifications regarding this application and any subsequent emails 

from the Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program or those working on behalf of the 

Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Program that relate to this application.  

  

Applications submitted under the program are subject to the Freedom of Information and Protection of 

Privacy Act. The information being collected is for the purpose of administering the program and will 

be used for the purpose of evaluating eligibility under the program.  

Information collected through the application process may be disclosed to Government of British 

Columbia staff outside the Rural Policy and Programs Branch in order to conduct due diligence on this 

application. 

In addition, the applicant organization’s name, location, funded activity, and award amount may be 

made publicly available, including worldwide by way of the Internet, should funding be awarded. 

Page 207 of 358



Description Total Quantity Per Unit Amount Total Cost

Salary and Wages

Salary and Wages Sub-Total: $0

Environmental Assessment 150.00 100.00 15,000.00

Civil Engineering Assessment 100.00 100.00 10,000.00

Engagement planning 19.00 125.00 2,375.00$                  

Council engagement 38.00 125.00 4,750.00$                  

Planning Sub-Total: $32,125

Design / Engineering Sub-Total: $0

Construction / Materials Sub-Total: $0

Contingency is generally reflective of the Class of Cost Estimate. 

Please find guidance on Cost Estimate Classes and related 

contingencies at the bottom of this document. 

Contingency Sub-Total: $0

Fiscal Impact Analysis Report 500.00 40/hr 20,000

Industrial, Commercial and Investment Lands Assessment 500.00 40/hr 20,000

Appraisal of Village Owned Land 125.00 80.00 10,000

Project Management for Village Owned Land 125.00 80.00 10,000

Consulting and Professional Fees Sub-Total: $60,000

Training Sub-Total: $0

Marketing and Promotion Sub-Total: $0

Salaries and other employment benefits specifically related to the 

project (up to 15% of total project costs).

Provide job title, wage rate, number of hours or months of employment.

ELIGIBLE COSTS

Infrastructure Costs

Non-Infrastructure Costs

Consulting and Professional Fees

List any costs associated with project management, business studies, 
and project-related professional fees.

Marketing and Promotion

Marketing or promotion-related costs or speaker stipends.

Training activities as part of the Eligible Project or to support the 
project.

Project Planning

For example, costs associated with environmental assessment, 

engagement and consultation, climate lens assessments, community 

employment benefit plans

Design / Engineering

Up to 15% of construction project costs can be engineering/consulting 

fees. 

Construction / Materials

Items should reflect the major components in your project without 

going into specific detail.

Contingency

Capital Purchases

Training

Page 208 of 358



Capital PurchasesSub-Total: $0

Travel and MeetingsSub-Total: $0

Program/Service Delivery Costs Sub-Total: $0

To facilate engagement with, and/or inclusion of K'omoks First Nation in the Project 125 hrs $40/hr 5,000

Other Eligible Costs Sub-Total: $5,000

 TOTAL ELIGIBLE COSTS*: $97,125

Description Source of Funding
Funding Confirmed 

(Y/N)?
Total Cost

Land Acquisition Cost

Leasing Land, Building and Other Facilities

Financing Charges

Legal Fees

Tax Rebate

Other

TOTAL INELIGIBLE COSTS*: $0

TOTAL GROSS PROJECT COSTS (Eligible + Ineligible)*: $97,125

*Totals must match totals in the Budget section of the Application Form.

REDIP Grant Request (auto calculated from Eligible Costs) 97,125.00

Description Total Amount
Applicant Financial Contribution (minimum 10% of total project costs up to $200,000) $10,000
Applicant In-Kind Contribution (maximum 10% of total project costs) $10,000

TOTAL APPLICANT CONTRIBUTION: $19,713

PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL PROJECT COSTS: 20%

Funding Source Description Total Amount

TOTAL OTHER FUNDING: $0

TOTAL PROJECT FUNDING: $116,838

Other Eligible Costs

PROJECT FUNDING

Applicant Contribution

Other Funding

REDIP Funding

Any eligible costs that do not fit under the above categories. 

INELIGIBLE COSTS

Capital purchases up to 35% of total project costs that are essential to 

project implementation, including: off-road vehicles, office equipment, 

and software and new technology.

Travel and Meetings 

Meals and travel-related expenses must be based on government per 

diem rates: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/careers/all-

employees/pay-and-benefits/appendix_1_travel_allowances.pdf

Program/Service Delivery Costs

Costs related to the delivery of economic development/diversification 

programs and services. 

Page 209 of 358



COUNCIL MEMBER 

REPORT 
 

 

DATE: January  3, 2022 

TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Councillor Brown 

SUBJECT: November/December 2022 Monthly Report 

 

Date Event Comments 

Nov 2 CV Substance 
Use Committee  

Working Group meeting 

Nov 4 Council Council Legal Orientation 

Nov 7 Council Council’s Inaugural Meeting and swearing in ceremony 

Nov 8 Council  Council Orientation – municipal operations & services, regulatory services 
 

Nov 9 Council Council orientation – Legislative and financial  

Nov 10 Council  Council Orientation – Land Use Planning and community development 

 CBA CBA AGM – New Board elected. 

Nov 11 Remembrance 
Day 

Remembrance Day at the Legion 

Nov 14 Council Regular Council Meeting 

Nov 18 Council Orientation – Capital projects and Operations Projects 

Nov 21 Housing 
Announcement 

Mayors Call with Minister of Municipal Affairs – Dialogue on Provincial Housing 
Announcement  
FMI: https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2022PREM0065-001745 

Nov 23 Safe Harbour Diversity and Inclusion Workshop  

Nov 24 Climate Caucus Climate Caucus Webinar: Pushing for Ambitious Climate Action at the Municipal 
Level 

Nov 25  Council Council Orientation – Capital and operating projects day 2 

Nov 25 Meeting  Meeting with Lee Everson to discus Gukwas sa Wagalus (Rainbow House) project 
and Kumugwe Cultural Society 

Nov 28  COTW Committee of the Whole 
 

 Council Regular Council Meeting 

Nov 29 BCSPI BC Social Procurement Initiative – co-chairs meeting with staff  

Nov 30 Workshop Climate biodiversity health nexus Integrated Food Systems Planning workshop 
FMI on the project: 
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/362001437_Exploring_food_systems

Page 210 of 358

https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2022PREM0065-001745
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/362001437_Exploring_food_systems_in_the_Comox_Valley_through_a_climate-biodiversity-health_lens_Preliminary_analysis_and_initial_insights


  

 

_in_the_Comox_Valley_through_a_climate-biodiversity-
health_lens_Preliminary_analysis_and_initial_insights 

Dec 1 Climate Caucus Learning and Unlearning – Working with Indigenous Peoples Session 1 

 Karver Meeting with CCS Principal and Karver/Grant to look for space for totems to be 
finished at CCSS 

 PAC Parents Advisory Committee at CCS to discuss safe routes and traffic calming in 
the area of the school 

Dec2 EcoForum Baynes Sound/Lambert Channel Ecoforum  
Discussion on threats to water quality and ecosystem health: 
Unmonitored septic, Education Needed around maintenance of systems, South 
Sewer project, Septic Smart course at CVRD 

Dec 3 Vista Radio Meeting with Robin Ram  - Opportunities  

 Leaders Lunch Lunch with Mayors and Chairs 

 COTW Team building – personality and values workshop 

Dec 4 Open House Holiday Reception with Colonel JP Gagnon (wing commander) 

Dec 5 Webinar Accelerating Climate Action through Circular Economy 
FMI: canadian circular cities 

Dec 6 Kwax dzi’dzas Update with Transition society and Dawn to Dawn on affordable housing project 

 Board Variance Legal seminar on the role and scope of Board of Variance 

 CVRD Regional Parks and Trails Orientation 

Dec 8 Celebration Honoring the service of Leslie Baird hosted by the Museum 

 Tree Light Up Launching the season with the tree light up and carols in Village Square 

Dec 9 ICET Board Meeting – Orientation and approval of project funding 

 BCSPI BC Social Procurement Steering Committee Meeting 
Elected Co-chair with Jenna Stoner from Squamish 

 APBC Meeting with Ambulance and Paramedics of BC – orientation and advocacy and 
an invite to include them in our community events 

Dec 12 Council Final Council Meeting of 2022 

Dec 15 VIHA Query into lease agreement finalization 

 Events Society Cumberland Events Society AGM 

Dec 16 NIC Meeting with Diane Naugler ED Community Engagement to discuss NIC Housing, 
opportunities for collaboration and partnership with NIC 

 Minister Kang Introductory call with Minister Kang – New Minister of Municipal Affairs 

Dec 19 LGPMR Local Government Policing Modernization Roundtable Meeting 
Confidential – continued discussion of recommendations 

Dec 20 Jet FM Mayors Minute radio interview 

   

 

Page 211 of 358

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/362001437_Exploring_food_systems_in_the_Comox_Valley_through_a_climate-biodiversity-health_lens_Preliminary_analysis_and_initial_insights
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/362001437_Exploring_food_systems_in_the_Comox_Valley_through_a_climate-biodiversity-health_lens_Preliminary_analysis_and_initial_insights
https://canadiancircularcities.ca/Pages/default.aspx


COUNCIL MEMBER 

REPORT 
 

 

DATE: January 3rd, 2023 

TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Councillor Neil Borecky  

SUBJECT: Monthly Report for December 2023 

 

Date Event Details 

15/12/22 CJC Meeting Met with the Community Justice Centre to discuss schedule and 
incoming Chief Administrator Karen (full name withheld) is the new 
Bruce Curtis (...not sure if that is public knowledge yet.)  Also looking 
for new patron for the CJC. Discussing the Capanola lecture series 
coming up in March. Crown Isle may sponsor the dinner.  

15/12/22 Cumberland 
Events 
Committee 
Meeting 

Attended the Cumberland Events Committee meeting. Reviewed 
financials. Discussed the Feb. 18th Washoe tournament and the “Cinch” 
(card game) tournament. Looked at minor changes to the Constitution 
of the Committee. Chatted about my role in doing soapbox derby 
competition with an added exciting feature of the adult portion of the 
race. Next Meeting January 15th at 2616 Derwent at 6:30 pm.  

   

 

Page 212 of 358



COUNCIL MEMBER 

REPORT 
 

 

DATE: January 3, 2023 

TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Councillor Ketler 

SUBJECT: Monthly Report for November/December 2023 

 

Date Event Details 

Nov 7 Village Inaugural meeting Oath of Office 

Nov 10 Council Orientation Land Use Planning and Community Development 

Nov 14 Regular Council Meeting www.cumberland.ca/meetings 

Nov 15 K’omoks First Nation CVRD monthly meeting 

Nov 15 CVRD Regular Board Meeting Inaugural Board Meeting – Oath of Office, Elected as 
Chair, Dir Cole-Hamilton elected as Vice-Chair 

Nov 16 CVRD Chair/Vice Chair/CAO 
agenda meeting 

Set agenda for following week’s CVRD Board meeting 

Nov 18 Island Coastal Economic Trust North Island-Sunshine Coast Regional Advisory 
Committee meeting 

Nov 18 Council Orientation  Capital & Operations projects 

Nov 22 CVRD Board Orientation Roles & Responsibilities, Social Media Review, Code of 
Conduct and Appointment of North Island 911 Board of 
Directors 

Nov 23 Village Agenda Review Mayor and CAO – set agenda for following weeks 
Council meeting 

Nov 23 CVRD Chair/Vice Chair/CAO 
agenda meeting 

Set agenda for following week’s CVRD Board meeting 

Nov 23 Safe Harbour – Diversity and 
Inclusion Workshop 

Affiliation of Multicultural Societies and Service 
Agencies of BC (AMSSA) – Mosaic Consulting training 
workshop 

Nov 25 Village Orientation Day 2 – Capital and Operating projects 

Nov 25 Town of Comox event Christmas Tree Lighting 

Page 213 of 358



 

Nov 25 Minister Hutchings CVRD meeting with Minister of Rural and Economic 
Development – topics: Rural Strategic Plan, Rural 
Connectivity, Ec dev impacts of emergencies, Mitigation 
Planning, Emergency Services etc. 

Nov 28 Village COTW Development Approvals Process Modernization, Lake 
Park Society and Lake Park Masterplan and Community 
Service Funding 

Nov 28 Regular Council Meeting www.cumberland.ca/meetings 

Nov 29 Equity and Public Policy 
meeting 

Comox Valley Social Planning Society planning of future 
workshop 

Nov 30 CVRD Chair/Vice Chair/CAO 
agenda meeting 

Set agenda for following week’s CVRD Board meeting 

Nov 30 CV Food Policy Council Call out for new members, SD71 Strat Plan, CVRD Food 
Hub Plan, LT Food Strategy, Federal National School 
Food Policy, subcommittees, EMBC food strat project, 
CVRD AG Plan etc. 

Dec 2 Closed Village Council meeting www.cumberland.ca/meetings 

Dec 2  Leaders Lunch Comox Valley Mayors, KFN Chief, CVRD Chair and 19 
Wing Base Commander meet informally each quarter 

Dec 4 19 Wing Holiday Open House 
and later Village Christmas 
Party 

Happy Holidays! 

Dec 6 Regional Parks and Trails 
Committee 

Inaugural meeting - attended in audience as alternate 

Dec 6 CVRD Recreation Commission Terms of Reference, Orientation to Rec Services (Track 
and Field, Rec Complexes, Exhibition Grounds, Rec 
Grant), Timeline for Strategic Planning 

Dec 6 CVRD Regular Board Meeting Orientation – Procurement/Financial Planning, CV 
Tourism Service, and Human Resources. Parcel Tax Roll 
Review, Next Generation 911 Local Government 
Agreement (data sharing), UBCM Community 
Emergency Prep Funding for Cultural Safety and 
Humility Grant (joint appl SRD). Bylaws – No 725 Ec Dev 
Sevice ADOPTED, No 734 Visitor Centre Fees ADOPTED 

Dec 7 Village Agenda Review Mayor and CAO – set agenda for following weeks 
Council meeting 

Page 214 of 358



 

Dec 7 CVRD Chair/Vice Chair/CAO 
agenda meeting 

Set agenda for following week’s CVRD Board meeting 

Dec 8 K’omoks First Nation CVRD monthly meeting 

Dec 12 Vancouver Island and Coastal 
Communities – Climate 
Leaders 

Need letter of appointment from CVRD, in-person 
meeting planned for LGLA in Feb 2023, tri-Chair model, 
RD funding approvals, proactive vs reactive, carbon 
pollution standard 

Dec 13 CVRD Facilities Tour Elected officials toured the CVRD Sewage Treatment 
Facililty, the CV Sports & Aquatic Centre and the 
Drinking Water Treatment Facility 

Dec 14 CVRD Chair/Vice Chair/CAO 
agenda meeting 

Set agenda for following week’s CVRD Board meeting 

Dec 20 CVRD Regular Board Meeting Orientation -  Transit Service, Homelessness Support 
Service, Emergency Shelter and Supportive Housing 
Service and CV Emergency Program 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 215 of 358



COUNCIL MEMBER 

MONTHLY REPORT 
 

 

DATE:  Nov. 7 2022  

TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Councillor Troy Therrien 

SUBJECT: November/December 2022 Monthly Report 

 

Very little to report this month. 

Unfortunately, due to a last-minute scheduling conflict I was unable to attend the Accessibility 
committee meeting on Nov 21. I will definitely make time to attend the Jan. Meeting. 

Councillor Kettler and I did a walking inspection of Coal Valley with a representative from Bell 
Group. We identified some concerns about the drainage into neighbouring properties and 
needed restoration of a small watercourse. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 216 of 358



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 3 

 
REPORT DATE: December 19, 2022 
MEETING DATE: January 9, 2023 

File No.  
TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Rob Crisfield, Manager of Operations 

SUBJECT: Development Cost Charges Bylaw 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Council adopt the Development Cost Charges Bylaw 1173, 2022. 

 

PURPOSE 

Seek Council adoption of the Development Cost Charges Bylaw following statutory approval from 
the province. 

 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 
 

Date Resolution 

2022-08-08 THAT Council give 1st, 2nd and 3rd readings to “Development Cost Charges 
Bylaw No. 1173, 2022”; 
THAT Council direct staff to refer the DCC Background Report by Urban 
Systems dated July 21, 2022, to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs for 
approval by the Inspector of Municipalities. 

2021-07-26 THAT Council approve additional funding to be included in the 2021-2024 
budget for the following items: 
c.        Development Cost bylaw completion estimated to cost an additional 
$25,000 to be funded from the Development Cost Charge reserves. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 

The Village of Cumberland’s DCC program was last reviewed and updated in 2013.  The Village has 
identified the need to update its DCC program to account for important changes that have 
occurred since 2013 including the following: 

 The completion of several capital projects. 

 Changing growth projections and development pressures. 

Page 217 of 358



Page 2 of 3 

 The development of new and updated community plans. 

 Changes to provincial legislation and policies. 

 The completion of engineering studies and infrastructure master plans that provide a 
better understanding of what projects are required to accommodate development and 
growth. 

 Inflation and increased construction costs for capital projects. 

The updated DCC program that is proposed ensures that the people who will use and benefit from 
the services provided pay their share of the costs in a fair and equitable manner. It creates 
certainty by providing stable charges to the development industry and by allowing the orderly and 
timely construction of infrastructure. 

Council reviewed an early draft of the proposed DCC program and provided feedback. Some minor 
revisions were made to the program based on that feedback. The revised program was then 
presented to the community at an open house (see attached background report). Following the 
community open house, a copy of the proposed DCC program was submitted to the Ministry of 
Community Services for review. The Ministry of Community Services must approve the updated 
DCC program before it can be adopted and come into effect.  The Ministry officially does its review 
after 3rd reading. This review has now been completed and the Village has received statutory 
approval to proceed with the final reading and adoption of the bylaw. 

 

ALTERNATIVES 

1. Not adopt the bylaw. 

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☐ Healthy Community 

☒ Quality Infrastructure Planning and Development 

☒ Comprehensive Community Planning 

☐ Economic Development 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The proposed Development Cost Charge program ensures that the level of investment that the 
Village makes today does not place undue financial pressures or hardships on current or future 
generations. It helps ensure the Village can fund capital infrastructure while distributing the costs 
equitably between existing taxpayers and new development and developing a solid financial 
foundation for the community. 

 

OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

  

Page 218 of 358



Page 3 of 3 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

Along with supporting existing community climate actions, DCC projects will also be reviewed for 
opportunities to incorporate climate change considerations during future design and construction. 
Current engineering best practice is to consider current and future impacts of climate change as 
well. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Statutory Approval from Deputy Inspector of Municipalities for Bylaw 1173. 
2. Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
3. Village of Cumberland DCC Background Report dated July 2022. 

  

CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer RP 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
R. Crisfield 
____________________ 
Rob Crisfield 
Manager of Operations 
 

M. Mason 
____________________ 
Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 

Page 219 of 358



   

Statutory Approval 

 Under the provisions of sections 560  

 of the Local Government Act  

 I hereby approve Bylaw No.  1173  

 of the  Village of Cumberland    

 a copy of which is attached hereto.  

 Dated this      24th day  

 of November ,, 2022  

 

 

 

 Deputy Inspector of Municipalities 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 220 of 358



1 | P a g e  
 

THE CORPRATION OF THE VILLAGE OF CUMBERLAND 

BYLAW NO. 1173, 2022 

A bylaw to establish development cost charges. 

 

WHEREAS pursuant to the Local Government Act, the Council of the Village of Cumberland may, 

by bylaw, impose development cost charges; 

AND WHEREAS development cost charges may be imposed for the purpose of providing funds to 

assist the municipality in paying the capital costs of providing, constructing, altering, or 

expanding sewage, water, drainage and highway facilities, other than off-street parking facilities, 

and providing and improving park land to service directly or indirectly, the development for which 

the charges are imposed; 

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Village of Cumberland is satisfied that the charges imposed by 

this Bylaw are related to capital costs attributable to projects included in the municipality’s 

capital expenditure plans;  

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Village of Cumberland has considered the charges imposed by 

this bylaw in relation to: 

(i) future land use patterns and development; 

(ii) the phasing of works and services;  

(iii) the provision of park land described in the Official Community Plan;  

(iv) how development designed to result in a low environmental impact may affect 

the capital costs of infrastructure; and 

(v) whether the charges are excessive in relation to the capital costs of prevailing 

standards of service in the municipality. 

AND WHEREAS Council of the Village of Cumberland has deemed charges imposed by this bylaw:  

(i) are not excessive in relation to the capital costs of prevailing standards of services 

in the municipality; 

(ii) will not deter development in the municipality;  

(iii) will not discourage the construction of reasonably priced housing or the provision 

of reasonably priced serviced land in the municipality; and 

(iv) will not discourage development designed to result in a low environmental impact 

in the municipality. 

Page 221 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 2 of 10 
 

 
 

The Council of the Corporation of the Village of Cumberland, in open meeting assembled, enacts 

as follows: 

Title 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 

1173, 2022”. 

Definitions  

2. The definitions of words and phrases that are not included in this section shall have the 

meaning assigned to them in the Local Government Act or the Community Charter, as the 

case may be. 

3. In this bylaw:  

BUILDING PERMIT  means any permit required by the Village of Cumberland 

that authorizes the construction, alteration or extension of 

a building or structure.  

COMMERCIAL  means any commercial use or development as defined by 

the Village of Cumberland’s zoning bylaw.  

DWELLING UNIT  means one or more habitable rooms that together function 

as a set of living quarters for one person or household. A 

dwelling unit contains one set of cooking facilities and has a 

private entrance either from outside or from a common hall 

inside a building. Dwelling units include vacation rentals, 

but do not include other commercial sleeping 

accommodations for the travelling public or recreational 

vehicles as defined by Village of Cumberland’s zoning 

bylaw.  

GROSS FLOOR AREA  means the total area of all the floors measured to the 

extreme outer limits of the building, or to the centre of 

common walls as calculated in accordance with the Village 

of Cumberland’s zoning bylaw.  

INDUSTRIAL  means any industrial use or development as defined by the 

Village of Cumberland’s zoning bylaw. 

INSTITUTIONAL  means any institutional use or development as defined by 

the Village of Cumberland’s zoning bylaw. 

Page 222 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 3 of 10 
 

 
 

LOT  means land designated as a separate and distinct parcel on 

a legally recorded subdivision plan or description filed in the 

records of the Land Title Office.  

MUNICIPALITY  means the municipal corporation of the Village of 

Cumberland.  

RESIDENTIAL  means any building or portion of a building containing 

dwelling units.  

RESIDENTIAL, LOW DENSITY  means a residential use or development that consists of the 

following types of dwellings as defined by the Village of 

Cumberland’s zoning bylaw:  

(a) single-family  

(b) duplex  

RESIDENTIAL, MEDIUM DENSITY means a residential use or development that consists of the 

following types of dwellings as defined by the Village of 

Cumberland’s zoning bylaw:   

(c) townhouse  

(d) manufacture home  

RESIDENTIAL, HIGH DENSITY means a residential use or development that consists of the 

following types of dwellings as defined by the Village of 

Cumberland’s zoning bylaw: 

(a) multi-family 

(b) apartment 

SECONDARY SUITE means a self-contained, accessory dwelling unit located 

within a principal single-family dwelling or in an accessory 

building on the same parcel as a single-family dwelling. A 

secondary suite does not include a duplex. A secondary 

suite shares common utility connections with a principal 

single-family dwelling. A secondary suite must follow all 

regulations outlined in the Village of Cumberland’s zoning 

Bylaw.   

  

Page 223 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 4 of 10 
 

 
 

SITE UTILIZED  means the part of a lot is being used, developed or that is 

affected by a Development Permit and/or Building Permit 

as illustrated in Figure A. 

Figure A: Example of Showing Portion of Site Utilized 

 

ZONING BYLAW means “Zoning Bylaw No. 1027, 2016” as amended or 

superseded from time to time. 

Development Cost Charges 

4. The development cost charges set out in Schedule A to this bylaw are imposed on every 

person who obtains:  

(a) approval of a subdivision; or 

(b) a building permit authorizing the construction, alteration or extension of a 

building or structure, including a building that will, after the construction, 

alteration or extension, contain fewer than four (4) self-contained dwelling units 

and be put to no other use than the residential use in those dwelling units  

5. Every person subject to the development cost charges imposed by this bylaw must pay 

the development cost charges to the Village of Cumberland in accordance with this bylaw. 

Page 224 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 5 of 10 
 

 
 

Exemptions 

6. Despite any other provision of this bylaw, a development cost charge is not payable if any 

of the following applies in relation to a development authorized by a building permit: 

(a) the permit authorizes the construction, alteration or extension of a building or 

part of a building that is, or will be, after the construction, alteration or extension, 

exempt from taxation under section 220(1)(h) or by a bylaw authorized by 

224(2)(f) of the Community Charter; 

(b) a development cost charge has previously been paid for the development unless, 

as a result of further development, new capital cost burdens will be imposed on 

the Village of Cumberland; 

(c) the development does not impose new capital cost burdens on the Village of 

Cumberland; 

(d) the permit authorizes the construction, alteration or extension of self-contained 

dwelling units in a building, and the area of each self-contained dwelling unit is no 

larger than 29m2, and each dwelling unit will be put to no other use than 

residential use; or 

(e) the value of the work authorized by the permit does not exceed $50,000.  

7. Despite any other provision of this bylaw, development cost charges are not required or 

payable for secondary suites. 

Calculation of Applicable Charges  

8. The amount of development cost charges payable in relation to a particular development 

shall be calculated using the rates set out in Schedule A to this bylaw based on the 

applicable number of development units.  

9. Transportation, water, drainage, parks development cost charges imposed by this bylaw 

are applicable to all development throughout the Village of Cumberland. 

10. Different sanitary sewer development cost charges are imposed by this bylaw and are 

applicable in the following areas: 

(a) Village-wide sanitary sewer development cost charges are applicable to all 

development within the municipal boundary of the Village of Cumberland as 

shown on Schedule B to this bylaw. 

(b) Additional area specific development cost charges are applicable to development 

within the Area Specific Sanitary Sewer DCC Area boundaries shown on Schedule 

B to this bylaw. 

Page 225 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 6 of 10 
 

 
 

11. The amount of development cost charges payable in relation to a mixed-use type of 

development shall be calculated separately for each portion of the development, 

according to the separate use types, that are included in the building permit application 

and shall be the sum of the charges payable for each type.  

12. Where a type of development is not identified in Schedule A to this bylaw, the amount of 

development cost charges to be paid to the Village of Cumberland shall be equal to the 

development cost charges that are payable for the most comparable type of 

development. 

Timing of Payment 

13. Development cost charges imposed by this Bylaw must be paid in full to the Village of 

Cumberland at the following times: 

(a) where an application is made for the subdivision of land for single-family 

residential development, at the time of approval of such subdivision; 

(b) for duplex developments, at the time of subdivision approval for one of the 

dwelling units, and for the second dwelling unit, at the time of approval of a 

building permit authorizing the development; and 

(c) for all other types of development to which this bylaw applies, including multi-

family residential, commercial, industrial, and institutional development, after the 

application for a building permit has been made but before the building permit 

has been issued. 

Severability 

14. If any section, subsection, clause or phrase of this bylaw is, for any reason, held to be 

invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it shall be deemed to be severed and the 

remainder of this bylaw shall remain valid and enforceable in accordance with its terms.  

Repeal and Transition 

15. Subject to section 16 of this bylaw, the “Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 

Development Cost Charges Bylaw No.934, 2010”, and all amendments thereto are hereby 

repealed.  

16. Despite section 15 of this bylaw, the “Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 

Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 934, 2010”, and all amendments thereto shall apply 

for the purpose of imposing and collecting development cost charges in relation to “in-

stream” development applications referred to in sections 511 and 568 of the Local 

Government Act, and for no other purpose.  

Page 226 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 7 of 10 
 

 
 

Effective Date 

17. This bylaw shall come into force on the day of adoption. 

 

READ A FIRST TIME THIS    8TH DAY OF   AUGUST  2022.  

READ A SECOND TIME THIS   8TH DAY OF   AUGUST  2022.  

READ A THIRD TIME THIS    8TH DAY OF   AUGUST  2022.  

APPROVED BY THE INSPECTOR  

OF MUNICIPALITIES THE    24TH  DAY OF  NOVEMBER 2022. 

ADOPTED THIS      DAY OF     2022. 

 

 

Mayor        Corporate Officer 

Page 227 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 8 of 10 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE A 

Table 1: Development Cost Charges in force at the date of bylaw adoption 

Land Use 
(Development Units) 

Transportation Water 
Sanitary Sewer 

Village Wide 
Sanitary Sewer 

Area Specific 
Storm 

Drainage 
Parks 

Low Density Residential  
(per dwelling unit or lot) 

$8,007.00 $3,725.07 $1,075.88 $4,263.13 $2,178.74 $1,032.51 

Medium Density Residential  
(per dwelling unit) 

$3,524.29 $3,004.09 $867.64 $3,438.01 $1,176.52 $832.67 

High Density Residential  
(per dwelling unit) 

$3,524.29 $2,403.27 $694.11 $2,750.41 $718.98 $666.13 

Commercial  
(per m2 of gross floor area) 

$83.28 $15.62 $4.51 $17.88 $6.97 -- 

Industrial  
(per ha of site utilized) 

$72,178.22 $21,629.46 $6,247.03 $24,753.66 $49,021.60 -- 

Institutional  
(per m2 of gross floor area) 

$95.23 $13.22 $3.82 $15.13 $6.54 -- 

Notes to Schedule: 

Page 228 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 9 of 10 
 

 
 

 Area Specific Sanitary Sewer development cost charges only apply to development within the Area Specific Sanitary Sewer 

Servicing Area shown on Schedule B to this Bylaw. When this this is the case, Sanitary Sewer Village-Wide development cost 

charges are also imposed.  

SCHEDULE B 

Map 1: Village Wide (Municipal Boundaries) and Area Specific Sanitary Sewer Servicing Area 

Page 229 of 358



The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1173, 2022 
Page 10 of 10 
 

 
 

 

Page 230 of 358



DCC Background Report 
July 2022

Page 231 of 358



 

Page (i) 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
2022-11-03 - Cumberland DCC Background Report 
 

DCC Background Report 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .................................................................................................................................. 1 

PART 1. BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................................. 1 
1.1 Purpose of this Report ..................................................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Legislative and Regulatory Background ............................................................................................................. 1 
1.3 Bill 27 .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.4 Use of DCC Best Practices Guide ............................................................................................................................. 3 

PART 2. PUBLIC CONSULTATION & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT ............................................. 4 
2.1 Public Consultation & Stakeholder Engagement ........................................................................................ 4 

PART 3. GUIDING PRINCIPLES AND KEY ELEMENTS .......................................................................... 5 
3.1 Guiding Principles ............................................................................................................................................................. 5 
3.2 Relationship to Other Documents .......................................................................................................................... 5 
3.3 DCC Time Frame ................................................................................................................................................................ 6 
3.4 DCC Planning Area (Community-wide vs. Area-specific Program) .................................................. 6 
3.5 DCC Recoverable Costs .................................................................................................................................................. 7 
3.6 Grant Assistance ................................................................................................................................................................ 8 
3.7 Interim Financing ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 
3.8 Allocation of Costs ............................................................................................................................................................ 8 
3.9 Municipal Assist Factor ................................................................................................................................................. 10 

PART 4. GROWTH PROJECTIONS ............................................................................................................ 12 
4.1 Residential ............................................................................................................................................................................ 12 
4.2 Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional ......................................................................................................... 13 

PART 5. TRANSPORTATION DCCS ........................................................................................................... 15 
5.1 Transportation DCC Program .................................................................................................................................. 15 
5.2 Traffic Generation and Calculation of Road Impact .................................................................................. 15 
5.3 Transportation DCC Calculation ............................................................................................................................. 16 

PART 6. WATER DCCS ................................................................................................................................. 21 
6.1 Water DCC Program ...................................................................................................................................................... 21 
6.2 Water Demand and Calculation of Equivalent Population .................................................................. 21 
6.3 Water DCC Calculation ................................................................................................................................................ 22 

PART 7. SANITARY SEWER DCCS ........................................................................................................... 27 
7.1 Sanitary Sewer DCC Program ................................................................................................................................. 27 
7.2 Sanitary Sewer Demand and Calculation of Equivalent Population ............................................. 28 
7.3 Sanitary Sewer DCC Calculation ........................................................................................................................... 28 

PART 8. STORM DRAINAGE DCCS .......................................................................................................... 35 
8.1 Storm Drainage DCC Program and Rates ...................................................................................................... 35 

Page 232 of 358



 

Page (ii) 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
2022-11-03 - Cumberland DCC Background Report 
 

DCC Background Report 

8.2 Calculation of Equivalent Units for Storm Drainage ................................................................................ 35 
8.3 Storm Drainage DCC Calculation ......................................................................................................................... 36 

PART 9. PARK DCCS ..................................................................................................................................... 41 
9.1 Park DCC Program and Rates ................................................................................................................................. 41 
9.2 Calculation of Equivalent Units for Parks ......................................................................................................... 41 
9.3 Park DCC Calculation ................................................................................................................................................... 42 

PART 10. DCC RATES & IMPLEMENTATION .................................................................................... 46 
10.1 Summary of Proposed DCC Rates .......................................................................................................................46 
10.2 Bylaw Exemptions ..........................................................................................................................................................46 
10.3 Collection of Charges – Building Permit and Subdivision ....................................................................46 
10.4 Collection of DCCs on Redeveloped or Expanded Developments .................................................49 
10.5 In-Stream Applications and Grace Periods ....................................................................................................49 
10.6 DCC Rebates and Credits ..........................................................................................................................................49 
10.7 DCC Monitoring and Accounting ......................................................................................................................... 50 
10.8 DCC Reviews ...................................................................................................................................................................... 50 
 

 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A Sanitary Sewer DCC – Area Specific Map  

Appendix B DCC Project Details 

Appendix C Existing Village of Cumberland Development Cost Charge Bylaw No. 934, 2010 

Appendix D  Proposed Village of Cumberland Development Cost Charge Bylaw No. ______ 

Appendix F DCC Rate Comparisons 

Appendix E Council Reports and Open House Materials 

 

Page 233 of 358



 

Page ES-1 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report presents proposed the Village of Cumberland’s proposed Development Cost 

Charge (DCC) program. All projects included in the DCC program are owned and controlled by 

the Village of Cumberland. The report consists of the following parts. 

• Part 1 – outlines the purpose of the DCC investigation and includes information on the 

guiding principles, legislation enabling DCCs, and the use of the provincial DCC Best 

Practices Guide. 

• Part 2 – reviews the public consultation and stakeholder engagement process. 

• Part 3 – outlines the specific capital projects and identifies DCC recoverable costs. This 

part discusses the timeframe for the DCC program, the municipal assist factor, grant 

assistance, interim financing, and the allocation of costs between existing and new 

development. It also includes an explanation for applying DCCs on a community-wide 

or area-wide basis. 

• Part 4 – presents growth projections based on population trends over the past 25 years 

and discussions with staff. 

• Parts 5 to 9 – summarizes the capital costs for each different DCC service (i.e. 

transportation, water, sanitary, storm, and parks). The total capital costs for each service 

and the total DCC program costs are shown below in Table 1. 

Table 1 
Village of Cumberland  

Total DCC Program Recoverable Costs 

Service Total Capital Costs  Municipal Costs 
DCC Recoverable 

Program Costs 

Transportation $24,756,307 $5,602,307 $16,518657 

Water $9,945,672 $1,519,523 $7,518,318 

Sanitary Sewer 
(Village-Wide) 

$16,150,000 $4,368,250 $4,281,750 

Sanitary Sewer 
(Area-Specific ) 

$22,843,000 $4,435,180 $6,626,070 

Storm Drainage $7,456,355 $1,298,472 $6,157,883 

Parks  $4,471,365 $2,258,039 $2,213,325 

 

Page 234 of 358



 

Page ES-2 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Parts 5 to 9 also show how the DCC rates are calculated using the information from 

Parts 3 and 4. The proposed DCC rates are shown in Table 2. 

• Part 10 – includes information on implementation issues such as exemptions to the 

Bylaw, grace periods, DCC rebates, and credits, as well as suggestions for monitoring 

and accounting related to the DCC Bylaw. 

Page 235 of 358



 

Page ES-3 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 

Table 2  
Village of Cumberland 

Proposed DCC Rate Summary 

 

 
 

 

Land Use Transportation Water Sanitary Sewer 
(Village-Wide) 

Sanitary Sewer  
(Area-Specific) 

Storm 
Drainage Parks Total  

Low Density Residential  
(per lot) 

$8,007.00 $3,725.07 $1,075.88 $4,263.13 $2,178.74 $1,032.51 $20,282.32 
 

Medium Density 
Residential  
(per dwelling unit) 

$3,524.29 $3,004.09 $867.64 $3,438.01 $1,176.52 $832.67 $12,843.22 
 

 

High Density Residential  
(per dwelling unit) 

$3,524.29 $2,403.27 $694.11 $2750.41 $718.98 $666.13 $10,757.20 
 

 

Commercial  
(per m2 of gross floor area) 

$83.28 $15.62 $4.51 $17.88 $6.97 -- $128.27 
 

 

Industrial  
(per ha of site utilized) 

$72,178.22 $21,629.46 $6,247.03 $24,753.66 $49,021.60 -- $173,829.98 
 

 

Institutional  
(per m2 of gross floor area) $95.23 $13.22 $3.82 $15.13 $6.54 -- $133.93 

 

 

Page 236 of 358



 

Page 1 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 

DCC Background Report 

PART 1. BACKGROUND 
 

1.1  Purpose of this Report 

The Village of Cumberland’s DCC program was last reviewed and updated in 2013.  The Village 

has identified the need to update its DCC program to account for important changes that have 

occurred since 2013 including the following: 

• The completion of several capital projects 

• Changing growth projections and development pressures 

• The development of new and updated community plans 

• Changes to provincial legislation and policies 

• The completion of engineering studies and infrastructure master plans that provide a 

better understanding of what projects are required to accommodate development 

and growth 

• Inflation and increased construction costs for capital projects 

The updated DCC program that is proposed ensures that the people who will use and benefit 

from the services provided pay their share of the costs in a fair and equitable manner. It creates 

certainty by providing stable charges to the development industry and by allowing the orderly 

and timely construction of infrastructure. 

This report presents the proposed DCC program. However, the material provided in this report 

is meant to provide information only. Reference should be made to Development Cost Charge 

Bylaw No. 934, 2010 (and amendments) for the Village of Cumberland’s DCC rates until the 

Council has adopted a new DCC Bylaw.  

1.2 Legislative and Regulatory Background 

Development cost charges are special charges collected by local governments to help pay for 

infrastructure expenditures required to service growth. The Local Government Act (LGA) 

provides the authority for municipalities to levy DCCs. The purpose of a DCC is to assist the 

municipality in accommodating development through a dedicated source of funding for the 

capital costs of: 

• providing, constructing, altering, or expanding sewage, water, storm drainage, and 

transportation facilities (other than off-street parking) 

• providing and improving parkland. 

Page 237 of 358



 

Page 2 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 

DCC Background Report 

Municipalities wanting to collect DCCs must adopt a DCC Bylaw that specifies the amount of 

DCCs that will be collected. The charges may vary with respect to: 

• different zones or different defined or specific areas 

• different uses 

• different capital costs as they relate to different classes of development 

• different sizes or different numbers of lots or units in a development 

Funds collected through DCCs must be deposited in a separate reserve account. These funds 

may only be used to pay for the capital costs of the works and short-term financing costs of a 

debt incurred for capital works identified in the DCC program. The costs for capital works 

include not only the actual construction of the works but also the planning, engineering, and 

legal costs which are directly related to the works, as well as improving parkland if a parkland 

acquisition and development DCC is established. 

1.3 Bill 27 

On May 29, 2008, the Provincial Government enacted new legislation pertaining to DCCs. The 

legislative changes include the option for municipalities to exempt or waive DCCs for the 

following classes of “eligible development”: 

• not-for-profit rental housing, including supportive living housing (similar provisions 

were in the previous legislation, but did not require a Bylaw to waive or reduce DCCs 

for not-for-profit rental housing) 

• for-profit affordable rental housing 

• subdivisions of small lots designed to result in low greenhouse gas emissions 

• developments designed to result in a low environmental impact 

If the Village of Cumberland wishes to provide DCC waivers or reductions, it could adopt a DCC 

Waiver Bylaw that establishes definitions for each class of “eligible development”, 

corresponding rates of reduction, and requirements that must be met in order to obtain a 

waiver or reduction. Council, however, is not obligated to adopt any of these new provisions. 

To make up for any foregone DCC revenue, the Village of Cumberland would have to secure 

alternate revenue sources. 

  

Page 238 of 358



 

Page 3 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 

DCC Background Report 

1.4 Use of DCC Best Practices Guide 

The Ministry of Community Services (the “Ministry”) has prepared a DCC Best Practices Guide. 

The purpose of this document is to outline an accepted process to develop a DCC program. 

This report was developed in consideration of the DCC Best Practices Guide, which was 

followed where it was appropriate to do so.  

A copy of the Best Practices Guide is available online at: 

• https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/local-

governments/finance/dcc_best_practice_guide_2005.pdf 

 

 

Page 239 of 358

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/local-governments/finance/dcc_best_practice_guide_2005.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/local-governments/finance/dcc_best_practice_guide_2005.pdf


 

Page 4 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 2. PUBLIC CONSULTATION & STAKEHOLDER 

ENGAGEMENT 
 

2.1 Public Consultation & Stakeholder Engagement 

Although the Local Government Act does not require a public participation process, the Best 

Practices Guide does suggest that an opportunity for public participation be included as part 

of the development of a DCC program. The purpose of such a process is to allow those who are 

interested in or affected by, the proposed DCCs to offer comments and input. The Best 

Practices Guide does not set a recommended format to be followed for public participation; 

instead, the type of public participation to be used is decided by the local government itself. 

 

In this case, public participation included an open house and email communication with 

community stakeholders. The open house was held in May 2022 in the Village of Cumberland 

Council Chambers. The Village posted notice of the event on their website and local developers 

were notified by email in advance of the event. Copies of the public notice and poster boards 

are in Appendix E of this report. The complete background report, information about DCCs, 

the updated DCC costs and community comparisons were made available at the open house. 

Key topics of discussion during the event included: 

• In-stream applications  

• DCC credits  

• Drainage calculations 

• Community comparisons, specifically within the Comox Valley 

• Bevan industrial lands and future servicing strategies 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 240 of 358



 

Page 5 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 3. GUIDING PRINCIPLES AND KEY ELEMENTS 
 

3.1 Guiding Principles 

Some key assumptions were made at the beginning of this DCC investigation. These 

assumptions form an integral part of the report and are based on the following significant 

principles:  

• Integration – This DCC program is just one of many broader goals and initiatives. Other 

goals and initiatives in the Local Government Act, other provincial legislation, regional 

growth strategies, and Official Community Plans should also be reflected. In dealing 

with land efficiency, housing affordability, and sustainability, a local government uses 

DCCs as one of the ways to handle these issues. Community plans, land use plans, and 

corporate financial and capital infrastructure strategies must be taken into 

consideration when developing DCCs. 

• Benefiter Pays – Those who benefit from new infrastructure in the Village of 

Cumberland should pay for the installation of such systems. 

• Fairness and Equity – Since costs should be shared amongst the benefitting parties, 

mechanisms should be put in place to ensure fair cost distribution between existing 

users and new development. For those costs allocated to new development, DCCs 

should be used to ensure equitable distribution of the costs between the various land 

uses and different development projects. 

• Accountability – To promote accountability, all information used for the development 

of DCCs should be accessible and understandable by all stakeholders. 

• Certainty – The DCC program should be designed to ensure stable charges and timely 

construction of infrastructure. Developers rely on the stability of DCC rates when 

planning their projects. Certainty in DCC revenue helps ensure that infrastructure is 

constructed in a timely manner and helps avoid deferring or cancelling development. 

3.2 Relationship to Other Documents 

This proposed DCC program has been developed to be consistent with the Local Government 

Act and the provincial DCC Best Practices Guide. All capital costs associated with projects over 

the next five years are included in the five year financial plan/capital expenditure program. In 

addition, the following documents were also reviewed and have been followed to ensure 

consistency where it was appropriate to do so.  

• Village of Cumberland Development Cost Charge Bylaw No. 934, 2010  

Page 241 of 358



 

Page 6 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

• Village of Cumberland Official Community Plan, 2014 

• Village of Cumberland Roads Master Plan, 2007 

• Village of Cumberland Sanitary Sewer Master Plan, 2010 

• Village of Cumberland Sanitary Sewer Master Plan Supplemental Report, 2011 

• Village of Cumberland Stormwater Drainage Master Plan, 2010 

• Village of Cumberland Waster System Master Plan, 2007 

• Village of Cumberland Long-Term Water Supply Strategy, 2016  

• Village of Cumberland Parks and Greenways Master Plan, 2014 

• Village of Cumberland Five Year Financial Plan 

3.3 DCC Time Frame 

The first step in determining DCC costs is to set a time frame for the DCC program. The time 

frame for the Village of Cumberland’s proposed DCC program is to 2045 The capital 

expenditure forecasts outlined in this report include all DCC projects that need to be 

constructed to allow for anticipated development. 

3.4 DCC Planning Area (Community-wide vs. Area-specific Program) 

In a community-wide DCC program, the same DCC rate is applied for each land use deemed 

to generate a similar capital cost burden regardless of the location of the development. An 

area-specific DCC typically divides the community into different areas according to 

geographic or other distinctive areas based on technical reasons. For example, it would be 

appropriate to establish an area-specific DCC for an area that is uniquely serviced by a series 

of specific water works, which can only service that particular area due to unique location. 

A community-wide DCC program is the best approach for the Village of Cumberland with the 

exception of an area-specific sanitary sewer DCC. This decision was made considering the 

following questions: 

• What does the provincial DCC Best Practice Guide recommend? 

The provincial DCC Best Practice Guide recommends that all DCCs be established on a 

community-wide basis, unless a significant disparity exists between those who pay the 

DCC and benefiting users. 

• How are DCCs currently applied within the Village of Cumberland? 

The current DCC Bylaw is applied on a community-wide basis. 

• Who benefits from the capital works in a direct or indirect manner? 

All development in the community with the exception of the sanitary sewer DCC for 

industrial development. 

Page 242 of 358



 

Page 7 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

• Is a community wide DCC a fair manner to distribute the costs in relationship to the 

development of land throughout the Village of Cumberland? 

Generally speaking, the development will be spread out throughout the Village, 

however currently industrial development in the Bevan Industrial Lands do not have 

sanitary trunk sewer servicing. Therefore, it would not be fair to incur capital cost 

burdens for the provision of sewer collection mains which are not servicing the 

industrial areas. As such, DCCs for sanitary sewer trunk mains will be collected on an 

area-specific basis, only for the Area-Specific Sanitary Sewer DCC area as seen in 

Appendix A. Sanitary sewer treatment and master planning are designed for growth in 

the entire Village of Cumberland, and as such those DCC’s are levied on a municipal-

wide basis. 

• What are the cash flow implications of collecting area-specific DCCs vs. 

community-wide DCCs for a municipality the size of the Village of Cumberland? 

How will the manner of DCC collection affect the Village’s ability to get the DCC 

program built? 

Community-wide DCCs would give the most flexibility in terms of accumulating and 

spending DCC revenues. Area-specific DCCs can limit the amount of DCCs available to 

fund works throughout the Village by having multiple DCC reserves with a small 

amount in different reserves, this can result in waiting a long time to collect a significant 

amount of DCCs to build any works in a timely manner.  

• What are the typical complexities and costs of establishing the community-wide 

vs. area-specific DCC?  

Having a community-wide DCC can reduce the complexity of collecting the DCC and 

cost of administering the DCC reserves. A community-wide DCC Bylaw is often a 

simpler document to apply by front counter staff as well and can reduce the staff time 

required to assess, collect and expend the DCCs. We believe the reduced 

administration effort from having a community-wide DCC can be significant. 

3.5 DCC Recoverable Costs 

As specified by the Local Government Act, the DCC recoverable costs for projects include 

planning, engineering, and legal costs directly related to the work for which a capital cost may 

be incurred. The provincial DCC Best Practices Guide further clarifies the interpretation of the 

Ministry to include:   

• Planning 

•  Public consultation 

•  Engineering design 

•  Right-of-way or parkland acquisition 

Page 243 of 358



 

Page 8 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

•  Legal costs 

•  Interim financing 

•  Contract administration 

•  Construction 

•  Contingencies 

While interest on long-term debt has not been included in the recoverable capital costs 

presented in this report, it should be noted that the definition of “capital costs” (Section 932 of 

the Act) has been recently amended to include interest in exceptional circumstances where 

borrowing is required. The Inspector of Municipalities will only allow interest costs in 

exceptional circumstances that necessitate the construction of specific infrastructure projects 

in advance of sufficient DCC cash flows (e.g. fixed-capacity infrastructure, out-of-sequence 

projects, or greenfield developments). In these cases, local governments or developers are 

required to front-end the cost of the growth-related infrastructure and recover their costs 

through DCCs as growth occurs. However, the Ministry continues to encourage local 

governments to adopt DCC programs that limit the need for borrowing to exceptional cases. 

3.6 Grant Assistance 

As per the Provincial DCC Best Practices Guide, grants that have not been secured have not 

been included as part of the DCC calculations.  

3.7 Interim Financing 

The capital costs shown in the report do not include interim financing. 

3.8 Allocation of Costs 

It is often the case that new infrastructure works benefit both existing and new development, 

and as such, should be paid for by both parties in accordance with the benefit received by 

each. The costs of such works need to be allocated equitably between new and existing 

development. 

For each proposed infrastructure project, costs are allocated between existing development 

and new growth.  To determine the proper allocation for each project, individual projects can 

be divided into two broad categories: 

• Category 1 – Projects that are required solely to accommodate new growth  

Projects in this category benefit new growth only. In other words, they would not be 

contemplated if no new growth were forecasted. One hundred percent (100%) of the 

benefit and cost of each project in this category have been allocated to new growth. 

Page 244 of 358



 

Page 9 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

• Category 2 – Projects that upgrade the level of service or resolve existing 

deficiencies 

Projects in this category may provide some benefit to existing development, but they 

also provide benefit to new growth. Without the completion of these projects, new 

development would not be able to proceed. In these cases, a portion of the cost of each 

DCC project is allocated to existing and new development. The following factors have 

been considered when determining what portion to allocate to new growth for 

recovery through DCCs: 

o current standards of servicing required by the Village of Cumberland. 

o whether the work on the project is primarily for upgrading deficiencies and 

upkeep of the system or whether it is primarily for increasing capacity. 

o a comparison of the size of the existing population versus the size of expected 

new growth. 

o a comparison of what the size of the project would be if the project were for the 

existing population, versus what the size of the project would be if the project 

were expanded to accommodate the new growth as well. 

Table 3 (next page) indicates, in general terms, the percentage of the costs that are attributable 

to new growth according to the type of service. The number 100% indicates category one 

projects that principally benefit new growth alone. Numbers less than 100% indicate category 

two projects that benefit both new growth and the existing population.  

  

Page 245 of 358



 

Page 10 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 3 
Village of Cumberland  

Allocation of Costs Attributable to New Growth 

DCC Type Benefit Allocation % 

Transportation 50% to 100% 

Storm drainage 50% to 100% 

Sanitary Sewer 50% to 100% 

Water 50% to 100% 

Parks and Open Space 50% to 100% 

 

In each of the DCC programs (Parts 5 through 9), the exact percentage of the benefit that can 

be attributed to new growth is indicated in the column entitled “Benefit Allocation %”. That 

allocation is applied to the estimated costs to arrive at the amount that can be recovered by 

DCCs before the municipal assist factor is applied. That information can be found in the 

column entitled “Benefit Allocation” in all the DCC programs. 

3.9 Municipal Assist Factor 

The Local Government Act stipulates that an assist factor will be included as part of the 

calculation of DCCs. An assist factor represents a municipalities contribution towards the 

capital costs for projects that are attributed to new development. This contribution is in 

addition to the costs that are allocated to the existing population. The portion of the costs that 

the Village of Cumberland will have to cover because of the assist factor will have to be 

financed through other means (e.g. existing taxpayers). 

The actual level of the assist factor is determined by the municipality. A municipality can have 

a different assist factor for each type of capital works (e.g.  sanitary sewer vs. roads projects); 

however, a municipality cannot have a municipal assist factor that varies for different land uses 

within the District, (e.g. single-family residential vs. multi-family residential vs. commercial) 

As outlined in Section 1.2 of this report, the Local Government Act also stipulates that a 

municipality consider the following factors when setting DCC rates: 

• future land use patterns and development 

• the phasing of works and services 

• whether the charges are excessive in relation to the capital costs of prevailing standards 

of service 

• whether the costs will deter development 

Page 246 of 358



 

Page 11 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

• whether the charges will discourage the construction of reasonably priced housing or 

the provision of reasonably priced serviced land 

The matters above have been considered and the assist factor for the proposed DCC program 

has been set at 1% for each type of DCC (see Table 4 below). This is consistent with Village of 

Cumberland’s current DCC program. 

Table 4 
Village of Cumberland 

Municipal Assist Factor by DCC Type 

DCC Type Municipal Assist Factor 

Road 1% 

Water  1% 

Sanitary Sewer 1% 

Storm drainage 1% 

Parks and Open Space 1% 

 

 
  

Page 247 of 358



 

Page 12 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 4. GROWTH PROJECTIONS 
 

4.1 Residential 

The Village of Cumberland’s population is expected to grow to approximately 8869 people by 

2046. Approximately 50% of this future population is expected to be the result of new growth. 

This projection is based on a review of historic growth rates and an analysis of the development 

potential of existing areas that will likely develop from now to 2046. This includes existing lands 

currently zoned but not developed or remaining lands in planned neighbourhoods where the 

type of land use is known. Based on input provided by staff, it has been forecasted that 

residential development will likely consist of: 

• 60% low density dwelling units – this means detached single-family dwellings as 

defined by the Village of Cumberland current bylaws.  

• 20% medium density dwelling units – this means patio homes, duplexes, townhouses, 

rowhouses, mobile home parks, and manufactured homes as defined by the Village of 

Cumberland’s current bylaws. 

• 20% high density dwelling units – this means apartment dwellings and multi-family 

dwellings as currently defined by the Village of Cumberland’s current bylaws.  

Table 5 (below) provides a breakdown of the expected that future development. Average 

household sizes are based on a review of historic averages available through Statistics Caranda. 

Average household size has been increased to 3.1 people per unit from a historical average of 

2.5 to account for secondary suites which are currently permitted in all low-density residential 

zones.    

Table 5 
Village of Cumberland 

Residential Growth by Dwelling Type 

Dwelling Type 
Future 

Distribution 

Average 
Household 

Size 

New 
Population 

New Dwelling 
Units 

Low Density 60% 3.1 2,979 961 

Medium Density 20% 2.5 803 321 

High Density 20% 2.0 640 320 

TOTAL 100% n/a 4,422 1,602 

 

Page 248 of 358



 

Page 13 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

4.2 Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional 

Commercial, industrial, and institutional development have historically been sporadic in the 

Village of Cumberland. Because of this, past development trends cannot reliably be 

extrapolated into the future.  Instead, commercial, industrial, and institutional development 

projections have been established based on a review of available land, discussions with senior 

Village staff, and an analysis of typical developments in other parts of the Comox Valley.  

These development projections are summarized in Table 6 (below). 

 

Table 6 
Village of Cumberland 

Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional Development Projections 

Land Use New Development by 2046 

Commercial 

8,000 m2 of new gross floor area 

For scale and reference, a typical grocery 
store in the surrounding Comox Valley area 

is approximately 4,000 m2  

Industrial 

65 hectares of new site area used  

For scale and reference, most existing light 
industrial developments along Cumberland 
road utilize approximately 0.75 to 1.50 ha of 

land each.  

Institutional 

3,800 m2 of new gross floor area 

For scale and reference, a typical 
elementary school in the surrounding area 

is approximately 3,500 m2. 

 

  

Page 249 of 358



 

Page 14 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

4.3 Area-Specific Growth Projections 

Table 7 shows the estimated new development by land use within the area-specific 

boundaries shown in Appendix A.  

 

Table 7 
Village of Cumberland 

Area-Specific Growth Projections  

Land Use 
Distribution of 
Development 
within Area 

Estimated New 
Development 

Base Unit of 
Measurement 

Residential Low Density 95% 913 Lot 

Residential Medium Density 100% 321 Dwelling 

Residential High Density 100% 320 Dwelling 

Commercial 100% 8,000 m2 gross floor 
area 

Industrial 5% 3.25 ha of site utilized 

Institutional 100% 3,800 m2 gross floor 
area 

Page 250 of 358



 

Page 15 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 5. TRANSPORTATION DCCS 
 

5.1 Transportation DCC Program 

The Transportation DCC program includes a variety of capital works including road widening, 

traffic circles, traffic calming, sidewalks, and active transportation corridors. The location of the 

works is shown on Map 1 and summarized in Table 11. Detailed project sheets are provided in 

Appendix B. 

Table 8 
Village of Cumberland 

Transportation DCC Program Costs 

Municipal Costs 
DCC Recoverable 

Program Costs 
Total Capital Costs 

$5,602,307 $16,518,656 $24,756,307 

 

The total cost of the transportation projects is approximately $24.7 million of which 

approximately $16.5 million is DCC recoverable. These costs include the construction of new 

road infrastructure plus engineering, contingency, and project administration. 

5.2 Traffic Generation and Calculation of Road Impact 

For transportation works, costs are distributed based on the trips generated by each land use. 

The weighted trip ends used are presented in Table 8 below.  They have been developed based 

on a review of the Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition, 

2019 and a review of weighted trip ends used in other neighbouring municipalities DCC 

programs. The rates used (see Table 9) are for the most part consistent with the Town of 

Comox. For commercial development the rate is similar to the one used by the City of 

Courtenay. It is a customized rate that accounts for commercial infill development that 

generates lower traffic volumes.  

 

Page 251 of 358



 

Page 16 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 9 
Village of Cumberland 

Equivalent Units for Transportation 

Land Use Base Unit Equivalent Generation (Rate 
Per Base Unit) 

  Residential (Low Family) Lot 13.20 

  Residential (Medium Density) Dwelling Unit 5.81 

  Residential (High Density) Dwelling Unit 5.81 

  Commercial Gross Floor Area (m2) 0.1373 

  Industrial Utilized Area (ha) 118.990 

 Institutional Gross Floor Area (m2) 0.1570 

 

5.3 Transportation DCC Calculation 

The Transportation DCC rates have been calculated according to the various principles and 

assumptions discussed earlier in this report. Calculation based on a standard transportation 

assumption of 30% FAR. The basic calculation is shown in Equation 1. 

Equation 1 
Village of Cumberland 

Transportation DCC Calculation 

Total New Growth (by land use) x Trip Ends per Land Use = Total Trip Ends 

 

DCC Recoverable Costs / Total Trip Ends = DCC Costs per Trip End 

 

DCC Costs per Trip End x Trip End per Land Use = DCC Costs per Land Use 

 

The proposed Transportation DCC rates are shown in Table 10. The detailed Transportation 

DCC calculations are shown on Table 11 and Table 12. 

 

Page 252 of 358



 

Page 17 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 10 
Village of Cumberland 

Proposed Transportation DCC Rates 

Land Use DCC Rate Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) $8,007.00 per Lot 

  Residential (Medium Density) $3,524.29 per Dwelling Unit 

  Residential (High Density) $3,524.29 per Dwelling Unit 

  Commercial $83.28 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

  Industrial $72,178.22 per hectare of Land Utilized 

  Institutional $95.23 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

 

 

Page 253 of 358



Page 254 of 358



 

Page 19 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 11 
Village of Cumberland 

Transportation DCC Program  

 Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) 
Col. (5) = (3) x 

(4) Col. (6) = (5) x 0.01 Col. (7) = (5) - (6) Col. (8) = (3) - (7) 

Project 
No. 

Description Total Cost 
Estimate 

Grants 
Amount 

Village Cost Benefit Factor  Benefit to New 
Development  

Municipal Assist 
Factor (1%) 

DCC Recoverable  Total Municipal 
Responsibility  

R1 Bike Lane - Bevan Rd Connector $832,360 $0 $832,360 75% $624,270 $6,243 $618,027 $214,333 

R2 Corridor Improvement - Bevan Rd $7,716,300 $0 $7,716,300  100% $7,716,300  $77,163 $7,639,137 $77,163 

R3 Corridor Improvement - Ulverston Ave $1,601,000 $0 $1,601,000 60% $960,600 $9,606 $950,994 $650,006 

R4 
Corridor Improvement - Egremont St. (Dunsmuir Ave. to 
Ulverston Ave.) $1,224,058 $0 $1,224,058 50% $612,029 $6,120 $605,909 $618,149 

R5 Corridor Improvement - Cumberland Rd. (Union Rd. to 1st St.)   $2,895,967 $1,528,318 $1,367,648 50% $683,824 $6,838 $676,986 $690,662 

R6 
Corridor Improvement - Union Rd. (Royston Rd. to 600m south of 
Cumberland Rd) $1,568,000 $0 $1,568,000 60% $940,800 $9,408 $931,392 $636,608 

R7 Corridor Improvement - Dunsmuir Ave. (Egremont St. to 7th St.) $3,408,842 $1,107,025 $2,301,817 50% $1,150,908 $11,509 $1,139,399 $1,162,418 

R8 Corridor Improvement - Dunsmuir Ave. (7th St to Union Rd.) $2,826,000 $0 $2,826,000 50% $1,413,000 $14,130 $1,398,870 $1,427,130 

R9 Intersection Upgrade - Cumberland Rd. at Union Rd. $1,241,890 $0 $1,241,890 100% $1,241,890 $12,419 $1,229,471 $12,419 

R10 Intersection Upgrade - Cumberland Rd. at Bevan Rd. $1,241,890 $0 $1,241,890 100% $1,241,890 $12,419 $1,229,471 $12,419 

R11 Transportation Master Plan $200,000 $0 $200,000 50% $100,000 $1,000 $99,000 $101,000 

    $24,756,307 $2,635,344 $22,120,963   $16,685,512 $165,855 $16,518,657 $5,602,307 

 
 

 

  

Page 255 of 358



 

Page 20 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 12 
Village of Cumberland 

Transportation DCC Rate Calculation  

A: Transportation Generation Calculation 

Land Use 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) = (1) x (3) 

Estimated New 
Development 

Base Unit of 
Measurement 

Equivalent Generation 
(Rate Per Base Unit) Trip Ends 

Residential (Low Density)                                        961  lot 13.200 12685.2   

Residential (Medium Density)                                        321  dwelling 5.810 1865.0   

Residential (High Density)                                        320  dwelling  5.810 1859.2   

Commercial                                     8,000  m2 gross floor area 0.137 1098.4   

Industrial                                          65  ha of site utilized 118.990 7734.4   

Institutional                                     3,800  m2 gross floor area 0.157 596.6   
      Total Trip Ends 25838.8 (a) 

B: Unit Transportation DCC Calculations 
Net DCC Program Recoverable   $16,518,656.50 (b)     

Existing DCC Reserve Monies   $845,107.50 (c)     

Net Amount to be Paid by DCCs   $15,673,549.00 (d) = (b) - (c)     

DCC per Equivalent Person   $606.59 (e) = (d) / (a)     

C: Resulting Transportation DCCs 
Residential (Low Density)   $8,007.00 per lot  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (Medium Density)   $3,524.29 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (High Density)   $3,524.29 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

Commercial   $83.28 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  

Industrial   $72,178.22 per ha of site utilized  (e) x Col. (3)  

Institutional   $95.23 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  
            
      
Note: Figures may not add up perfectly due to rounding      

 

Page 256 of 358



 

Page 21 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 6. WATER DCCS 
 

6.1 Water DCC Program 

The Water DCC Program includes waterworks projects and improvements related to the 

distribution of water within the Village of Cumberland’s boundaries. The location of the works 

is shown on Map 2 and summarized in Table 16. Detailed project sheets are provided in 

Appendix B. 

Table 13 
Village of Cumberland 

Water DCC Program Costs 

Municipal Costs 
DCC Recoverable 

Program Costs Total Capital Costs 

$1,519,523 $7,518,318 $9,945,672 

 

The total cost of the improvements is approximately $9.9 million of which approximately $7.5 

million is DCC recoverable. These costs include the construction of new water infrastructure 

plus engineering, contingency, and project administration. 

 

6.2 Water Demand and Calculation of Equivalent Population 

The Water DCC is based on the need for additional services to meet the demands of population 

growth. For residential demand, occupancy rates can be used to project demands for water 

services. For non-residential land uses, an equivalency is used. The equivalent factors used are 

presented in Table 14 below. They are consistent with the equivalent factors used during the 

Village of Cumberland’s last major DCC update in 2013. 

 

 

 

Page 257 of 358



 

Page 22 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 14 
Village of Cumberland 

Equivalent Units for Water 

Land Use Base Unit Equivalent Population Per 
Base Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) Lot 3.1 

  Residential (Medium Density) Dwelling Unit 2.5 

  Residential (High Density) Dwelling Unit 2.0 

  Commercial Gross Floor Area (m2) 0.013 

  Industrial Utilized Area (ha) 18.0 

  Institutional Gross Floor Area (m2) 0.011 

 

6.3 Water DCC Calculation 

The Water DCC rates have been calculated according to the various principles and 

assumptions discussed earlier in this report. The basic calculation is shown in Equation 2. 

 
Equation 2 

Village of Cumberland 
Water DCC Calculation 

Total New Growth (by unit or sq. m.) x Equivalent Population (per unit or sq. m.) = Total Equivalent 
Population 

 

DCC Recoverable Costs / Total Equivalent Population = DCC Costs per Equivalent Population 

 

DCC Costs per Equivalent Population x Equivalent Population (per unit or sq. m.) = DCC Costs per 
Unit or sq. m. 

 

The proposed Water DCC rates are shown in Table 14. The detailed Water DCC calculations are 

shown on Table 16 and Table 17. 

 

Page 258 of 358



 

Page 23 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 15 
Village of Cumberland 

Proposed Water DCC Rates 

Land Use DCC Rate Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) $3,725.07 per Lot 

  Residential (Medium Density) $3,004.09 per Dwelling Unit 

  Residential (High Density) $2,403.27 per Dwelling Unit 

  Commercial $15.62 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

  Industrial $21,629.46 per hectare of Land Utilized 

  Institutional $13.22 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

Page 259 of 358



Page 260 of 358



 

Page 25 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 16 
Village of Cumberland 

Water DCC Rate Calculation 

 
 

 

 

 Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) Col. (5) = (3) x (4) Col. (6) = (5) x 0.01 Col. (7) = (5) - (6) Col. (8) = (3) - (7) 

Project 
No. Description 

Total Cost 
Estimate 

Grants 
Amount Village Cost 

Benefit 
Factor  

Benefit to New 
Development  

Municipal Assist 
Factor (1%) DCC Recoverable  

Total Municipal 
Responsibility  

 

W1 
Watermain Looping - Union Rd. (Cumberland Rd. to North of Royston 
Rd.) $764,400 $0 $764,400 100% $764,400 $7,644 $756,756 $7,644 

 

W2 
New Watermain - Bevan Rd. (Cumberland Rd. to 1500m North of 
Landfill) $2,842,000 $0 $2,842,000 100% $2,842,000 $28,420 $2,813,580 $28,420 

 

W3 Watermain Upgrade - Dunsmuir Ave. (1st St. to Ulverston Ave) $3,157,661 $738,017 $2,419,645 75% $1,814,733 $18,147 $1,796,586 $623,058  

W4 Watermain Upgrade - Cumberland Rd. (Primrose St. to Hope Rd.) $405,610 $169,813 $235,797 85% $200,427 $2,004 $198,423 $37,374  

W5 Watermain Upgrade - Ulverston Ave. (3rd St. to Mill St.) $344,700 $0 $344,700 50% $172,350 $1,724 $170,627 $174,074  

W6 
Watermain Upgrade - Windermere Ave. (Egremont St. to 2592 
Windermere Ave.) $332,300 $0 $332,300 50% $166,150 $1,662 $164,489 $167,812 

 

W7 Main Water Supply Main Upgrade $1,949,000 $0 $1,949,000 80% $1,559,200 $15,592 $1,543,608 $405,392  

W8 Water Master Plan $150,000 $0 $150,000 50% $75,000 $750 $74,250 $75,750  

    $9,945,672 $907,830 $9,037,842   $7,594,261 $75,943 $7,518,318 $1,519,523  

Page 261 of 358



 

Page 26 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 17 
Village of Cumberland 

Water DCC Rate Calculation  

A: Water Generation Calculation 

Land Use 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) = (1) x (3) 

Estimated New 
Development 

Base Unit of 
Measurement 

Equivalent Generation 
(People Per Base Unit) Equivalent Population 

Residential (Low Density)                                        961  lot 3.1 2979.1   

Residential (Medium Density)                                        321  dwelling 2.5 802.5   

Residential (High Density)                                        320  dwelling  2.0 640.0   

Commercial                                     8,000  m2 gross floor area 0.013 104.0   

Industrial                                          65  ha of site utilized 18.0 1170.0   

Institutional                                     3,800  m2 gross floor area 0.011 41.8   

      
Total Equivalent 

Population 
5737.4 (a) 

B: Unit Water DCC Calculations 
Net DCC Program Recoverable   $7,518,318.36 (b)     

Existing DCC Reserve Monies   $624,048.01 (c)     

Net Amount to be Paid by DCCs   $6,894,270.35 (d) = (b) - (c)     

DCC per Equivalent Person   $1,201.64 (e) = (d) / (a)     

C: Resulting Water DCCs 
Residential (Low Density)   $3,725.07 per lot  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (Medium Density)   $3,004.09 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (High Density)   $2,403.27 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

Commercial   $15.62 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  

Industrial   $21,629.46 per ha of site utilized  (e) x Col. (3)  

Institutional   $13.22 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  
            
      
Note: Figures may not add up perfectly due to rounding      

 

Page 262 of 358



 

Page 27 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 7. SANITARY SEWER DCCS 
 

7.1 Sanitary Sewer DCC Program 

The Sanitary Sewer DCC Program incorporates sanitary sewer projects and improvements 

related to the collection of wastewater. This includes two separate DCC areas, one Village-Wide 

Sanitary Sewer DCC area and the Area-Specific Sanitary Sewer DCC. DCCs are calculated in the 

respective areas to ensure developments are not being charged for works that will not benefit 

them. The map in Appendix A shows the location of the Area-Specific DCCs and the Village-

Wide DCCs and the projects are shown on Map 3 and summarized in Table 23 and Table 24. 

Detailed project sheets are provided in Appendix B.1 

Table 18 
Village of Cumberland 

Sanitary Sewer DCC Program Costs (Village-Wide) 

Municipal Costs 
DCC Recoverable 

Program Costs 
Total Capital Costs 

$4,368,250 $4,281,750 $16,150,000 

 

For the Village-Wide DCC, the total cost of the improvements is approximately $16.2 million of 

which approximately $4.2 million is DCC recoverable. These costs include the construction of 

a new sewage treatment plant and the creation of a sanitary sewer master plan plus 

engineering, contingency, and project administration where applicable. 

Table 19 
Village of Cumberland 

Sanitary Sewer DCC Program Costs (Area-Specific) 

Municipal Costs DCC Recoverable 
Program Costs 

Total Capital Costs 

$66,930 $6,626,070 $6,693,000 

 

For the  Area-Specific DCC, the total cost of the improvements is approximately $6.6 million of 

which approximately $6.6 million is DCC recoverable. These costs include the construction of 

new sewer infrastructure plus engineering, contingency, and project administration. 

 

 
1 Note that the Village-Wide DCC program includes 2 out of the 4 sanitary sewer projects and the Area-Specific DCC includes 

all 4 sanitary sewer projects 

Page 263 of 358



 

Page 28 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

7.2 Sanitary Sewer Demand and Calculation of Equivalent Population 

The sanitary sewer DCC is based on the need for additional services to meet the demands of 

population growth. For residential demand, occupancy rates can be used to project demands 

for sanitary sewer services. For non-residential land uses, an equivalency is used. The 

equivalent factors used are presented in Table 20 below. They are consistent with the 

equivalent factors used during the Village of Cumberland’s last major DCC update in 2013. 

Table 20 
Village of Cumberland 

Equivalent Units for Sanitary Sewer 

Land Use Base Unit Equivalent Population Per 
Base Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) Lot 3.1 

  Residential (Medium Density) Dwelling Unit 2.5 

  Residential (High Density) Dwelling Unit 2.0 

  Commercial Gross Floor Area (m2) 0.013 

  Industrial Utilized Area (ha) 18.0 

  Institutional Gross Floor Area (m2) 0.011 

 

7.3 Sanitary Sewer DCC Calculation 

The Sanitary Sewer DCC rates have been calculated according to the various principles and 

assumptions discussed earlier in this report. The basic calculation is shown in Equation 3. 
Equation 3 

Village of Cumberland 
Sanitary Sewer DCC Calculation 

Total New Growth (by unit or sq. m.) x Equivalent Unit (per unit or sq. m.) = Total Equivalent Unit 

 

DCC Recoverable Costs / Total Equivalent Units = DCC Costs per Equivalent Unit 

 

DCC Costs per Equivalent Unit x Equivalent Units (per unit, lot or sq. m.) = DCC Costs per Unit, Lot or 
sq. m. 

 

The proposed Sanitary Sewer DCC rates are shown in Table 21 and Table 22. The detailed 

Sanitary Sewer DCC calculations are shown on Tables 23 to 26. 

Page 264 of 358



 

Page 29 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 21 
Village of Cumberland 

Proposed Sanitary Sewer DCC Rates (Village-Wide) 

Land Use DCC Rate Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) $1,075.88 per Lot 

  Residential (Medium Density) $867.64 per Dwelling Unit 

  Residential (High Density) $694.11 per Dwelling Unit 

  Commercial $4.51 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

  Industrial $6,247.03 per hectare of Land Utilized 

  Institutional $3.82 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

 

Table 22 
Village of Cumberland 

Proposed Sanitary Sewer DCC Rates (Area-Specific)  

Land Use DCC Rate Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) $4,263.13 per Lot 

  Residential (Medium Density) $3,438.01 per Dwelling Unit 

  Residential (High Density) $2,750.41 per Dwelling Unit 

  Commercial $17.88 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

  Industrial $24,753.66 per hectare of Land Utilized 

  Institutional $215.13 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

 

 

 

 

Page 265 of 358



Page 266 of 358



 

Page 31 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 23 
Village of Cumberland 

Sanitary Sewer DCC Program (Village-Wide) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

                

Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) 
Col. (5) = (3) x 

(4) 
Col. (6) = (5) x 

0.01 
Col. (7) = (5) - 

(6) 
Col. (8) = (3) - 

(7) 

Project No. Description 
Total Cost 
Estimate 

Grants 
Amount 

Village Cost 
Benefit 
Factor  

Benefit to New 
Development  

Municipal Assist 
Factor (1%) 

DCC 
Recoverable  

Total Municipal 
Responsibility  

 

S1 Sewage Treatment Plant Upgrades (additional population) $16,000,000 $7,500,000 $8,500,000 50% $4,250,000 $42,500 $4,207,500 $4,292,500 
 

S4 Sanitary Sewer Master Plan $150,000 $0 $150,000 50% $75,000 $750 $74,250 $75,750 
 

    $16,150,000 $7,500,000 $8,650,000   $4,325,000 $43,250 $4,281,750 $4,368,250  

Page 267 of 358



 

Page 32 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

 

Table 24 
Village of Cumberland 

Sanitary Sewer DCC Program (Area Specific)  

   

 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) Col. (5) = (3) x (4) Col. (6) = (5) x 0.01 Col. (7) = (5) - (6) Col. (8) = (3) - (7) 

Project No. Description Total Cost Estimate 
Grants 

Amount 
Village Cost 

Benefit 
Factor  

Benefit to New 
Development  

Municipal Assist 
Factor (1%) 

DCC Recoverable  
Total Municipal 
Responsibility  

 
           

S2 
Trunk Upgrade - Dunsmuir Ave. to Lagoon 
(700m of 900mm) $1,957,000 $0 $1,957,000 100% $1,957,000 $19,570 $1,937,430 $19,570 

 

S3 
Trunk Upgrade - Sutton Rd. to Dunsmuir 
Ave. (Twinning) $4,736,000 $0 $4,736,000 100% $4,736,000 $47,360 $4,688,640 $47,360 

 

           

    6,693,000 $0 $6,693,000   $6,693,000 $66,930 $6,626,070 $66,930  

Page 268 of 358



 

Page 33 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 25 
Village of Cumberland 

Sanitary Sewer DCC Rate Calculation (Village-Wide) 

A: Sanitary Sewer Generation Calculation 

Land Use 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) = (1) x (3) 

Estimated New 
Development 

Base Unit of 
Measurement 

Equivalent Generation 
(People Per Base Unit) 

Equivalent Population 

Residential (Low Density)                                        961  lot 3.1 2979.1   
Residential (Medium Density)                                        321  dwelling 2.5 802.5   
Residential (High Density)                                        320  dwelling  2.0 640.0   
Commercial                                     8,000  m2 gross floor area 0.013 104.0   
Industrial                                          65  ha of site utilized 18.0 1170.0   
Institutional                                     3,800  m2 gross floor area 0.011 41.8   

      Total Equivalent 
Population 

5737.4 (a) 

B: Unit Sanitary Sewer DCC Calculations 
Net DCC Program Recoverable   $4,281,750.00 (b)     
Existing DCC Reserve Monies2   $2,290,542.36 (c)     
Net Amount to be Paid by DCCs   $1,991,207.64 (d) = (b) - (c)     
DCC per Equivalent Person   $347.06 (e) = (d) / (a)     

C: Resulting Sanitary Sewer DCCs 
Residential (Low Density)   $1,075.88 per lot  (e) x Col. (3)  
Residential (Medium Density)   $867.64 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  
Residential (High Density)   $694.11 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  
Commercial   $4.51 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  
Industrial   $6,247.03 per ha of site utilized  (e) x Col. (3)  
Institutional   $3.82 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  
            
      
Note: Figures may not add up perfectly due to 
rounding       

 
2 Accounts for 83% of existing sanitary sewer DCC reserves. In previous DCC program, projects considered Village-Wide accounted for approximately 83% of the sanitary sewer DCC program. 

Page 269 of 358



 

Page 34 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Note: Figures may not add up perfectly due to rounding 

Table 26 
Village of Cumberland 

Sanitary Sewer DCC Rate Calculation (Village-Core) 

A: Sanitary Sewer Generation Calculation 

Land Use 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) = (1) x (3) 

Estimated New 
Development 

Base Unit of 
Measurement 

Equivalent Generation 
(People Per Base Unit) 

Equivalent Population 

Residential (Low Density)                                        913  lot 3.1 2830.3   
Residential (Medium Density)                                        321  dwelling 2.5 802.5   
Residential (High Density)                                        320  dwelling  2.0 640.0   
Commercial                                     8,000  m2 gross floor area 0.013 104.0   
Industrial                                        3.25  ha of site utilized 18.0 58.5   
Institutional                                     3,800  m2 gross floor area 0.011 41.8   

      Total Equivalent 
Population 

4477.1 (a) 

B: Unit Sanitary Sewer DCC Calculations 
Net DCC Program Recoverable   $6,626,070 (b)     
Existing DCC Reserve Monies3   $469,147.23 (c)     
Net Amount to be Paid by DCCs   $6,156,922.77 (d) = (b) - (c)     
DCC per Equivalent Person   $1,375.20  (e) = (d) / (a)     

C: Resulting Sanitary Sewer DCCs 
Residential (Low Density)   $4,263.13 per lot  (e) x Col. (3)  
Residential (Medium Density)   $3,438.01 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  
Residential (High Density)   $2,750.41 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  
Commercial   $17.88 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  
Industrial   $24,753.66 per ha of site utilized  (e) x Col. (3)  
Institutional   $15.13 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)    

        

 
3 Accounts for 17% of existing sanitary sewer DCC reserves. In previous DCC program, projects within the Village-Core area (shown in Appendix A accounted for approximately 17% of the sanitary sewer DCC 

program. 

Page 270 of 358



 

Page 35 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 8. STORM DRAINAGE DCCS 
 

8.1 Storm Drainage DCC Program and Rates 

The storm drainage DCC program is comprised of drainage facilities, including piping and 

detention ponds. The location of the works is shown on Map 4 and summarized in Table 30. 

Detailed project sheets are provided in Appendix B. 

Table 27 
Village of Cumberland 

Storm Drainage DCC Program Costs 

Municipal Costs 
DCC Recoverable 

Program Costs Total Capital Costs 

$1,298,472 $6,157,883 $7,456,355 

 

The total cost of the improvements is approximately $7.4 million of which approximately $6.1 

million is DCC recoverable. These costs include the construction of new storm drainage 

infrastructure plus engineering, contingency, and project administration. 

8.2 Calculation of Equivalent Units for Storm Drainage 

In general terms, the impact on the storm drainage system of developing a parcel of land is 

expressed as the amount of stormwater run-off that must be accommodated by the system. 

The accepted parameter for expressing imperviousness in stormwater run-off calculations is 

the “run-off coefficient”. Generally speaking, the run-off coefficient reflects the ratio between 

the impervious area on a parcel and the total area of the parcel. Run-off coefficients are then 

used to determine equivalency factors necessary to develop Equivalent Storm Drainage Units 

(EDUs), the basis for calculating storm drainage DCCs. The equivalent factors used are 

presented in Table 28 below. They are consistent with the equivalent factors used in the 

provincial DCC Best Practices Guide. They are also consistent with the equivalent factors used 

during the Village of Cumberland’s last major DCC update in 2013. 

Page 271 of 358



 

Page 36 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 28 
Village of Cumberland 

Equivalent Units for Storm Drainage  

Land Use Base Unit 
Equivalent Storm drainage 

Unit Per Base Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) Lot 961.0 

  Residential (Medium Density) Dwelling Unit 173.3 

  Residential (High Density) Dwelling Unit 105.6 

  Commercial Gross Floor Area (m2) 25.6 

  Industrial Utilized Area (ha) 1462.5 

  Institutional Gross Floor Area (m2) 11.4 

 

8.3 Storm Drainage DCC Calculation 

The Storm drainage DCC rates have been calculated according to the various principles and 

assumptions discussed earlier in this report. The basic calculation is shown in Equation 4. 

 
Equation 4 

Village of Cumberland 
Storm Drainage DCC Calculation 

Total New Growth (by unit or sq. m.) x Equivalent Unit (per unit or sq. m.) = Total Equivalent Unit 

 

DCC Recoverable Costs / Total Equivalent Units = DCC Costs per Equivalent Unit 

 

DCC Costs per Equivalent Unit x Equivalent Units (per unit, lot or sq. m.) = DCC Costs per Unit, Lot or 
sq. m. 

 

The proposed Storm drainage DCC rates are shown in Table 29. The detailed Storm Drainage 

DCC calculations are shown on Table 30 and Table 31. 

Page 272 of 358



 

Page 37 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 29 
Village of Cumberland 

Proposed Storm Drainage DCC Rates 

Land Use DCC Rate Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) $2,178.74 per Lot 

  Residential (Medium Density) $1,176.52 per Dwelling Unit 

  Residential (High Density) $718.98 per Dwelling Unit 

  Commercial $6.97 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

  Industrial $49,021.60 per hectare of Land Utilized 

  Institutional $6.54 per m2 of Gross Floor Area 

 

 

Page 273 of 358



Page 274 of 358



 

Page 39 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 30 
Village of Cumberland 

Storm Drainage DCC Program  

 

 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) Col. (5) = (3) x (4) Col. (6) = (5) x 0.01 Col. (7) = (5) - (6) Col. (8) = (3) - (7) 

Project 
No. 

Description Total Cost 
Estimate 

Grants Amount Village Cost Benefit Factor  Benefit to New 
Development  

Municipal Assist 
Factor (1%) 

DCC Recoverable  Total Municipal 
Responsibility  

 
D1 Drainage Corridor Improvement - Cumberland Rd.  $1,573,216 $0 $1,573,216 80% $1,258,573 $12,586 $1,245,987 $327,229  

D2 Drainage Corridor Improvement - Mill St. $674,800 $0 $674,800 80% $539,840 $5,398 $534,442 $140,358  

D3 Drainage Corridor Improvement - Ulverston Ave. $955,320 $0 $955,320 80% $764,256 $7,643 $756,613 $198,707  

D4 South Cumberland Discharge Area Improvements  $2,603,019 $0 $2,603,019 80% $2,082,415 $20,824 $2,061,591 $541,428  

D5 I&I Improvements $1,500,000 $0 $1,500,000 100% $1,500,000 $15,000 $1,485,000 $15,000  

D6 Storm Drainage Master Plan $150,000 $0 $150,000 50% $75,000 $750 $74,250 $75,750  

    $7,456,355 $0 $7,456,355   $6,220,084 $62,201 $6,157,883 $1,298,472  

 
 

 

 

  

Page 275 of 358



 

Page 40 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 31 
Village of Cumberland 

Storm Drainage DCC Rate Calculation  

A: Storm Drainage Generation Calculation 

Land Use 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) = (1) x (3) 

Estimated New 
Development 

Base Unit of 
Measurement 

Equivalence Factor Equivalent Drainage Units 

Residential (Low Density)                                        961  lot 1.0 961.0   

Residential (Medium Density)                                        321  dwelling 0.54 173.3   

Residential (High Density)                                        320  dwelling  0.33 105.6   

Commercial                                     8,000  m2 gross floor area 0.0032 25.6   

Industrial                                          65  ha of site utilized 22.5 1462.5   

Institutional                                     3,800  m2 gross floor area 0.003 11.4   
      Total Equivalent Population 2739.4 (a) 

B: Unit Storm Drainage DCC Calculations 

Net DCC Program Recoverable   $6,157,883.16 (b)     

Existing DCC Reserve Monies   $189,361.20 (c)     

Net Amount to be Paid by DCCs   $5,968,521.96 (d) = (b) - (c)     

DCC per Equivalent Person   $2,178.74 (e) = (d) / (a)     

C: Resulting Storm Drainage DCCs 

Residential (Low Density)   $2,178.74 per lot  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (Medium Density)   $1,176.52 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (High Density)   $718.98 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

Commercial   $6.97 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  

Industrial   $49,021.60 per ha of site utilized  (e) x Col. (3)  

Institutional   $6.54 per m2 gross floor area  (e) x Col. (3)  
            
      
Note: Figures may not add up perfectly due to rounding      

 
 

Page 276 of 358



 

Page 41 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 9. PARK DCCS 
 

9.1 Park DCC Program and Rates 

The Park DCC program is comprised of park land acquisition and park land development 

projects, including playgrounds and trails. All parks DCC projects do not include any 

improvements that are not permitted in a parks DCC program. The location of the works are 

shown on Map 5 and summarized in Table 35. Detailed project sheets are provided in Appendix 

B. 

Table 32 
Village of Cumberland 

Park DCC Program Costs 

Municipal Costs 
DCC Recoverable 

Program Costs Total Capital Costs 

$2,258,039 $2,213,325 $4,471,365 

 

The total cost of the improvements is approximately $4.4 million, of which approximately $2.2 

million is DCC recoverable. No external funding is expected. These costs include the acquisition 

and development of park land plus planning, engineering, contingency, and project 

administration. 

 

9.2 Calculation of Equivalent Units for Parks 

Equivalent park and open space units are similar to those used for sanitary sewer and water 

DCC calculations. There is not contribution for commercial or industrial categories in 

accordance with the Provincial DCC Best Practices Guide. Equivalencies are show in Table 32. 

Table 33 
Village of Cumberland 

Equivalent Units for Park  

Land Use Base Unit 
Equivalent Park and Open 
Space Unit Per Base Unit 

Residential (Low Density) Dwelling Unit/Lot 3.1 

Residential (Medium Density) Dwelling Unit 2.5 

Residential (High Density) Dwelling Unit 2.0 

 

  

Page 277 of 358



 

Page 42 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

9.3 Park DCC Calculation 

The Park DCC rates have been calculated according to the various principles and assumptions 

discussed earlier in this report. The basic calculation is shown in Equation 5. 

Equation 5 
Village of Cumberland 
Park DCC Calculation 

Total New Growth (by unit or sq. m.) x Equivalent Unit (per unit or sq. m.) = Total Equivalent Unit 

 

DCC Recoverable Costs / Total Equivalent Units = DCC Costs per Equivalent Unit 

 

DCC Costs per Equivalent Unit x Equivalent Units (per unit, lot or sq. m.) = DCC Costs per Unit, Lot 
or sq. m. 

 

The proposed Park DCC rates are shown in Table 33. The detailed Park DCC calculations are 

shown on Table 35 and Table 36. 

Table 34 
Village of Cumberland 

Proposed Park DCC Rates 

Land Use DCC Rate Unit 

  Residential (Low Density) $1,032.51 per Lot 

  Residential (Medium Density) $832.67 per Dwelling Unit 

  Residential (High Density) $666.13 per Dwelling Unit 

 

 

 

Page 278 of 358



Page 279 of 358



 

Page 44 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 35 
Village of Cumberland 

Park DCC Program  

 

 
Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) Col. (5) = (3) x (4) Col. (6) = (5) x 0.01 Col. (7) = (5) - (6) Col. (8) = (3) - (7) 

Project 
No. 

Description Total Cost 
Estimate 

Grants 
Amount 

Village Cost Benefit 
Factor  

Benefit to New 
Development  

Municipal Assist 
Factor (1%) 

DCC Recoverable  Total Municipal 
Responsibility  

 
P1 Community Forest Expansion (Acquisition and Improvement) $931,027 $0 $931,027 50% $465,514 $4,655 $460,858 $470,169  

P2 North Wellington Colliery (Acquisition and Improvement) $888,800 $0 $888,800 50% $444,400 $4,444 $439,956 $448,844  

P3 South Wellington Colliery (Acquisition and Improvement) $1,199,600 $0 $1,199,600 50% $599,800 $5,998 $593,802 $605,798  

P4 Lagoon Greenway (Improvement) $426,938 $0 $426,938 50% $213,469 $2,135 $211,334 $215,603  

P5 Village Park (Improvement) $600,000 $0 $600,000 50% $300,000 $3,000 $297,000 $303,000  

P6 Cumberland Lake Park (Improvement)  $100,000 $0 $100,000 50% $50,000 $500 $49,500 $50,500  

P7 Parks Master Plan $100,000 $0 $100,000 50% $50,000 $500 $49,500 $50,500  

P8 Solport Park (Improvement) $125,000 $0 $125,000 50% $62,500 $625 $61,875 $63,125  

P9 Camp Road Greenway (Improvement) $100,000 $0 $100,000 50% $50,000 $500 $49,500 $50,500  

    $4,471,365 $0 $4,471,365   $2,235,682 $22,357 $2,213,325 $2,258,039  

 

 

 

 
  

Page 280 of 358



 

Page 45 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

Table 36 
Village of Cumberland 

Park DCC Rate Calculation  

 

A: Parks Generation Calculation 

Land Use 

Col. (1) Col. (2) Col. (3) Col. (4) = (1) x (3) 

Estimated New 
Development 

Base Unit of Measurement 
Equivalence Factor 

(People Per Base Unit) 
Equivalent Population 

Residential (Low Density)                                        961  lot 3.1 2979.1   

Residential (Medium Density)                                        321  dwelling 2.5 802.5   

Residential (High Density)                                        320  dwelling 2.0 640.0   

      Total Equivalent Population 4421.6 (a) 

B: Unit Parks DCC Calculations 

Net DCC Program Recoverable   $2,213,325.43 (b)     

Existing DCC Reserve Monies   $740,640.06 (c)     

Net Amount to be Paid by DCCs   $1,472,685.37 (d) = (b) - (c)     

DCC per Equivalent Person   $333.07 (e) = (d) / (a)     

C: Resulting Parks DCCs 

Residential (Low Density)   $1,032.51 per lot  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (Medium Density)   $832.67 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

Residential (High Density)   $666.13 per dwelling unit  (e) x Col. (3)  

            

      
Note: Figures may not add up perfectly due to rounding      

Page 281 of 358



 

Page 46 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

PART 10. DCC RATES & IMPLEMENTATION 
 

10.1 Summary of Proposed DCC Rates 

Table 37 (next page) summarizes the proposed Village of Cumberland DCC rates. 

10.2 Bylaw Exemptions 

The Local Government Act is quite clear that a DCC cannot be levied if the proposed 

development does not impose new capital cost burdens on the Village, or if a DCC has already 

been paid in regard to the same development. However, if additions to the development 

create a new capital cost burden or use up the capacity of existing infrastructure, DCCs can be 

levied for the additional costs. 

The Local Government Act further exempts DCCs at the time of application for a Building 

Permit if: 

• the Building Permit is for a church or place of worship; 

• the value of the work authorized by the Building Permit does not exceed $50,000 or an 

amount as prescribed by Bylaw; or 

• development of self-contained residential dwelling units in a building if each unit is no 

larger than 29 square metres.. 

The legislation also exempts DCCs on residential developments of less than four units (i.e. 

duplexes or triplexes), unless such a DCC charge is provided for in the local government’s DCC 

Bylaw. To enact this approach, the DCC Bylaw must include a specific provision; which the 

current DCC Bylaw does include.  

In addition, Bill 27, as discussed in Part 1.3, has given local governments the discretionary 

authority to waive or reduce DCCs for certain types of development to promote affordable 

housing and low impact development. Under this new legislation, the Village of Cumberland 

will have to adopt a Bylaw to waive or reduce DCCs for not-for-profit rental housing. At this 

time, the Village has decided to not waive or reduce DCCs for these types of development, but 

may consider this in the future. 

10.3 Collection of Charges – Building Permit and Subdivision 

Municipalities can choose to collect DCCs at subdivision approval or Building Permit issuance. 

The Village of Cumberland will collect DCCs for detached single family residential dwellings at 

Page 282 of 358



 

Page 47 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 
 

DCC Background Report 

subdivision approval. Collecting DCCs for single-family residential developments early on at 

the subdivision approval stage will ensure timely provision of infrastructure and services. 

All other DCCs will be collected at Building Permit, which is when the size and number of 

buildings to be constructed will be known. Collecting DCCs based on this more accurate 

information will result in more equitable distribution of growth costs. 

The DCC Bylaw will specify when DCCs will be collected for different development types. 

Where a development type has not been specified in the DCC Bylaw, the DCC levied will be 

based on the rate of the most similar development type. 

Page 283 of 358



 

Page 48 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 

DCC Background Report 

 

Table 37 
Village of Cumberland  

Proposed DCC Rate Summary 

 

 

Land Use Transportation Water 
Sanitary 
Sewer 

(Village-Wide) 

Sanitary 
Sewer (Area-

Specific) 

Storm 
Drainage Parks Total  

Low Density 
Residential  
(per lot) 

$8,007.00 $3,725.07 $1,075.88 $4,263.13 $2,178.74 $1,032.51 $20,282.32 
 

Medium Density 
Residential  
(per dwelling unit) 

$3,524.29 $3,004.09 $867.64 $3,438.01 $1,176.52 $832.67 $12,843.22 
 

 
High Density 
Residential  
(per dwelling unit) 

$3,524.29 $2,403.27 $694.11 $2750.41 $718.98 $666.13 $10,757.20 
 

 
Commercial  
(per m2 of gross floor 
area) 

$83.28 $15.62 $4.51 $17.88 $6.97 -- $128.27 
 

 

Industrial  
(per ha of site utilized) 

$72,178.22 $21,629.46 $6,247.03 $24,753.66 $49,021.60 -- $173,829.98 
 

 
Institutional  
(per m2 of gross floor 
area) 

$95.23 $13.22 $3.82 $15.13 $6.54 -- $133.93 
 

 

Page 284 of 358



 

Page 49 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 

DCC Background Report 

 

10.4 Collection of DCCs on Redeveloped or Expanded Developments 

When an existing building or development undergoes an expansion or redevelopment, there 

is usually a need for additional DCC related engineering services. The new developer/ builder 

should pay the applicable DCCs based on the additional floor area for commercial land uses 

and additional developed area for industrial land uses at the DCC rates in the current DCC 

Bylaw.  In essence, the Village is giving a DCC credit for the existing development or building. 

DCCs are only levied on the new development/ building area.  

10.5 In-Stream Applications and Grace Periods 

The Local Government Act requires that subdivision applications that are complete and 

application fees have been paid, be provided one-year protection from the proposed DCC 

rates. These in-stream active subdivision applications will be exempted from any increase in 

DCCs for one year from the date of implementation of the new DCC Bylaw. 

Effective January 1, 2011, Building Permits are also given the same in-stream exemptions as 

subdivision applications under the LGA. Complete Building Permit applications will also be 

exempt from any increase in DCCs for one year from the date of implementation of the new 

DCC Bylaw. In 2014, this in-stream exemption was further extended to include rezoning and 

development permit applications that have been submitted to a local government (in a form 

acceptable to the local government and fees paid). 

The Village has not considered introducing a grace period in the new DCC Bylaw at this time. 

If no grace period is included once the proposed DCC Bylaw has been given the fourth and 

final reading, the proposed DCC rates will be in effect. The Local Government Act requirements 

will apply.  

10.6 DCC Rebates and Credits 

The Local Government Act stipulates that should an owner pay for specific services inside or 

outside of the boundaries of the land being subdivided or developed and these services are 

included in the calculation to determine the DCC, then the amount paid must be deducted 

from the class of DCC that is applicable to the service. In practice, should the Village, for 

example, require an owner to build a watermain outside their development and the 

watermain is in the DCC program, the Village will credit the owner the cost of the watermain 

up to the water DCCs paid. 

The Village should establish a policy or practice to guide staff in the collection of DCCs and the 

use of DCC credits. There may be situations in which it is not in the best interests of the Village 

to allow an owner to build DCC services outside of their subdivision or development. Building 

Page 285 of 358



 

Page 50 
3332.0006.01 / July 2022 

DCC Background Report 

 

such services may start or accelerate development in areas in which the Village is not prepared 

to support. 

The Village may establish a DCC rebate policy to fund DCC works advanced by owners and 

developers prior to the Village building such services. For example, an owner may be required 

to service their property to the local sanitary sewer standard but the Village would request that 

this main be upsized to a trunk sewer. The incremental portion of costs beyond the local 

requirement may be offered as a DCC rebate from DCC reserves. Again, a Village policy or 

practice is recommended to ensure consistent application of the DCC rebate principle. Often 

policies for DCC credits, rebates, and latecomer agreements are drafted to assist staff in 

development financing. 

10.7 DCC Monitoring and Accounting 

In order to monitor the DCC Program, the Village of Cumberland should enter all of the 

projects contained in the DCC program into its tracking system. The tracking system would 

monitor the status of the project from the conceptual stage through to its final construction. 

The tracking system would include information about the estimated costs, the actual 

construction costs, and the funding sources for the projects. The construction costs would be 

based on the tender prices received, and the land costs based on the actual price of utility 

areas and or other land and improvements required for servicing purposes. The tracking 

system would indicate when projects are completed, their actual costs and would include new 

projects that are added to the program. 

10.8 DCC Reviews 

To keep the DCC program as current as possible, the Village of Cumberland should review its 

program annually. Based on its annual review, the Village may make minor amendments to 

the DCC rates. Minor amendments may include the deletion of completed projects, the 

addition of new projects, the deletion of estimated construction costs, with the inclusion of 

actual construction costs and time frame adjustments. This also requires a DCC Bylaw 

amendment. 

Major amendments of the DCC program and rates will occur when significant land use 

changes are made, when new servicing plans are prepared or when the information upon 

which the DCCs are calculated has become significantly outdated or requires significant 

revision. Based on experience, a major amendment to the DCC program and rates is needed 

every 2 to 5 years.

Page 286 of 358



 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

Sanitary Sewer DCC – Area Specific Map 

  

Page 287 of 358



Page 288 of 358



 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

DCC Project Details 

 

 

 
 
  

Page 289 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Bike Lane – Bevan Road Connector (R1) 
 

Project Description 
 

A paved bike trail that will connect new developments to the existing Village.    
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

10 to 20 years Low $832,360 
Total  $832,360 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased connectivity within Village’s active transportation network  
• Increased ability to accommodate cyclists and other forms of active transportation 
• Reduction in vehicle traffic on roads due to increased levels of cycling and other forms of active transportation 
• Improved safety  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 75% 

Existing Users: 25% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Beginning towards the end of Kendall Road and extending North to connect with Bevan Road south of the landfill 
entrance.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program. Project costs have been updated by Urban Systems to reflect 
current costs. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency.   

Page 290 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Corridor Improvement – Bevan Rd (R2) 
 

Project Description 
 

This project will provide corridor improvements to Bevan Road from Cumberland road to 1,600 m past Pidgeon Lake 
Road. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $7,716,000 

Total  $7,716,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity to accommodate vehicle traffic and other forms of transportation 
• Increased access to the Bevan Road area to promote increased development 
• Increased connectivity within Village’s transportation network  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Bevan Road beginning at Cumberland Road and extending to 1,600 m past Pidgeon Lake Road. 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. Project costs have been estimated by Urban 
Systems based on a review of current unit rates and construction costs. Estimate includes: 

1. Road widening and minor road upgrades including ditching on the existing paved portion of Bevan Road 
between Cumberland Road and Pidgeon Lake Road.    

2. Upgraded roadway including asphalt surfacing of existing section from Pidgeon Lake Road to the end of the 
project.  

3. Street lighting over the entirety of the project length.  
4. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency. 

  

Page 291 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Corridor Improvement – Ulverston Ave. (R3) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgraded road cross section and sidewalk improvements along the Ulverston Road corridor.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $1,601,000 

Total  $1,601,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased connectivity within Village’s transportation network  
• Improved capacity to accommodate new vehicle traffic, pedestrian movements, and various forms of active 

transportation (e.g. cycling) 
• Improved safety  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 60% 

Existing Users: 40% 
 

 
Project Location  
 

• Ulverston Avenue from 5th Street to Royston Road 
 
Comments 
 
This project represents two project segments from the previous DCC program that have been consolidated: 
 

• Road improvement on Ulverston Avenue from the Chicane to Royston Road 
• Sidewalk improvement on Ulverston Avenue from 5th Street to Royston Road 

 
Project costs have been updated by Urban Systems to reflect current costs. The estimate includes 15% for 
Engineering and 35% for Contingency. 
  

Page 292 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Corridor Improvement – Egremont St. (Dunsmuir Ave. to Ulverston Ave.) (R4) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgraded road cross section and sidewalk improvements along the Egremont Street corridor.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $1,224,058 

Total  $1,224,058 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased connectivity within Village’s transportation network  
• Improved capacity to accommodate new vehicle traffic, pedestrian movements, and various forms of active 

transportation (e.g. cycling) 
• Improved safety  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 

• Egremont Street from Dunsmuir Avenue to Rydal Avenue 
 

Comments 
 
This project represents four project segments from the previous DCC Program that have been consolidated: 
 

• Road Improvement – Egremont Street from Dunsmuir Avenue to Maryport Avenue 
• Sidewalk Improvement – Egremont Street from Dunsmuir Avenue to Maryport Avenue 
• Sidewalk Improvement – Egremont Street from Maryport Avenue to Ulverston Avenue 
• Sidewalk Improvement – Egremont Street from Ulverston Avenue to Rydal Avenue 

 
Project costs have been updated by Urban Systems to reflect current costs. The estimate includes 15% for 
Engineering and 35% for Contingency. 
 
  

Page 293 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Corridor Improvement – Cumberland Rd. (Union Rd. to 1st St.) (R5) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgraded road cross section and sidewalk improvements along the Cumberland Road corridor. 
 

Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $2,895,967 

Grants Received  $1,528,318 
Village Cost (i.e. less grants)  $1,367,648 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased connectivity within Village’s transportation network  
• Improved capacity to accommodate new vehicle traffic, pedestrian movements, and various forms of active 

transportation (e.g. cycling) 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Cumberland Road from Union Road to 4th Street.  
 
Comments 
 
For the most part, this is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. However, it also includes 
three relatively small project segments from the previous DCC program:  
 

• Sidewalk along 2nd Street from Ulverston Avenue to Windermere Avenue 
• Sidewalk along Windermere Avenue from 2nd Street to 1st Street 
• Sidewalk along Ulverston Avenue from 4th Street to 2nd Street  

 
Project costs have been estimated by Urban Systems based on a review of projects recently tendered within the 
Village of Cumberland1. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency for unfinished portions 
of the project. 
 

 
1 This includes a portion of this project that has already been started (i.e. from Bevan Road to Lot 1 - Plan 59488 west of Union Road). The overall costs 
for this portion of the project is $1,986,101.65. However, it is assumed that only 90% of those overall costs are attributed to ‘transportation’ upgrades (i.e. 
DCC project R6) and the remaining 10% are attributed to ‘water’ upgrades (i.e. DCC project W4). 

Page 294 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Corridor Improvement – Union Road (Royston Road to 600m South of Cumberland rd) (R6) 

 
Project Description 

 
Upgraded road cross section improvements along the Union Road corridor. This includes widening and re-aligning 
the road. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $1,568,000 

Total  $1,568,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased connectivity within Village’s transportation network  
• Improved capacity to accommodate new vehicle traffic 
• Improved safety  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 60% 

Existing Users: 40% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Union Road from Royston Road to 600m South of Cumberland rd.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. Project costs have been estimated by Urban 
Systems based on a review of current unit rates and construction costs. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering 
and 35% for Contingency.  

Page 295 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Corridor Improvement – Dunsmuir Ave. (Egremont St. to 7th St.) (R7) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgraded road cross section and sidewalk improvements along the Dunsmuir Avenue corridor from Egremont Street 
to 7th Street.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $3,408,842 

Grants Received   $1,107,025 
Village Cost (i.e. less grants)  $2,301,817 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased connectivity within Village’s transportation network  
• Improved capacity to accommodate new vehicle traffic, pedestrian movements, and various forms of active 

transportation (e.g. cycling) 
• Improved safety  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Dunsmuir Avenue from Egremont Street to 7th Street.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program. Project costs have been updated by Urban Systems based 
on a review of projects recently tendered within the Village of Cumberland2. The estimate includes 15% for 
Engineering and 35% for Contingency for unfinished portions of the project. 
  

 
2 This includes a portion of this project that has already been started (i.e. between 2nd Street and 7th Street). The overall costs for this portion of the 
project is $3,038,903.65. However, it is assumed that only 60% of those overall costs are attributed to ‘transportation’ upgrades (i.e. DCC project R8). It 
assumed that another 40% are attributed to ‘water’ upgrades (i.e. DCC project W3).  

Page 296 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Corridor Improvement – Dunsmuir Avenue (7th St. to Union Road) (R8) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgraded road cross section and sidewalk improvements along the Dunsmuir Avenue corridor from 7th St. to Union 
Road.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $2,826,000 

Total  $2,826,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased connectivity within Village’s transportation network  
• Improved capacity to accommodate new vehicle traffic, pedestrian movements, and various forms of active 

transportation (e.g. cycling) 
• Improved safety  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Dunsmuir Avenue from 7th St. to Union Road.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program. Project costs have been updated by Urban Systems to reflect 
current costs. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency.  
  

 

 

  

Page 297 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Intersection Upgrade – Cumberland Rd. at Union Rd. (R9) 
 

Project Description 
 

Intersection upgrades. This includes improved alignments and new traffic signals.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

10 to 20 Low $1,241,890 
Total  $1,241,890 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Improved traffic flow 
• Improved capacity and access to accommodate new developments 
• Improved safety 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Cumberland Road at Union Road Intersection.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project represents two project segments from the previous DCC Program that have been consolidated: 
 

• Intersection Upgrade at Cumberland Road and Union 
• Traffic Signal at Cumberland and Union  

 
Project costs have been estimated by Urban Systems based on a review of current unit rates and construction costs. 
The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency.  
  

Page 298 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Intersection Upgrade – Cumberland Rd. at Bevan Rd. (R10) 
 

Project Description 
 

Intersection upgrades. This includes improved alignments and new traffic signals.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

5 to 10 Moderate $1,241,890 
Total  $1,241,890 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Improved traffic flow 
• Improved capacity and access to accommodate new developments 
• Improved safety 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Cumberland Road at Bevan Road intersection.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project represents two project segments from the previous DCC Program that have been consolidated: 
 

• Intersection Upgrade Bevan at Cumberland 
• Traffic Signal Bevan at Cumberland 

 
Project costs have been estimated by Urban Systems based on a review of current unit rates and construction costs. 
The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency.  
 
  

Page 299 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Transportation DCC Background Information 
 

Transportation Master Plan (R11) 
 

Project Description 
 

Developing a new Transportation Master Plan that identifies improvements to the existing network as well and 
upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

10 to 20 years Low $200,000 
Total  $200,000 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Identify improvements to the existing network 
• Identify upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth (i.e. beyond what is identified in the 

current and proposed DCC program) 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Throughout the Village.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. The cost estimate has been developed based 
on discussions with staff from the Village’s Planning and Engineering Department. 
 
 
 

Page 300 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 

Watermain Looping – Union Rd. (Cumberland Rd. to North of Royston Rd.) (W1) 
 

Project Description 
 

A new 200mm (8 inch) watermain loop installed along Union Road from Cumberland Road to north of Royston Road. 
This will provide needed capacity and redundancy within the water system to accommodate for increased demand on 
the water system. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $764,400 

Total  $764,400 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Maintain pressure in the system 
• Provide adequate fire flows 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Union Road from Cumberland Road to north of Royston Road 
 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. Cost estimates provided by the Village of 
Cumberland’s Engineering Department (Rob Crisfield). 
 
  

Page 301 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 

New Watermain – Bevan Rd. (Cumberland Rd. to 1500m North of Landfill) (W2) 
 

Project Description 
 
Installation of a new watermain along Bevan Road from Cumberland Road to approximately 1,500 meters north of 
the landfill entrance. This will serve industrial and commercial operators proposed in the lands north and east of the 
landfill.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years Immediate $2,842,000 

Total  $2,842,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provision of water servicing to new development.  
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Bevan Road from Cumberland Road to approximately 1,500 meters north of the landfill entrance. 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. Cost estimates were provided by the Village 
of Cumberland’s Engineering Department (Rob Crisfield). 
 
  

Page 302 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 

Watermain Upgrade – Dunsmuir Ave (1st St. to Ulverston Ave.) (W3) 
 

Project Description 
 

Watermain replacement and upsizing (from 200mm to 250mm) along Dunsmuir Avenue from 1st St. to Carlisle Lane. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $3,157,661 

Grants Received   $738,017 
Village Cost (i.e. less grants)  $2,419,645 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provide additional capacity in the water distribution system 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 75% 

Existing Users: 25% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Dunsmuir Avenue from 1st St. to Ulverston Avenue. 
 
Comments 
 
The segment from 1st St. to Carlisle Lane was included in the previous DCC program (project number W330); however, 
the scope of the project has since increased to include an additional segment from Carlisle Lane to Ulverston Avenue. 
The expanded version of this project was first identified in the Village’s Long-Term Water Supply Strategy (2016).  
Project costs have been estimated by Urban Systems based on a review of projects recently tendered within the 
Village of Cumberland1. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency for unfinished portions 
of the project. 
  
 
  

 
1 This includes a portion of this project that has already been started (i.e. between 2nd Street and 7th Street). The overall costs for this portion of the 
project is $3,038,903.65. However, it is assumed that only 40% of those overall costs are attributed to ‘water’ upgrades (i.e. DCC project W3). It 
assumed that another 60% are attributed to ‘transportation’ upgrades (i.e. DCC project R7).  

Page 303 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 

Watermain Upgrade – Cumberland Rd. (Primrose St. to Hope Rd.) (W4) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgrade watermain along Cumberland Road from Primrose Road to Hope Street.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $405,610 

Grants Received  $169,813 
Village Cost (i.e. less grants)  $235,797 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provide additional capacity in the water distribution system 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 85% 

Existing Users: 15% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Cumberland Road from Primrose St. to Hope Road.  
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program (project number W170). Project costs have been estimated by 
Urban Systems based on a review of projects recently tendered within the Village of Cumberland2. The estimate includes 
15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency for unfinished portions of the project. 
 

  

 
2 This includes a portion of this project that has already been started (i.e. from Bevan Road to Hope Road). This segment was completed as part of a 
larger project. The overall costs for this portion of the project is $1,986,101.65. However, it is assumed that only 10% of those overall costs are attributed 
to ‘water’ upgrades (i.e. DCC project W4) and the remaining 90% are attributed to ‘transportation’ upgrades (i.e. DCC project R5).  

Page 304 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 

Watermain Upgrade – Ulverston Ave. (3rd St. to Mill St.) (W5) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgrade 424 meters of waterman along Ulverston Avenue from 3rd Street to Mill Street.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $344,700 

Total  $344,700 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provide additional capacity in the water distribution system 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

This project will benefit both new and existing users. 
 
 
Project Location  
 
Ulverston Avenue from 3rd Street to Mill  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. It was first identified as a priority in the Village’s 
Long-Term Water Supply Strategy (2016).  Cost estimates were provided by the Village of Cumberland’s Engineering 
Department (Rob Crisfield).  
 

  

Page 305 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 

Watermain Upgrade – Windermere Ave. (Egremont St. to 2592 Windermere Ave.) (W6) 
 

Project Description 
 

Upgrading the watermain (from 100mm to 200mm) along Windermere Avenue from Egremont Street to 2592 
Windermere.   
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $332,300 

Total  $332,300 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provide additional capacity in the water distribution system 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Windermere Avenue from Egremont Street to 2592 Windermere.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program.  Cost estimates were provided by the Village 
of Cumberland’s Engineering Department (Rob Crisfield).   

Page 306 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 

Main Water Supply Main Upgrade (W7) 
 

Project Description 
 

Adding an additional (400mm) water supply main and upsizing the existing main (from 300mm to 400mm).3  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years Immediate $1,949,000 

Total  $1,949,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provide additional capacity in the water distribution system 
• Provides redundancy in the system 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 80% 

Existing Users: 20% 
 

 
 
Project Location  
 
Area south of the Village Core.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. It was first identified as a priority in the Village’s 
Long-Term Water Supply Strategy (2016) Project costs have been estimated by Urban Systems based on a review of 
projects recently tendered within the Village of Cumberland4. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for 
Contingency for unfinished portions of the project. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
4 This includes a portion of this project that has already been started (i.e. the twinning portion). The overall costs for this portion of the project is 
$650,000. The existing project costs were identified in the Village’s Long-Term Water Supply Strategy as project F-5. 

Page 307 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Water DCC Background Information 
 
 

Water Master Plan (W8) 
 

Project Description 
 

Developing a new Water Master Plan that identifies improvements to the existing system as well and upgrades and 
new projects required to accommodate future growth.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

10 to 20 years Low $150,000 
Total  $150,000 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Identify improvements to the existing system 
• Identify upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth (i.e. beyond what is identified in the 

current and proposed DCC program) 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Throughout the Village.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. The cost estimate has been developed based 
on discussions with staff from the Village’s Planning and Engineering Department. 
 
  
 
 

 

Page 308 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Sanitary DCC Background Information 
 

Sewer Treatment Plant Upgrades (Additional Population) (S1) 
 

Project Description 
 

The development of a new sewage treatment plant to meet Federal and Provincial standards for sanitary sewer 
effluent at an additional population of 4447. This includes the addition of disinfection and treatment, expanded 
infrastructure, solids removal and charcoal re-bed.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
10-20 years Low $16,000,000 

Grant Support  $7,500,000 
Total  $8,500,000 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Capacity to accommodate growth 
• Improved treatment 
• Compliance with future regulations  

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Near the existing sewer treatment facility  
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program (project number S120). Project costs have been  provided by 
the Village of Cumberland. 
 
 
  

Page 309 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Sanitary DCC Background Information 
 

Trunk Upgrade– Dunsmuir Ave. to Lagoon (700m of 900mm) (S2) 
 

Project Description 
 

This project is to upgrade approximately 700 meters of existing sanitary sewer trunk main (to 900mm pipe) between 
Dunsmuir Avenue and the lagoons. This allows for the existing sanitary system to accommodate increased flows from 
development.   
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 – 5 years High $1,957,000 

Total  $1,957,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provide additional capacity in the collection system.  
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Near Carlisle Lane between Dunsmuir Avenue to the Village’s lagoons.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program (project number S301). Project costs have been updated by 
Urban Systems to reflect current costs. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency. 
 
  

Page 310 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Sanitary DCC Background Information 
 

Trunk Upgrade - Sutton Rd. to Dunsmuir Ave. (Twinning) (S3) 
 

Project Description 
 

This project is to twin the existing sanitary sewer trunk main from Sutton Road to Dunsmuir Avenue. This allows for 
increased capacity and necessary redundancy to meet increasing demands on the sanitary system attributed to 
growth.   
  

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 – 10 years Moderate $4,736,000 

Total  $4,736,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Provide additional capacity in the collection system. 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
South of the village core along the Wellington Colliery from Sutton Road to Dunsmuir Avenue.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program (project number S1). Project costs have been updated by 
Urban Systems to reflect current costs. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency. 
 
  

Page 311 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Sanitary DCC Background Information 
 

Sanitary Sewer Master Plan (S4) 
 

Project Description 
 

Developing a new Sanitary Sewer Master Plan that identifies improvements to the existing network as well and 
upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 – 5 years High $150,000 

Total  $150,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Identify improvements to the existing system 
• Identify upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth (i.e. beyond what is identified in the 

current and proposed DCC program) 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Throughout the Village.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. The cost estimate has been developed based 
on discussions with staff from the Village’s Planning and Engineering Department. 

Page 312 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Drainage DCC Background Information 
 

Drainage Corridor Improvement – Cumberland Rd. (D1) 
 

Project Description 
 

Improving and upsizing drainage infrastructure throughout a major drainage corridor. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $1,573,216 

Total  $1,573,216 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Improved capacity to accommodate increased levels of stormwater run-off  
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 80% 

Existing Users: 20% 
 

 
Project Location  
 

• Cumberland Road from 4th Street to lagoon area (via Hope) 
• 4th Street from Penrith Avenue to Cumberland Road 
• Ulverston Avenue from 2nd Street to 4th Street 

 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. These specific upgrades are identified in the 
Village’s current Storm Drainage Master Plan. Project costs identified in that plan have been taken from the Village 
Stormwater Drainage Master Plan (2010) and have been brought escalated to reflect current costs. 
 

 
 
  

Page 313 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Drainage DCC Background Information 
 

Drainage Corridor Improvement – Mill St. (D2) 
 

Project Description 
 

Improving and upsizing drainage infrastructure throughout a major drainage corridor. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $674,800 

Total  $674,800 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Improved capacity to accommodate increased levels of stormwater run-off  
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 80% 

Existing Users: 20% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Mill Street from Bruce Street to Hope Road and Bruce Street from the lane to Mill Street. 
 
Comments 
 
his project represents two project segments from the previous DCC Program that have been consolidated: 
 

• Bruce, lane to Mill (D330) 
• Mill, Bruce to Hope (D330) 

 
This project was included in the previous DCC program.  These specific upgrades are identified in the Village’s current 
Storm Drainage Master Plan. Project costs identified in that plan have been taken from the Village Stormwater Drainage 
Master Plan (2010) and have been brought escalated to reflect current costs. 
 
  

Page 314 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Drainage DCC Background Information 
 

Drainage Improvement – Ulverston Ave. (D3) 
 

Project Description 
 

Improving and upsizing drainage infrastructure throughout a major drainage corridor. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $955,320 

Total  $955,320 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Improved capacity to accommodate increased levels of stormwater run-off  
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 80% 

Existing Users: 20% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Ulverston Avenue from 7th Street to Maple Lake Creek. 
 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. These specific upgrades are identified in the 
Village’s current Storm Drainage Master Plan. Project costs identified in that plan have been taken from the Village 
Stormwater Drainage Master Plan (2010) and have been brought escalated to reflect current costs.  
  

Page 315 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Drainage DCC Background Information 
 

South Cumberland Discharge Area Improvements - (D4) 
 

Project Description 
 

Improvements to stormwater drainage infrastructure south of the core Village site. This includes construction of open 
channels, detention facilities and pipelines to control runoff from future development in the south and west of the 
community.   

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $2,603,019 

Total  $2,603,019 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Improved capacity to accommodate increased levels of stormwater run-off  
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 80% 

Existing Users: 20% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Wetland areas south of the Village core.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program (project number D510 & D520). These specific upgrades are 
identified in the Village’s current Storm Drainage Master Plan. Project costs identified in that plan have been taken from 
the Village Stormwater Drainage Master Plan (2010) and have been brought escalated to reflect current costs..  
 
  

Page 316 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Drainage DCC Background Information 
 

I&I Improvements (D5) 
 

Project Description 
 

New storm drainage network to prevent inflow and infiltration (I&I) into the sanitary sewer system. This does not 
include replacing or renewing existing infrastructure.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High / Ongoing $1,500,000 

Total  $1,500,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity in the sanitary sewer system because of reduced I&I  
 

Estimated Allocation of Costs 
  

New Development: 100% 

Existing Users: 0% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Throughout the Village of Cumberland. 
 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program (project number D530). The cost estimate has been developed 
based on discussions with staff from the Village’s Planning and Engineering Department.  
 
 
  

Page 317 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Drainage DCC Background Information 
 

Storm Drainage Master Plan (D6) 
 

Project Description 
 

Developing a new Storm Drainage Master Plan that identifies improvements to the existing network as well and 
upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 – 5 years high $150,000 

Total  $150,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Identify improvements to the existing system 
• Identify upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth (i.e. beyond what is identified in the 

current and proposed DCC program) 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Throughout the Village.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. The cost estimate has been developed based 
on discussions with staff from the Village’s Planning and Engineering Department. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 318 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 1 of 9 

 

Cumberland Community Forest Park (Acquisition and Improvement) (P1) 
 

Project Description 
 

Cumberland Community Forest Park is a well-used park providing hiking and mountain biking trails to the community. The park 
has experienced increased levels of usership necessitating expansion and trail improvements to accommodate growing 
demand. The Cumberland Community Forest Park Expansion will require land acquisition and trail development to maintain 
continuity with existing sections of the park. This project will benefit both new and existing users, but much of the additional 
capacity is designed to address future demand. It allows the Village of Cumberland (VOC) to supply adequate levels of regional 
parkland and reduce the negative impact of growth on existing trail networks. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $931,027 

Total  $931,027 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity to accommodate new demand from future growth  
• Expanded park area for the benefit of existing residents 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Existing Cumberland Community Forest Park and lands west and east  
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. It was first identified as a priority in the Village’s Parks 
and Greenways Master Plan (2014). Cost estimates were provided by the Village of Cumberland’s Planning and Engineering 
Department (Rob Crisfield) and were updated by Urban Systems to reflect current costs They include: 
 

• $831,027 for Acquisition  
• $100,000 for Trail Improvements 

 
 

Page 319 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 2 of 9 

 

North Wellington Colliery (Acquisition and Improvement) (P2) 
 
Project Description 
 
The Wellington Colliery Trails provide important linkages and connectivity within Village of Cumberland’s trail and parkland 
network. This project is about the acquisition of a key Right-of-Way and development of a trail. That will result in and expanded 
network.  

 
 

Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $888,800 

Total  $888,800 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity to accommodate new demand from future growth  
• Expanded park area for the benefit of existing residents 

 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
 
Project Location  
 
This trail extends the length of Kendal Avenue, approximately 500 m from Cumberland Rd.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. It was first identified as a priority in the Village’s Parks 
and Greenways Master Plan (2014).  Cost estimates were provided by the Village of Cumberland’s Planning and Engineering 
Department (Rob Crisfield) and updated by Urban Systems. They include: 
 

• $200,000 for Acquisition  
• $688,800 for Improvements 

 
 
 
 

Page 320 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 3 of 9 

 

South Wellington Colliery (Acquisition and Improvement) (P3) 
 
Project Description 
 
The Wellington Colliery Trails provide important linkages and connectivity within Village of Cumberland’s trail and parkland 
network. This project is about the acquisition of a key Right-of-Way, development of a trail, and expansion to the west. That 
will result in the extension of an existing trail network resulting in important linkages and an expanded network.    
 

Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $1,199,600 

Total   $1,199,600 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity to accommodate new demand from future growth  
• Expanded park area for the benefit of existing residents 
• Expansion of existing trail network and important linkages 

 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 
 
  
Project Location  
 
South of the Village core between 2nd and 6th streets, extension to the east to Cumberland’s administrative boundary and 
extension to the west to Cumberland’s administrative boundary.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. It was first identified as a priority in the Village’s Parks 
and Greenways Master Plan (2014).  Cost estimates were provided by the Village of Cumberland’s Planning and Engineering 
Department (Rob Crisfield) for eastward expansion and Outlook Engineering and Landscape Architecture for Westward 
Expansion. They include: 
 

• $280,000 for Acquisition  
• $919,600 for Improvements 

 
Costs were adjusted by Urban Systems to reflect current costs. 
  

Page 321 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 4 of 9 

 

Lagoon Greenway (Improvements) (P4) 
 
Project Description 
 
The development of a trail network throughout the Lagoon Greenway. This includes 600 meters of gravel trail (4 meters wide). 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
5 to 10 years Moderate $426,938 

Total  $426,938 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity to accommodate new demand from future growth  
• Expanded usable park area for the benefit of existing residents 

 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
 
Project Location  
 
Land around the Village of Cumberland’s lagoons. 
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program. Project costs have been updated by Urban Systems to reflect current 
costs. The estimate includes 15% for Engineering and 35% for Contingency.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 322 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 5 of 9 

 

 Village Park (Improvement) (P5) 
Project Description 
 
Village Park is the main community park in Cumberland. This project includes a range of improvements to improve and expand 
the use of this park. Improvements include new public washrooms, storage areas, multi-use gathering areas, benches and 
picnic tables.  

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

5 to 10 years Moderate $600,000 
Total  $600,000 

 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity to accommodate new demand from future growth  
• Expanded usable park area for the benefit of existing residents 

 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 
  
Project Location  
 
Village Park off Dunsmuir Avenue.  
  
 
Comments 
 
This project was included in the previous DCC program. Updated cost estimates below were provided by the Village of 
Cumberland’s Parks and Recreation Department (Kevin McPhedran): 

• $400,000 for new washrooms/storage area/change rooms 
• $175,000 multi-use gathering area (covered) 
• $25,000 benches, picnic tables, gathering area 

 
  
  
  

Page 323 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 6 of 9 

 

Cumberland Lake Park (Improvements) (P6) 
Project Description 
 
Cumberland Lake Park is located on the shores of Comox Lake. This project includes a range of minor improvements to 
improve and expand the use of this park. Improvements include, expanded parking infrastructure, picnic tables, benches and 
gathering areas. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

0 to 5 years High $100,000 
Total  $100,000 

 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Enhanced parked infrastructure to accommodate growing usership  
• Improved recreation experience 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 
  
Project Location  
 
At the end of Comox Lake Road, on the shores of Comox Lake.  
 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. It was first identified as a priority in the Village’s 
Parks and Greenways Master Plan (2014).  Cost estimates were provided by the Village of Cumberland’s Parks and 
Recreation Department (Kevin McPhedran).. 
 

Page 324 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 7 of 9 

 

Parks Master Plan (P7) 
 

Project Description 
 

Developing a new Parks Master Plan that identifies improvements to the existing system as well and upgrades and new 
projects required to accommodate future growth.  
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 

10 to 20 years Low $100,000 
Total  $100,000 

 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Identify improvements to the existing system 
• Identify upgrades and new projects required to accommodate future growth (i.e. beyond what is identified in the 

current and proposed DCC program) 
 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Throughout the Village.  
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. The cost estimate has been developed based on 
discussions with staff from the Village’s Planning and Engineering Department. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 325 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 8 of 9 

 

Solport Park (Improvement) (P8) 
 

Project Description 
 
This project includes a range of minor improvements including picnic tables, benches, gathering areas, landscaping and 
development of neighrbouhood trails. 
 

Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $125,000 

Total  $125,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased capacity to accommodate new growth 
• Expanded usable park area to the benefit of existing residents 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
Coal Valley Estates, south of Kentmere Ave, at the end of Windemere Ave. 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. The cost estimate has been developed based on 
discussions with staff from the Village’s Parks and Recreation Department. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 326 of 358



 

 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
Village of Cumberland  

 
 

 

Parks DCC Background Information 
 

     
   Page 9 of 9 

 

Camp Road Greenway (Acquisition and Improvement) (P9) 
 

Project Description 
 

This project includes a range of minor improvements and land acquisition to expand the use of this park. Improvements 
and acquisition involve the development of additional neighbourhood trails. 
 

 
Project Timing Priority Level Cost of Work 
0 to 5 years High $100,000 

Total  $100,000 
 
 
Benefits in Doing This Work 
 

• Increased greenway capacity to accommodate new growth 
• Expanded trail system to the benefit of existing residents 

 
Estimated Allocation of Costs 

  

New Development: 50% 

Existing Users: 50% 
 

 
Project Location  
 
North of Dunsmuir Ave between Centennial Place and the end of Dunsmuir Ave. 
 
Comments 
 
This is a new project that was not included in the previous DCC program. The cost estimate has been developed based on 
discussions with staff from the Village’s Parks and Recreation Department. 
 
   
 
 

 
 

Page 327 of 358



 

 

APPENDIX C 
 

Existing Village of Cumberland Development Cost Charge 

Bylaw No. 934, 2010  

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

Page 328 of 358



 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

Proposed Village of Cumberland Development Cost Charge 

Bylaw No. ______ 

  

Page 329 of 358



 

 

APPENDIX F 
 

DCC Rate Comparisons 

  

Page 330 of 358



 

  

$20,282.33 

$19,742.00 

$17,272.07 

$16,322.07 

$17,569.45 

$17,813.64 

 $-  $5,000.00  $10,000.00  $15,000.00  $20,000.00  $25,000.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Development Cost Charges 
Single-Family Residential 

($ per dwelling unit)

Regional District Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Page 331 of 358



 

  

 $-  $20.00  $40.00  $60.00  $80.00  $100.00  $120.00  $140.00  $160.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Commercial (per square meter) 

Regional Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Transportation Infrastructure Storm Drainage Infrastructure Parks Infrastructure

Page 332 of 358



 

  

 $-  $20,000.00  $40,000.00  $60,000.00  $80,000.00  $100,000.00  $120,000.00  $140,000.00  $160,000.00  $180,000.00  $200,000.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Industrial ( for a hypothetical development that covers 1 hectare with a 1,000 square 
metre shop

Regional Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Transportation Infrastructure Storm Drainage Infrastructure Parks Infrastructure

Page 333 of 358



 

 $-  $20.00  $40.00  $60.00  $80.00  $100.00  $120.00  $140.00  $160.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Institutional (per square meter)

Regional Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Transportation Infrastructure Storm Drainage Infrastructure Parks Infrastructure

Page 334 of 358



 

 

APPENDIX E 
 

Council Reports and Open House Materials 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 335 of 358



Photo: A Davey

Jake Hughson, MCIP, RPP, Community Planner 

Dan Huang, MCIP, RPP, Senior Planner 

Sydney Rankmore, MCRP, Community Planner

Development Cost Charges (DCC) Update
April 26, 2022

Village of Cumberland

Page 336 of 358



Agenda

1. Project Background 

2. Development Finance 

Tools

3. What are DCCs

4. Calculating DCCs

5. DCC Comparisons

6. Key Policy Areas

7. Next Steps

Page 337 of 358



Project Background 

▪ The last major DCC update was 
in 2013.

▪ Since that time, the Village has 
experienced growth and 
changing demographics

▪ In 2019, Urban Systems was hired 
to review and update 
Cumberland’s DCC program

Page 338 of 358



Development Finance Tools

Source: Development Finance Choices Guide, Province of BC

Page 339 of 358



What are DCCs? 
• One-time charges levied on new development to help fund 

infrastructure needed to support  growth.

• Water 

• Sanitary Sewer Storm Drainage

• Transportation 

• Parkland

• DCCs are collected at the time of:

• Subdivision, and/or

• Building Permit

• DCC Bylaws must: 

• Comply with the Provincial Law, and 

• Be approved by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs

Page 340 of 358



Calculating DCCs

DCC =
INFRASTRUCTURE COSTS

NEW DEVELOPMENT

Page 341 of 358



How Are DCCs Calculated? 

Allocate Costs
to Future

Development

Estimate 
Future

Development

1 4

DCC 
Rates

Apply 
Municipal 

Assist Factor

Estimate 
Costs

Identify 
Works

2

3

5

6

Page 342 of 358



Estimate 
Future

Development

1

Page 343 of 358



Estimate 
Future

Development

1

Page 344 of 358



Identify 
Works

2

Page 345 of 358



Identify 
Works

2

Page 346 of 358



Estimate 
Costs

3
Allocate Costs

to Future
Development

4

Page 347 of 358



Apply 
Municipal 

Assist Factor

5

$11.9 M

$11.9 M

$11.9 M

$11.9 M

$2.1 M

$3.6 M

$4.3 M

$13.5 M

$12.1 M

$10.7 M

$10.0 M

$8.5 M$11.9 M $5.7 M

$.7 M

$.0 M $5.0 M $10.0 M $15.0 M $20.0 M $25.0 M $30.0 M

5%

15%

25%

30%

40%

Le
ve

l o
f C

ity
 A

ss
is

t

Cost in Millions ($)

Paid for by existing
tax payers

Paid for by existing
tax payers (City
Assist Factor)

Paid for by
developers (through
DCCs)

Example: City of Fort St. John DCCs

The Village of Cumberland’s Current Municipal 
Assist Factor is the typical 1% minimum

Page 348 of 358



DCC 
Rates

6

Page 349 of 358



Single Family Residential DCC: per dwelling unit 

 $-  $5,000.00  $10,000.00  $15,000.00  $20,000.00  $25,000.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Regional District Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Transportation Infrastructure Storm Drainage Infrastructure Parks Infrastructure

Page 350 of 358



Commercial DCC: per square meter

 $-  $20.00  $40.00  $60.00  $80.00  $100.00  $120.00  $140.00  $160.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Regional Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Transportation Infrastructure Storm Drainage Infrastructure Parks Infrastructure

Page 351 of 358



Industrial DCC: *per hectare

*For hypothetical development with a 1 hectare site and a 1,000 square meter shop

 $-  $20,000.00  $40,000.00  $60,000.00  $80,000.00  $100,000.00  $120,000.00  $140,000.00  $160,000.00  $180,000.00 $200,000.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Regional Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Transportation Infrastructure Storm Drainage Infrastructure Parks Infrastructure

Page 352 of 358



Institutional DCC: per square meter

 $-  $20.00  $40.00  $60.00  $80.00  $100.00  $120.00  $140.00  $160.00

Cumberland (Proposed)

Cumberland (Current)

Courtenay (2016)

Comox (2019)

Ladysmith (2008)

Nanaimo (2018)

Regional Infrastructure Water Infrastructure Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure

Transportation Infrastructure Storm Drainage Infrastructure Parks Infrastructure

Page 353 of 358



Key Policy Areas: Exemptions
The Local Government Act identifies conditions where DCC 
Exemptions apply, plus ones which can be varied by Council 
within the DCC Bylaw: 

Required:

• Buildings for public worship 

• Where no new infrastructure is required to accommodate 
growth

Optional:

• Building permits for under $50,000
in value 

• Residential units = or < 29m2 in size

• Less than 4 units, i.e. duplex/triplexes

Page 354 of 358



Key Policy Areas: Waivers and 
Reductions (Permissive)

• Generally prohibited by LGA

• Only allowed for: 

• Not-for-profit or for-profit affordable rental 
housing, including supportive living

• Housing designed for reduced environmental 
impact

• Foregone revenue must be made up by other 
sources

• Waivers can be implemented under separate bylaw 
that does not require Ministry Approval

Page 355 of 358



Key Policy Areas: In-Stream Protection 
and Grace Period
• Length of time offered as notification that new DCCs 

will be put into effect

• Granted as an acknowledgement of the impact DCCs 
may have on the development industry

• The Local Government Act requires that subdivision 
applications that are complete and application fees 
have been paid, be provided one-year grace period 
from the proposed DCC rates.

• The Village has not considered introducing a grace 
period in the new DCC Bylaw at this time

Page 356 of 358



Next Steps
1. Refresher Workshop with Staff 

2. Update Background Report and Draft DCC Bylaw

3. Workshop with Council

4. Early Referral to Ministry

5. Community and Stakeholder Engagement

6. Finalize Background Report and Checklist

7. Presentation to Council

8. Submit to Ministry for Approval

9. Prepare Bylaw for Adoption

We are here

Page 357 of 358



QUESTIONS or COMMENTS?
Page 358 of 358


	Agenda
	3.1. 30.22.R Nov 8-10, 2022 COTW minutes .pdf
	Back to Agenda

	3.1. 30.22.R Nov 18 + 25, 2022 COTW minutes.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	3.1. Post-Meeting Minutes - RC_Dec12_2022 - English.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	3.1. 20230104- Special Council Minutes.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	3.2. APC Minutes Dec 8 2022 DRAFT.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	4.1. 20221103-Cumberland Scouts.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1. Development Variance Permit Application 2712 Dunsmuir Ave.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1. Attachment 1 - 2022-08-DV DRAFT.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1. Attachment 2 - Letter from Applicant.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1. Attachment 3 - Public Feedback.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Proposed Lot 2 (2784 Beck Ave) DP.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Att 1 2022-07-DP DRAFT.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Schedule A - Site Plan-compressed.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Schedule B - Elevations 8.5 x 11.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Schedule C-Bio-inventory + Impact Assessment.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Schedule D - Landscape Plan.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Schedule E - Stormwater Management Plan.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.3. Council Policy Parking report.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.3. Attach 1 Parking Variance Policy for VCMU-1.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.4. REDIP Application Report.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.4. Attach 1 - REDIP Program Guide.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.4. Attach 2 - 22 12 20 VoC REDIP Application.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5. Mayor-Brown.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5. Councillor Borecky.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5. Councillor Ketler.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5. Councillor Therrien.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	8.1. DCC Bylaw Report.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	8.1. Bylaw 1173 Statutory Approval DCC.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	8.1. Development Cost Charges Bylaw 1173, 2022.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	8.1. Cumberland DCC Background Report.pdf
	Back to Agenda


